
AGENDA 
CITY COMMISSION MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 11, 2024 
CITY HALL | 130 N. NOTTAWA ST.  

WIESLOCH RAUM 
 

WORK SESSION 5:00 P.M. 

1. Public Safety Strategic Planning Presentation 
 

REGULAR MEETING 6:00 P.M. 

1. CALL TO ORDER BY MAYOR 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
3. INVOCATION  
4. ROLL CALL 
5. PROCLAMATIONS / PRESENTATIONS 

A. Christmas Cash Raffle Drawing – Andrew Kuk 
B. Robert Hile Proclamation – Kenneth Rhodes 

6. VISITORS – (Public comments for items not listed as agenda items) 
7. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
8. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 

A. Action of Minutes of Previous Meetings 
 APPROVE the minutes from the November 25, 2024 regular meeting as presented. 

B. Pay Bills 
 AUTHORIZE the payment of the City bills in the amount of $2,268,015.18 as presented. 

C. Accounts Payable Authorization 
 AUTHORIZE the Finance Committee to approve the payment of City bills at their next meeting.   

D. Board Resignation 
 ACCEPT the resignation of Gene Harrison from the EDC, BRA, and LDFA boards and SEND a letter of 

recognition for his service. 

9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS - None 
10. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Zoning Ordinance Amendments First Reading – William Prichard 
B. Zoning District Amendment – 909 E. Chicago Rd. First Reading – William Prichard 

11. COMMISSIONER / STAFF COMMENTS 
12. ADJOURN  
 

 

1



Manager’s Report 
DECEMBER 11, 2024 

Submitted by: 
 
 
 

Andrew Kuk 
City Manager 

2



Work Session 

1. Public Safety Strategic Planning Presentation

Staff: Ryan Banaszak

Ryan Banaszak, Director of Public Safety, will provide information on the Public 
Safety Department’s strategic plan.  A copy of the plan is included in your packet 
and provides information on the history and current state of the department, 
results of the Community survey completed earlier this year, and goals and 
objectives moving forward. 

Information Included in Packet:
1. SDPS Strategic Plan

3



5. Presentation

A. Christmas Cash Raffle Drawing

Staff: Andrew Kuk

Kelly Hostetler from the St. Joseph County United Way will host the Christmas 
Cash Raffle drawing. 

5. Proclamation

B. Robert Hile Proclamation

Staff: Andrew Kuk

Included in your packet is a proclamation for former Commissioner Robert Hile. 

4



8. Consent Agenda

Proposed Motion: 
Move that the Sturgis City Commission APPROVE/DENY the Consent Agenda for 
December 11, 2024 as presented. 

Staff Recommendation: 
APPROVE 

8A. Action of Minutes of Previous Meetings 

Consent Agenda Motion: 
APPROVE the minutes from the November 25, 2024 regular meeting as 
presented. 

8B. Pay Bills 

Consent Agenda Motion: 
AUTHORIZE the payment of the City bills in the amount of $2,268,015.18 as 
presented. 

8C. Accounts Payable Authorization 

Due to the changes to the Commission’s December meeting dates, the 
accounts payable schedule needs to be modified. Rather than prepare bills 
for the next Commission meeting on December 20th, City staff is proposing 
to have the Commission authorize the Finance Committee to approve bills 
following their review.  This allows for a more regular accounts payable 
schedule to be maintained. This year, bills would be prepared for December 
26th, ensuring we pay our vendors in a timely fashion. The Commission has 
approved such an authorization in similar situations in the past. 

Consent Agenda Motion: 
AUTHORIZE the Finance Committee to approve the payment of City bills at 
their next meeting.  

5



8D. Board Resignation 

Gene Harrison submitted his resignation from the EDC, BRA, and LDFA 
boards due to his limited time in the community. 

Consent Agenda Motion: 
ACCEPT the resignation of Gene Harrison from the EDC, BRA, and LDFA 
boards and SEND a letter of recognition for his service.

6



10. New Business

A. Zoning Ordinance Amendments First Reading

Staff: William Prichard

As discussed at the November 18th City Commission Work Session, the Planning 
Commission and City Staff have been undergoing a thorough review of the City of 
Sturgis Zoning Ordinance since June of 2023.  The primary goal of this update is to 
create a zoning ordinance that is more user-friendly and accessible for residents, 
developers, and business owners.  Draft updates and revisions designed to 
modernize the ordinance, address areas where frequent issues or concerns have 
existed, and provide standards specific to the current land use and development in 
the City have been proposed.  

Included in your packet is a memorandum summarizing the proposed updates and 
revisions to the Zoning Ordinance.  Also included are two copies of the zoning 
ordinance: 1) a “red-lined” copy showing the existing ordinance and proposed 
changes and 2) a “clean” copy showing only the final proposed language.  These 
versions are updated with changes discussed at or made since the Work Session; 
these changes are highlighted in blue.   

Significant alterations to the zoning ordinance in this update include: 

- Definitions: Updated to include relevant terms utilized within the ordinance
and removed definitions that are not applied.

- Permitted and Special Land Uses: Revised and clarified for various zoning
districts.

- New Zoning District: Creation of a Manufacturing 2 (M2) district to
accommodate future zoning map amendments.

- Property Lighting: Added standards for commercial zoning districts to align
with parking area lighting requirements.

- Outdoor Merchandise Display: Provided language to permit outdoor displays
for applicable businesses.

- Open Space Requirements: Incorporated open space language in each
zoning district.

7



- Accessory Structures: Updated regulations to specify prohibited structure
types and offer detailed provisions for temporary structures.  Additionally,
the color of exterior materials for accessory and principal structures was
discussed with no recommendations for changes being made.

- Demolition Standards: Created a dedicated section outlining the city’s
requirements for building demolitions.

- New Special Land Uses: Added cottage courts and large battery energy
storage systems as special land uses.

- Signage Updates: Revised to ensure neutral content and included provisions
for temporary signs and promotional materials.

Following the work session, the Planning Commission held a public hearing to 
discuss items raised during the session, as well as additional issues identified by 
staff during the ongoing reformatting of the zoning ordinance.  A proposed 
amendment would allow for a one-time expansion of existing gravel driveways or 
parking areas. This amendment permits an increase of up to two feet, provided all 
other applicable requirements are met. The Planning Commission reviewed this 
proposal and recommended its approval. 

As mentioned above and briefly discussed at the work session, the proposed 
changes here are content related.  If approved by the Commission, staff plans to 
bring back a reformatting of the Zoning Ordinance which will help enhance the 
ability to navigate it and make it more user friendly.  The Planning Commission has 
already held a public hearing on those changes. 

Proposed Motion: 
Move that the Sturgis City Commission CONSIDER/NOT CONSIDER this the first 

reading of amendments to the Zoning Code as presented.  

Staff Recommendation: 
CONSIDER 

Information Included in Packet: 
1. Memorandum
2. Redlined Ordinance
3. Clean Copy of Ordinance

8



10. New Business 

B. Zoning District Amendment – 909 E. Chicago Rd. First Reading 

Staff:  William Prichard 
 
At the November 19th Planning Commission meeting, a request to rezone the 
properties located at 909 and 911 E. Chicago Road from the Business Office Service 
(B-OS) zoning district to the Residential 3 (R-3) zoning district was recommended 
to the City Commission for approval.  The applicants, Rodger and Joyce Moyer, 
have a purchase agreement for the property and are interested in changing the 
use to a single-family residence.  
 
Single-family residential is not a permitted use in the B-OS zoning district, which is 
the reason for rezoning request. The most recent tenant, a real estate business 
(Rock Realty), has vacated the property, and the owner has now listed it for sale. 
 
The Future Land Use (FLU) Map, adopted as part of the 2020 Master Plan, 
identifies these properties as remaining in the B-OS zoning district, consistent with 
the City’s vision for this corridor as a commercial area. 
 
In 2019, the Planning Commission recommended and the City Commission 
approved a zoning district change for these same properties from R-3 to B-OS. At 
the time, the current owner had requested the change to relocate the real estate 
business to the property.  Prior to its use as a real estate office, the property was 
used by a professional consultation firm.  Adjacent zoning is R-3 to the east and B-
OS to the west.  Copies of the Zoning Map and FLU Map outlining the parcels in 
question are included in the packet. 
 
The Planning Commission reviewed the rezoning request at its November meeting 
and has recommended rezoning the property from B-OS to R-3 to the City 
Commission. 
 
 
 
 

9



 
Proposed Motion: 
Move that the Sturgis City Commission CONSIDER/NOT CONSIDER this the first 
reading for the rezoning of 909 E. Chicago Road, parcel number 052-777-306-00 
and 911 E. Chicago Road, parcel number 052-777-305-00, from the Business 
Office Service (B-OS) zoning district to Residential 3 (R-3) zoning district as 
presented. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
CONSIDER 

 
Information Included in Packet: 
1. Existing Zoning Map 
2. Future Land Use Map 

  

10



Noteworthy Meetings / Events 

• Chamber Board of Directors Meeting | November 26th  
• DDA Promotion Committee Meeting | December 2nd  
• Retirement Board Meeting | December 3rd  
• SIA/EDC Meeting | December 3rd  
• DDA Meeting | December 4th  
• Eclipse Auto Pros Ribbon Cutting | December 5th  
• United Way Campaign Day | December 6th  
• Dashing Thru Downtown| December 7th  

Upcoming Events  

• Cyrus Chestnut | SYCA | 7:30pm | December 7th  
• Sturgis Wind Symphony | SYCA | 3:00pm | December 8th  
• Santa Workshop | Doyle | 5:00pm-8:00pm | December 13th  
• Wacky Trivia | SYCA | 7:00pm | December 13th  
• City Commission Meeting | December 18th 
• City of Sturgis Christmas Party | Noon to 1:30 pm | SYCA | December 19th 
• City Hall Closed to the Public | Noon to 5:00 pm | December 19th 
• Cinema Circle – Miracle on 34th Street | SYCA | 7:00pm | December 19th  
• City Hall Closed (Christmas Eve and Christmas Day) | December 24th & 25th  
• City Hall Closed (New Year’s Day) | January 1st 
• Comedian Jon Reep | SYCA | 7:30pm | January 10th  
• Cinema Circle – Gone with the Wind | SYCA | 2:30pm | January 12th  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

11



City of Sturgis 
City Commission 

Work Session 
 

Agenda Item 1 

12



 

13



Sturgis Department of 
Public Safety Strategic Plan

Ryan R. Banaszak 
Director of Public Safety  

       Jeffery L. Case                                                                        Andrew R. Strudwick 
   Deputy Director of Police Operations                                Deputy Director of Fire Operations

14



The Sturgis Department of Public Safeties five-year strategic plan 
was created in 2024 with guidance from City Staff, Department 

members, as well as with input from elected officials and the Sturgis 
community. In the next five years, the department will continue to 
work toward accomplishing our Vision and Mission while focusing 

on the Strategic Priorities identified in this plan.

The Sturgis Department of Public Safety strives to enhance the 
quality of life in the City of Sturgis by developing partnerships with 

the community in a manner that promotes problem solving and 
preserves a safe environment through professional Fire, EMS and 

Law Enforcement Services. To accomplish this mission: Service will 
be our commitment, honor and integrity our mandate. 

STURGIS DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY
2025-2030 STRATEGIC PLAN OVERVIEW

Mission Statement

15



The Sturgis Department of Public Safety is honored to present this 5-year Strategic 
Plan to the Sturgis Community. As part of our continuing mission to provide the best 
police, fire, and EMS services in the area we are continually evaluating ways to grow 
and improve our services. This Strategic Plan was developed with insight from the 
Sturgis Community, City Commission, and Public Safety staff to ensure a well-
rounded evaluation of the department.  As an organization we are excited for the future 
of the city and the role we play in caring for those who live, work, and visit Sturgis daily.  

During the development of this plan a community survey was conducted to gain 
insights into how the department is perceived and areas of concerns from the 
community. In addition, work groups from within the department met to discuss 
current challenges and identify ways to better serve the community moving forward. I 
believe in reviewing this plan you will see an emphasis on SERVICE to the community 
in all aspects of public safety. While our primary role in law enforcement, fire, and EMS 
is the response to 911 calls, we feel that that is only a small portion of what we can 
provide to our community. Focusing on community advocacy in all areas of service, 
with a goal of preventing those 911 calls, is a core tenant of this plan.  

Across the county Public Safety agencies have seen decreased interest in the 
professions and often times a growing distrust and support from the communities they 
serve. Locally, while we have seen a reduction of applicants for job openings, we have 
continued to be successful with developing and recruiting local talent to serve their 
community.  In addition, the support public safety personnel receive in Sturgis is 
second to none. The partnership between public safety and the community they serve 
is one that cannot be lost in times of challenge. We thank you for your continued 
support and we look forward to serving you as we all work to make Sturgis a great 
place to call home. 
 
 
Respectfully,  
  

Ryan Banaszak  
Director of Public Safety 

16



Department History

Since before the formation of the City of Sturgis in 1896, both a Police Department and Fire 
Department have been in operation in some form.  Established in the mid-19th century, the 
Sturgis Police Department was formed in response to increasing population and the need 
for public safety. Initially, law enforcement was informal, often handled by local citizens or 
town constables. As the town developed, the need for a structured police force became 
evident, leading to the formal establishment of the department in 1891. This two-man 
police force marked the beginning of a more organized approach to maintaining law and 
order, with officers tasked not only with enforcing laws but also with community 
engagement. 

The Sturgis Fire Department has a similarly rich history, beginning with volunteer fire 
brigades and horse drawn fire apparatus in the late 1800s. The first organized fire company 
was formed in 1885, driven by the increasing risk of fires due to wooden buildings prevalent 
in the area. Over time, as Sturgis expanded, so did the fire department's capabilities. The 
transition from a volunteer force to a paid professional service occurred in the early 20th 
century, reflecting advancements in firefighting technology and techniques, as well as a 
growing commitment to community safety. 

Throughout the 20th century, both departments faced numerous challenges, including 
budget constraints and evolving public safety needs. The police department modernized 
its approach by adopting community policing strategies in the 1980s, aiming to build 
stronger relationships with residents. Similarly, the fire department upgraded its 
equipment and training programs to handle more complex emergencies, including medical 
responses and hazardous materials incidents. 

In recent years, both departments have continued to adapt to the changing landscape of 
public safety, emphasizing community outreach, training, and technology. Collaborative 
efforts between the police and fire departments have led to enhanced emergency 
response strategies and community safety initiatives.  

In 2022 the two individual departments were merged into one cohesive function and 
relabeled as the Sturgis Department of Public Safety, which encompasses all police, fire, 
and emergency medical services within the City of Sturgis. This change better 
encompasses the joint effort of providing quality public safety services to the community 
through the two separate divisions. 

17



Administrative Structure

Over the last 100+ years organizationally; change has been a theme.  In more recent 
decades, along with the evolution of the department, staffing levels have needed to 
increase, and the administrative structure has also had to evolve and adapt.     

Through the early 2000’s the Sturgis Police department was independently overseen by a 
Chief and Deputy Chief while the Fire department, which also operated as an ambulance 
service at the time, was run by a Fire Chief and EMS supervisor, which oversaw the 
functions of the ambulance service. In 2005, with the retirement of the current Fire Chief 
and in an effort to best accomplish administrative oversite and cohesion within the 
departments, the separate Chief positions were eliminated, and the singular position of 
Director of Public Safety was created and designed to oversee and handle all 
administrative needs and functions of both the Police, Fire, and EMS divisions. The Director 
position was supported by a Deputy Chief on both sides and an EMS supervisor. In 2007 
when the existing ambulance service was disbanded, the EMS supervisor position was 
eliminated, and the current structure of a Director and two Deputy Chiefs was established.  

Over time, as the needs and size of the City of Sturgis grew, additional changes to the 
departments were made to better serve the community.  Some of these changes included 
re-establishing an EMS service within the city, entering the law enforcement accreditation 
process, adding an additional school resource officer and adjusting investigative positions 
to better meet the demands of modern-day policing. 

18



Sturgis Department of Public Safety  
Police Division 

Sworn Personnel

Patrol Officers
Matthew Boerman Franklin Noel Damon Knapp

Joshua Wiard Brian Freds Dillan Ware
Keith Hopkins

Garrett Buglione Nathan Johnson Jakob Gardner

Road Patrol Sergeant
Aaron Moore Jeremy Marsh Adam Crites

Detective Bureau
David Males Bryan Stuck

School Resource Officers
Noel Jimenez Vacant

Deputy Director of Police Operations
Jeffery Case

Director of Public Safety
Ryan Banaszak

Joshua Edgington

19



Sturgis Department of Public Safety  
Fire Division 

Sworn Personnel

Firefighters
Joel Hohn David Cramton Margit 

Bolthouse
Jaden Bodi Joshua Clark

Brendan 
Sprowls

Logan King Tyler Webb Alex Chase Brandon 
Adamski

Captains
Andrew Kiss Jacob Toth David Hickey

On call Firefighters
Ron Sprowls Trever Sprowls Julian Alldredge Justin Bell Angel Gomez

Deputy Director of Fire Operations
Andrew Strudwick

Director of Public Safety
Ryan Banaszak

Fire Marshal
Cody Cripe

20



Sturgis Department of Public Safety  
Civilian Personnel

Clerical Staff
Megan Gorsuch Candace Scott

Executive Secretary/Records
Lea Lackey

Code Enforcement/Animal Control
Rick Sweitzer

Crossing Guards
Steven Wisler Dewayne Jordan Brandon Fish
Ronald Rice Shirley Jordan John Bower

21



Sturgis Department of Public Safety  
Organizational Chart

22



2024 City Vision and Goals

Public Health and Safety

Providing services, both emergency and preventative, to address issues related to the 
basic health and safety of citizens.

Vision: Provide services that foster an environment of safety, security, and well-being to all 
members of the community.

• Goal 1: Provide high-quality police/fire/EMS/ambulance services  in an efficient and 
effective manner.

• Goal 2: Focus on enforcement of laws/rules/codes that will improve  the safe and 
secure atmosphere of the community.

• Goal 3: Engage in strategies to ensure that municipal services related to public health 
and safety are accessible to and effective for all members of the community. 

23



Community Survey

As part of the strategic planning process a community survey was developed to assist in 
guiding the goals of the Department of Public Safety in the coming years. Understanding the 
community’s perspective regarding strengths, weaknesses and areas of concern is vital in 
helping us provide the best public safety services possible. The survey was available for two 
weeks and we received 134 responses to the 13 questions. The following is a summary of 
those responses.

1. What do you feel is the greatest issue facing the City of Sturgis in terms of Public
Safety?

 • Homeless Population
 • Theft
 • Drugs/Narcotics Enforcement
 • Traffic Enforcement
 • Lack of Police Patrols/Visibility
 • Drugs
 • Not enough staffing

2. Rank from most important to least important what you believe the priorities of law
enforcement in Sturgis should be.

24



3.  Rank from most important to least important what you believe the priorities of the Fire 
Division in Sturgis should be.

4. What criminal activity do you see as impacting the quality of life in Sturgis the
most?

 • Theft
 • Drugs/Narcotics
 • Homeless related issues
 • Vandalism

5. Where do you see the Department of Public Safety needing to improve?

 • Increased Police visibility and patrol presence
 • More traffic enforcement
 • More Police Officers/Staffing increase

25



26



27



28



Police Accreditation

In February of 2024, the Sturgis 
Department of Public Safety – Police 
Division completed the three-year 
process of becoming an Accredited 
Agency through the Michigan Law 
Enforcement Accreditation Commission. 

Accreditation status represents a 
significant professional achievement. 
Accreditation acknowledges the 
implementation of policies and 
procedures that are conceptually sound 
and operationally effective, while 
reflecting community values and guarding 
quality of life. 

29



EMS Operations

In May of 2022 the Sturgis Department of
Public Safety – Fire Division took over
transport EMS services for the City of
Sturgis. Currently the department staffs
two Advanced Life Support ambulances
daily with the ability to staff a third
ambulance when call volume requires.
The City of Sturgis has committed to
providing the highest level of EMS
operations possible and within the next 18
months will have a total of 12 paramedics
on staff, supported by 6 EMTs.

30



Social Media

The Sturgis Department of Public Safety
maintains an active social media presence
on multiple platforms. Facebook serves as
the primary platform for information
sharing related to incidents, community
events and department happenings. With
a following of over 10,000, we are able to
reach a large audience quickly. The
departments Instagram account serves as
a visual depiction of activities and events
with a focus on reaching the next
generation of Police Officers, Firefighters
and EMS professionals.

31



Safety Town

Sturgis Safety Town is a miniature version of the City of Sturgis 
with roads, sidewalks, buildings, working stop lights, and 
working cross walk lights. The buildings represent local 
businesses, churches, and organizations from the Sturgis 
Community.

A major focus of Sturgis Safety Town is the one-week summer 
camps for students in the summer. During these summer 
camps, students will attend class for three hours a day and 
learn about a variety of subjects including 911 safety, bike 
safety, electrical safety, fire safety, and school bus safety.

Another event for Safety Town is the annual Halloween
Extravaganza that allows children to go trick or treating and
participate in activities such as hayrides, free donuts and 
cider, and walking through a haunted house and a haunted 
bus. This is an event that continues to grow with the amazing 
support of area businesses and donations.

32



School Resource Officers

We currently have two School Resource
Officers serving 6 school buildings within the
City of Sturgis. For the past 10 years a single
Officer covered the High School and Middle
School leaving little police interaction at the
elementary level. In 2023 we were the
recipients of the COPS grant, allowing us to
add an Officer to focus on relationship
building with children and families of the
lower elementary buildings. SRO’s spend
time in classrooms teaching a variety of
topics from drug prevention to safety
internet practices and are actively involved in
after school activities as coaches.

33



Fire Prevention

The Sturgis Department of Public 
Safety – Fire Division operates a 
robust fire prevention program lead 
by FF/EMT Margit Bolthouse. During 
the month of October department 
members visit each elementary 
school in the city teaching students 
about fire prevention and how to 
respond in an emergency. 
Additionally, department members 
work year around with local 
businesses to reduce risk and 
mitigate hazards through fire 
inspections completed by the Fire 
Marshal 

34



Public Safety Explorers

Sturgis Public Safety runs a year around 
Public Safety Explorers Program focused on 
exposing the next generation of public 
servants to the Police, Fire and EMS 
professions. Meeting once a week Explorers 
are given hands on experience couple with 
guest speakers to include the Prosecuting 
Attorney, Director of Dispatch Services, 
Director of Public Safety, Conservation 
Officers and Firefighters. 3 out of the last 5 
new hires into our department started with 
our department as explorers. 

35



Police Cadet Program

New in 2024, the Sturgis Department of 
Public Safety – Police Division started a Police 
Cadet program as part of their recruitment 
efforts. Police Cadets are paid parttime 
positions within the department aimed at 
preparing cadets for a future full-time 
position with the department. Cadets serve 
in a variety of roles to include code and 
parking enforcement as well as subpoena 
service. 

36



K9 Program

The Sturgis Department of Public Safety started its K9 program in 
2006 thanks to a community fundraising effort. Our current 
handler Officer Edgington and his partner K9 Odin are certified 
through NAPCH in both patrol work and narcotics detection. 
Officer Edgington spends a significant amount of time during the 
year visiting schools and community events, educating community 
members on the working relationship between a dog and its 
handler as well as demonstrating their capabilities. 

37



Sturgis Department of Public Safety  
2025 – 2030 Strategic Goals

38



Sturgis Department of Public Safety  
2025 – 2030 Strategic Goals

39



Sturgis Department of Public Safety  
2025 – 2030 Strategic Goals

40



City of Sturgis 
City Commission 
Regular Meeting 

 
Agenda Item 5B 

41



 

42



 
PROCLAMATION 

OF THE CITY OF STURGIS 
	
	
	

	
Commissioner	Robert	Hile	

 

	
WHEREAS,	Robert Hile was first appointed as Fourth Precinct Commissioner for the 
City of Sturgis in October 2010; and  
	
WHEREAS, upon the end of Bob’s term on the City Commission in November 2024, 
he ranks in the top five of longest serving City Commissioners in the City of Sturgis; 
and  

	
WHEREAS, Bob represented the City Commission on committees including the 
Employees Retirement Board, IFEC Committee, Finance Committee and others; and  
	
WHEREAS, Bob served as Vice-Mayor from November 2011 through November 
2016 when he was appointed Mayor and served through 2021; and 
	
WHEREAS, During Bob’s term as Mayor the City completed many significant 
projects and had many milestones, including the solar project agreement, creation 
of Spence Softball Complex, creation of the Deadwood Disc Golf Course, completion 
of City Subdivision II Housing Agreements, navigation and creation of the City’s 
initial Medical and Recreational Marihuana ordinances, and leading the City through 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 
	
NOW	THEREFORE	BE	IT	RESOLVED that the City Commission of the City of Sturgis 
thanks Robert Hile for his many years of dedicated service to his community. 
 
BE	IT	FURTHER	RESOLVED that the City Commission wishes Bob all the best in his 
retirement from formal public service and his impending retirement from Ayres 
Insurance. 
 
 
 
 

_________________________________ 
         Frank Perez, Mayor 

43



City of Sturgis 
City Commission 
Regular Meeting 

 
Agenda Item 8A 

44



 

45



REGULAR MEETING - STURGIS CITY COMMISSION 
MONDAY, NOVEMBER 25, 2024 

WIESLOCH RAUM – CITY HALL 
 
Mayor Perez called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was said by all present. 
 
The Invocation was given by Comm. Moyer. 
 
Commissioners present: Mullins, Boring, Moyer, Smith, Harrington, Abbs, Miller, Vice-Mayor 
Bir, Mayor Perez 
Commissioners absent: None 
 
Also present: City Attorney, City Manager, City Controller, City Engineer, Wastewater 
Superintendent, Public Safety Director, Deputy Fire Chief, IT Director, Electric Department 
Superintendent, City Clerk 
 
 
Moved by Comm. Harrington and seconded by Comm. Smith to approve the agenda as presented. 
Voting yea: Nine                                  Voting nay: None                                 MOTION CARRIED  
 
 

 

Moved by Comm. Harrington and seconded by Comm. Smith to approve the Consent Agenda of 
November 25, 2024 as presented. 
 
8A. Action of Minutes of Previous Meetings 
APPROVE the minutes from the November 13, 2024 organizational meeting as presented. 
APPROVE the minutes from the November 13, 2024 regular meeting as presented. 
APPROVE the minutes from the November 18, 2024 work session as presented. 
B. Pay Bills 
AUTHORIZE the payment of the City bills in the amount of $2,395,819.86 as presented. 
C. Monroe St. Closure for Dashing Thru Downtown 
APPROVE the closure of S. Monroe St. to the Sturgis Bank & Trust Drive Through for Dashing Thru 
Downtown on Friday, December 6th from 2:00 pm to 10:00 pm. 
Voting yea: Nine                                  Voting nay: None                                 MOTION CARRIED  
 
 

 

46



City Manager Andrew Kuk provided details on the proposal from Civicplus for website design and 
management.  Discussion followed.  
 
Moved by Comm. Abbs and seconded by Comm. Smith to approve the proposal of CivicPlus for 
website services as presented and authorize City Manager Andrew Kuk to sign all necessary 
documents. 
Voting yea: Nine                                  Voting nay: None                                 MOTION CARRIED  
 
 

 

Electric Department Superintendent Chris McArthur provided details on an agreement to modify the 
existing Central Delivery Point (where we receive interconnection to I&M’s transmission system) 
and establish a new location for the metering equipment to serve the Central Delivery Point.  
Discussion followed. 
 
Moved by Comm. Harrington and seconded by Comm. Smith to approve the City of Sturgis Facilities 
Agreement as presented and authorize City Manager Andrew Kuk to sign all documents. 
Voting yea: Nine                                  Voting nay: None                                 MOTION CARRIED  
 
 

 

Wastewater Superintendent Brandon Schrader provided details on the bids received related to design, 
bid, and construction engineering phase services for Primary Clarifier #1 and Intermediate Clarifier 
#1 mechanism replacements.  Discussion followed. 
 
Moved by Comm. Harrington and seconded by Comm. Smith to approve the bid from Allied 
Mechanical Services, Inc. for the clarifier mechanism replacement in the amount of seven hundred 
ninety-three thousand, six hundred and sixteen dollars ($793,616.00) as presented. 
Voting yea: Nine                                  Voting nay: None                                 MOTION CARRIED  
 
 

 

Public Safety Director Ryan Banaszak provided information on current staffing challenges and the 
need for succession planning.  Discussion followed. 
 
Moved by Comm. Harrington and seconded by Comm. Smith to approve the hiring of an additional 
Department of Public Safety – Fire Division Firefighter EMT as presented. 
Voting yea: Nine                                  Voting nay: None                                 MOTION CARRIED  
 
 

 

IT Director Norm Allen provided information on the City’s current network switch infrastructure and 
the necessary upgrades.  Discussion followed. 
 
Moved by Comm. Abbs and seconded by Comm. Smith to approve the proposal for network switches 
from Sonit Systems in the amount of one hundred twenty-seven thousand four hundred fifty-one 
thousand dollars and twenty-six cents ($127,451.26) as presented. 
Voting yea: Nine                                  Voting nay: None                                 MOTION CARRIED  
 
 

 

47



City Controller Holly Keyser provided information on the engagement letter with the City’s auditor.  
Discussion followed. 
 
Moved by Comm. Harrington and seconded by Comm. Smith to approve the audit engagement letter 
from Gabridge and Company in the amount of forty-seven thousand, six hundred dollars ($47,600.00) 
as presented and authorize the City Controller to sign all necessary documents. 
Voting yea: Nine                                  Voting nay: None                                 MOTION CARRIED  
 
 

 

City Clerk/Treasurer Kenneth Rhodes provided information on the two applicants for Parks, 
Recreation, and Doyle Advisory Board.  Discussion followed. 
 
Moved by Comm. Abbs and seconded by Comm. Mullins to appoint Steven Smith to the Parks, 
Recreation, and Doyle Advisory Board. 
Voting yea: Nine                                  Voting nay: None                                 MOTION CARRIED  
 
 

 

City Manager Andrew Kuk explained that the purchase agreement recently approved by the City 
Commission for property on Bogen Road should be owned by the Sturgis Housing Development 
Corporation to allow for a future sale.  Discussion followed. 
 
Moved by Comm. Mullins and seconded by Comm. Smith to approve assignment of the purchase 
agreement for 233 W. Bogen Rd. to the Sturgis Housing Development Corporation as presented and 
authorize City Manager Andrew Kuk to sign all necessary documents. 
Voting yea: Nine                                  Voting nay: None                                 MOTION CARRIED  
 
Moved by Comm. Mullins and seconded by Comm. Smith to recess the City Commission meeting. 
Voting yea: Nine                                  Voting nay: None                                 MOTION CARRIED  
 
The regular City Commission meeting recessed at 7:08 p.m. 
 
President Andrew Kuk called the Sturgis Housing Development Corporation meeting to order at 7:08 
p.m. 
 
Moved by Dir. Mullins and seconded by Dir. Abbs to the assignment of the purchase agreement for 
233 W. Bogen Rd. from the City of Sturgis as presented and authorize President Andrew Kuk to sign 
all necessary documents. 
Voting yea: Ten                                    Voting nay: None                                 MOTION CARRIED  
 
President Kuk adjourned the S.H.D.C. meeting at 7:10 p.m. 
 
The regular City Commission meeting reconvened at 7:10 p.m. 
 

 

48



City Manager Andrew Kuk provided information on proposed Revenue Sharing Trust Fund 
legislation and a letter of support requested by the Michigan Municipal League.  Discussion followed. 
 
Moved by Comm. Abbs and seconded by Comm. Smith to approve sending a letter of support 
regarding passage of Revenue Sharing Trust Fund legislation as presented and authorize Mayor Perez 
to sign the letter on behalf of the Commission. 
Voting yea: Nine                                  Voting nay: None                                 MOTION CARRIED  
 
 

 

 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:20 p.m. 
 
Kenneth D. Rhodes, City of Sturgis Clerk/Treasurer 

49



City of Sturgis 
City Commission 
Regular Meeting 

 
Agenda Item 8B 

50



 

51



Accounts Payable Bill Proof - CITY OF STURGIS, MI
Date:  12/11/2024    Month:  03

Date Check# Vendor VendorName Amount

11/25/2024 250625M 04675 PATRICK ABSTRACT & 294,871.30

11/22/2024 PR0650M 00061 CITY OF STURGIS PAYROLL 352,270.16

11/21/2024 T17218M 06093 PEPSI BEVERAGES COMPANY 272.61

11/25/2024 T17219M 04197 MI PUBLIC POWER AGENCY 146,110.85

11/22/2024 T17220M 00062 CITY OF STURGIS-EMPLOYEE INS 73,209.56

11/22/2024 T17221M 00063 CITY OF STURGIS TAX TRANSFER 19,216.48

11/22/2024 T17222M 00064 INTL CITY MGMT ASSOC RETR CORP 9,947.35

11/22/2024 T17223M 00065 DOYLE MEMBERSHIP TRANSFER 2,826.31

11/22/2024 T17224M 03229 CITY OF STURGIS-WORKERS COMP 3,211.74

11/22/2024 T17225M 05123 COMERICA BANK-INST TRUST SERV 34,560.65

11/22/2024 T17226M 05588 ALERUS FINANCIAL/MERS TRANSFER 3,193.95

11/22/2024 T17227M 06190 HEALTH EQUITY/HSA PR TRANSFER 100.00

11/23/2024 T17228M 06388 ALLIANCE BEVERAGE DISTRIBUTING 151.50

11/22/2024 T17229M 04088 BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF MI 60,718.22

11/29/2024 T17230M 04088 BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF MI 70,118.57

11/27/2024 T17231M 00108 STATE OF MICHIGAN 61,430.21

11/01/2024 T17232M 03286 THE BANK OF NY MELLON TRUST CO 352,002.30

11/01/2024 T17233M 05618 STATE OF MICHIGAN 2,269.28

12/04/2024 T17234M 00197 CITY OF STURGIS UTILITIES 18,714.54

12/05/2024 T17235M 06121 GB SOLAR TE 2020 HOLDINGS LLC 116,949.97

12/04/2024 T17236M 03770 MICHIGAN GAS UTILITIES 44.62

12/04/2024 T17237M 03770 MICHIGAN GAS UTILITIES 45.75

12/02/2024 T17238M 04389 FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS A 122.06

12/12/2024 T17239M 00197 CITY OF STURGIS UTILITIES 13,286.72

12/10/2024 T17240M 03770 MICHIGAN GAS UTILITIES 581.19

12/10/2024 T17241M 03770 MICHIGAN GAS UTILITIES 86.02

12/11/2024 T17242M 03770 MICHIGAN GAS UTILITIES 54.87

12/11/2024 T17243M 03770 MICHIGAN GAS UTILITIES 380.00

12/20/2024 T17244M 00197 CITY OF STURGIS UTILITIES 8,731.25

12/13/2024 T17245M 04389 FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS A 586.42

12/13/2024 T17246M 04389 FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS A 330.92

12/13/2024 T17247M 04389 FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS A 61.30

12/13/2024 T17248M 04389 FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS A 26.08

12/13/2024 T17249M 04389 FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS A 735.24

12/20/2024 T17250M 00197 CITY OF STURGIS UTILITIES 6,932.89

Report generated Dec  5 2024  8:43AM by MICHELLE BAKER (MMB) logged into CHADMINSERVICE2 as mbaker Page 1 of 552



Accounts Payable Bill Proof - CITY OF STURGIS, MI
Date:  12/11/2024    Month:  03

12/10/2024 T17251M 04421 AT&T MOBILITY 820.75

12/02/2024 T17252M 04197 MI PUBLIC POWER AGENCY 175,658.89

12/01/2024 T17253M 06464 LRS LLC 98.83

12/01/2024 T17254M 06290 MEDPRO WASTE DISPOSAL LLC 27.56

12/12/2024 T17255M 00512 CAMOCO FUEL SYSTEM 12,644.15

12/16/2024 T17256M 04389 FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS A 604.00

12/16/2024 T17257M 04389 FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS A 62.20

12/11/2024 T17258M 02909 CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS 781.88

12/19/2024 T17259M 03770 MICHIGAN GAS UTILITIES 412.24

12/19/2024 T17260M 03770 MICHIGAN GAS UTILITIES 106.15

12/19/2024 T17261M 03770 MICHIGAN GAS UTILITIES 513.34

12/19/2024 T17262M 03770 MICHIGAN GAS UTILITIES 118.65

12/19/2024 T17263M 03770 MICHIGAN GAS UTILITIES 772.26

12/01/2024 T17264M 03951 SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANK & TRUST 1,658.42

12/01/2024 T17265M 00449 CENTURY BANK & TRUST 6,221.68

12/01/2024 T17266M 03951 SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANK & TRUST 5,277.77

12/01/2024 T17267M 04088 BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF MI 21,485.50

12/01/2024 T17268M 06138 MUTUAL OF OMAHA INSURANCE CO 5,502.36

Manual Total 1,886,917.51

12/11/2024 250626 00110 A & K PRINTING & POOLS 435.00

12/11/2024 250627 06519 AFFORDABLE EQUIPMENT RENTAL 1,825.00

12/11/2024 250628 04991 AIRPORT WINDSOCK CORP 158.24

12/11/2024 250629 00332 ALEXANDER CHEMICAL CORP 19.50

12/11/2024 250630 00002 ALL-PHASE ELECTRIC SUPPLY 11.68

12/11/2024 250631 05986 ALPHA BUILDING CENTER-NOTTAWA 31.45

12/11/2024 250632 06119 AMAZON.COM SALES INC 8,299.27

12/11/2024 250633 06594 AMERICAN REC SERVICES 682.00

12/11/2024 250634 06141 AMY SWETCOFF 150.00

12/11/2024 250635 05224 ANIXTER INC 13,155.45

12/11/2024 250636 00296 ANTHONY AND BRISTINE CROSDALE 17.55

12/11/2024 250637 00296 ASHTON K MICKEM 24.60

12/11/2024 250638 02292 ASPLUNDH TREE EXPERT CO 5,543.50

12/11/2024 250639 06117 BENITA ANN LEWIS 45.00

12/11/2024 250640 00296 BILLY J CHALK 62.30

12/11/2024 250641 00072 BIRD, SCHESKE, REED & BEEMER, 10,788.50

12/11/2024 250642 06585 BOFA INC 1,568.54

12/11/2024 250643 00006 BOLAND TIRE INC 5,593.90

Report generated Dec  5 2024  8:43AM by MICHELLE BAKER (MMB) logged into CHADMINSERVICE2 as mbaker Page 2 of 553



Accounts Payable Bill Proof - CITY OF STURGIS, MI
Date:  12/11/2024    Month:  03

12/11/2024 250644 03327 BOUND TREE MEDICAL LLC 1,828.40

12/11/2024 250645 00296 BRIAN W HALL 134.04

12/11/2024 250646 06474 BROWN EQUIPMENT COMPANY 369.04

12/11/2024 250647 00364 CAROL DUSTIN 300.00

12/11/2024 250648 06296 CIVICPLUS LLC 27,424.00

12/11/2024 250649 05412 CLEANCHEM 525.00

12/11/2024 250650 00041 CLEO CURRIER 25.00

12/11/2024 250651 06266 COMPSYCH CORPORATION 3,335.04

12/11/2024 250652 06325 COTTIN'S HARDWARE 111.10

12/11/2024 250653 06526 CRAIG TORNQUIST 500.00

12/11/2024 250654 06158 CULLIGAN WATER OF STURGIS 54.00

12/11/2024 250655 06535 CUSTOM SIGNS & DESIGNS 1,250.00

12/11/2024 250656 06536 DAVID COY LANHAM 3,000.00

12/11/2024 250657 00296 DEVLIN S DUFF 7.27

12/11/2024 250658 00160 DURY OIL CO 97.00

12/11/2024 250659 03894 EASTCOAST ENTERTAINMENT INC 2,500.00

12/11/2024 250660 06014 EGANIX INC 840.00

12/11/2024 250661 00166 ELHORN ENGINEERING CO 1,578.00

12/11/2024 250662 06244 EMERGENCY VEHICLES PLUS 1,180.62

12/11/2024 250663 04955 ENVIRO-CLEAN 6,158.00

12/11/2024 250664 05745 ERICA VARGAS SARCO 40.00

12/11/2024 250665 06343 ERIN MELCHI BAKER 30.00

12/11/2024 250666 00169 FASTENAL COMPANY 281.34

12/11/2024 250667 05151 FAWN RIVER MECHANICAL  LLC 1,265.98

12/11/2024 250668 01204 FERGUSON DBA POLLARDWATER 316.95

12/11/2024 250669 05490 FERGUSON WATERWORKS #3386 2,555.70

12/11/2024 250670 06595 FINN AND DRONES LLC 2,500.00

12/11/2024 250671 06496 FISH WINDOW CLEANING 622.00

12/11/2024 250672 00013 FISHBECK 32,272.27

12/11/2024 250673 05583 FITNESS THINGS INC 453.26

12/11/2024 250674 00776 FLEIS & VANDENBRINK 113,730.10

12/11/2024 250675 06287 FOCAL POINT STUDIOS 7,000.00

12/11/2024 250676 04389 FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS A 1,120.41

12/11/2024 250677 06596 FRONTLINE PUBLIC SAFETY 1,350.00

12/11/2024 250678 02082 GECKO SECURITY  LLC 190.00

12/11/2024 250679 01403 GEORGE EARL 20.00

12/11/2024 250680 06590 GEORGE EBERT 160.00

Report generated Dec  5 2024  8:43AM by MICHELLE BAKER (MMB) logged into CHADMINSERVICE2 as mbaker Page 3 of 554



Accounts Payable Bill Proof - CITY OF STURGIS, MI
Date:  12/11/2024    Month:  03

12/11/2024 250681 00183 GRAINGER INC 220.44

12/11/2024 250682 04243 GRP ENGINEERING INC 4,300.00

12/11/2024 250683 03357 HILLSDALE BOARD OF PUBLIC 9,974.56

12/11/2024 250684 04298 HPS   LLC 760.00

12/11/2024 250685 04922 HUTSON ASSESSING INC 5,047.50

12/11/2024 250686 05171 STUART C IRBY CO 158.14

12/11/2024 250687 01101 JANENE KOSMAN 20.00

12/11/2024 250688 06314 JODIE M JOHNSON 20.00

12/11/2024 250689 06217 JOHN J FLOWERS 150.00

12/11/2024 250690 00889 KENTON KELLEY 225.00

12/11/2024 250691 04238 MICHELE KELLEY 189.00

12/11/2024 250692 06482 KENDRICK STATIONERS 99.95

12/11/2024 250693 04071 KS AUTO SERVICE INC 218.00

12/11/2024 250694 00212 KSS ENTERPRISES 647.69

12/11/2024 250695 00296 LARRY BENTON 16.84

12/11/2024 250696 06464 LRS LLC 1,905.01

12/11/2024 250697 06250 MARANA GROUP 6,167.48

12/11/2024 250698 00296 MARVIN R THOMAS 114.40

12/11/2024 250699 03095 MARY DRESSER 60.00

12/11/2024 250700 03774 STATE OF MICHIGAN 198.00

12/11/2024 250701 04414 MICHIGAN CHAMBER SERVICES  INC 571.00

12/11/2024 250702 05121 MICKEY'S LINEN 252.26

12/11/2024 250703 05051 MILSOFT UTILITY SOLUTIONS 501.62

12/11/2024 250704 06491 ONLINE INFORMATION SERVICES 766.50

12/11/2024 250705 00296 OSCAR P MOLONEY 51.40

12/11/2024 250706 00485 POWER LINE SUPPLY 1,980.00

12/11/2024 250707 06109 POWERDMS, INC 6,627.16

12/11/2024 250708 01110 PRO-TECH SALES 3,725.00

12/11/2024 250709 04481 PROF SPORTS SPECIFIC TRAINING 270.00

12/11/2024 250710 04251 RAI JETS LLC 1,260.00

12/11/2024 250711 02338 RAM PRODUCTION BACKLINE INC 2,280.00

12/11/2024 250712 00035 RESCO 8,802.00

12/11/2024 250713 06038 REVOLUTION HEALTH, P.C. 260.00

12/11/2024 250714 06020 RICHMOND SANITARY SERVICE INC 700.00

12/11/2024 250715 05682 ROBERT TAYLOR 80.00

12/11/2024 250716 05379 S & S INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY 225.93

12/11/2024 250717 02078 SCOTT AERATOR CO   LLC 2,163.40

Report generated Dec  5 2024  8:43AM by MICHELLE BAKER (MMB) logged into CHADMINSERVICE2 as mbaker Page 4 of 555



Accounts Payable Bill Proof - CITY OF STURGIS, MI
Date:  12/11/2024    Month:  03

12/11/2024 250718 05765 SELKING INTERNATIONAL 316.45

12/11/2024 250719 06033 SPECTRUM PRINTERS INC 525.00

12/11/2024 250720 00296 STEVE R AND AMY L TROYER 73.67

12/11/2024 250721 04903 STONECO OF MICHIGAN 219.84

12/11/2024 250722 06487 STURGIS ACE HARDWARE 271.89

12/11/2024 250723 00936 STURGIS COMMUNITY POOL 180.00

12/11/2024 250724 05826 STURGIS GLASS LLC 942.34

12/11/2024 250725 00101 STURGIS NEIGHBORHOOD PROGRAM 5,033.33

12/11/2024 250726 00841 STURGIS TOWING & RECOVERY 485.00

12/11/2024 250727 06107 TALIA YEOMAN 140.00

12/11/2024 250728 05777 TRACE ANALYTICAL LABORATORIES 10,200.75

12/11/2024 250729 05085 TURNOUT MANAGEMENT 101.14

12/11/2024 250730 06319 WEALING BROTHERS LLC 27,300.00

12/11/2024 D02476 00340 AMERICAN SAFETY & FIRST AID 56.99

12/11/2024 D02477 01213 BISBEE INFRARED SERVICES INC 500.00

12/11/2024 D02478 04066 BORDEN WASTE-AWAY SERVICE  INC 6,401.19

12/11/2024 D02479 02983 CINTAS LOCATION #351 1,127.92

12/11/2024 D02480 06505 GALLS LLC 112.85

12/11/2024 D02481 00019 KENDALL ELECTRIC INC 128.58

12/11/2024 D02482 03944 LINDE GAS & EQUIPMENT INC 132.39

12/11/2024 D02483 06087 MALLORY SAFETY AND SUPPLY, LLC 280.45

12/11/2024 D02484 06026 MID-CITY SUPPLY CO INC 613.08

12/11/2024 D02485 06069 NAPA AUTO PARTS 1,339.30

12/11/2024 D02486 01411 NCL OF WISCONSIN INC 30.00

12/11/2024 D02487 05932 O'REILLY AUTO ENTERPRISES  LLC 41.23

Automatic Total 381,097.67

Grand Total 2,268,015.18

Report generated Dec  5 2024  8:43AM by MICHELLE BAKER (MMB) logged into CHADMINSERVICE2 as mbaker Page 5 of 556



GENERAL $176,259.17

MAJOR STREET 5,595.81

LOCAL STREET 5,281.85

CEMETERY 6,502.88

AIRPORT 0.00

BUILDING 3,604.61

HOUSING DEPARTMENT 0.00

STURGES-YOUNG CENTER FOR THE ARTS 5,697.02

RECREATION 3,067.17

DOYLE RECREATION CENTER 10,339.67

AMBULANCE 13,957.26

ELECTRIC 86,798.46

SEWER 18,825.83

WATER 13,570.97

MOTOR VEHICLE 2,769.46

Payroll Sub-Total $352,270.16

PAYROLL DISBURSEMENT

FOR PAYROLL ENDING 11/17/2024

PR0650M PAYROLL DATE 11/22/2024

57



City of Sturgis 
City Commission 
Regular Meeting 

 
Agenda Item 10A 

58



 

59



  

 

initiative 

 

Beckett & Raeder, Inc. 
535 West William 
Suite 101 
Ann Arbor, MI  48103 
 
734.663.2622 ph 
734.663.6759 fx 
 
www.bria2.com 

Traverse City Office 
148 East Front Street 
Suite 207 
Traverse City, MI  49684 
 
231.933.8400 ph 
231.944.1709 fx 
 

 

Petoskey Office 
113 Howard Street 
Petoskey, MI  49770 
 
 
231.347.2523 ph 
231.347.2524 fx 

Grand Rapids Office 
5211 Cascade Road SE Suite 
300 
Grand Rapids, MI 49546 
 
616.585.1295 ph 

  
 

 

Date:  09.13.2024 
 
From: Sara Kopriva, AICP 
 Dan Power, AICP 
To:  City of Sturgis Planning Commission  
 
Project: Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance Re-Write: First Review 
 
Remarks: 
 

The City of Sturgis Zoning Ordinance has been reviewed thoroughly by the City’s Community 

Development Department staff and Beckett and Raeder, Inc. since June 2023. Updates and 

revisions have been implemented which modernize the ordinance and provide standards 

specific to the current land use and development context in the City. This memorandum 

includes a Schedule of Changes table which summarizes changes to the various articles and 

sections within the Zoning Ordinance.  Some items not listed will be presented at the upcoming 

Planning Commission meeting on September 17, 2024. 

 

Schedule of Changes 

 

Article / Section  Summary of changes 

Throughout  • Replaced planning board with planning commission 

• Replaced building department with community 
development department.  

• Alphabetized uses throughout districts. 

• Updated formatting throughout for consistency. 

ARTICLE I. SHORT TITLE AND PURPOSE 

1.0101. Short title.  Updated ref. to Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (MZEA) 

1.0102. Purpose.  (NC) 

1.0103. Intent.   

 

1.0104. Conflict of 
Regulations 

(NS) Review new section 

1.0105 Vested Right. (NS) Review new section 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 

1.0201. General.   

60



                                                            
 

 

initiative 

 

1.0202. Specific terms.  • State-licensed facility definitions: Definitions for 
adult day care facility and related adult day care 
facility types were added. 

• Adult foster care definitions stemming from 1979 
PA 218 (Adult Foster Care Facility Licensing Act) 
were added. 

• Other new definitions: Battery Storage Energy 
System, Large; Brewery; Brewpub; Carport; 
Contractor’s office; Cottage court or bungalow 
court; Distillery; Distribution warehouse; Donation 
box; Energy Storage System, Large; Equipment 
servicing; Garbage; Greenhouse; Harmonious; 
Laboratory; Landscape or landscaping; Micro 
brewery; Moving and storage; Qualified residential 
treatment program; Research and development; 
Sale, garage or yard sale; Short term rental; Small 
distiller; Small wine maker; Solar Energy System, 
Large; Storage area, accessory; Storage area, non-
accessory; Structure, temporary;  

• Changes to definitions: Access, Accessory use; Aisle; 
Apartments; Attached garage; Automobile repair, 
minor; Automobile washing establishment; Berm, 
obscuring; Building; Church, temple, or mosque; 
Conditional use; Development; Dwelling, one-family; 
Elderly housing; Exceptions; Family; Fence, 
ornamental; Floor area, usable; Industrial, light; 
Industrial, heavy; Institutional or public uses; Lot 
area; Lot depth; Lot line, side lot line; Master plan 
(comprehensive plan); Ministorage units; Modular 
and sectional home; Motel; Nuisance; Outdoor sales 
area; Planned district development (PDD); 
Professional services; Retail sales and retail services; 
Road or street, private; Street classifications; 
Temporary certificate of occupancy; Warehousing; 
Yards;  

• Deleted definitions: Hospice; Junkyard; Main 
building; Main use; Major street; Nursery; Nursery 

61



                                                            
 

 

initiative 

 

school; Nursing home; Open air business; Retail 
trade; Storage; Temporary building or use; Tourist 
home; Used car lot;  

ARTICLE III. DESIGNATION AND PURPOSE OF ZONING DISTRICTS  

1.0301. Zoning 
districts. 

 Added: B-N – Business Neighborhood; M-1, 
Manufacturing 1; M-2 – Manufacturing 2; PDD-1 
through 3 – Planned Development Districts 1-3.  
Removed: M – Manufacturing; PD – Planned 
Development; P -Parking  

1.0302 - 6. Zoning 
map; zoning text 
interpreted; zoning 
of annexed areas; 
zoning of vacated 
lands; district 
requirements. 

 (NC) 

ARTICLE IV. DESCRIPTION OF DISTRICTS 

1.0401 – 1.0405 (all 
residential districts) 

 Simplified regulations governing home occupations by 
reference to § 1.1123; added AFC for 6 or fewer 
persons and CC as  permitted by-right, as required by 
MZEA and AFCFLA. CC and AFC for >6 persons included 
as SLUs. Simplified dwelling unit review process via 
reference to § 1.1124. 

1.0401. R-1 rural 
residential. 

 Added cottage court and AFC camp as a SLU.  

1.0402. R-2 
subdivision 
residential. 

 Added cottage court as a SLU. 

1.0403. R-3 
residential. 

 Added cottage court as a SLU. 

1.0404. R-4 
apartment. 

 Separated mortuary and professional office uses. 
Added cottage court as a SLU. 

1.0405. R-5 
residential. 

  

1.0406-1.0409.1 (all 
business districts) 

 Added brewpubs, breweries, microbreweries, small 
distillers, and small wine makers as SLUs. Included child 
care centers or day care centers, with new reference to 

62



                                                            
 

 

initiative 

 

regulations in § 1.0602 and 1.0603(M). Home 
occupations in existing housing permitted, subject to § 
1.1123. 
Provided details for exterior lighting. 
Updated compatibility of adjacent residential uses as 
discussed. 

1.0406. B-OS 
business office 
service. 

 See above. 

1.0407. B-C central 
business district. 

 Standards added for outdoor display of merchandise 
under § 1.0407(D)(9). 

1.0408. B-H 1 
business highway 1. 

 Standards added for outdoor display of merchandise 
under § 1.0408(D)(2). 

1.0409. B-H 2 
business highway 2. 

 Standards added for outdoor display of merchandise 
under § 1.0409(D)(2). Option for Planning Commission 
to modify screening requirements from residential 
property under provided in  § 1.0409(D)(6). 

1.0409.1. B-N 
business 
neighborhood. 

 Added AFC for 6 or fewer persons and certain CC uses 
as permitted by-right. Added cottage courts as SLUs. 

1.0410. M-1 
manufacturing 1. 

(NS) This district was created from the previous M district. 
Existing housing and home occupations therein were 
added as by-right. Principal use (large) energy storage 
systems and small engine repair are added as SLUs. 
Standards added for outdoor display of merchandise 
under § 1.0410(D)(4). 

1.0411. – M-2 
Manufacturing 
District 2 

(NS) This district is new and contains a list of permitted by-
right and special uses that matches the intent of the 
district. Newly defined / introduced uses include 
appointment-only sales, principal use (large) energy 
storage systems and principal use (large) solar energy 
systems, and distribution warehouses. Separation of 
indoor (R) and outdoor (SLU) equipment servicing. 
Performance standards added. 

1.0411. Parking 
District.  

 This section was removed.  

63



                                                            
 

 

initiative 

 

1.0412. PDD-1 
planned 
development district. 

 This section was simplified to include only provisions 
regarding intent, permitted uses, SLUs, and required 
conditions. Procedural requirements for PDD-1 
establishment were removed and move to the 
administration article. 

1.0412.1. PDD-2 
planned 
development district. 

  

1.0412.2. PDD-3 
planned 
development district 
3. 

  

ARTICLE V. SCHEDULE OF REGULATIONS 

1.0501. Table—
Schedule of 
Regulations. 

 Regulations formerly pertaining to M district are now 
applied to M-1 District. New set of regulations added 
for newly created M-2 including 200 foot minimum lot 
width. Minimum lot widths added to B-C (50’), B-H-1 
(100’), and M-1 District (100’). 

1.0502. Schedule of 
regulations. 

 References to side yards abutting a street were 
removed and terminology was adjusted to describe 
front yards on corner lots.  

1.0503. Average lot 
size. 

 Redundant standard in subsection (h) regarding corner 
lots removed. Terminology updated in subsection 
(m).Subsection (q) removed.  

1.0504. Subdivision 
and site 
condominium open 
space plan. 

 For clarity, four statements of intent are now under 
subsection (A) and all items pertaining to modifications 
are now under subsection (B). No other content 
changes.  

1.0505. One-family 
cluster option. 

  

ARTICLE VI. SPECIAL LAND USES AND STRUCTURES  

1.0601. Purpose.   

1.0602. General 
provisions.   

 Under § 1.0602(H), a clause is added to allow the ZA 
ability to initiate SLU review by PC if conditions are not 
being met.  

64



                                                            
 

 

initiative 

 

1.0603. Special land 
use designated. 

 • Distinction made for non-accessory outdoor sales 
areas with additional standards in § 1.0603(T). 

• Removal of 300-ft setback requirements for service 
stations and vehicle repair shops in § 1.0603(U). 

• One exception made for standards for vehicle sales 
areas in § 1.0603(V). 

• Allowance of two additional feet for chainlink 
fences for added security for ministorage uses in § 
1.0603(X). 

• Billboards and related standards removed. 

• Redundant off-street parking requirement removed 
for social clubs (§ 1.0603(HH)). 

• Additional notification requirements for vacant 
commercial type buildings removed and a business 
plan is required (§ 1.0603(PP)). 

• Standards for cottage courts were added (§ 
1.0603(UU)).  

• Special conditions for Battery Energy Storage 
System, large was added. ((§ 1.0603(VV)).  
 

ARTICLE VII. GENERAL EXCEPTIONS 

AREA, HEIGHT AND 
USE EXCEPTIONS  

  

1.0701. Essential 
services. 

  

1.0702. Voting place.   

1.0703. Height limit.   

1.0704. Lot area.   

1.0705. Lots 
adjoining alleys. 

  

1.0706. Yard 
regulations. 

  

1.0707. Porches and 
decks. 

 Clarifications added to allow porches and decks to be as 
tall as the building’s finished floor elevation (FFE). 

1.0708. Access 
through yards. 

 This section was removed.  

65



                                                            
 

 

initiative 

 

1.0709. Projections 
into yards. 

  

1.0710. Yard 
exceptions. 

  

1.0711. Class A 
nonconforming 
use/structure status. 

 Updated with B-N items. 

ARTICLE VIII. NONCONFORMING USES AND STRUCTURES . 

  This section was reorganized to show nonconforming 
uses and structures first and then the class a/b process 
and requirements. 

 
 
1.0801. 
Nonconforming uses 
established. 

  

1.0802. Class A 
nonconforming uses 
or structures. 

  

1.0803. Class A 
conditions. 

  

1.0804. Revocation 
of class A 
designation. 

  

1.0805. Class B 
nonconforming uses 
or structures. 

  

1.0806. 
Nonconforming lots. 

  

1.0807. 
Nonconforming uses 
of land. 

  

1.0808. 
Nonconforming 
structures. 

  

66



                                                            
 

 

initiative 

 

1.0809. 
Nonconforming use 
of structures or of 
structures and land 
in combination. 

  

1.0810. Repair or 
replacement. 

  

1.0811. Removal of 
nonconforming 
status.  

  

1.0812. Elimination 
of nonconforming 
structures or land 

  

ARTICLE IX. OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING REQUIREMENTS  
 

   

1.0902 Required 
parking. 

 PC given authority to determine circumstances under 
which a deferred parking area will be installed, under § 
1.0902(C). 
Minor adjustments to residential driveway standards 
under § 1.0903(G). 

1.0903 Required 
loading. 

  

1.0904 Parking lot 
design 

 PC given authority to waive circulation requirements 
based on use conditions.  

1.0905 Variances and 
exceptions. 

  

ARTICLE X. SIGNS 

  • Temporary signs were permitted to have 
feather flags in commercial districts out near 
road as permanent signs as long as they are put 
away when business not in operation. 

• Ordinance was reviewed with changes in 
regards to neutral content. 

• Provided clarification on how to calculate 
signage on bump outs and bump ups. 

67



                                                            
 

 

initiative 

 

• Removed wall area calculation from individual 
sections and added under general provisions. 

• Political signs were removed and will be 
considered under temporary signage conditions. 
 

 

1.1001. General 
requirements. 

  

1.1002. Signs in the 
one-family districts. 

  

1.1003. Signs 
accessory to 
permitted non-
residential uses in 
residential districts. 

  

1.1004. Signs in R-4 
apartment districts. 

  

1.1005. Signs in B-OS 
business, office, 
service districts. 

  

1.1006. Signs in the 
B-C central business 
district. 

 • Changed window signage to allow additional 
signage if being used as the primary signage of 
business. 

• Included signage being placed above sill of 
second floor window if the signage is a 
minimum of 6 feet from any openings and 
abutting buildings.  Must be reviewed by design 
review committee and approved by Planning 
Commission. 

1.1007. Signs in B-H 
1 business highway 1 
district. 

 • Added language on tenants spaces that have 
primary entrance not on a road but a parking lot 
(strip mall). 

1.1008. Signs in B-H 
2 business highway 2 
and M 

  

68



                                                            
 

 

initiative 

 

manufacturing 
districts. 

1.1009. Signs in the 
PDD-2 planned 
development district. 

  

1.1010. Temporary 
promotional 
materials. 

 • Included banners and sandwich boards to be 
permitted as temporary promotional materials. 

1.1011. Signs 
accessory to public 
parks and public 
facilities in any 
district. 

  

1.1012. Temporary 
signs. 

  

1.1013. Signs in the 
PDD-3 planned 
development district 
3. 

  

1.1014. Signs in the 
B-N business 
neighborhood 
district. 

  

ARTICLE XI. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

1.1101. Scope.   

1.1102. Conflicting 
regulations. 

  

1.1103. Uses not 
otherwise included 
within a specific 
district. 

  

1.1104. Airport glide 
path. 

 Included language about contacting FAA and Michigan 
Aeronautical when doing a project. 

1.1105. Accessory 
buildings, structures 
and uses. 

 The following accessory uses and buildings have been 
listed and new standards have been added: In all zoning 
districts, Donation bins; Sales, garage or yard; and 
Temporary Structures; and, in the residential districts,  

69



                                                            
 

 

initiative 

 

storage / shipping containers; solar energy systems 
(pholtovoltaic). Additional detail has also been provided 
regarding terms and exceptions for prohibited 
accessory structures. A listing of permitted accessory 
uses is provided, which was formerly included in the 
definitions section (Article 2).  

1.1106. Walls and 
fences. 

  

1.1107. Corner 
clearance.  

 Clarification is provided on the permitted height of 
fences / walls in the corner clearance areas. 

1.1108. Area or 
space required. 

  

1.1109. Yard 
requirements along 
zoning boundary 
line. 

  

1.1110. Front yards 
on lots running 
through the block. 

  

1.1111. Restrictions 
for lot widths 
adjacent to platted 
lots 

  

1.1112. Institutional 
and public uses. 

  

1.1113. Sewage and 
water requirements. 

  

1.1114. Surface 
runoff. 

  

1.1115. Garbage and 
rubbish and 
screening of outdoor 
storage; junk motor 
vehicles. 

  

1.1116. Swimming 
pools. 

  

70



                                                            
 

 

initiative 

 

1.1117. Basement 
dwellings. 

  

1.1118. Abandoned 
buildings and 
structures. 

  

1.1119. Open space 
minimum area. 

  

1.1120. Storage of 
household furniture 
and appliances 

  

1.1121. Reserved.   This section was removed. 

1.1122.  Demolition 
of buildings. 

 New regulations are provided for demolitions including 
procedural requirements before, during and after 
demolition and exceptions to these requirements.  

1.1123. Home 
Occupations. 

 New regulations are provided for home occupations 
including general conditions under which a home 
occupation may be permitted, permitted and 
prohibited home occupation activities; and designation 
of home occupations that do not fall under the stated 
categories as special uses.   

1.1124. Dwelling 
Unit Review. 

 Standards have been relocated from former location in 
Article IV – Description of Districts  

ARTICLE XII. SITE PLAN REVIEW  

1.1201. - Purpose.   

1.1202. - Scope.   

1.1203. - Optional 
Pre-Application 
Meeting and Sketch 
Plan Review. 

  

1.1204. - Application 
procedure. 

  

1.1205. - Action on 
application and 
plans. 

  

1.1206. - Criteria for 
review. 

  

71



                                                            
 

 

initiative 

 

1.1207. - Conformity 
to approved site 
plan. 

  

1.1208. - 
Amendment to site 
plan. 

  

1.1209. - 
Performance 
guarantee. 

  

1.1210. – Appeals   

ARTICLE XIII DESIGN REVIEW - CENTRAL BUSINESS AREA 

1.1301. Design 
review. 

 § 1.1301(H) – Building Lighting – has been added. 

ARTICLE XIV. ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT  

1.1401. Building 
permits. 

  

1.1402. Occupancy 
permits. 

  

1.1403. 
Enforcement; 
violations procedure.  

 Updated language. 

1.1404. City planning 
commission.  

  

1.1405. Zoning board 
of appeals. 

  

1.1406. District 
changes and section 
amendments. 

  

1.1406.5 Creation of 
Planned 
Development District 
(PDD) 

(NS) Procedural requirements for establishing PDDs 
relocated from former location in Article IV. 

1.1407. Public 
nuisance, per se. 

  

72



                                                            
 

 

initiative 

 

1.1408. Rights and 
remedies are 
cumulative. 

  

1.1409. Penalty.   

ARTICLE XV. GROUNDWATER PROTECTION 

1.1501. Purpose.   

1.1502. Definitions.   

1.1503. Applicability.   

1.1504. Prohibitions 
within ten-year time-
of-travel (TOT) 
wellhead protection 
area. 

  

1.1505. Site plan 
review. 

  

1.1506. Criteria for 
review. 

  

1.1507. Exemptions 
and waivers. 

  

1.1508. Inactive 
operations. 

  

1.1509. 
Enforcement. 

  

1.1510. 
Abatement/remedial 
activities by the city. 

  

1.1511. Injunctive 
relief. 

  

1.1512. Violations 
deemed a public 
nuisance.  

  

1.1513. Penalties 
and costs. 

  

1.1514. 
Groundwater 

  

73



                                                            
 

 

initiative 

 

protection board of 
appeals. 
1.1515. Appeals. 

1.1516. Remedies 
not exclusive. 

  

1.1517. Conflicting 
regulations. 

  

1.1518. Severability   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



 

157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



25′ 30′

197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



 

217



218



219



220



221



 

222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



 SIGNS

 General

238



239



 Signs

240



1003. Signs

241



1004. Signs

242



243



244



1005. Signs

245



246



1006. Signs

247



.1007. Signs

248



249



250



251



252



253



254



. Signs

255



256



257



1009. Signs

258



1.1010. Signs

259



1.1011. Temporary

1.1012. Temporary

260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



       

274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



302



303



304



305



306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



314



315



316



317



318



319



320



321



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



332



 

 

ARTICLE I. SHORT TITLE AND PURPOSE 

 

1.0101. Short title. 

This chapter appendix A shall be known as the Zoning Ordinance of the City of Sturgis, under the powers 

provided by Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, Public Act 110 of 2006, as amended.  

1.0102. Purpose. 

In interpretation and application, the provisions of this zoning code shall be held to be minimum 

requirements to provide adequate light, air, access, circulation, open yard spaces, off-street parking areas, and 

protection to property values from incompatible uses; to limit and restrict the height, size, and location of buildings 

and uses; to secure safety from fire and other dangers; to lessen congestion in the streets; to limit the density and 

intensity of use of land; to promote the most appropriate and compatible uses of land in various districts of the 

city; to provide for enforcement of and variations to these provisions; and to impose penalties for violations 

thereof.   

1.0103. Intent. 

Pursuant to the authority conferred by the public acts of the State of Michigan in such case, made and 

provided and for the purpose of promoting, and protecting the public health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, 

convenience, and general welfare of the inhabitants of the city by protecting and conserving the character and 

social and economic stability of the residential, commercial, industrial and other use areas; by securing the most 

appropriate use of land, preventing overcrowding the land and undue congestion of population; providing 

adequate light, air and reasonable access; and facilitating adequate and economical provision of transportation, 

water, sewers, schools, recreation, and other public requirements, and by other means, all in accordance with a 

comprehensive plan; now therefore.  

1.0104 Conflict of regulations. 

Where there are conditions imposed by any provision of this zoning ordinance that are either more or less 

restrictive than comparable conditions imposed by another ordinance, rule or regulations of the City, the 

ordinance, rule or regulation which imposes the more restrictive condition, standard, or requirement shall prevail.  

The Zoning Administrator shall determine which is more restrictive.  Appeals from the Zoning Administrator's 

determination may be made in the manner provided in this Chapter.  The provisions of this Chapter shall be the 

minimum requirements for the promotion of the public health, safety, and welfare. 

1.0105 Vested right. 

Nothing in this Chapter should be interpreted or construed to give rise to permanent vested rights in the 

continuance of any particular use, district, zoning classification, or any permissible activities therein, and they are 

hereby declared to be subject to subsequent amendment, change, or modification, as may be necessary to the 

preservation or protection of public health, safety, and welfare. 

333



 

 1 of 30  

 

ARTICLE II. DEFINITIONS 

1.0201. General. 

When not inconsistent with the context, words in the present tense include the future tense, words used in the 

singular number include the plural number and words used in the plural number include the singular. The word 

"shall" is always mandatory and not merely directive. The word "building" includes the word "structure" or vice 

versa. Terms not herein defined shall have the meaning customarily assigned to them.  

1.0202. Specific terms. 

For the purpose of this section, the following definitions shall apply unless context clearly indicates or requires a 

different meaning.  

 

Abandonment. The cessation of activity in, or use of a dwelling, structure, or lot, other than that which 

would normally occur on a seasonal basis, for a period of 12 months or longer. For purposes of mineral extraction 

operations, "abandonment" at any particular site shall be determined by the planning commission giving 

consideration to any specific site plan.  

Abutting. Having property or district line in common e.g., two lots are abutting if they have property lines 

in common.  

Access or accessible A way of approaching or entering a property.  

Accessory building. A type of structure that has a roof which is supported by columns or walls, is intended 

for the shelter or enclosure of persons, animals, goods or property, and is further intended to be used in a manner 

that is clearly incidental to, customarily found in connection with, subordinate to, and located on the same lot as 

the principal use to which it is exclusively related. Examples of accessory buildings include but are not limited to: 

garages, storage sheds, gazebos, playhouses, greenhouses, pump houses, garden sheds, pergolas and dog houses.  

Accessory structure. Anything constructed or erected, the use of which requires location on the ground or 

attachment to something having such location, and that is intended to be used in a manner that is clearly incidental 

to, customarily found in connection with, subordinate to, and located on the same lot as the principal use to which 

it is exclusively related. Examples of accessory structures include but are not limited to accessory buildings, 

swimming pools and decks around pools, play structures, HVAC units, generators, television antennas not installed 

on principal building, residential kennels, solar panels, trampolines, storage unit and tennis courts.  

Accessory use. A use which is clearly incidental to, customarily found in connection with, and located on 

the same zoning lot, unless otherwise specified, as the principal use to which it is related. When [the term] 

"accessory" is used in this text, it has the same meaning as [the term] "accessory use."  Addition. A structure 

added to the original structure at some time after the completion of the original.  

Adjoining lot or land. A lot or parcel of land which shares all or part of a common lot line with another lot 

or parcel of land.  

Adult entertainment facilities. 

A. Adult bookstore. An establishment having more than 50 percent of its stock in trade, magazine and 

other periodicals with an emphasis on matter depicting, describing, or relating to "specified sexual 

activities" or "specified anatomical areas" (as defined herein), or an establishment with a segment 

or section devoted to the sale or display of such material and which excludes minors by virtue of 

age.  

B. Adult motion picture theater. An enclosed building, with a capacity of 50 or more persons, used for 

presenting material with an emphasis on matters depicting, describing, or relating to "specified 

sexual activities" or "specified anatomical areas" (as defined herein), for observation by patrons 

therein.  and which excludes minors by virtue of age.  

334



 

 2 of 30  

 

C. Adult minimotion picture theater. An enclosed building with a capacity for less than 50 persons, 

used for presenting material with an emphasis on matters depicting, describing, or relating to 

"specified sexual activities" or "specified anatomical areas" (as defined herein), for observation by 

patrons therein. and which excludes minors by virtue of age.  

D. Adult cabaret. An establishment in which alcoholic beverages are not served and which provides 

dancers or other live entertainers who display or describe "specified sexual activities" or "specified 

anatomical areas" (as defined herein), for observation by patrons therein.  and which excludes 

minors by virtue of age.  

Adult day care facility. The following definitions shall apply to types of adult day care facilities: 

A. Adult day care center. A facility, other than a private residence, receiving one or more persons, 

eighteen (18) years of age or older, for care for periods of less than twenty-four (24) hours a day. It 

includes facilities for adults who are aged, mentally ill, developmentally disabled or physically 

handicapped who require supervision on an ongoing basis. An adult day-care center does not 

include alcohol or substance abuse rehabilitation centers, residential centers for persons released 

from or assigned to a correctional facility, or any other facilities which do not meet the definition of 

adult day-care center. 

B. Adult group day care home. A private residence in which more than six (6) but not more than 

twelve (12) adults eighteen (18) years of age or older, receive care for periods of less than twenty- 

four (24) hours a day. It includes facilities for adults who are aged, mentally ill, developmentally 

disabled, or physically handicapped that require supervision on an ongoing basis. An adult day care 

home does not include alcohol or substance abuse rehabilitation centers, residential centers for 

persons released from or assigned to a correctional facility, or any other facilities which do not meet 

the definition of adult day care center. 

C. Adult family day care home. A private residence in which six (6) or less adults eighteen (18) years of 

age or older, receive care for periods of less than twenty-four (24) hours a day. It includes facilities 

for adults who are aged, mentally ill, developmentally disabled, or physically handicapped that 

require supervision on an ongoing basis. An adult day care home does not include alcohol or 

substance abuse rehabilitation centers, residential centers for persons released from or assigned to 

a correctional facility, or any other facilities which do not meet the definition of adult day care 

center. 

Adult foster care facility.  A state licensed establishment that provides care to adults.  Subject to Michigan 

Public Act 218 of 1979, as amended, Adult Foster Care includes facilities and homes or facilities for adults who are 

aged, mentally ill, developmentally disabled, or physically disabled who require supervision on an ongoing basis, 

but who do not require continuous nursing care. An adult foster care facility does not include convalescent or 

nursing homes, homes for the aged, hospitals, alcohol or substance abuse rehabilitation center, residential centers 

for persons released from or assigned to a correctional facility, or any other facilities which have been exempted 

from the definition of adult foster care facility by the Adult Foster Care Facility Licensing Act. The following 

definitions shall apply to types of adult foster care facilities: 

A. Adult foster care home, small group. An adult foster care facility providing residency with the 

approved capacity to receive at least three (3) but not more than twelve (12) adults to be provided 

with foster care.  

B. Adult foster care home, large group.  An adult foster care facility with the approved capacity to 

receive at least 13 but not more than 20 adults to be provided with foster care.   

C. Adult foster care home, family.  A private residence with the approved capacity to receive at least 3 

but not more than 6 adults to be provided with foster care. The adult foster care family home 

licensee must be a member of the household and an occupant of the residence.  

D. Adult foster care congregate facility. An adult foster care facility with the approved capacity to 

receive more than twenty (20) adults to be provided with foster care. 

335



 

 3 of 30  

 

E. Adult foster care camp or adult camp means an adult foster care facility with the approved capacity 

to receive more than 4 adults to be provided foster care. An adult foster care camp is a facility 

located in a natural or rural environment. 

Airport. A place where aircraft land and take off, equipped with hangars, facilities for refueling and repair, 

and various accommodation for passengers.  

Aisle. The area delineated to facilitate the movement of vehicles entering, exiting, or maneuvering within 

a parking area, ensuring efficient traffic flow and safe navigation for both pedestrians and drivers. 

Alley. A public way which affords only secondary access to abutting property, and not intended for general 

traffic circulation.   

Alterations. Any change, addition or modification in construction or type of occupancy, or in the structural 

members of a building such as walls or partitions, columns, beams or girders, the consummated act of which may 

be referred to in this [zoning] ordinance as "altered" or "reconstructed."  

Amusement arcade. [The term] "amusement arcade" means any place, premises, or establishment, or any 

room or floor space set aside in a commercial establishment, in or at which four or more mechanical amusement 

devices as defined in this [zoning] ordinance are located.  

Animal hospital. An indoor commercial establishment where animals are treated by a veterinarian and 

animals may be provided overnight kenneling.  

Apartments. A building containing more than one dwelling unit with one or more rooms with private bath 

and kitchen facilities comprising of independent self-contained dwelling units.   

Apartment, efficiency. A dwelling unit consisting of not more than one room in addition to kitchen, dining 

and necessary sanitary facilities.  

Appeals. The process, as prescribed in the [zoning] ordinance, for contesting a zoning interpretation made 

by the community development department or a decision made by the planning commission.  

Applicant. A person or entity submitting an application for review and action by the city or any of its 

departments or commissions.  

Application.  Application means the process by which the owner of a parcel of land within the City or their 

designated agent or their contractor submits a request for any type of development review or approval identified in 

this chapter. Application includes all written documentation, verbal statements and representations, in whatever 

form or forum, made by an applicant to the City concerning such a request. 

Approved plan. A plan which has been granted final approval by the appropriate approving authority.  

Approving authority. The agency, board, commission, group, or other legally designated 

individual or authority which has been charged with review and approval of plans and applications. 
 Assembly areas. A meeting place at which the public or membership groups are assembled regularly or 

occasionally, indoors or outdoors as a principal or accessory use, including but not limited to portions of schools, 

religious institutions, theaters, auditoriums, funeral homes, stadiums, lecture halls, private clubs and lodge rooms, 

conference rooms, convention centers, dining halls, and similar places of assembly.  

Attached. Any structure or part of a structure immediately adjacent to another structure or part of a 

structure and fastened securely to same.  

Attached garage. An outbuilding customarily used for the storage of vehicles, which outbuilding is 

attached to a residential dwelling as either an integral part thereof, or, at minimum, connected to the dwelling by a 

completely enclosed breezeway. An attached garage is considered part of the principal building and shall meet 

setback requirements of principal building. 

Attention-getting device. A device designed or intended to attract; by noise, sudden intermittent or 

rhythmic movement physical change or lighting change; such as banners, flags, streamers, balloons, propellers, 

whirligigs, searchlights, and flashing lights.  

Automobile carwash. A building or portion thereof, where motor vehicles are washed as a commercial 

enterprise, or where facilities are available for the self-service cleaning of motor vehicles.  

Automobile repair, major. The general repair, engine rebuilding, rebuilding or reconditioning of motor 

vehicles; collisions service, such as body, frame or fender straightening, and overall painting of automobiles.  

336



 

 4 of 30  

 

Automobile repair, minor. Repairs other than major repair, including engine tune-up, muffler shops, shock 

absorber replacement shops, undercoating shops, and automobile detailing.  

Automobile sales area. An area used for the display, sales, and rental of new and used motor vehicles, 

boats, trailers, farm equipment, construction equipment or mobile homes all in operable condition.  

Automobile service station. A building used for the retail sale of fuel (stored only in underground tanks and 

to be dispensed from fixed equipment), lubricants, air, water, and other commodities designed for motor vehicles, 

aircraft and boats. Such an operation includes space and facilities for selling, installing, or adjusting tires, batteries, 

parts and accessories within a building provided that such repair and installation are of minor repair nature and 

may include convenience store merchandise primarily sold to patrons purchasing gasoline.  

Automobile carwash. A building or portion thereof, where motor vehicles are washed as a commercial 

enterprise, or where facilities are available for the self-service cleaning of motor vehicles.  

Banks, credit unions or similar uses. Banks, credit unions, or similar uses are companies engaged in the 

business of dealing with financial and monetary transactions, such as deposits, loans, investments and currency 

exchange.  

Banquet halls. A banquet hall is a room or building for the purpose of hosting a party, banquet, wedding, 

reception, or other social event.  

Basement. That portion of a building which is partly or wholly below grade but so located that the vertical 

distance from the average grade to the floor is greater than the vertical distance from the average grade to the 

ceiling. A basement shall not be counted as a story. 

 
Battery Energy Storage System, Large. A system consisting of one or more battery energy storage units, 

assembled to store energy supply electrical energy at a future time.  This system serves as a principal use or has an 

aggregate energy capacity greater than 600 kwh. 

Bed and breakfast operations. The use of a dwelling unit as a single-family dwelling unit, in which transient 

guests are provided a sleeping room and board in return for payment, and which does not provide separate 

cooking facilities for such guests.  

Berm, obscuring. An earthen mound designed to obscure views and meet zoning requirements for 

screening, featuring a landscaped construction with a slope ratio of no steeper than 3 to 1 for maintenance and 

visual screening purposes.  It serves as an engineered natural barrier, incorporating vegetation and built to specific 

height and location specifications to fulfill zoning obligations while blending into the surrounding environment.   

337



 

 5 of 30  

 

Block. A property surrounded by streets or abutting one side of a street and situated between the two 

nearest intersecting streets, or bounded by a combination of streets, waterways, parks, unplatted acreage, 

corporate boundary lines, or other natural or manmade, physical or artificial barrier to continual development.  

Board of appeals. The zoning board of appeals of the city.  

Boardinghouse house. A dwelling having one kitchen and used for the purpose of providing meals and 

lodging for pay or compensation of any kind to more than two persons other than members of the family 

occupying the dwelling which is not open to transient customers 

Brewery. A manufacturer of beer which manufactures more than 60,000 barrels of beer a year.  Can sell 

beer to Wholesaler licensees to sell to retailers.  May also sell beer to consumers under an On-Premises Tasting 

Room Permit at the location where it manufactures beer.  No local legislative approval required for licensure, if 

manufacturing only; On-Premises Tasting Room Permit requires local legislative approval. 

Brewpub. A use containing a license issued in conjunction with a Class C, Tavern, B-Hotel, or A-Hotel 

license that authorizes the licensee to brew up to 18,000 barrels of beer per calendar year for sale for consumption 

on or off the licensed premises. A brewpub licensee shall hold a food service establishment license under the Food 

Law (MCL 289.1101 to 289.8111). 

Buffer. A strip of landscaped land used to visibly separate one land use from another, or to shield or block 

noise, lights, or other nuisances.  

Buildable area. The space remaining on a lot or lots of record after the minimum setback and open space 

requirements have been met.  

Building. Any structure, either temporary or permanent, having a roof supported by columns or walls, and 

intended for the housing, sheltering, storing, or enclosure of persons, animals, or property of any kind or carrying 

on of business activities.  

Building height. 

A. The vertical distance measured from the established grade to the highest point of the roof surface 

for flat roofs; to the deckline of mansard roofs; and to the average height between eaves and ridge 

for gable, hip and gambrel roofs.  

B. Any extension of a mansard, gambrel, hip or gable roof below a wall shall require building height 

measurements to take place at the average height between the top of the building wall and the 

ridge line and the established grade of the building.  

 

338



 

 6 of 30  

 

Building line. A line formed by the face of the building, and for the purposes of this zoning ordinance, a 

minimum building line is the same as a front setback line.  

 
 

Community development department. Building official, zoning administrator, and other city staff appointed 

by the city manager and responsible for enforcing and administering the zoning ordinance, property maintenance, 

and Michigan building code.  

Building, main or principal. A building in which the principal use is conducted of the lot on which it is 

situated.  

Building permit. A permit signifying compliance with the provisions of this zoning ordinance as to use, 

activity, bulk and density, and with the requirements of all other development codes and ordinances currently in 

effect in the City of Sturgis.  

Caliper. The diameter of a tree trunk measured at breast height.  

Canopy. A roof-like cover that is temporary in nature and that projects from the wall of a building for the 

purpose of shielding a door-way or window from the elements.  

Carport.  A canopy constructed of metal or other materials supported by posts either ornamental or solid 

and completely open on two (2) or three (3) sides. 

Catering facility. An establishment in which the principal use is the preparation of food and meals on the 

premises, and where such food and meals are delivered to another location for consumption. Food and meals may 

be served on site if the catering facility is in combination with a banquet hall or full service eating and drinking 

establishment.  

Certificate of occupancy. A document issued by the proper authority (community development 

department) allowing the occupancy or use of a building and certifying that the structure or use has been 

constructed and/or will be used, in compliance with all applicable municipal codes and ordinances and approved 

plans and specifications.  

Change of use. Any use which substantially differs from the previous use of a building or land, or which 

imposes, other special provisions of law governing building construction, equipment, egress or ingress, off-street 

parking, etc.  

Character.  Used in this Ordinance to describe consistency between existing and proposed development, 

or consistency in materials of construction and architecture. 

Child care organization. A facility for the care of children , as licensed and regulated by the state under 

Public Act No. 116 of 1973 (MCL 722.111 et seq.) and the associated rules promulgated by the Michigan 

Department of Consumer and Industry Service. Such organizations shall be further defined as follows:  

339



 

 7 of 30  

 

A. Child care center means a facility, other than a private residence, receiving more than six preschool 

age or school age children for group care for periods of less than 24 hours a day, and where the 

parents or guardians are not immediately available to the child. It includes a facility which provides 

care for not less than two consecutive weeks, regardless of the number of hours of care per day. 

The facility is generally described as a child care center, day care center, day nursery, nursery 

school, parent cooperative preschool, pay group, or drop-in center. Child care center or day care 

center does not include a Sunday School conducted by a religious institution or a facility operated 

by a religious organization where children are cared for during short periods of time while persons 

responsible for such children are attending religious services.  

B. Foster family home is a private home in which one but not more than four minor children, who are 

not related to an adult member of the household by blood, marriage, or adoption, are given care 

and super-vision for 24 hours a day, for four or more days a week, for two or more consecutive 

weeks, unattended by a parent or legal guardian.  

C. Foster family group home means a private home in which more than four but less than seven 

children, who are not related to an adult member of the household by blood, marriage or 

adoption, are provided care for 24 hours a day, for four or more days a week, for two or more 

consecutive weeks, unattended by a parent or legal guardian.  

D. Family child care home" means a private home in which one but less than seven minor children are 

received for care and supervision for periods of less than 24 hours a day, unattended by a parent 

or legal guardian, except children related to an adult member of the family by blood, marriage or 

adoption. It includes a home that gives care to an unrelated child for more than four weeks during 

a calendar year.  

E. Group child care home means a private home in which more than six but not more than 12 children 

are given care and supervision for periods of less than 24 hours a day unattended by a parent or 

legal guardian, except children related to an adult member of the family by blood, marriage, or 

adoption. it includes a home that gives care to an unrelated child for more than four weeks during 

a calendar year.  

Church or house of worship. A building or structure, or groups of building or structures, which by design 

and construction are primarily intended for organized religious services and accessory uses associated therewith.  

Clear vision. An area along each street at its intersection with another street, drive or alley where no visual 

obstruction of sight may exist.  

Clinic, dental or medical. A building in which a group of physicians, dentists or physicians and dentists and 

allied professional assistants are associated for the purpose of carrying out their profession. The clinic may include 

a medical or dental laboratory.  

Club, social. A club, group or organization created for recreational, artistic, athletic, academic, political, 

charitable, or other social purpose, and whose activities are not conducted primarily for profit or material gain and 

do not involve merchandising, vending, or other commercial activities, except as required incidentally for the 

membership and purpose of the social club.  

Commercial. A term relating to the use of property in connection with the purchase, sale or trading of 

goods or service.  

Commercial vehicle. Any vehicle serving purposes other than the transportation of persons or registered 

for the gross vehicle weight of more than 9,000 pounds. This definition includes, but is not limited to, buses and 

semi-trucks and trailers.  

Conditional Use.  A use that would be inconsistent with or detrimental to other uses permitted in the 

same zoning district unless carefully considered as to the number, area, size, exterior design, location or relation to 

the adjacent properties and to the neighborhood.  May be permitted with proper conditions applied and 

safeguards taken. 

Condominium definitions. The following definitions are related to condominiums:  

A. Condominium act means Act 59, public acts of 19 78, as amended.  

340



 

 8 of 30  

 

B. Condominium documents means the master deed, recorded pursuant to the condominium act, and 

any other instrument referred to in the master deed or bylaws which affects the rights and 

obligations of a co-owner in the condominium.  

C. Condominium subdivision (site condominium) means a method of subdivision where land 

ownership of sites is regulated by the condominium act (MCL 559.101 et seq.), as opposed to the 

Land Division Act (MCL 560.101 et seq.). Condominium subdivision shall be equivalent to the term 

"subdivision" as used in this title and the city subdivision regulations ordinance.  

D. Condominium subdivision plan means the drawings and information prepared in accordance with 

section 66 of the condominium act (MCL 559.166). Such drawings and information typically include 

the site, survey and utility plans, floorplans and sections, as appropriate, showing the existing and 

proposed structures and improvements including the location thereof on the land.  

E. Condominium unit means the portion of a condominium project designed and intended for 

separate ownership and use, as described in the master deed, regardless of whether it is intended 

for residential office, industrial, business, recreational, use as a timeshare unit, or any other type of 

use.  

F. Consolidating master deed means the final amended master deed for a contractible or expandable 

condominium project, or a condominium project containing convertible land or convertible space, 

which final amended master deed fully describes the condominium project as completed.  

G. Contractible condominium means a condominium project from which any portion of the submitted 

land or building may be withdrawn in accordance with this title [zoning ordinance] and the 

condominium act (MCL 559.101 et seq.).  

H. Conversion condominium means a condominium project containing condominium units some or all 

of which were occupied before the filing of a notice of taking reservations under section 71 of the 

condominium act (MCL 559.171).  

I. Expandable condominium means a condominium project to which additional land may be added in 

accordance with this title and the condominium act (MCL 559.101 et seq.).  

J. Master deed means the condominium document recording the condominium project to which are 

attached as exhibits and incorporated by reference the bylaws for the project and the condominium 

subdivision plan for the project, and all other information required by section 8 of the 

condominium act (MCL 559.108).  

K. Notice of proposed action means the notice required by section 71 of the condominium act (MCL 

559.171), to be filed with the city and other agencies.  

L. Site condominium means a developmental concept for a condominium development containing 

residential, commercial, office, industrial or other structure for uses permitted in the zoning district 

in which located; in which each co-owner owns exclusive rights in a condominium unit as described 

in the master deed.  

M. Lot shall mean the same as homesite and condominium unit in site condominium developments.  

Contiguous. Next to, abutting, or touching and having a common boundary or portion thereof, which is co-

terminus.  

Contractor’s Office mean a building or buildings and area where a building, plumbing, electrical, heating 

and cooling, glazing, painting, paper hanging, roofing, communications, masonry or refrigeration company operates 

its business and stores equipment and supplies. 

Convalescent or nursing home. A structure with sleeping rooms, where persons are housed or lodged and 

are furnished with meals, nursing and limited medical care.  

Cottage Court means not fewer than four (4) and not more than twelve (12) detached one-family or two-

family structures with separate ground floor entrances arranged around a common court that opens onto a street. 

341



 

 9 of 30  

 

 
 

Deck. A horizontal structure of a single elevation or varying elevations, commonly used as a floor attached 

or adjacent to the main building.  

Density. The intensity of development in any given area, measured in this zoning ordinance by the number 

of dwelling units per acre.  

Density, high residential. Five or more dwelling units per acre.  

Density, low residential. Less than three dwelling units per acre.  

Density, medium residential. Not more than five dwelling units per acre.  

Development. The change to improved or unimproved land, such as the construction of buildings or 

structures, relocation of existing buildings, utilization of open land for new purposes, alterations to existing 

buildings, and activities like mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation, or drilling operations, all subject 

to zoning regulations governing changes to land use ,  

Dish-type satellite signal-receiving antennas. Dish-type satellite signal-receiving antennas, also referred to 

as "earth stations" or "ground stations," shall mean one, or a combination of two or more of the following:  

A. A signal-receiving device (antenna, dish antenna or dish-type antenna), the purpose of which is to 

receive communication or other signals from satellites in earth orbit and other extraterrestrial 

sources.  

B. A low-noise amplifier (LNA) which is situated at the focal point of the receiving component and the 

purpose of which is to magnify, store, transfer and/or transmit electronic or light signals.  

C. A coaxial cable the purpose of which is to carry or transmit said signals to a receiver.  

Dish shall mean that part of satellite signal receiving antenna characteristically shaped like a saucer or 

dish.  

Distillery. A manufacturer of spirits that contain more than 10% alcohol by volume and produces more 

than 60,000 gallons of spirits annually. 

District (zoning). A portion of Sturgis in which certain building and activities are permitted and in which 

certain regulations, in accordance with the zoning ordinance, are applicable.  

Dog house. A structure that has a roof and walls intended for the shelter or enclosure of a pet or pets 

(dogs, cats, rabbits, etc.).  

Donation Box. Any metal container, receptacle, or similar device that is located on any parcel or lot of 

record within the City and that is used for soliciting and collecting donations of clothing, household items, or other 

salvageable personal property.  This term does not include recycle bins for the collection of recyclable material, any 

rubbish or garbage receptacle or any donation box located within an enclosed building. 

Drive-in. Where food, frozen desserts or beverage are sold to the customers in a ready-to-consume state 

and where the customer consumes food, frozen desserts or beverages in an automobile parked upon the premises 

or at other facilities provided for customers which are located on the premises outside the building.  

Drive-through. An establishment so developed that some portion of its retail or service character is 

dependent upon providing a driveway approach and staging area specifically designed for motor vehicles so as to 

serve patrons while in their motor vehicles rather than within a building or structure, for carryout and consumption 

or use after the vehicle is removed from the premises.  

Dwelling unit.  Dwelling unit means a building, or portion thereof, designed for occupancy by one family 

for residential purposes and having cooking facilities.  

342



 

 10 of 30  

 

Dwelling, one-family. One-family dwelling means a building designed exclusively for and occupied 

exclusively by one domestic family.  

Dwelling, multiple family. Multiple-family dwelling means a building, or a portion thereof, designed 

exclusively for occupancy by three or more families living independently of each other.  

Dwelling, two-family. Two-family dwelling means a building designed exclusively for occupancy by two 

families living independently of each other.  

Elderly housing.  Elderly housing means an institution which provides room and board to non-transient 

persons primarily fifty-five(55) years of age and older. Housing for the elderly may include the following:  

(1) Senior Apartment. Multiple-family dwelling units occupied by persons fifty-five (55) years of age or 

older.  

(2) Elderly Housing Complex. A building or group of buildings containing dwellings where the 

occupancy is restricted to persons fifty-five (55) years of age or older or couples where either the 

husband or wife is fifty-five (55) years of age or older.  

(3) Congregate Housing. A type of semi-independent housing facility containing a common kitchen, 

dining, and living areas, but with separate sleeping rooms. Such facilities typically provide special 

support services, such as transportation and limited medical care.  

(4) Dependent Housing Facilities.  Facilities such as nursing homes which are designed for 

older persons who need a wide range of health and support services, including personal nursing 

care.  

Egress (exit). An exit from a building or site.  
Electronic message display sign. A sign on which the message changes automatically through the use of 

changing lights to form a text message or messages wherein the sequence of messages and the rate of change is 

electronically programmed and can be modified by electronic process. Electronic message display or changeable 

copy signs do not include graphic display (i.e. static pictures, with or without text) or video display (i.e. moving 

pictures, with or without text).  

Emission. A discharge of pollutants into the air.  

Environmentally sensitive area. An area with one or more of the following characteristics:  

A. Slopes in excess of 20 percent.  

B. Floodplain.  

C. Soils classified as having a high water table.  

D. Soils classifies as highly erodible, subject to erosion, or highly acidic.  

E. Land incapable of meeting percolation requirements.  

F. Land formerly used for landfill operations or hazardous industrial uses.  

G. Fault areas.  

H. Stream corridors.  

I. Estuaries.  

J. Mature stands of native vegetation.  

K. Aquifer recharge and discharge areas.  

L. Wetlands.   

Erected. As used in this zoning ordinance, erected signifies the construction, alteration, reconstruction, 

placement upon, or any physical alteration to a piece of land, including the excavating, moving and filling of earth.  

Equipment servicing. General repair, rebuilding, or reconditioning of equipment not including automotive 

repair. 

Erosion. The process by which the ground surface is worn away by action of wind, water, gravity or a 

combination thereof.  

Essential services. The erection, construction, alteration, or maintenance of railroads, public utilities or 

municipal departments or commissions of underground, surface, or overhead gas, electrical, steam, or water 

transmission or distribution systems, collection, communication, supply, or disposal systems, including mains, 

343



 

 11 of 30  

 

drains, sewers, pipes, conduits, wires, cables, fire alarm boxes, police call boxes, traffic signals, hydrants, towers, 

poles, and other similar equipment and accessories in connection therewith reasonably necessary for the 

furnishing of adequate service by the public utilities or municipal departments or commissions or for the public 

health or safety or general welfare, but not including -buildings other than the buildings as are primarily enclosures 

or shelters of the mentioned equipment.  

Excavation. The removal of rock, sand, soil, or fill material below the average grade of the surrounding 

land and/or road grade, whichever is highest. This does not include alterations for farming or gardening purposes.  

Exceptions. An exception is a use permitted only after review and approval of an application by the zoning 

board of appeals, or if specifically stated in the zoning ordinance by the zoning administrator, zoning board of 

appeals, design review committee, or planning commission.  

Family. 

A. Domestic Family. A domestic family, that is, one or more persons living together and related by the 

bonds of consanguinity, marriage or adoption, together with servants of the principal occupants 

and not more than one additional unrelated person, with all of such individuals being domiciled 

together as a single, domestic, housekeeping unit in a dwelling unit.  

B. Functional equivalent family. The functional equivalent of a domestic family, that is, persons living 

together in a dwelling unit whose relationship is of a permanent and distinct character and is the 

functional equivalent of a domestic family, with a demonstrable and recognizable bond which 

constitutes the functional equivalent bonds which render the domestic family a cohesive unit. All 

persons of the functional equivalent of the domestic family must be cooking and otherwise 

housekeeping as a single, nonprofit unit. This definition shall not include any society, club, 

fraternity, sorority, association, lodge, coterie, organization or group where the common living 

arrangements and/or the basis for the establishment of the functional equivalency of the domestic 

family is likely or contemplated to exist for a limited or temporary duration. For the purposes of 

enforcement, the community development department shall presume that a functional equivalent 

of a domestic family is limited to six or fewer persons. A property owner may rebut this 

presumption to allow more than six persons by submitting an application for special land use 

approval subject to the standards set forth in this [zoning] ordinance.  

Farm. Any area of two acres or more, used for agricultural purposes and uses incidental thereto, but not to 

include the raising or keeping of livestock or fowl. However, the incidental uses shall be subordinate to normal 

agricultural uses and shall not include commercial feeding of offal or garbage to animals.  

Fast food restaurant. Any establishment whose principal business is the sale of foods, frozen desserts, or 

beverages to the customer in a ready-to-consume state for consumption either within the restaurant building or for 

carryout with the consumption off the premises, and whose design or principal method of operation includes one 

or both of the following:  

A. Food, frozen desserts, or beverages usually served in edible containers or in paper, plastic, or other 

disposable containers;  

B. More than 45 percent of the available floor space devoted to food preparation, related activities 

and other floor space not available to the public.  

Fence. A partition or structure erected as a divider, barrier, or enclosure between two or more properties.  

Fence, ornamental. A manmade structure that is constructed from wrought iron, vinyl, wood pickets, split 

rail, stone, brick or other material, designed to be aesthetically appealing, and having a minimum of 50% of the 

surface area open or transparent. Ornamental fences shall not be chain-link or of wire construction and not be two 

sided. 

Fence, privacy. An obscuring fence or planting such as a hedge or trees and shrubbery of definite height 

and location to serve as a screening device.  

Final approval. The last official action of the planning commission or board of zoning appeals taken on a 

development plan which has been given preliminary approval, after all conditions and requirements have been 

344



 

 12 of 30  

 

met, the required improvements having been installed or guarantees properly posted for their installation, or 

approval conditioned upon the posting thereof.  

Floodplain. The relatively flat area or low lands adjoining the channel of watercourse or a body of standing 

water, which has been or may be covered by floodwater. Determination of a floodplain is:  

A. Contiguous areas paralleling a river stream or other body of water that constitute at their 

maximum edge the highest flood levels experienced in a period of 100 years.  

B. Principal estuary courses of wetland areas that are part of the river flow system.  

C. Contiguous area paralleling a live stream or other body of water that exhibit unstable soil 

conditions for development.  

Floor area, usable. That area of a nonresidential building used for or intended to be used for the sale of 

merchandise or services. Such floor area which is used for or intended to be used primarily for the storage or 

processing of merchandise which may include hallways, breezeways, stairways, merchandising units and shelving 

secured to walls or floors, and elevator shifts, or for utilities and sanitary facilities, shall be excluded from the 

computation of usable floor area.  

Floor area. The area of all floors computed by measuring the dimensions of the outside walls, excluding 

attic and basement floors, porches, patios, breezeways, carports, and garages, or portions of rooms with less than 

seven feet six inches  of space between the floor and ceiling.  

Fraternal organization. A group of people formally organized for a common interest, usually cultural, 

religious, or entertainment, with regular meeting, rituals and formal written membership requirements.  

Full service eating and drinking establishment. An establishment whose principal business is the sale of 

foods, frozen desserts, or beverages to the customer in a ready-to-consume state, and whose design or principal 

method of operation includes the following:  

A. Customers are normally provided with an individual menu; are served their foods, frozen desserts, 

or beverages by a restaurant employee at the same table or counter at which the items are 

consumed; or  

B. Cafeteria-type operation where foods, frozen desserts, or beverages are generally consumed within 

the restaurant building.  

Funeral homes and mortuary establishment. A building or part thereof used for human funeral services. 

Such building may contain space and facilities for (a) embalming and the performance of other services used in the 

preparation of the dead for burial; (b) the performance of autopsies and other surgical procedures; (c) the storage 

of caskets, funeral urns, and other related funeral supplies; (d) the storage of funeral vehicles; and (e) facilities for 

cremation. Where a funeral home is permitted, a funeral chapel shall also be permitted.  

Garage, private. A detached accessory building or portion of a main building used for the storage of four 

or less passenger vehicles including not more than one truck of a rated capacity of one ton or less, without 

provision for repair or servicing such vehicles for profit.  

Garbage.  Garbage typically refers to organic waste materials, such as kitchen scraps, food waste, and 

other perishable items that are discarded from households, commercial establishments, or institutions. It may also 

include non-organic waste generated from everyday activities, such as paper products, packaging materials, and 

other disposable items. 

Glare. The effect produced by brightness sufficient to cause annoyance, discomfort, or loss in visual 

performance and visibility.  

Grade. For purposes of this zoning ordinance, the level of the ground adjacent to the walls. In the case of 

lots with a sloping terrain, the grade shall be the average elevation of the ground adjacent to the walls.  

Greenbelt. A planting of trees and shrubs to serve as a screening device between abutting land uses.  

Greenhouse, Industrial.  An establishment where flowers, shrubs, vegetables, trees, and other horticultural 

and floricultural products are grown in enclosed buildings with the exception of cannabis or marihuana. 

Greenhouse, retail. A retail business whose principal activity is the selling of plants with or without outside 

storage, growing, or display. Retail greenhouses shall include a building or structure which exceeds 150 square feet, 

345



 

 13 of 30  

 

that is designed for the cultivation or protection or retail sale of flowers, shrubbery, produce, trees, and other 

horticultural products tender plants for retail sale.  

Group dwellings (congregate living). A building or group of buildings, designed and used for residential 

habitation where joint and/or separate sleeping rooms share common living, kitchen, eating and bathroom 

facilities, housing persons unrelated by blood or marriage.  

Guarantee. A cash deposit, certified check, irrevocable bank letter of credit, surety bond or such other 

instrument acceptable to the city.  

Harmonious. Means the buildings on a property contribute positively to the overall character of the 

neighborhood without causing visual discord or disruption to the neighborhood or each other. 

Hazardous materials. Any materials that have been declared to be hazardous by any agency of the State of 

Michigan or of the United States, including but not limited to toxic materials and metal hydroxides.  

Home occupation. An occupation carried on for gain by an occupant of a dwelling unit as a secondary use 

which is clearly subservient to the use of the dwelling for residential purposes.  

Horticulture. The art of cultivating gardens producing vegetables, fruits, flowers or ornamental plants.  

Hotel. A building or part of a building with a common entrance or entrances in which the dwelling units or 

rooming units are used primarily for transient occupancy, and in which one or more of the following services are 

offered: maid service, furnishing of linen, telephone, secretarial or desk services, and bellboy service. A hotel may 

contain a restaurant or cocktail lounge, public banquet halls, ballrooms or meeting rooms.  

Industrial, light. The indoor manufacturing of finished products or parts, including processing, fabrication, 

assembly and disassembly, treatment, and packaging of such products, and incidental storage, sales and 

distribution of such products, which produces minimal noise, odors, vibration, hazardous waste materials, or 

particulate that will not disturb or endanger neighboring properties. Examples of light industrial include the 

following: 

(a) Apparel (including clothing, shoes, dress making, and leather products); 

(b) Commercial bakeries; 

(c) Communication or computer equipment; 

(d) Drugs, medicines, pharmaceutical; 

(e) Electronic and computer products (including communication or computer equipment); 

(f) Electrical equipment or machinery; 

(g) Fasteners and buttons; 

(h) Food/baking (including coffee roasting, creameries, ice cream, ice, frozen food, confectionery, and 

beverage); 

(i) Food and beverage processing, canning, and storage; 

(j) Household appliances; 

(k) Machinery (including farm and industrial machinery); 

(l) Medical equipment and supplies; 

(m) Mill work and similar woodwork; 

(n) Manufactured and modular homes and components; 

(o) Office supplies; 

(p) Optical goods; 

(q) Photographic equipment; 

(r) Recreational vehicles and equipment; 

(s) 3-D printing; 

(t) Textiles (including dyeing, laundry bags, canvas products, dry goods, hosiery, millinery); and 

(u) Tool and die making and repairs 

Industrial, heavy. The manufacturing with significant external effects, or which pose significant risks due to 

the involvement of explosives, poisons, pesticides, herbicides, or other hazardous materials in the manufacturing 

or other process. Examples of intensive manufacturing include the manufacture or production of the following 

goods or products: 

346



 

 14 of 30  

 

(a) Aluminum or other metal recycling and Asphalt mixing plant; 

(b) Batteries; 

(c) Chemicals (including chlorine, corrosive acid, cosmetics, disinfectants, fertilizer, insecticides, 

poisons); 

(d) Concrete mixing plant; 

(e) Explosives; 

(f) Industrial gases (such as acetylene); 

(g) Lime and gypsum products; 

(h) Medicines and pharmaceuticals; 

(i) Nonmetallic mineral products (such as concrete and concrete products, glass); 

(j) Paint (including lacquer and varnish); 

(k) Paper; 

(l) Primary metals; 

(m) Petroleum products; and 

(n) Plastic, rubber, and synthetic resins. 

Ingress. Access or entry.  

Institutional or public uses. Houses of worship, public schools, public parks, public playgrounds, hospitals, 

government buildings, and other similar public or semipublic use.  

Improvements. Those features and actions associated with a project which are considered necessary by 

the municipality to protect natural resources or the health, safety and welfare of the residents of the city and 

future users or inhabitants of the proposed project or project area, including parking areas, landscaping, roadways, 

lighting, utilities, sidewalks, screening and drainage. Improvements do not include the entire project which is the 

subject of zoning approval.  

Inoperable motor vehicle. An automobile, truck, or other motor vehicle which has been damaged to such 

an extent that it cannot be operated under its own power and will require major repairs before being made usable; 

or such a vehicle which does not comply with state or city laws or ordinances.  

Kennel. Any building or land used for the sale, boarding, or breeding of dogs, cats, or other household pets 

for remuneration.  

Kennel, residential. Any structure or area designed and used specifically for the boarding or exercise of a 

private individual's own pet or pets (dogs, cats, rabbits, etc.), including but not limited to dog houses, pens, 

outdoor cages, and dog/pet runs.  

Laboratory. A building or part of a building devoted to the testing and analysis of any product or animal. 

No manufacturing is conducted on the premises except for experimental or testing purposes. Laboratories do not 

include any building or use associated with recreational or medical marijuana. 

Landscape or landscaping means living plant material such as, but not limited to, grass, ground covers, 

shrubs, vines, hedges or trees, and/or nonliving durable material commonly used in landscape development such 

as, but not limited to, crushed rock, wood chips, cobblestones, brick, tile or decorative blocks, whether used as a 

vertical element such as a wall or fence, or as a horizontal element such as a bed, walk or path.  Landscaping shall 

not be used for parking. 

Land use plan. A plan showing the existing and proposed location, extent and intensity of development of 

land to be used for varying types of residential, commercial, industrial, agricultural, recreational, educational, and 

other public and private purposes or combination of purposes and is a part of the City of Sturgis comprehensive 

plan (master plan).  

Laundry and dry cleaning. A commercial establishment where clothes can be washed or dried.  

Legislative body. The city commission.  

Live/Work unit.  A single unit consisting of both a residential and commercial component that is occupied 

by the same resident as their primary residence. 

Loading/unloading space. An off-street space on the same lot with a building, or group of buildings, for 

the temporary parking of a commercial vehicle while loading and unloading merchandise or materials.  

347



 

 15 of 30  

 

Lot. A parcel of land occupied, or intended to be occupied, by a main building or a group of such buildings 

and accessory buildings, or utilized for the principal use and uses accessory thereto, together with such yards and 

open spaces as are required under the provisions of this [zoning] ordinance. A lot may or may not be specifically 

designated as such on public records. The term lot means the same as "homesite" and "condominium" in site 

condominium developments.  

Lot area. The total horizontal area included within lot lines, exclusive of area in a public or private right of 

way.  

Lot, corner. A lot where the interior angle of two adjacent sides at the intersection of two streets is less 

than 135 degrees. A lot abutting upon a curved street or streets shall be considered a corner lot for the purposes of 

this title if the arc is of less radius than 150 feet and the tangents to the curve at the two points where the lot lines 

meet the curve or the straight street line extended, form an interior angle of less than 135 degrees.  

Lot coverage. The part or percent of the lot occupied by buildings or structures.  

Lot depth. The shortest horizontal distance between the front and rear lot lines measured along the 

median between the side lot lines, not including a public or private right of way.  

 
Lot Depth 

Lot, interior. Any lot other than a corner lot having frontage on one street.  

 

348



 

 16 of 30  

 

 
Lot lines. Any lines bounding a lot, including the following:  

A. Front lot line. In the case of an interior lot, it is that line separating the lot from the street. In the 

case of through lot or corner lot, it is that line separating the lot from each street.   

B. Rear lot line. The lot line opposite the front lot line. In the case of a lot pointed at the rear, the rear 

lot line shall be an imaginary line parallel to the front lot line, not less than ten feet long lying 

farthest from the front lot line and wholly within the lot. On curved streets or on cul-de-sac turn 

arounds, the rear yard shall be opposite the front set back line at ninety (90) degrees from such set 

back line.  

C. Side lot line. Any lot line other than  front lot line or rear lot line.  A side lot line separating a lot 

from another lot or lots is an interior side lot line.  

Lot, through. A through lot is any interior lot having frontage on two more or less parallel streets as 

distinguished from a corner lot. In the case of a row of double frontage lots, all sides of said lots adjacent to streets 

shall be considered frontage, and front yards shall be provided as required.  

Lot of record. A parcel of land, the dimensions of which are shown on a document or map on file with the 

county register of deeds or in common use by municipal or county officials, and which actually exists as shown, or 

any part of such parcel held in a record ownership separate from that of the remainder thereof.  

Lot width. The horizontal straight line distance between the side lot lines, measured between the two 

points where the front setback line intersects the side lot lines.  

349



 

 17 of 30  

 

 
Lot zoning. A single tract of land, located within a single block, which at the time of filing for a building 

permit, is designated by its owner or developer as a tract to be used, developed, or built upon as a unit, under 

single ownership or control. A zoning lot may not coincide with a lot of record but may include one or more lots of 

record. 

  Lumber and building supply yards. Lumber and building supply yards are businesses that sell building 

materials and/or lumber in large quantities and includes a significant portion of its product storage outdoors or in 

warehouse portions of the building and then sells them retail form to customers.  

Master plan (comprehensive plan). A comprehensive, long-range plan intended to guide the growth and 

development of a community or region and one that includes analysis, recommendations, and proposals for the 

community's population, economy, housing, transportation, community facilities and land use.   

 

350



 

 18 of 30  

 

 
Mechanical amusement device. Any machine or device which, upon the insertion of a coin, slug, token, 

plate or disc, operates or may be operated as a game of contest, of skill or amusement when the element of skill in 

such operation predominates over chance or luck. It includes mechanical, electrical, or electronic video games, 

mechanical grabbing devices, pinball games, mechanical, electrical, or electronic baseball, football, basketball, 

hockey or similar sports-type games, mechanical, electrical or electronic card games, shooting games, target 

games, card games or any other machine, device or apparatus which may be used as a game of skill and wherein 

the player initiates, employs or directs any force generated by such machine.  

Mezzanine. An intermediate floor in any story occupying not to exceed one-third of the floor area of such 

story.  

Micro Brewery. A manufacturer of beer which manufactures 60,000 or fewer barrels of beer a year. Can 

sell beer to Wholesaler licensees to sell to retailers. May also sell beer to consumers under an On-Premises Tasting 

Room Permit at the location where it manufactures beer. May also self-distribute beer it manufactures to retailers 

if it sells fewer than 2,000 barrels of beer a year. No local legislative approval required for licensure, if 

manufacturing only; On-Premises Tasting Room Permit requires local legislative approval. 

Mineral. Any aggregate or mass of mineral matter, whether or not coherent. The term includes, but is not 

limited to, limestone and dolomite, sand and gravel, rock and stone, earth, fill, slag, iron ore, zinc ore, vermiculite 

and clay, anthracite and bituminous coal, coal refuse, peat and crude oil and natural gas.  

Mineral extraction. The removal of overburden and minerals from the earth; the preparation and 

processing of minerals, including any activities or processes or part thereof for the extraction or removal of 

minerals from their original location and/or the preparation, washing, cleaning, crushing, stockpiling, or other 

processing of minerals at the subject location so as to make them suitable for commercial, industrial or 

construction use.  

Ministorage. Storage or warehousing building or buildings with more than one defined unit for individuals 

to store personal effects and for businesses to store materials for operation of an industrial or commercial 

enterprise elsewhere.  In no case shall storage spaces in a ministorage facility function as an independent retail, 

351



 

 19 of 30  

 

wholesale, business, or service use. Spaces shall not be used for workshops, hobby shops, manufacturing, or similar 

uses. Human occupancy shall be limited to that required to transport, arrange and maintain stored materials. 

Mixed-use development. A development with planned integration of residential and non-residential uses 

where residential is only permitted above the first floor.  

Mobile home. A structure, transportable in one or more sections, which is built on a chassis and designed 

to be used as a dwelling with or without a permanent foundation, and which includes the plumbing, heating, air-

conditioning, and electrical systems contained in the structure. The term "mobile home" does not include a 

recreational vehicle.  

Mobile home park. A parcel of land upon which three or more mobile homes are located on a continual 

nonrecreational basis and which is offered to the public for that purpose, regardless whether a change is made 

therefore, together with any building, structure, enclosure, street, equipment, or facility used or intended for use 

incident to the occupancy of a mobile home.  

Mobile home site. A measured parcel of land within a mobile home park which is delineated by lot lines on 

a final development plan and which is intended for the placement of a mobile home for the exclusive use of the 

occupants of such mobile home.  

Mobile home subdivision. A mobile home park except that the mobile home lots are subdivided, surveyed, 

recorded, and sold in accordance with Michigan Act 288 of 1967, as amended.  

Modular home. A dwelling unit consisting of two or more transportable factory-fabricated units designed 

to be assembled as a single residential structure on a foundation as required for conventional residences and 

constructed in conformity with the City’s adopted Building Code.  

Motel. Groups of furnished rooms or separate structures providing sleeping and parking accommodations 

for transient occupancy.  

Moving and Storage: Establishments that provide moving and storage services and over the road 

transportation of cargo using motor vehicles, such as trucks and tractor trailers, including the storage and holding 

of cargo and storage containers. 

Municipality. The City of Sturgis.  

Mural. A wall painting containing no elements of a sign and which does not advertise or promote the 

interest of any person, business or product.  

Nonconforming structures. Any building or portion thereof lawfully existing at the time this zoning 

ordinance became effective and which now does not comply with its regulations.  

Nonconforming lot. A lot, the area, dimensions or location of which was lawful prior to the adoption, 

revisions, or amendment of the zoning code; but which fails, by reason of such adoption, revisions, or amendment, 

to conform to current requirements of the zoning district.  

Nonconforming sign. Any sign lawfully existing on the effective date of an ordinance, or amendment 

thereto, which renders the sign nonconforming, because it does not conform to all the standards and regulations of 

the adopted or amended ordinance.  

Nonconforming use. Any property use which was lawful at the time this [zoning] ordinance became 

effective and which now does not comply with its regulations.  

Nonconforming use or structure, class A. A nonconforming use or structure which has been designated to 

be allowed to be perpetuated and improved under the provisions of this zoning ordinance.  

Nonconforming use or structure, class B. A nonconforming use or structure which has been designated to 

be allowed to be perpetuated within the restricted provisions of this zoning ordinance.  

Nuisance. An offensive, annoying, unpleasant or obnoxious thing or practice, a cause or source of 

annoyance, especially a continuing or repeating invasion of any physical characteristics of activity or use across a 

property line which can be perceived by or affects a human being, or the generation of an excessive or 

concentrated movement of people or things, such as, but not limited to: noise, dust, smoke, odor, glare, fumes, 

flashes, vibration, shock waves, heat electronic or atomic radiation, objectionable effluent, noise or congregation of 

people, particularly at night, passenger traffic, invasion of nonabutting road frontage by traffic, a burned-out 

structure, a condemned structure.  

352



 

 20 of 30  

 

Occupancy permit. A required permit allowing occupancy of a building or structure after it has been 

determined that the building meets all of the requirements of applicable ordinances.  

Off-street parking lot. Off-street parking lot means a facility providing off-street vehicular parking spaces 

and drives or aisles for the parking of more than three vehicles.  

Office building. A group of tenant spaces in one building with a minimum 400 square feet per tenant.  

Open storage. The storage of any materials or objects outside the confines of a building.  

Outdoor sales area, accessory.  An area where the primary purpose of the area is for the retail sale of 

merchandise. Such sales and or display area must be accessory and subordinate to a permitted principal use. 

Outdoor sales area, non-accessory. A temporary outdoor event which offers for sale goods and 

merchandise by a business other than an established indoor business at the site.  

Outdoor gathering area. Any defined area used for the purpose of stationing people in an organized 

fashion during the course of a business or public activity outside of a building. Includes activities such as outdoor 

dining spaces, areas licensed by Michigan Liquor Control for outdoor service, music dancing areas, festival 

locations, and other similar uses.  

Parking access. The area of parking lot that allows motor vehicles ingress and egress from the street to the 

parking aisle or parking space.  

Parking aisle. The area behind the parking space used for backing and turning into and out of the parking 

space.  

Parking bay. A parking module consisting of one or two rows of parking spaces and the aisle from which 

motor vehicles enter and leave spaces.  

Parking lot. An off-street, ground level area, surfaced and improved, for the temporary parking of motor 

vehicles.  

Parking space. An area of definite length and width; such area shall be exclusive of drives, aisles or 

entrances giving access thereto and shall be fully accessible for the parking of permitted vehicles.  

Performance standards. A set of criteria or limits relating to nuisance elements which a particular use or 

process may not exceed.  

Permitted use. Any use allowed in a zoning district and subject to the restrictions applicable to that zoning 

district.  

Personal service. Establishments providing services such as barber shops, beauty salons and spas, clothing 

rental, massage services, shoe repair, tattoo parlors and travel agencies.  This use also includes dog grooming 

establishments but does not include any boarding or animal hospitals. 

Pet shop and sales. Pet shop means a place where animals are offered for sale, exchange, or transfer. No 

person shall operate a pet shop unless he has first received a license from the department of agriculture.  

Photovoltaic device. A system of components that generates electric energy from incident sunlight by 

means of the photovoltaic effect, whether or not the device is able to store the electric energy produced for later 

use.  

Planned  development district or PDD.  A development approach that allows for flexible zoning regulations 

and unified site design across a comprehensive project. PDDs typically feature a mix of building types, land uses, 

and housing units, with buildings often clustered to create common open spaces. Instead of applying zoning 

regulations on a lot-by-lot basis, densities are calculated for the entire development, allowing for more innovative 

and efficient land use. The process involves significant city oversight, particularly during site-plan reviews, ensuring 

that the development aligns with community goals and standards.  

Planning commission. The planning commission of the City of Sturgis.  

Political sign. A temporary sign announcing or supporting political candidates, parties, or issues in 

connection with any national, state or local election, movement or cause.  

Preliminary plan. A preliminary map indicating the proposed layout of the subdivision, PDD, or site plan, 

which is submitted to the proper review authority for consideration and preliminary approval.  

353



 

 21 of 30  

 

Principal building. The primary structure on a lot in which the principal use permitted by the zoning district 

is conducted. This building is distinguished from any accessory buildings or structures, which serve secondary or 

supportive functions.  

Principal use. The primary activity or purpose for which a lot, building, or structure is intended, designed, 

and legally permitted within the zoning district in which it is located. The principal use governs the primary function 

of the property and determines compliance with zoning regulations, distinguishing it from any accessory or 

incidental uses that may occur on the same property. 

Printing or publishing. Establishments such as non-industrial commercial printers, businesses that publish 

newspapers, books and periodicals (whether or not they do their own printing) and copy shops.  

Professional services. Services offered to the general public by the traditional professions, such as law, 

medicine, engineering, accounting, consulting, architecture, and similar disciplines.  

Public facilities. Facilities which are owned and operated by a municipality, government agency, or publicly 

owned utility.  

Public hearing. A meeting announced and advertised in advance and open to the public, with the public 

given the opportunity to speak or participate.  

Public utility. Any person, firm, corporation, municipal department, or board, duly authorized to furnish 

and furnishing under federal, state, or municipal regulations to the public, electricity, gas steam, communication, 

telegraph, transportation, water, sanitary sewer and storm sewer. Wireless communication devices and facilities 

are not defined as a public utility.  

Public way. A highway, street, avenue, boulevard, road, lane, alley or other areas specifically designated 

and continuously maintained for public access.  

Qualified Residential treatment Program. Subject to section 1 of 1973 PA 116, MCL 722.111, a qualified 

residential treatment program means a program within a child caring institution to which all of the following apply:   

i.  The program has a trauma-informed treatment model, evidenced by the inclusion of trauma 

awareness, knowledge, and skills into the program's culture, practices, and policies.  

ii. The program has registered or licensed nursing and other licensed clinical staff on-site or available 

24 hours a day, 7 days a week, who provide care in the scope of their practice as provided in parts 

170, 172, 181, 182, 182A, and 185 of the public health code, 1978 PA 368, MCL 333.17001 to 

333.17097, 333.17201 to 333.17242, 333.18101 to 333.18117, 333.18201 to 333.18237, 

333.18251 to 333.18267, and 333.18501 to 333.18518.  

iii. The program integrates families into treatment, including maintaining sibling connections.  

iv. (iv) The program provides aftercare services for at least 6 months post discharge.  

v. The program is accredited by an independent not-for-profit organization as described in 42 USC 

672(k)(4)(G).  

vi. The program does not include a detention facility, forestry camp, training school, or other facility 

operated primarily for detaining minor children who are determined to be delinquent. 

Quasipublic agency. A service-owned and operated by a nonprofit, religious, or missionary institution and 

providing educational, cultural, recreational, or similar types of public programs.  

Reasonable accommodation use. Housing accommodation for handicapped persons in residential districts.  

Recreation facility. A commercial establishment indoor or outdoor, which is designed to provide the user 

with the opportunity to relax, engage in athletic activities or engage in other leisure pursuits, including but not 

limited to driving ranges, , swimming pools, water parks, athletic courts (tennis, basketball, racquetball), personal 

fitness, gyms, exercise and training facilities, motorized cart and motorcycle tracks, and batting cages.  

Recreational equipment. Includes travel trailers, pickup campers, ice fishing houses, tent trailers, tents, 

boats and boat trailers, wave runners, utility trailers and similar equipment and cases or boxes used for 

transporting recreational equipment, whether occupied by the equipment or not.  

Recreational vehicle. A vehicle primarily designed and used as temporary living quarters for recreational, 

camping or travel purposes, including a vehicle having its own motor power or a vehicle mounted on or drawn by 

another vehicle.  

354



 

 22 of 30  

 

Research and Development: An establishment for general research, scientific research, development 

and/or training. Activities include the invention, discovery, study, experimentation, evaluation, identification, 

verification, design preparation, or production of products, new technologies, techniques, or processes. Research 

and development functions include the repair, storage, sale, and resale of materials, goods, and products relating 

to the research and development use. This may include the assembly, integration, and testing of products in a 

completely enclosed building incidental to the principal use of scientific research, development, and training. Does 

not include data centers. 

Residential, residential use, or residential district. The use of land parcels for human habitation under the 

terms of this zoning ordinance. The term "residential" shall not be construed or interpreted to mean the storage, 

sale (wholesale or retail), trade, transfer, fabrication, production, manufacture, or development of goods and 

services.  

Restrictive covenant. A restriction on the use of land usually set forth in a deed or other appropriate 

document.  

Retail sales and retail services. Establishments engaged in selling goods or merchandise to the 

general public for personal or household consumption and rendering services incidental to the sale of such 

goods.  

Retaining wall. A wall designed to resist the lateral displacement of soil or other material.  

Riding academy or stable. Any establishment where horses are kept for riding, driving, or stabling for 

compensation or incidental to the operation of any club, association, ranch, similar establishment or business.  

Right-of-way line. The boundary of a dedicated street or highway.  

Right-of-way. A strip of land acquired by reservation, dedication, forced dedication, prescription, or 

condemnation, and intended to be occupied or occupied by a road, crosswalk, railroad, electric transmission lines, 

oil or gas pipeline, waterline, sanitary and storm sewers or other similar uses.  

Road frontage. The length of the lot line which borders a public road.  

Road or street, private. An irrevocable easement running with the land to one or more owners of adjacent, 

properties which provides access to those adjacent properties, and which is not dedicated for general public use.  

Road or street, public. Any public right-of-way which provides vehicular access to adjacent properties.  

Roof. The top outside covering of a building.  

Room. For the purpose of determining lot area requirements and density in a multiple-family district, a 

room is a living room, dining room or bedroom. A room shall not include the area in kitchen, sanitary facilities, 

utility provisions, corridors, hallways and storage. Plans presented showing one-, two- or three-bedroom units and 

including a den, library, or other extra room shall count such extra room as a bedroom for the purpose of 

computing density.  

Rubbish. Combustible and noncombustible waste materials, except garbage; the term shall include the 

residue from the burning of wood, coal, coke and other combustible materials, paper, rags, cartons, boxes, wood, 

excelsior, rubber, leather, tree branches, yard trimmings, tin cans, metals, mineral matter, glass, crockery and dust 

and other similar materials.  

Sale, garage or yard sale. Means the sale or exchange or offer of sale or exchange of five or more items of 

household goods, wares, appliances, clothing, jewelry, tools or other personal property of whatever kind or nature, 

or any combination thereof whether by garage sale, yard sale, auction or otherwise. 

Salvage yard. A place where waste or discarded or salvaged materials are bought, sold, exchanged, stored, 

baled, packaged, disassembled, cleaned, or handled, including house and vehicle wrecking yards, used lumber 

yards, and places or yards for use of salvaged house and vehicle parts, and structural steel materials and 

equipment. Salvage yard shall not include uses conducted entirely within a completely-enclosed building; 

pawnshops and establishments for the sale, purchase, or storage of used cars in operable condition, salvaged 

machinery, used furniture, and household equipment; and the processing of used, discarded, or salvaged materials 

as part of manufacturing operations.  

Scale. The relationship between distances on a map and actual ground distances.  

355



 

 23 of 30  

 

School, business. A business school, same as trade school, is a postsecondary educational institution 

designed to train students for a specific job in a skilled trade career. Examples include business, beauty, cooking, 

language or trade school of a non-recreational nature which charges a fee for attendance.  

School, elementary. Any school licensed by the state and which meets the state requirements of 

elementary education.  

School, parochial. A school supported and controlled by a church or religious organization.  

School, private. Any building or group of buildings the use of which meets the state requirements for 

primary, secondary, or higher education and which does not secure a major part of its funding from any 

governmental agency.  

School, secondary. Any school licensed by the state and which is authorized to award diplomas for 

secondary education.  

Screening. A method of visually shielding or obscuring one abutting or nearby structure or use from 

another by fencing, walls, berm, or densely planted vegetation.  

Seasonal business. A retail business or service business that is not normally used as a business for more 

than eight months during any one calendar year.  

Setback. The distance required to obtain minimum front, side or rear yard open space provisions of this 

zoning ordinance. Setbacks from a public street shall be measured from the existing or proposed right-of-way lines, 

whichever is greater unless otherwise provided in this zoning ordinance.  The setback does not apply to projections 

as per section 1.0708 in this zoning ordinance. 

Short term parking. Customer parking which has regular turnover and up to a 30 minute maximum 

duration.  

Short term rental. A dwelling or dwelling unit or portion thereof in which overnight accommodations are 

provided or offered to persons other than the owner for compensation, for a period not to exceed 30 consecutive 

days. 

Sign definitions. The following definitions are related to signs:  

A. The term "sign" means any announcement, declaration, display, billboard, illustration and insignia 

when designed and placed so as to attract general public attention. Such shall be deemed to be a 

single sign whenever the proximity, design, content or continuity reasonably suggest a single unit, 

notwithstanding any physical separation between parts. The term "sign" includes any banner, bulbs 

or other lighting devices, streamer, pennant, balloon, propeller, flag and any similar device of any 

type or kind, whether bearing lettering or not.  

1. Accessory sign. A sign which pertains to the principal use of the premises.  

2. Air-blown device. Any device not otherwise specifically defined in this article that is designed to 

inform or attract, whether or not such device carries a message, and which all or part of the 

device is set in motion by mechanically forced air. This definition specifically includes but is not 

limited to those devices referred to commercially as "air puppets" and "air dancers".  

3. Awning or canopy. A sign mounted on or painted onto, an awning, marquee, or canopy.  

4. Banner. A temporary sign of fabric, plastic, or other sign made of non-rigid material without an 

enclosing structural framework that must be hung or temporarily affixed to the tenant space.  

5. Billboard. A sign other than an off-premises directional sign, which does not pertain to the 

principal use of the premises.  

6. Decorative display. A decorative, temporary display designed for the entertainment or cultural 

enrichment of the public and having no direct or indirect sales or advertising content.  

7. Feather sign. A temporary freestanding sign, typically consisting of a single pole or shaft of 

plastic, metal or other rigid material, imbedded or otherwise fastened in the ground at the base, 

with a vertically elongated pennant made of fabric, vinyl or other flexible material in the shape of 

a feather, tear drop or similar configuration attached along the pole. This type of sign may attract 

attention by waving and/or fluttering from natural wind currents.  

356



 

 24 of 30  

 

8. Flag sign. A device generally made of flexible material, usually cloth, paper or plastic, which is 

normally attached to a flagpole or to a building. The term flag does not include feather signs.  

9. Freestanding sign. A sign other than a portable sign which is not attached to a building.  

10. Ground sign. A display sign supported by one or more columns, uprights or braces or mounted 

directly upon the ground surface and having a height not in excess of six feet.  

11. Development  sign. An entrance sign identifying a development and/or the occupants of a 

development in which more than one tenant or use occupies a site or sites in the development.  

12. Inflatable sign. A temporary sign consisting of flexible material or fabric that takes on a three 

dimensional shape when filled with a sufficient volume of air or other gas.  

13. Marquee sign. A display sign attached to or hung from a marquee, canopy or other covered 

structure projecting from and supported by the building and extending beyond the building wall, 

building line or street lot line.  

14. Non-accessory sign. A sign which does not pertain to the principal use of the premises.  

15. Non-accessory temporary development sign. A sign advertising a real estate development 

consisting of five or more lots or parcels in one ownership.  

16. Off-premises directional sign. A sign which provides direction to a location in the city.  

17. Pylon sign. A display sign supported by one or more columns, uprights or braces in the ground 

surface. and having a height ofeight feet or more.  

18. Portable sign. A sign and sign structure which is designed to facilitate the movement of the sign 

from one zoning lot to another. The sign may or may not have wheels, changeable lettering 

and/or hitches for towing. A sign shall be considered portable only if such sign is manifestly 

designed to be portable to facilitate its movement from one zoning lot to another. Signs utilized 

to be moveable, other than from one zoning lot to another, shall be considered freestanding 

signs under this [zoning] ordinance.  

19. Projecting sign. A sign, other than a marquee, awning, or canopy sign which is attached directly 

and perpendicularly to the building wall, not on the same plane as the wall, where any part of 

which extends beyond the building wall more than 12 inches.  

20. Roof sign. A display sign which is erected, constructed and maintained in or above the roof of the 

building.  

21. Sandwich board sign. A temporary freestanding sign, consisting of two sign faces of equal size 

hinged at the top and placed on the ground.  

22. Temporary promotional materials. Any posters, banners, flags, etc. displayed inside business 

windows, so as to be visible and attract attention of the general public to advertise products, 

goods or services provided on premises for a specified period of time.  

23. Temporary sign. A display sign, banner or other advertising device constructed of cloth, canvas, 

fabric, plastic or other light temporary material, with or without a structural frame, or any other 

sign intended for a limited period of display, but not including decorative displays for holidays or 

public demonstration.  

24. Wall sign. A display sign which is painted on or attached directly to the building wall.  

25. Window sign. A sign affixed to a window so as to be observable from the opposite side of the 

window to which such sign is affixed.  

26. Vehicle sign. A sign attached to a vehicle or placed within or upon such vehicle which advertises 

products for sale other than the identification of the vehicle owner or operator.  

27. Yard sign. A temporary freestanding sign placed on private property facing a street or parking 

area.  

a. Rigid frame: A temporary yard sign, consisting of a frame or skeleton made of steel, wood or 

similar sturdy material placed into the ground, that resists bending or movement and is capable 

of withstanding wind turbulence while supporting a sign of permitted size.  

357



 

 25 of 30  

 

b. Wire frame: A temporary yard sign, typically consisting of a fairly pliable "H" shaped metal 

frame, one end of which is typically inserted into a plastic sign and the other end is inserted into 

the ground.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

B. Sign area means the gross surface area within a single continuous perimeter enclosing the extreme 

limits of a sign, and in no case passing through or between any adjacent elements of same. Such 

perimeter shall not include any structural or framing elements, lying outside the limits of such sign, 

and not forming an integral part of the display. For computing the area of any wall sign which 

consists of letters mounted or painted on a wall, the area shall be deemed to be-the area of the 

smallest rectangular figure which can encompass all the letters and descriptive matter.  

C. Erect means to build, construct, attach, hang, place, suspend, affix or paint.  

D. Noncombustible material means any material which will not ignite at or below a temperature of 

1,200 degrees Fahrenheit and will not continue to bum or glow at that temperature.  

E. Sign face means the area of display surface used for the sign message.  

Single housekeeping unit. means all of the associated rooms in a dwelling unit available to and occupied by 

all of the occupants with a single set of cooking facilities also available to and utilized by all of the occupants of the 

dwelling unit.  

Site condominium (condominium subdivision). A method of subdivision where land ownership of sites is 

regulated by the condominium act (MCL 559.101 et seq.) as opposed to the Land Division Act (MCL 560.101 et 

seq.). Condominium subdivision shall be equivalent to the term "subdivision" as used in this zoning ordinance.  

Site. Any plot or parcel of land or combination of contiguous lots or parcels of land.  

Site plan. The development plan for one or more lots, on which is shown the existing and proposed 

conditions of the lot under the terms of article XII of this [zoning] ordinance.  

Site plan review and approval. The submission of plans for review and approval, as required by this zoning 

ordinance, and special use permits.  

Sketch plan. A rough map of the proposed subdivision or site plan, of sufficient accuracy to be used for the 

purpose of discussion and classification.  

Sleeping room. Attached room which is intended, arranged, or designed to be occupied by one or more 

persons primarily for sleeping purposes and shall have an area of not less than 70 square feet or be less than seven 

feet in any dimension.  

Small Distiller. A manufacturer of spirit products that contain more than 10% alcohol by volume which 

manufactures 60,000 or fewer gallons of spirits a year. Can sell spirits it manufactures to the Commission to sell 

through Authorized Distribution Agents to retailers. May self-distribute spirits it manufactures to retailers if it sells 

less than 3,000 gallons of spirits a calendar year to retailers. May sell spirits it manufactures to customers under an 

On-Premises Tasting Room Permit at the location where it manufactures it and also through an Off-Premises Tasting 

Room license or Joint Off-Premises Tasting Room license. No local legislative approval required for licensure, if 

manufacturing only; On-premises Tasting Room Permit requires local legislative approval. 

Small engine repair. A business that offers sales and/or service for a wide range of small-displacement, 

low-powered internal combustion engines used to power lawn mowers, generators, concrete mixers and many 

other machines that require independent power sources.  

Small Wine Maker. A manufacturer of wine which manufactures 50,000 or fewer gallons of wine a year. 

Can sell wine to Wholesaler licensees to sell to retailers. May also sell wine to consumers under an On-Premises 

“PLACE HOLDER FOR SIGN PHOTOS FROM STURGIS” 

358



 

 26 of 30  

 

Tasting Room Permit at the location where it manufactures it and also through an Off-Premises Tasting Room 

license or Joint Off Premises Tasting Room license May self-distribute wine it manufactures to retailers. May hold a 

Farmer’s Market Permit that allows the sale and sampling of its wine at a farmer’s market. No local legislative 

approval required for licensure, if manufacturing only; On Premises Tasting Room Permit requires local legislative 

approval. 

Social clubs. A club, group or organization created for recreational, artistic, athletic, academic, political, 

charitable, or other social purpose, and whose activities are not conducted primarily for profit or material gain and 

do not involve merchandising, vending, or other commercial activities, except as required incidentally for the 

membership and purpose of the social club.  

Solar array. Any number of photovoltaic devices connected together to provide a single output of electric 

energy or other energy, including items such as solar modules, inverters, racking, energy storage devices, 

substations, and balance of system components.  

Solar energy system, large. A utility-scale solar energy system where the primary use of the land is to 

generate electric energy or other energy by converting sunlight, whether by photovoltaic devices or other 

conversion technology, for the sale, delivery or consumption of the generated energy. The system shall have a 

capacity greater than one megawatt (MW) and be located on one or more parcels with an aggregate area of ten 

acres or greater.  

Special land use. A use permitted in a given zone when the use is specified in article VI of this zoning 

ordinance and has been reviewed and approved by the planning commission, after application, to assure that all 

specified conditions are met.  

Specified anatomical areas. 

A. Less than completely and opaquely covered:  

1. Human genitals, pubic region and buttock:  

2. Female breast below a point immediately above the top of the areola.  

B. Human male genitals in a discernible [discernibly] turgid state, even if completely and opaquely 

covered.  

Specified sexual activities. 

A. Human genitals in a state of sexual stimulation or arousal.  

B. Acts of human masturbation, sexual intercourse or sodomy.  

C. Fondling or other erotic touching of human genitals, pubic region, buttocks or female breast.  

Spot zoning. Rezoning of a lot or parcel of land to benefit an owner for a use incompatible with 

surrounding uses, and not for the purpose or effect of furthering the objectives of the Sturgis master plan.  

Stable, private. Any building for shelter of horses or other animals not kept for remuneration, hire, or sale.  

Stacking areas. Areas designated for the temporary queuing of motor vehicles, such as for a drive-thru 

restaurant or a bank.  

Stall, parking. The parking space in which vehicles park.  

Storage area, accessory.  An outdoor space accessory to the permitted use of the property and used for 

the purpose of storing equipment, vehicles, construction materials, and similar items necessary to the permitted 

use. 

Storage area, non-accessory.  An outdoor space that is non-accessory to the permitted use of the 

property.      

Storm Water System means a surface water management system designed, constructed, managed, and 

maintained to control surface water discharges caused by precipitation events on a developed property. It consists 

of structures, piping, earth surface modifications to collect, convey, treat, store, infiltrate, or reuse the storm water 

on a developed property and prevent off site storm water runoff. All new Storm Water Systems shall be built and 

maintained in compliance with the City of Sturgis Storm Water Design Criteria Manual. 

Story. That part of a building included between the surface of one floor and the surface of the next floor, 

or if there is no floor above, then the ceiling next above.  

359



 

 27 of 30  

 

Story, half. An uppermost story lying under a sloping roof having an area of at least 200 square feet with a 

clear height of seven feet six inches.  

Street. A public right-of-way which has been dedicated to the public and accepted for the purpose of 

providing access to abutting lots or land, including space for curb, cutter, paving, and sidewalks.  

Street classifications. The classification of streets based upon their location and their present and 

expected future traffic volume and relative importance and function as follows and as designated on the current 

Michigan Department of Transportation National Functional Classification (NFC) map:    

A. Local street. A road intended to provide access to collector roads from individual properties.  

B. Collector street, minor or major. A road intended to collect traffic from local streets to distribute to 

secondary and primary arterial streets.  

C. Minor arterial. A road intended to collect and distribute traffic in a manner similar to primary 

arterials, except that these roads service minor traffic generating areas such as community 

commercial areas, primary and secondary educational buildings, hospitals, major recreational 

areas, churches, and offices, and/or designed to carry traffic from collector streets to the system of 

primary arterials.  

D. Principal arterial. A road intended to move traffic to and from major attractions such as shopping 

centers, central business districts, regional shopping malls, colleges and universities, military 

installations and similar traffic generators within the local unit of government, and/or as a route 

for traffic between neighboring communities.  

Street frontage. See road frontage. 

Strip mall area. Multiple commercial establishments developed on the same parcel under one site plan.  

Structure. Anything constructed or erected, the use of which requires location on the ground or 

attachment to something having location on the ground.  

Structure, temporary.  A structure that has been permitted by the zoning administrator to exist during 

periods of construction of the principal building, special events, or approved uses.   

Structure changes or alterations. Any change in the supporting members of a building, such as bearing 

walls, columns, beams, or girders, or any substantial change in the roof.  

Studio. A building or portion of a building used as a place of work by an artist, photographer or artisan, 

musician, yoga or martial arts, or used for radio, podcast or television broadcasting.  

Subdivide or subdivision. The partitioning or splitting of a parcel or tract of land by the proprietor thereof 

or by his or her heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors or assigns for the purpose of sale, 

or lease of more than one year, or for building development, that results in one or more parcels of land, of less 

than 40 acres or the equivalent, and that is not exempted from the platting requirements of Public Act No. 288 of 

1967 (MCL 560.101 et seq.). [The term] "subdivide" or "subdivision" does not include a property transfer between 

two or more adjacent parcels, if the property taken from one parcel is. added to an adjacent parcel; and any 

resulting parcel shall not be considered a building site unless the parcel conforms to the requirements of Public Act 

No. 288 of 1967 (MCL 560.101 et seq.).  

Temporary certificate of occupancy. A certificate of occupancy which is issued for a fixed time period to 

allow occupancy, because seasonal conditions make it impossible to complete all needed external improvements. A 

performance guarantee may be required. 

Temporary outdoor gathering area. Any outdoor gathering area used during a festival or community 

event.  

Theater. A building used primarily for the presentation of live stage productions, performances, or motion 

pictures.  

Transient. Occupancy of a sleeping room or dwelling unit for not more than 30 days.  

Transition. For the purposes of this zoning ordinance one or more of the following constitute a transition:  

A. A zoning district which may serve as a district of transition, i.e., a buffer zone between various land 

use districts or land use types;  

360



 

 28 of 30  

 

B. A residential rear or side yard lot or land parcel arrangement abutting a land use of more intense 

development character; or  

C. A device such as an earth berm, wall, screening fence, heavy shrub and tree planting or a 

combination of such devices providing a buffer between land use types.  

Transportation services. Train, bus, taxi terminal, dispatching center or any similar uses.  

Truck. Automotive vehicle for hauling.  

Truck and railroad terminals. 

A. A place where transfer between modes of transportation takes place.  

B. A terminating point where goods are transferred from a track to a storage area or to other trucks, 

or picked up by other forms of transportation.  

Use. The lawful purpose for which land or premises, including the structures thereon, is designed, 

arranged, or intended or for which it is rented, leased, occupied, or maintained.  

Use, lawful. The use of any structure or land that conforms with all of the regulations of this zoning 

ordinance or any amendment hereto and which conforms with all of the codes, ordinances, and other legal 

requirements that exist at the time of the enactment of this zoning ordinance or any amendment thereto.  

Variance. A modification of the required provisions of the physical development or land use standards or 

the zoning ordinance granted when strict enforcement of the zoning ordinance would cause undue hardship owing 

to circumstances unique to the individual property on which the variance is granted. The crucial points of the 

variance are undue hardship and unique circumstances applying to the property. A variance is not justified unless 

both elements are present in the case.  

Vehicle, motor. A self-propelled device used for transportation of people or goods over land surfaces, and 

licensed as a motor vehicle.  

Vehicle repair shop. A building used for the painting or repair of damaged motor vehicles, boats, mobile 

housing facilities, or trailers.  

Vehicle sales area. An outdoor area, where no repair work is done, used for the display, sale, or rental of 

new or used motor vehicles, boats, mobile housing facilities, or trailers in operable condition.  

Veterinary hospital. A structure designed for the care and treatment of animals.  

Wall, obscuring. A structure of definite height and location to serve as an obscuring screen in carrying out 

the requirements of this [zoning] ordinance.  

Warehouse or warehousing. A building primarily used for the storage of goods and materials that is less 

than 200,000 square feet in gross floor area. A parcel containing a building or buildings or portions thereof that 

contain warehousing in excess of 200,000 square feet in area shall be defined as distribution warehousing.  

Warehousing, Distribution. A parcel containing a building, buildings, or portions thereof, with warehousing 

in excess of 200,000 square feet in gross floor area. Distribution warehousing may include large-scale customer 

fulfillment centers.  

Wetlands. Lands generally or intermittently covered with water which, by nature of their surface and/or 

subsurface soil characteristics either contribute to the replenishment of subsurface water supply, or are self-

contained water resources, including marshes, swamps and bogs.  

Wholesale activities. Activities primarily engaged in selling and/or distributing merchandise to retailers; to 

industrial, commercial, institutional, or professional business users, or to other wholesalers; or acting as agents or 

brokers and buying merchandise for, or selling merchandise to, such individuals or companies. This is not 

considered a general commercial use.  

Wholesale trade. Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in selling merchandise to 

retailers, to industrial, commercial, institutional, or professional business users, or to other wholesalers; or acting 

as agents or brokers and buying merchandise for, or selling merchandise to, such individuals or companies.  

Yards. Open spaces on the same lot with a principal building unoccupied and unobstructed from the 

ground upward except as otherwise provided in this [zoning] ordinance and as defined in this section.  

361



 

 29 of 30  

 

A. Front yard means an open space extending the full width of the lot, the depth of which is the 

minimum horizontal distance between the front lot line and the nearest point of the principal 

building.  

B. Rear yard an open space extending the full width of the lot, the depth of which is the minimum 

horizontal distance between the rear lot line and the nearest point of the principal building. In the 

case of a corner lot, the rear yard may be opposite either road frontage.  

 

 

362



 

 30 of 30  

 

 
C. Side yard an open space between a principal building and the side lot line, extending from the front 

yard to the rear yard, the width of which is the horizontal distance from the nearest point on the 

side lot line to the nearest point of the principal building.  The side yard abutting a street is 

considered a front yard. 

Zero lot line. The location of a building in such a manner that one or more of the building's sides rest 

directly on a lot line.  

Zoning envelope. The three-dimensional space within which a structure is permitted to be built on a lot, 

which is defined by maximum height regulations and yard setbacks.  

 

363



 

 

ARTICLE III. DESIGNATION AND PURPOSE OF ZONING DISTRICTS 

  

1.0301. Zoning districts. 
The following zoning districts are hereby established, and the city is divided into the following districts: 

(A) R-1 rural residential.  

(B) R-2 subdivision residential.  

(C) R-3 residential.  

(D) R-4 apartment.  

(E) R-5 residential.  

(F) B-OS business office service.  

(G) B-C central business.  

(H) B-H 1 business highway 1.  

(I) B-H 2 business highway 2.  

(J) B-N business neighborhood. 

(K) M manufacturing.  

(L) M-2 manufacturing 2. 

(M) PDD-1 planned development district 1.  

(N) PDD-2 planned development district 2. 

(O) PDD-3 planned development district 3. 

 

1.0302. Zoning map. 
(A) Zoning map incorporated. The zoning map delineating the zoning districts set out in section 1.0301 is 

hereby declared to be a part of this section. Except where reference is shown on the map to a street line 

or other line designated by dimensions, the district boundary lines follow lot lines or the centerlines of 

streets, alleys and railroads as they existed at the time of the adoption of this section.  

(B) Lot divided by zone line. Where a district boundary line, as established in this section, or as shown on the 

zoning map, divides a lot shown or recorded as being in single ownership at the time of enactment of this 

section, the district regulations and uses shall be observed on the respective side of the district line to 

which they apply.  

 

 1.0303. Zoning text interpreted. 
Where uncertainty exists with respect to uses permitted in any district, or any condition set forth in this 

zoning ordinance, the following rules shall apply.  

(A) No use of land shall be permitted in any use district except those uses specifically permitted in a zoning 

district.  

(B) Uses or structures not specifically permitted in a zoning district shall be prohibited in such district.  

(C) Unless otherwise provided for in this zoning ordinance, where uses of yard areas are indicated as being 

permitted, the use of any yard area for any use other than that permitted shall be prohibited.  

 

1.0304. Zoning of annexed areas. 
Any area annexed or transferred to the city shall, immediately upon such annexation or transfer, 

automatically be zoned the same as the adjacent zoning district. Upon recommendation of the zoning official or 

referral by the city commission as provided in section 1.1406, the planning commission shall recommend 

appropriate zoning for such area within three months after the matter is recommended by the zoning official or 

referred by the city commission.  

 

364



 

 

1.0305. Zoning of vacated lands. 
Whenever any street, alley or other public way within the city shall be vacated, such street, alley or other 

public way or portion thereof shall automatically be classified in the same zone district as the property to which it 

attaches.  

 

 1.0306. District requirements. 
All buildings and uses in any district shall be subject to all of the applicable provisions of 

article[s] I through XV of this zoning ordinance. 

365



 

ARTICLE IV. DESCRIPTION OF DISTRICTS 
  

1.0401. R-1 rural residential. 

(A) Intent. The R-1 rural residential district is composed of certain land in outlying areas presently of rural 

character. The land within this district is used primarily for agricultural purposes. The regulations of this 

district are designed to stabilize and protect the essential characteristics of the district without unduly 

restricting its use solely to that of an agricultural nature. To these ends, development is limited to low 

density uses which are not detrimental to future development.  

(B) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in the R-1 district:  

(1) Adult foster care homes, family. 

(2) Country clubs, golf courses, and similar uses. 

(3) Essential services. 

(4) Family child care homes.   

(5) Farm employee accessory dwellings. 

(6) Farming or horticulture. 

(7) Foster family group homes. 

(8) Foster family homes.   

(9) Greenhouses, industrial. 

(10) Home occupations as provided for and controlled in section 1.1123 for existing housing. 

(11) Institutional or public uses. 

(12) One-family detached dwellings. 

(13) Private residences with the capacity to receive at least 1 but not more than 4 adults who all receive 

benefits from a community mental health services program if the local community mental health 

services program monitors the services being delivered in the residential setting, excluding adult foster 

care facilities licensed by a state agency for care and treatment of persons released from or assigned to 

adult correctional institutions. 

(14) Qualified residential treatment programs that provides services for 10 or fewer individuals. 

(15) Accessory structures and uses customarily incidental to a permitted use, provided such buildings and 

uses are located on the same zoning lot with the permitted use.  

(C) Special land uses. The following special land uses are permitted in the R-1 district, under the conditions of 

article VI of this zoning ordinance.  

(1) Adult foster care camp.  

(2) Adult foster care home, small group.  

(3) Animal hospitals.  

(4) Child care centers or day care centers in accordance with section 1.0602 and 1.0603(M).   

(5) Cottage Court Developments 

(6) Farm animal or fowl husbandry. 

(7) Functional equivalent family. 

(8) Group child care homes. 

(9) Mineral extraction operations.  

(10) Reasonable accommodation use.  

(11) Riding stables.  

(D) Required conditions. The following conditions shall be required in all R-1 districts:  

(1) Site plan review. Site plan review and approval must be obtained in accordance with the provisions of 

article XII of this zoning ordinance  

(2) Dwelling unit review. All dwelling units, accessory structures, driveway, parking areas, and landscaping 

shall be reviewed by the building official subject to the following conditions as found in section 1.1124. 

366



 

(3) Area and bulk requirements. See article V, schedule of regulations, of this zoning ordinance limiting the 

height and bulk of buildings, the minimum size of lot by permitted land use, the maximum density 

permitted, and providing minimum yard setbacks requirements.  

 1.0402. R-2 subdivision residential. 

(A) Intent. The R-2 Subdivision residential district is established to create and preserve single-family home 

neighborhoods free from other uses except those which are both compatible with and convenient to the residents 

of this district. These districts will be developed as lower-density single-family neighborhoods.  

(B) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in the R-2 district.  

(1) Adult foster care homes, family. 

(2) Country clubs, golf courses, and similar uses. 

(3) Essential services. 

(4) Family child care homes. 

(5) Foster family group homes. 

(6) Foster family homes. 

(7) Home occupations as provided for and controlled in section 1.1123 for existing housing. 

(8) Institutional or public uses. 

(9) One-family detached dwellings. 

(10) Private residences with the capacity to receive at least 1 but not more than 4 adults who all receive 

benefits from a community mental health services program if the local community mental health 

services program monitors the services being delivered in the residential setting, excluding adult foster 

care facilities licensed by a state agency for care and treatment of persons released from or assigned to 

adult correctional institutions. 

(11) Qualified residential treatment programs that provides services for 10 or fewer individuals. 

(12) Accessory structures and uses customarily incidental to a permitted use, provided such buildings and 

uses are located on the same zoning lot with the permitted use. 

(C) Special land uses. The following special land uses are permitted in the R-2 district, under the conditions of 

article VI of this zoning ordinance.  

(1) Adult foster care home, small group. 

(2) Child care centers or day care centers. 

(3) Cottage Court Developments 

(4) Farming or horticulture. 

(5) Functional equivalent family. 

(6) Group child care homes. 

(7) Nonresidential parking. 

(8) Reasonable accommodation use. 

(D) Required conditions. The following conditions are required in all R-2 districts.  

(1) Site plan review. Site plan review and approval must be obtained in accordance with the provisions of 

article XII of this zoning ordinance.  

(2) Dwelling unit review. All dwelling units, accessory structures, driveway, parking areas, and landscaping 

shall be reviewed by the building official subject to the following conditions as found in section 1.1124. 

(3) Area and bulk requirements. See article V, schedule of regulations, of this zoning ordinance limiting the 

height and bulk of building, the minimum size of lot by permitted land use, and providing minimum yard 

setback requirements.  

1.0403. R-3 residential. 

(A) Intent. The R-3 residential district is composed of low- and medium-density single-family residential areas 

where medium-density development has occurred and where additional development at these densities 

367



 

is proposed. The regulations for this district are designed to protect and stabilize the essential 

characteristics of these areas and to promote and encourage a suitable and safe environment for family 

life.  

(B) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in the R-3 district:  

(1) Adult foster care homes, family. 

(2) Country clubs, golf courses, and similar uses. 

(3) Essential services. 

(4) Family child care homes. 

(5) Foster family group homes. 

(6) Foster family homes. 

(7) Home occupations as provided for and controlled in section 1.1123 for existing housing.   

(8) Institutional or public uses. 

(9) One-family detached dwellings. 

(10)Private residences with the capacity to receive at least 1 but not more than 4 adults who all receive 

benefits from a community mental health services program if the local community mental health 

services program monitors the services being delivered in the residential setting, excluding adult foster 

care facilities licensed by a state agency for care and treatment of persons released from or assigned to 

adult correctional institutions. 

(11) Qualified residential treatment programs that provides services for 10 or fewer individuals. 

(12)  Accessory structures and uses customarily incidental to a permitted use, provided such buildings and 

uses are located on the same zoning lot with the permitted use. 

 (C) Special land uses. The following special land uses are permitted in the R-3districts, under the conditions 

of article VI of the zoning ordinance:  

(1) Adult foster care home, small group. 

(2) Cottage court developments. 

(3) Functional equivalent family. 

(4) Group child care homes. 

(5) Nonresidential parking. 

(6) Reasonable accommodations use. 

(7) Two-family dwelling. 

(8) Vacant commercial type buildings conditional use permit. 

(D) Required conditions. The following conditions are required in the R-3 district.  

(1) Site plan review. Site plan review and approval must be obtained in accordance with the provisions of 

article XII of this zoning ordinance.  

(2) Dwelling unit review. All dwelling units, accessory structures, driveway, parking areas, and landscaping 

shall be reviewed by the building official subject to the following conditions as found in section 1.1124. 

(3) Area and bulk requirements. See article V, schedule of regulations, [of this zoning ordinance] limiting 

the height and bulk of buildings, the minimum size of lot by permitted land use, and providing 

minimum yard setback requirements.  

 1.0404. R-4 apartment. 

(A) Intent. The R-4 Apartment district is composed of certain areas within the municipality where multifamily 

residential development at high densities has occurred and where additional development at these 

densities is proposed. To these ends development is restricted to residential use and uses which are 

compatible with this type of development.  

(B) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in the R-4 district:  

(1) Adult foster care homes, family. 

(2) Apartment building of two to 12 dwelling units including two-family dwellings.  

368



 

(3) Country clubs, golf courses, and similar uses. 

(4) Essential services. 

(5) Family child care homes. 

(6) Foster family group homes. 

(7) Foster family homes.  

(8) Home occupations as provided and controlled in subsection 1.1123 for existing housing. 

(9) Institutional or public uses.  

(10) One-family detached dwellings in compliance with article V, schedule of regulations, [of this zoning 

ordinance] for R-3 districts. 

(11) Private residences with the capacity to receive at least 1 but not more than 4 adults who all receive 

benefits from a community mental health services program if the local community mental health 

services program monitors the services being delivered in the residential setting, excluding adult foster 

care facilities licensed by a state agency for care and treatment of persons released from or assigned to 

adult correctional institutions.  

(12) Qualified residential treatment programs that provides services for 10 or fewer individuals. 

(13) Two attached apartment buildings divided by a fire wall. 

(14) Two-family dwelling. 

(15) Accessory structures and uses customarily incidental to a permitted use, provided such buildings and 

uses are located on the same zoning lot with the permitted use. 

 (C) Special land uses. The following special land uses are permitted in the R-4 district, under the conditions of 

article VI [of this zoning ordinance].  

(1) Adult foster care home, large group. 

(2) Adult foster care home, small group. 

(3) Bed and Breakfast operations. 

(4) Child care centers or day care centers. 

(5) Conversion of a dwelling for up to four dwelling units. 

(6) Cottage court developments. 

(7) Functional equivalent family. 

(8) Group child care homes. 

(9) Group dwellings. 

(10) Nonresidential parking. 

(11) Office buildings. 

(12) Professional service offices. 

(13) Reasonable accommodation use. 

(14) Rooming, boarding, and motel accommodations. 

(15) Vacant commercial type buildings conditional use permit. 

(D) Required conditions. The following conditions are required in the R-4 district:  

(1) Area and bulk requirements. See article V, schedule of regulations, limiting the height and bulk of 

buildings, the minimum size of lot by permitted land use, and providing minimum yard setback 

requirements.  

(2) Floor area. For purposes of this section, the floor area of all dwellings or dwelling units in a building 

shall average not less than 600 square feet per dwelling unit, exclusive of the floor area for hallways, 

stairs, laundries, utilities, or other commercial uses.  

(3) Dwelling unit review.  All dwelling units, accessory structures, driveway, parking areas, and 

landscaping shall be reviewed by the building official subject to the following conditions as found in 

section 1.1124. 

(4) Site plan review. Site plan review and approval must be obtained in accordance with the provisions 

of article XII of this zoning ordinance.  

369



 

 1.0405. R-5 residential. 

(A) Intent. The R-5 residential district is established to provide for medium density residential use including 

mobile home developments as mobile home parks and mobile home subdivisions designed for that 

purpose and including recreation facilities, churches, schools and necessary public utilities,  

(B) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in R-5 districts:  

(1) Adult foster care homes, family. 

(2) Country clubs, golf courses, and similar uses. 

(3) Essential services. 

(4) Family child care homes. 

(5) Foster family group homes. 

(6) Foster family homes. 

(7) Home occupations as provided for and controlled in section 1.1123 for existing housing. 

(8) Institutional or public uses. 

(9) One-family detached dwellings. 

(10) Private residences with the capacity to receive at least 1 but not more than 4 adults who all receive 

benefits from a community mental health services program if the local community mental health 

services program monitors the services being delivered in the residential setting, excluding adult 

foster care facilities licensed by a state agency for care and treatment of persons released from or 

assigned to adult correctional institutions. 

(11) Qualified residential treatment programs that provides services for 10 or fewer individuals. 

(12) Accessory structures and uses customarily incidental to a permitted use, provided such buildings and 

uses are located on the same zoning lot with the permitted use. 

(C) Special land uses. The following special land uses are permitted in the R-5 district, under the conditions 

of article VI.  

(1) Adult foster care home, large group.  

(2) Adult foster care home, small group.  

(3) Child care centers or day care centers. 

(4) Functional equivalent family. 

(5) Group child care homes. 

(6)Low-density apartments.  

(7) Mobile home parks  

(8) Mobile home subdivisions.  

(9) Nonresidential parking. 

(10) Reasonable accommodation use. 

(11) Two-family dwellings. 

(D) Required conditions. The following conditions are required in the R-5 districts:  

(1) Site plan review. Site plan review and approval must be obtained for all new construction other than 

single family dwellings, in accordance with the provisions of article XII of this zoning ordinance.  

(2) Dwelling unit review.  All dwelling units, accessory structures, driveway, parking areas, and 

landscaping shall be reviewed by the building official subject to the following conditions as found in 

section 1.1124. 

(3) Area and bulk requirements. See article V, schedule of regulations, limiting the height and bulk of 

buildings, the minimum size of lot by permitted land use, the maximum density permitted, and 

providing minimum yard setbacks requirements.  

 1.0406. B-OS business office service. 

370



 

(A) Intent. The B-OS business office service district is established to create and preserve areas for those 

commercial facilities which are especially useful in close proximity to residential areas as a land use 

buffer, while minimizing the undesirable impact of the uses on the neighborhoods which they service.  

(B) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in the B-OS district:  

(1) Animal hospitals.  

(2) Banks, credit unions, or/and similar uses.  

(3) Business schools.  

(4) Catering facility.  

(5) Clinic, dental or medical.  

(6) Contractors office. 

(7) Convalescent homes.  

(8) Essential services.  

(9) Existing housing.  

(10) Funeral homes and mortuary establishments.  

(11) Home occupations as provided and controlled in subsection 1.1123 for existing housing. 

(12) Institutional or public services.  

(13) Laundry and dry cleaning.  

(14) Office building(s).  

(15) Off-street parking lots.  

(16) Personal services.  

(17) Printing or publishing.  

(18) Private schools.  

(19) Professional service offices.  

(20) Recreational facilities.  

(21) Studio.  

(22) Trade schools.  

(23) Transportation services.  

(24) Uses similar to the above uses.  

(25) Accessory structures and uses customarily incidental to a permitted use, provided such buildings and 

uses are located on the same zoning lot with the permitted use.  

(C) Special land uses. The following special land uses are permitted in the B-OS district, under the conditions 

of article VI of this zoning ordinance.  

(1) Banquet hall.  

(2) Bed and breakfast operations.  

(3) Brewpubs.  

(4) Child care facilities limited to child care center or day care centers.  

(5) Functional equivalent family.  

(6) Industrial, Light (restricted to properties between Main Street and Hatch Street, and on S. Jefferson 

Street).  

(7) Micro Breweries  

(8) Ministorage.  

(9) Reasonable accommodation use.  

(10) Small Distillers  

(11) Small Wine Makers  

(12) Warehousing.  

(D) Required conditions. The following conditions are required in the B-OS district.  

(1) Area and bulk requirements. See article V, schedule of regulations, of the zoning ordinance limiting 

the height and bulk of buildings, the minimum size of lot by permitted land use, and providing 

minimum yard setback requirements.  

371



 

(2) Drive-through operations. All permitted uses with a drive-through operation must meet the off-

street parking and stacking standards for a drive-through as stated under section 1.0902.  

(3) Exterior lighting. All exterior lighting shall be directed along exterior building walls and away from 

residential property.  

(4) Performance standards. 

(a) Fire and explosion hazards. All activities shall be carried on only in buildings conforming to the 

city building code. The operation shall be carried on in a manner required by the city fire 

prevention code and with any precautions so as to produce no explosion hazard, as determined 

by the state department of labor, to a use on an adjacent property. Flammable liquids or 

explosive chemicals or materials, other than fuels used for heating, shall be stored in a separate 

building or tank, provided the building or tank is not closer than 80 feet to any building occupied 

by more than one human or closer than 40 feet to any property line.  

(b) Smoke, fumes, gasses, dust, odors. There shall be no emission of any smoke, atomic radiation, 

fumes, gas, dust, odors, or any other atmospheric pollutant which will disseminate beyond the 

boundaries of the lot occupied by the use in a manner so to create a public nuisance, cause 

damage or inconvenience to other buildings or properties, or imperil the health of animals or 

humans.  

(C) Liquid or solid waste. All methods of sewage and industrial waste treatment and disposal shall 

meet all city, state, and federal requirements.  

(d) Vibration. There shall be no vibration which is discernable to the human sense of feeling beyond 

the immediate site on which the use is conducted.  

(e)  Noise. The emission of measurable noises from the premises shall not exceed 70 decibels as 

measured at the property lines, between the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. The measurable 

noises shall not exceed 60 decibels as measured at the property lines between 7:00 p.m. and 

7:00 a.m. Where normal street traffic noises exceed the established noise levels during such 

periods, the measurable noise emanating from the premises may equal, but not exceed traffic 

noises.  

(f) Glare. There shall be no direct or sky-reflected glare which would be damaging to the human eye 

at the property line of the lot occupied by the use. This regulation shall not apply to lights for 

site or street.  

(g) Appearance. No storage of waste from off-site outside a building, and no loose blowing papers 

shall be permitted at any time. A chain-link or decorative fence of sufficient density (1¼" x 1¼") 

to keep discarded debris within the confines of a site shall be provided for uses which are likely 

to have debris.  

(5) Screening of trash receptacles. All areas of trash storage, including dumpsters, shall be screened on 

all sides with a durable, opaque material, at a minimum height of one foot above the trash 

receptacle. The maximum height of the screening shall not exceed eight feet and shall not be 

located in front of the building or within the side yard setback.  

(6) Screening of residential uses. A solid fence of wood, vinyl, composite or metal screening six  feet in 

height, or a solid planting strip 15 feet in width, two rows, and six feet in height at planting shall be 

placed when abutting a residential use to restrict view from the residential property.  

(7) Shipping and deliveries. All shipping and deliveries to and from the above shall occur between the 

hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m.  

(8) Site plan review. Site plan review and approval must be obtained in accordance with the provisions 

of article XII of this zoning ordinance.  

(9) Use parameters. All uses shall be conducted within the confines of a building.  

(10) Dwelling unit review.  All dwelling units, accessory structures, driveway, parking areas, and 

landscaping shall be reviewed by the building official subject to the following conditions as found in 

section 1.1124.  

372



 

(11) All lots to be used for business, industry and public uses requiring parking for employees, 
shoppers, visitors and users, shall have 15 percent of lot area set aside as open space. This 
space shall only be occupied by lawn or landscape features not obstructing areas for snow 
piling. 

 1.0407. B-C central business district. 

(A) Intent. The B-C central business district is established to create and preserve a central business district 

convenient and attractive for a wide range of retail uses and business, government and professional 

offices, and places of amusement in a setting conducive to and safe for pedestrian traffic.  

(B) Restricted zone. Properties on Chicago Road between Jefferson Street on the West and Monroe Street 

on the East are considered the restricted zone for the purposes of this section. Uses may be limited or 

amended in this area if specified below.  

C) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in the B-C district.  

(1) The following uses are permitted in the Restricted Zone provided they are located either above the 

first floor, or below the first floor. They are permitted without restriction outside of the Restricted 

Zone.  

(a) Banks, credit unions, or similar uses.  

(b) Business schools.  

(c) Clinic, dental or medical.  

(d) Private schools.  

(e) Professional service offices.  

(2) Catering facility in combination with a full service eating and drinking establishment.  

(3) Essential services.  

(4) Existing housing.  

(5) Fast food restaurant.  

(6) Full service eating and drinking establishment.  

(7) Home occupations as provided and controlled in subsection 1.1123 for existing housing. 

(8) Hotels and motels.  

(9) Institutional or public uses.  

(10) Laundry and dry cleaning.  

(11) Mixed-use development.  

(12) Personal services.  

(13) Printing or publishing.  

(14) Recreational facility.  

(15) Social clubs.  

(16) Stores for retail sales and retail services.  

(17) Studio.  

(18) Theaters.  

(19) Transportation services.  

(20) Uses similar to the above uses.  

(21) Accessory structures and used customarily incidental to a permitted use, provided such buildings 

and uses are located on the same zoning lot with the permitted use. 

(D) Special land uses. The following special land uses are permitted in the B-C district under the conditions of 

article VI of this zoning ordinance.  

(1) Apartments above stores. 

(2) Bed and breakfast operations. Allowed in the restricted zone provided it is located either above the 

first floor, or below the first floor. Allowed outside the restricted zone in accordance with article VI. 

(3) Brewpubs. 

373



 

(4) Child care facilities limited to child care centers or day care centers. 

(5) Condominiums. 

(6) Drive-through operations. 

(7) Marquee signs. 

(a) Marquee signs are permitted only for use on theaters as defined in section 1.0202 of this 

ordinance.  

(b) All marquee signs must be submitted to the design review committee regardless of what zone 

they are to be installed.  

(c) Proper scale and architectural compatibility will be crucial elements when marquee signs are 

reviewed by the planning commission.  

(d) Marquee signs are allowed to be internally lighted. 

(8) Micro Breweries 

(9) Mixed-use development—Greater than three stories. 

(10) Murals. 

(11) Off-street parking lots. 

(12) Outdoor sale areas. 

(13) Professional service offices and banks, credit unions or similar uses in the restricted zone. 

(14) Short term rentals. 

(15) Sidewalks cafes. 

(16) Small Distillers 

(17) Small Wine Makers 

(E) Required conditions. The following conditions are required in the B-C district.  

(1) Area and bulk requirements. See article V, schedule of regulations, of this zoning ordinance limiting 

the height and bulk of buildings, the minimum size of lot by permitted land use, and providing 

minimum yard setback requirements.  

(2) Demolition of buildings. Before a demolition permit is issued for a building located in the B-C 

district, the community development department shall refer the request to the downtown 

development authority which will review the request, hold a public-hearing, and make 

recommendations to the property owner for alternate potential uses of the property or to proceed 

with demolition. If the property owner does not withdraw the request for a demolition permit 

within 30 days after it is submitted, the community development department shall proceed to 

analyze the request and issue appropriate permits based upon the building and zoning ordinance 

requirements.  

(3) Design review. Design review as provided for in article XIII of this zoning ordinance.  

(4) Drive-through operations. All permitted uses with a drive-through operation must meet the off-

street parking and stacking standards for a drive-through as stated under [section] 1.0902.  

(5) Dwellings floor area. For purposes of this section, the floor area of all dwellings or dwelling units in 

a building shall meet current Michigan Building Code and shall average not less than 450 square 

feet per dwelling unit, excluding all exterior living space and common areas including hallways, 

stairways, and shared areas.  

(6) Dwellings. Existing dwellings, transient rooming houses and apartments shall meet the provision of 

the R-4 apartment district and special land uses within the R-4 apartment district, as set out in 

section 1.0404. 

(7) Screening dumpsters. All areas of trash storage and disposal including dumpsters must be screened 

as provided under section 1.1106.  

(8) Outside display of merchandise. Outdoor display of merchandise is permitted if the following are 

provided: 

(a) The merchandise must be on solid surface material such as asphalt, concrete, or an already 

approved parking area. 

374



 

(b) The merchandise shall not utilize required parking spaces or maneuvering lanes. 

(c)  A minimum of one (1) 9 foot wide by 23 foot long parallel loading space with an adjacent 

maneuvering aisle with a minimum width of 20 feet, or a minimum of one (1) 9 foot wide by 20 

foot long 90-degree loading space with an adjacent maneuvering aisle width of 20 feet must be 

installed adjacent to the outdoor sales and display area. 

(d) The merchandise shall not be located in a corner clearance area as per section 1.1107. 

(e) The merchandise that is displayed outdoors must be accessory to a principal use in an 
enclosed building on the same lot. 

(9) Site plan review. Site plan review and approval must be obtained in accordance with the provisions 

of article XII of this zoning ordinance.  

(10) All lots to be used for business, industry and public uses requiring parking for employees, 
shoppers, visitors and users, shall have 15 percent of lot area set aside as open space. This 
space shall only be occupied by lawn or landscape features not obstructing areas for snow 
piling. 

(11) Exterior lighting. 
(a) Exterior lighting shall be arranged so it is deflected away from adjacent properties and 

so it does not impede the vision of traffic along adjacent streets. Lighting shall not 
exceed 0.5 footcandles when measured from ground level at the adjoining property 
boundary.  

(b) Flashing or intermittent lights shall not be permitted.  
(c) Light poles and fixtures shall be no higher than 25 feet in parking lots, and no higher 

than 16 feet in height along interior sidewalks and walkways. All light poles and fixtures 
shall have a downcast glow.  

(d) Light poles and fixtures set in the perimeter of parking areas shall not be placed in a 
parking space.  

 

1.0408. B-H 1 business highway 1. 

(A) Intent. The B-H 1 business highway 1 uses are typically automobile-oriented and cater to patrons traveling 

through a particular location. Example uses include drive-through restaurants and banks, car washes, strip 

retail centers, gas stations, sit down restaurants, and similar uses.  

(B) Permitted uses. The following are permitted in the B-H 1 district:  

(1) Banks, credit unions, or similar uses. 

(2) Banquet halls. 

(3) School, business 

(4) School, private. 

(5) Catering facility in combination with a full service eating and drinking establishment.  

(6) Clinic, dental or medical.  

(7) Contractors offices. 

(8) Essential services. 

(9) Fast food restaurant. 

(10) Full service eating and drinking establishment.  

(11) Funeral homes and mortuary establishments. 

(12) Greenhouse, retail. 

(13) Home occupations as provided and controlled in subsection 1.1123 for existing housing. 

(14) Hotels and motels. 

(15) Institutional or public uses. 

(16) Professional service offices.  

375



 

(17) Laundry and dry cleaning. 

(18) Lumber and building supply yards.  

(19) Office buildings 

(20) Off-street parking lot(s). 

(21) Personal services. 

(22) Printing or publishing 

(23) Professional service offices 

(24) Recreational facilities.  

(25) Stores for retail sales and retail services.  

(26) Strip mall areas. 

(27) Studio.  

(28) Theaters.  

(29) Uses similar to the above uses.  

(30) Accessory structures and used customarily incidental to a permitted use, provided such buildings 

and uses are located on the same zoning lot with the permitted use.  

(C) Special land uses. The following special land uses are permitted in the B-H 1 district, under the conditions 

of article VI [of this zoning ordinance].  

(1) Animal Hospital 

(2) Automobile carwash.  

(3) Automobile repair shop(s), minor.  

(4) Automobile repair shop(s), major.  

(5) Automobile service stations.  

(6) Billboards.  

(7) Brewpubs.  

(8) Child care facilities limited to child care centers or day care centers.  

(9) Marihuana retailers as defined in article IV section 38-93(b).  

(10) Marquee signs.  

(11) Micro Breweries 

(12) Outdoor sales area.  

(13) Pet shop and sales.  

(14) Provisioning centers.  

(15) Small Distillers 

(16) Small engine repair.  

(17) Small Wine Makers 

(18) Vehicle sales area.  

(D) Required conditions. The following conditions are required in the B-H 1 district.  

(1)  Use parameters. All permitted uses shall be conducted within the confines of a building or within 

an enclosure which screens any outdoor storage of materials from the view of adjoining streets or 

properties, unless permitted as outside display of merchandise. A chain-link or decorative fence of 

sufficient density (one and one-quarter inches by one and one-quarter inches) to keep discarded 

debris within the confines of a site for uses which are likely to have debris shall be provided.  

(2) Outside display of merchandise. Outdoor display of merchandise is permitted if the following are 

provided: 

(a) The merchandise must be on solid surface material such as asphalt, concrete, or an already 

approved parking area. 

(b) The merchandise shall not utilize required parking spaces or maneuvering lanes. 

(c) A minimum of one (1)- 9 foot wide by 23 foot long parallel loading space with an adjacent 

maneuvering aisle with a minimum width of 20 feet, or a minimum of one (1)- 9 foot wide by 

376



 

20 foot long 90-degree loading space with an adjacent maneuvering aisle width of 20 feet must 

be installed adjacent to the outdoor sales and display area. 

(d) The merchandise shall not be located in a corner clearance area as per section 1.1107. 

(e) The merchandise that is displayed outdoors must be accessory to a principal use in an enclosed 
building on the same lot. 

(3) Drive-through operations. All permitted uses with a drive-through operation must meet the 

following conditions:  

(a)  Required off-street parking for a drive-through as stated under [section] 1.0902.  

(b) Each stacking space shall be measured at not less than 20 feet in length and ten feet in width. 

In no instance, shall stacking spaces interfere with required parking or maneuvering lanes.  

(4) Dwellings. Existing dwellings, existing transient rooming houses, and existing apartments shall 

meet the provisions of the R-4 apartment district and special land uses within the R-4 apartment 

district, as set out in section 1.0404.  

(5) Screening of trash receptacles. All areas of trash storage including dumpsters shall be screened on 

all sides with a durable, opaque material, at a minimum height of one foot above the trash 

receptacle. The maximum height of the screening shall not exceed eight feet and shall not be 

located in the required front or side yard setback.  

(6) Site plan review. Site plan review and approval must be obtained in accordance with the provisions 

of article XII [of this zoning ordinance].  

(7) Compatibility with adjacent properties. The following conditions shall apply to permitted uses in 

the B-H 1 zone when those uses are abutting or across the street from  residential uses or 

residentially zoned property:  

(a) Screening of residential uses to restrict view shall be provided by a privacy fence six to eight 

feet in height, or a solid planting strip 15 feet in width and six feet in height at planting. The 

planning commission may consider modifying this requirement, based upon finding that the 

specific design of this site and mitigation of potential off-site impacts to the neighboring 

residentially zoned property does not warrant this screening. 

(b) All exterior doors on the sides of buildings abutting residential use or residentially zoned 

property shall be for emergency exit only.  

 (c) Exterior lighting. 

i. Exterior lighting shall be arranged so it is deflected away from adjacent properties and so it 

does not impede the vision of traffic along adjacent streets. Lighting shall not exceed 0.5 

footcandles when measured from ground level at the adjoining property boundary.  

ii. Flashing or intermittent lights shall not be permitted.  

iii. Light poles and fixtures shall be no higher than 25 feet in parking lots, and no higher than 

16 feet in height along interior sidewalks and walkways. All light poles and fixtures shall 

have a downcast glow.  

iv. Light poles and fixtures set in the perimeter of parking areas shall not be placed in a 

parking space.  

(d) All outside storage of vehicles shall be screened from any adjacent residential uses and 

residentially zoning districts and occur only within lighted areas secured by fencing.  

(e) The use must fit into the size, scale, height, texture, material and landscaping pattern of the 

existing neighborhood.  

(8) Area and bulk requirements. See article V, schedule of regulations, of this zoning ordinance 

limiting the height and bulk of buildings, the minimum size of lot by permitted land use, and 

providing minimum yard setback requirement.  

(9) Dwelling unit review.  All dwelling units, accessory structures, driveway, parking areas, and 

landscaping shall be reviewed by the building official subject to the following conditions as found 

in section 1.1124. 

377



 

(10) All lots to be used for business, industry and public uses requiring parking for 
employees, shoppers, visitors and users, shall have 15 percent of lot area set aside as 
open space. This space shall only be occupied by lawn or landscape features not 
obstructing areas for snow piling. 

 

 1.0409. B-H 2 business highway 2. 

(A) Intent. The B-H 2 business highway 2 uses typically have fewer customers visiting the site and generate 

fewer trips per day.  

(B) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in the B-H 2 district:  

(1) Banks, credit unions, or similar uses.  

(2) Banquet halls. 

(3) Business schools. 

(4) Catering facility. 

(5) Clinic, dental or medical. 

(6) Convalescent homes. 

(7) Essential services. 

(8) Existing housing. 

(9) Fast food restaurant.  

(10) Full service eating and drinking establishment.  

(11) Funeral homes and mortuary establishments.  

(12) Greenhouse, retail. 

(13) Home occupations as provided and controlled in subsection 1.1123 for existing housing. 

(14) Hotels and motels.  

(15) Institutional or public uses. 

(16) Laundry and dry cleaning. 

(17) Office building(s).  

(18) Off-street parking lot(s).  

(19) Personal services.  

(20) Printing or publishing. 

(21) Private schools. 

(22) Professional service offices.  

(23) Recreational facilities.  

(24) Stores for retail sales and retail services. 20,000 square feet or less.  

(25) Strip mall areas.  

(26) Studio.  

(27) Theaters.  

(28) Uses similar to the above uses.  

(29) Accessory structures and used customarily incidental to a permitted use, provided such buildings 

and uses are located on the same zoning lot with the permitted use.  

(C) Special land uses. The following special land uses are permitted in the B-H 1 district, under the conditions 

of article VI of this zoning ordinance.  

(1) Animal hospitals.  

(2) Apartments above stores mixed-use development. 

(3) Automobile carwash.  

(4) Automobile repair shop(s), minor.  

(5) Automobile repair shop(s), major.  

(6) Automobile service stations. 

378



 

(7) Bed and breakfast operations. 

(8) Boarding houses. 

(9) Brewpubs. 

(10) Child care facilities limited to child care day center or day care center.  

(11) Lumber and building supply yards. 

(12) Marquee signs. 

(13) Micro Breweries 

(14) Ministorage units. 

(15) Outdoor sales area.  

(16) Pet shop and sales. 

(17) Reasonable accommodation use. 

(18) Short term rentals. 

(19) Small Distillers 

(20) Small engine repair.  

(21) Small Wine Makers 

(22) Social clubs. 

(23) Transportation services. 

(24) Vehicle sales area.  

(25)  Warehousing. 

(D) Required conditions. The following conditions are required in the B-H 2 district.  

(1) Use parameters. All permitted uses shall be conducted within the confines of a building or within 

an enclosure which screens any outdoor storage of materials from the view of adjoining streets or 

properties. A chain-link or decorative fence of sufficient density (one one-quarter inches by one 

and one-quarter inches) to keep discarded debris within the confines of a site for uses which are 

likely to have debris shall be provided.  

(2) Outside display of merchandise. Outdoor display of merchandise is permitted if the following are 

provided: 

(a) The merchandise must be on solid surface material such as asphalt, concrete, or an already 

approved parking area. 

(b) The merchandise shall not utilize required parking spaces or maneuvering lanes. 

(c) A minimum of one (1) 9 foot wide by 23 foot long parallel loading space with an adjacent 

maneuvering aisle with a minimum width of 20 feet, or a minimum of one (1) 9 foot wide by 20 

foot long 90-degree loading space with an adjacent maneuvering aisle width of 20 feet must be 

installed adjacent to the outdoor sales and display area. 

(d) The merchandise shall not be located in a corner clearance area as per section 1.1107. 

(e) The merchandise that is displayed outdoors must be accessory to a principal use in an enclosed 
building on the same lot. 

(3) Dwellings. Existing dwellings, existing transient rooming houses, and existing apartments shall 

meet the provisions of the R-4 apartment district and special land uses within the R-4 apartment 

district, as set out in section 1.0404.  

(4) Screening of trash receptacles. All areas of trash storage including dumpsters shall be screened on 

all sides with a durable, opaque material, at a minimum height of one foot above the trash 

receptacle. The maximum height of the screening shall not exceed eight feet and shall not be 

located in the required front or side yard setback.  

(5) Site plan review. Site plan review and approval must be obtained in accordance with the provisions 

of article XII of this zoning ordinance.  

(6) Compatibility with adjacent properties. The following conditions shall apply to permitted uses in 

the B-H 2 zone when those uses are adjacent to residential uses or residentially zoned property:  

379



 

(a) Screening of residential uses to restrict view from residential property shall be provided by a 

privacy fence six to eight feet in height, or a solid planting strip 15 feet in width and six feet in 

height at planting.  The planning commission may consider modifying this requirement, based 

upon findings of fact that based on the specific design of this site and mitigation of potential 

off-site impacts to the neighboring residentially zoned property, such screening is not required.  

(b) All exterior doors on the sides of buildings adjacent to residential use or residentially zoned 

property shall be for emergency exit only.  

(c) Exterior lighting. 

i. Exterior lighting shall be arranged so it is deflected away from adjacent properties and so it 

does not impede the vision of traffic along adjacent streets. Lighting shall not exceed 0.5 

footcandles when measured from ground level at the adjoining property boundary.  

ii. Flashing or intermittent lights shall not be permitted.  

iii. Light poles and fixtures shall be no higher than 25 feet in parking lots, and no higher than 16 

feet in height along interior sidewalks and walkways. All light poles and fixtures shall have a 

downcast glow.  

iv. Light poles and fixtures set in the perimeter of parking areas shall not be placed in a parking 

space.  

(d) All outside storage of vehicles shall be screened from any adjacent residential use or 

residentially zoned property and occur only within lighted areas secured by fencing.  

(e) The use must fit into the size, scale, height, texture, material and landscaping pattern of the 

existing neighborhood.  

(7) Area and bulk requirements. See article V, schedule of regulations, of this zoning ordinance 

limiting the height and bulk of buildings, the minimum size of lot by permitted land use, and 

providing minimum yard setback requirements.  

(8) Dwelling unit review.  All dwelling units, accessory structures, driveway, parking areas, and 

landscaping shall be reviewed by the building official subject to the following conditions as found 

in section 1.1124. 

(9) All lots to be used for business, industry and public uses requiring parking for employees, 
shoppers, visitors and users, shall have 15 percent of lot area set aside as open space. This space 
shall only be occupied by lawn or landscape features not obstructing areas for snow piling. 

 1.0409.1. B-N business neighborhood. 

(A) Intent. The B-N business neighborhood district is higher-density and moderately walkable area composed 

of a mix of commercial and residential buildings, typically along major corridor roads in the city. While 

serving automobile traffic, it is less automobile-intensive than the business highway districts. This is due 

in part to smaller lot sizes on which to accommodate parking based on conversion over time from 

residential to commercial use. The district is generally adjacent to the central business district and thus 

represents a transition from the density and walkability of this area.  

(B) Permitted uses. 

(1) Adult foster care homes, family.  

(2) Banks, credit unions, or similar uses.  

(3) Business schools.  

(4) Catering facility in combination with a full service eating and drinking establishment.  

(5) Clinic, dental or medical.  

(6) Contractor’s offices. 

(7) Fast food restaurant.  

(8) Full service eating and drinking establishment.  

(9) Essential services.  

380



 

(10) Existing housing.  

(11) Home occupations as provided and controlled in subsection 1.1123 for existing housing. 

(12) Institutional or public uses.  

(13) Laundry and dry cleaning.  

(14) Mixed-use development.  

(15) Office buildings.  

(16) Personal services.  

(17) Printing or publishing.  

(18) Private residences with the capacity to receive at least 1 but not more than 4 adults who all 

receive benefits from a community mental health services program if the local community mental 

health services program monitors the services being delivered in the residential setting, excluding 

adult foster care facilities licensed by a state agency for care and treatment of persons released 

from or assigned to adult correctional institutions.  

(19) Private school.  

(20) Professional service offices.  

(21) Qualified residential treatment programs that provides services for 10 or fewer individuals.  

(22) Recreational facility.  

(23) Social clubs.  

(24) Stores for retail sales and retail services.  

(25) Studio. Transportation services.  

(26) Uses similar to the above uses. 

(28) Accessory structures and uses customarily incidental to a permitted use, provided such buildings 

and uses are located on the same zoning lot with the permitted use.  

(C) Special land uses. The following special land uses in the B-N district, under the conditions of article VI of 

this zoning district.  

(1) Adult foster care congregate facility. 

(2) Adult foster care home, large group. 

(3) Adult foster care home, small group. 

(4) Apartment building of two to 12 dwelling units including two-family dwellings (duplexes). 

(5) Automobile carwash. 

(6) Automobile repair shops, major. 

(7) Automobile repair shops, minor. 

(8) Automobile service station. 

(9) Bed and breakfast operations. 

(10) Brewpubs. 

(11) Child care facilities limited to child care centers or day care centers. 

(12) Condominiums. 

(13) Cottage Court Developments. 

(14) Drive-through operations. 

(15) Funeral homes and mortuary establishments. 

(16) Hotels and motels. 

(17) Marquee signs. 

(18) Micro Breweries 

(19) Murals. 

(20) Off-street parking lots. 

(21) One-family detached dwellings. 

(22) Outdoor sales areas. 

(23) Short term rentals. 

(24) Sidewalk cafes. 

381



 

(25) Small Distillers 

(26) Theaters. 

(27) Vehicle sales area. 

(D) Required conditions. The following conditions are required in the B-N district.  

(1) Use parameters. All permitted uses shall be conducted within the confines of a building or within 

an enclosure which screens any outdoor storage of materials from the view of adjoining streets 

or properties. A chain-link or decorative fence of sufficient density (one and one-quarter inches 

by one and one-quarter inches) to keep discarded debris within the confines of a site for uses 

which are likely to have debris shall be provided.  

(2) Outside display of merchandise. Outdoor display of merchandise is permitted if the following are 

provided: 

(a) The merchandise must be on solid surface material such as asphalt, concrete, or an already 

approved parking area. 

(b) The merchandise shall not utilize required parking spaces or maneuvering lanes. 

(c) A minimum of one (1) 9 foot wide by 23 foot long parallel loading space with an adjacent 

maneuvering aisle with a minimum width of 20 feet, or a minimum of one (1) 9 foot wide by 

20 foot long 90-degree loading space with an adjacent maneuvering aisle width of 20 feet 

must be installed adjacent to the outdoor sales and display area. 

(d) The merchandise shall not be located in a corner clearance area as per section 1.1107. 

(e) The merchandise that is displayed outdoors must be accessory to a principal use in an 
enclosed building on the same lot. 

 

(3) Drive-through operations. All permitted uses with a drive-through operation must meet the off-

street parking and stacking standards for a drive-through as stated under section 1.0902.  

(4) For residential uses, accessory structures shall follow 1.1105(A) and (B).  

(5) Apartments and mixed-use developments. Apartments and residential units of mixed-use 

developments shall meet the provisions 1.0502(e) and (f) for density and separation.  

(a) Floor area. For purposes of this section, the floor area of all dwellings or dwelling units in a 

building shall meet current Michigan Building Code and shall average not less than 450 square 

feet per dwelling unit, excluding all exterior living space and common areas including 

hallways, stairways, and shared areas.  

(6) Screening of trash receptacles. All areas of trash storage, including dumpsters, shall be screened 

on all sides with a durable, opaque material, at a minimum height of one foot above the trash 

receptacle. The maximum height of the screening shall not exceed eight feet and shall not be 

located in front of the building or within the side yard setback.  

(7) Site plan review. Site plan review and approval must be obtained in accordance with the 

provisions of article XII of this zoning ordinance.  

(8) Compatibility with adjacent properties. The following conditions shall apply to approved non-

residential uses in the B-N district when those uses are adjacent to residential uses or 

residentially zoned property:  

(a) Rear and side setbacks from residential property lot lines shall be 45 feet. Where an existing 

non-residential use is located less than 45 feet from a residential property line, such structure 

shall be considered a Class A non-conforming structure as described in 1.0802—1.0804 of this 

zoning ordinance, and the principal building may be expanded or accessory buildings may be 

added under the following conditions:  

i. The proposed expansion or addition receives required site plan approval pursuant to article 

XII of this ordinance.  

ii. The degree of nonconformity is not increased.  

382



 

iii. This Class A designation shall expire when the use changes. At that time, the new use 

would be required to request Class A non-conforming structure designation from the 

planning commission.  

(b) Screening of residential uses to restrict view from residential property shall be provided by a 

privacy fence six feet in height, or an obscuring planting strip 15 feet in width and six feet in 

height at planting. Planting strip must not exceed six feet in height. A request may be made to 

the planning commission to waive the screening requirement due to site constraints.  

(c) All exterior doors on the sides of buildings adjacent to residential property shall be for 

emergency exit only.  

(d) All shipping and deliveries to and from the establishment shall occur between the hours of 

7:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m.  

(e) Exterior lighting. 

i. Exterior lighting shall be arranged so it is deflected away from adjacent properties and so it 

does not impede the vision of traffic along adjacent streets. Lighting shall not exceed 0.5 

footcandles when measured from ground level at the adjoining property boundary.  

ii. Flashing or intermittent lights shall not be permitted.  

iii. Light poles and fixtures shall be no higher than 25 feet in parking lots, and no higher than 

16 feet in height along interior sidewalks and walkways. All light poles and fixtures shall 

have a downcast glow.  

iv. Light poles and fixtures set in the perimeter of parking areas shall not be placed in a 

parking space.  

(f) All outside storage of vehicles shall be screened from any adjacent residential property, and 

such storage shall occur only within areas secured by fencing.  

(9) Area and bulk requirements. See article V, schedule of regulations, of this zoning ordinance limiting 

the height and bulk of buildings, the minimum size of lot by permitted land use, and providing 

minimum yard setback requirement.  

(10) Dwelling unit review.  All dwelling units, accessory structures, driveway, parking areas, and 

landscaping shall be reviewed by the building official subject to the following conditions as found 

in section 1.1124. 

(11) Design standards. Requirements for approved design.  

(a) To the extent reasonably feasible, the building and site shall be consistent with the character 

of the area, including lot coverage, type and style of structure, traffic flow and pattern, and 

density/intensity of the use.  

(b) Architectural style is not restricted. Evaluation of appearance of a project shall be based on 

quality of its design and relationship to surroundings.  

(c) Materials shall:  

i. Have good architectural character  

ii. Be of durable quality  

iii. Be selected for harmony of the building with adjoining buildings.  

(d) Inappropriate materials and methods, and those which will produce inconsistency with the 

structure of the building, shall be avoided.  

(e) Building components, such as windows, doors, eaves, and parapets, shall have good 

proportions and relationship to one another.  

(f) Colors shall be harmonious, and not used to draw attention, e.g., serving as a sign.  

(g) Mechanical equipment or other utility hardware on roof, ground, or buildings shall be 

screened from public view with materials harmonious with the building, or they shall be 

located so as not to be visible from any public ways.  

383



 

(h) Exterior lighting, including external and interior lighted signs, shall be part of the architectural 

concept. Fixtures, standards, and all exposed accessories shall be harmonious with building 

design.  

(i) Refuse and waste removal areas, service yards, storage yards, and exterior work areas shall be 

screened from view from public ways, using materials as stated in criteria for equipment 

screening.  

(j) If the building official cannot determine whether the project meets the standards, the building 

official shall refer the project to the design review committee for its determination and 

recommendation to the planning commission.  

(12) All lots to be used for business, industry and public uses requiring parking for employees, 
shoppers, visitors and users, shall have 15 percent of lot area set aside as open space. This space 
shall only be occupied by lawn or landscape features not obstructing areas for snow piling. 

 

 1.0410. M manufacturing. 

(A) Intent. The M manufacturing district establishes and preserves areas for industrial and related uses of a 

nature so that they do not create serious problems of compatibility with other kinds of land uses. This 

district is intended to make provisions for certain kinds of business uses which are most appropriately 

located as neighbors of industrial uses or which are necessary to service the immediate needs of the 

people in these areas. The general goals of this district includes, among others, the following:  

(1) To provide sufficient space, in appropriate locations, to meet the needs of the municipality's expected 

future economy for all types of manufacturing and related uses;  

(2) To protect abutting residential districts by separating them from manufacturing activities, and by 

prohibiting the use of such industrial areas for new residential development;  

(3) To promote manufacturing development which is free from danger of fire, explosions, toxic and 

noxious matter, radiation and other hazards, and other objectionable influences; [and]  

(4) To protect the most desirable use of land in accordance with a well-considered plan. To protect the 

character and established pattern of adjacent development, and in each area to conserve the value of 

land and buildings and other structures, and to protect the municipality's tax revenue base.  

(B) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in the M district:  

(1) Accessory retail sales of no greater than 10 percent of building square footage connected with an 

approved use in the district. 

(2) Airports subject to all state and federal regulations and subject to all city codes and ordinances.  

(3) Animal hospital. 

(4) Catering facility. 

(5) Commercial kennels. 

(6) Contractor’s office. 

(7) Equipment servicing.  

(8) Essential services. 

(9) Existing housing.   

(10) Farming.  

(11) Greenhouses, Industrial.  

(12) Home occupations as provided and controlled in subsection 1.1123 for existing housing. 

(13) Industrial, Light.  

(14) Institutional and public uses.  

(15) Laboratories.  

(16) Ministorage units. 

(17) Moving and Storage Establishments. 

384



 

(18) Trade or industrial schools.  

(19) Transportation services. 

(20) Warehousing.  

(21) Uses similar to the above uses. 

(22) Accessory structures and used customarily incidental to a permitted uses, provided such buildings and 

uses are located on the same zoning lot with the permitted use.  

(C) Special land uses. The following special land uses are permitted in the M district, under the conditions of 

article VI of this zoning ordinance.  

(1) Adult entertainment facilities.  

(2) Animal hospital. 

(3) Automobile carwash.  

(4) Automobile repair, minor and major.  

(5) Banquet hall.  

(6) Battery Energy Storage System, Large 

(7) Billboards.  

(8) Childcare facilities limited to child care centers or day care centers. 

(9) Commercial medical marihuana facilities as defined in article IV section 38-92.  

(10) Distribution warehousing. 

(11) Indoor vehicle sales area.  

(12) Industrial, heavy. 

(13) Large solar energy systems.  

(14) Marihuana establishments as defined in article IV section 38-93(b).  

(15) Medical marihuana manufacturing and distribution facilities for primary caregivers and qualifying 

patients.  

(16) Mineral extraction operations.  

(17) Office buildings.  

(18) Provisioning centers as defined in article IV section 38-92(b).  

(19) Salvage yard and resource recovery facilities.  

(20) Small Engine Repair. 

(21) Social clubs.  

(22) Storage of waste hauling vehicles and operations.  

(23) Stores for retail and retail services.  

(24) Accessory structures and uses customarily incidental to a permitted use, provided such structures and 

uses are located on the same zoning lot with the permitted use.  

(D) Required conditions. The following conditions are required in the M-1 district.  

(1) Enclosures. All operations shall be conducted wholly within the confines of a building, provided that 

necessary accessory outdoor processes or the outdoor storage of equipment, and material may utilize 

required side yard or rear yard space if screened by either a six-foot uniformly painted or preserved 

fence or wall at least 50 percent solid, kept in good condition, or by planting of evergreen trees or 

hedges.  

(2) Performance standards.  

(a) Fire and explosion hazards. All activities shall be carried on only in buildings conforming to the city 

building code, except for outdoor processes or storage permitted under [subsection] (D)(1) [of this 

section] above. The operation shall be carried on in a manner required by the city fire prevention 

code and with any precautions so as to produce no explosion hazard, as determined by the state 

department of labor, to a use on an adjacent property. Flammable liquids or explosive chemicals or 

materials, other than fuels used for heating, shall be stored in a separate building or tank, provided 

the building or tank is not closer than 80 feet to any building occupied by more than one human or 

closer than 40 feet to any property line.  

385



 

(b) Smoke, fumes, gases, dust, odors. There shall be no emission of any smoke, atomic radiation, 

fumes, gas, dust, odors, or any other atmospheric pollutant which will disseminate beyond the 

boundaries of the lot occupied by the use in a manner so to create a public nuisance, cause damage 

or inconvenience to other buildings or properties, or imperil the health of animals or humans.  

(c) Liquid or solid waste. No industrial operations shall directly discharge industrial waste of any kind 

into any river, stream, reservoir, pond, or lake. All methods of sewage and industrial waste 

treatment and disposal shall be approved by the city and state health departments or department 

of natural resources.  

(d) Vibration. There shall be no vibration which is discernable to the human sense of feeling beyond 

the immediate site on which the use is conducted.  

(e) Noise. The emission of measurable noises from the premises shall not exceed 70 decibels as 

measured at the property lines, between the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. The measurable 

noises shall not exceed 60 decibels as measured at the property lines between 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 

a.m. Where normal street traffic noises exceed the established noise levels during such periods, the 

measurable noise emanating from the premises may equal, but not exceed traffic noises.  

(f) Glare. There shall be no direct or sky-reflected glare which would be damaging to the human eye at 

the property line of the lot occupied by the use. This regulation shall not apply to lights for site or 

street.  

(g) Appearance. No storage of waste from off-site outside a building, and no loose blowing papers 

shall be permitted at any time. All noxious activities shall be screened by an eight-foot solid fence, 

or by berm with plantings.  

(h) Exterior lighting. 

(1) Exterior lighting shall be arranged so it is deflected away from adjacent properties and so it does not 

impede the vision of traffic along adjacent streets. Lighting shall not exceed 0.5 footcandles when 

measured from ground level at the adjoining property boundary.  

(2) Flashing or intermittent lights shall not be permitted.  

(3) Light poles and fixtures shall be no higher than 25 feet in parking lots, and no higher than 16 feet in 

height along interior sidewalks and walkways. All light poles and fixtures shall have a downcast glow.  

(4) Light poles and fixtures set in the perimeter of parking areas shall not be placed in a parking space.  

(3) Site plan review. Site plan review and approval must be obtained in accordance with the provisions of 

article XII of this zoning ordinance.  

(4) Outside display of merchandise. Outdoor display of merchandise as accessory to permitted accessory 

retail sales is permitted if the following are provided: 

(a) The merchandise must be on solid surface material such as asphalt, concrete, or an already 

approved parking area. 

(b) The merchandise shall not utilize required parking spaces or maneuvering lanes. 

(c) A minimum of one (1) 9 foot wide by 23 foot long parallel loading space with an adjacent 

maneuvering aisle with a minimum width of 20 feet, or a minimum of one (1) 9 foot wide by 20 

foot long 90-degree loading space with an adjacent maneuvering aisle width of 20 feet must be 

installed adjacent to the outdoor sales and display area. 

(d) The merchandise shall not be located in a corner clearance area as per section 1.1107.  

(e) The merchandise that is displayed outdoors must be accessory to a principal use in an enclosed 
building on the same lot. 

(5) Area and bulk requirements. See article V, schedule of regulations, of this zoning ordinance limiting 

height and bulk of buildings, minimum size of lot by permitted land use, and providing minimum yard 

setback requirements.  

(6) Dwelling unit review.  All dwelling units, accessory structures, driveway, parking areas, and 

landscaping shall be reviewed by the building official subject to the following conditions as found in 

section 1.1124. 

386



 

(7) All lots to be used for business, industry and public uses requiring parking for employees, shoppers, 
visitors and users, shall have 15 percent of lot area set aside as open space. This space shall only be 
occupied by lawn or landscape features not obstructing areas for snow piling. 

1.0411. – M-2 Manufacturing District 2 

(A) Intent. The M-2 manufacturing district 2 is established to allow for a combination of lighter-in-intensity 

manufacturing uses and select office and commercial uses. The external physical effects of uses in the 

district are restricted to the individual parcel, and in no manner affect the surrounding parcels 

detrimentally.  

(B) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in the M-2 district. 

(1) Catering facility. 

(2) Contractors office. 

(3) Equipment servicing, indoor. 

(4) Essential services. 

(5) Existing housing. 

(6) Greenhouses, industrial. 

(7) Greenhouse, retail. 

(8) Home occupations as provided and controlled in subsection 1.1123 for existing housing. 

(9) Indoor vehicle sales area. 

(10) Industrial, light. 

(11) Institutional and public uses.  

(12) Laboratories.  

(13) Laundry and dry cleaning. 

(14) Office buildings. 

(15) Printing or publishing. 

(16) Recreational facilities. 

(17) Research and Development. 

(18) School, business. 

(19) Technology centers.  

(20) Transportation services. 

(21) Warehousing. 

(22) Uses similar to the above uses. 

(23) Accessory structures and uses customarily incidental to a permitted use, provided such buildings and 

uses are located on the same zoning lot with the permitted use. 

(C) Special land uses. The following special land uses are permitted in the M-2 district, under the conditions of 

article VI of this zoning ordinance. 

(1) Animal hospitals. 

(2) Automobile carwash. 

(3) Automobile repair, minor. 

(4) Automobile repair, major. 

(5) Automobile service station. 

(6) Banquet hall. 

(7) Battery Energy Storage System, Large. 

(8) Breweries.  

(9) Child care facilities limited to child care centers or day care centers.  

(10) Commercial kennels. 

(11) Distilleries.   

(12) Distribution warehouses. 

387



 

(13) Equipment servicing, outdoor. 

(14) Indoor vehicle sales area. 

(15) Industrial, heavy. 

(16) Ministorage units. 

(17) Salvage yard and resource recovery facilities. 

(18) Social clubs.  

(19) Solar Energy System, Large. 

(D) Required conditions. The following conditions are required in the M-2 district. 

(1) Enclosures. All operations shall be conducted wholly within the confines of a building, provided that 

necessary accessory outdoor processes or the outdoor storage of equipment, and material may 

utilize required side yard or rear yard space if screened by either a six-foot uniformly painted or 

preserved fence or wall at least 50 percent solid, kept in good condition, or by planting of evergreen 

trees or hedges.  

(2) Performance standards.  

(a) Fire and explosion hazards. All activities shall be carried on only in buildings conforming to the 

city building code. The operation shall be carried on in a manner required by the city fire 

prevention code and with any precautions to produce no explosion hazard, as determined by the 

state department of labor, to a use on an adjacent property. Flammable liquids or explosive 

chemicals or materials, other than fuels used for heating, shall be stored in a separate building or 

tank, provided the building or tank is not closer than 80 feet to any building occupied by more 

than one human or closer than 40 feet to any property line. 

(b) Smoke, fumes, gases, dust, odors. There shall be no emission of any smoke, atomic radiation, 

fumes, gas, dust, odors, or any other atmospheric pollutant which will disseminate beyond the 

boundaries of the lot occupied by the use in a manner so to create a public nuisance, cause 

damage or inconvenience to other buildings or properties, or imperil the health of animals or 

humans. 

(c) Liquid or solid waste. All methods of sewage and industrial waste treatment and disposal shall 

meet all city, state, and federal requirements. 

(d) Vibration. There shall be no vibration which is discernable to the human sense of feeling beyond 

the immediate site on which the use is conducted. 

(e) Noise. The emission of measurable noises from the premises shall not exceed 70 decibels as 

measured at the property lines, between the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. The measurable 

noises shall not exceed 60 decibels as measured at the property lines between 7:00 p.m. and 

7:00 a.m. Where normal street traffic noises exceed the established noise levels during such 

periods, the measurable noise emanating from the premises may equal, but not exceed traffic 

noises. 

(f) Exterior lighting. 

i. Exterior lighting shall be arranged so it is deflected away from adjacent properties and so it 

does not impede the vision of traffic along adjacent streets. Lighting shall not exceed 0.5 

footcandles when measured from ground level at the adjoining property boundary.  

ii. Flashing or intermittent lights shall not be permitted.  

iii. Light poles and fixtures shall be no higher than 25 feet in parking lots, and no higher than 16 

feet in height along interior sidewalks and walkways. All light poles and fixtures shall have a 

downcast glow.  

iv. Light poles and fixtures set in the perimeter of parking areas shall not be placed in a parking 

space.  

(g) Glare. There shall be no direct or sky-reflected glare which would be damaging to the human eye 

at the property line of the lot occupied by the use. This regulation shall not apply to lights for site 

or street. 

388



 

(h)Appearance. No storage of waste from off-site outside a building, and no loose blowing papers 

shall be permitted at any time. A chain-link or decorative fence of sufficient density (1¼" x 1¼") to 

keep discarded debris within the confines of a site shall be provided for uses which are likely to 

have debris. 

(3) Screening of trash receptacles. All areas of trash storage, including dumpsters, shall be screened on 

all sides with a durable, opaque material, at a minimum height of one foot above the trash 

receptacle. The maximum height of the screening shall not exceed eight feet and shall not be located 

in front of the building or within the side yard setback. 

(4) Screening of residential uses. A solid fence of wood, vinyl, composite or metal screening six to eight 

feet in height, or a solid planting strip 15 feet in width and six feet in height at planting shall be 

placed when abutting a residential use to restrict view from the residential property. 

(5) Site plan review. Site plan review and approval must be obtained in accordance with the provisions 

of article XII.   

(6) Area and bulk requirements. See article V, schedule of regulations, limiting height and bulk of 

buildings, minimum size of lot by permitted land use, and providing minimum yard setback 

requirements. 

(7) Dwelling unit review.  All dwelling units, accessory structures, driveway, parking areas, and 

landscaping shall be reviewed by the building official subject to the following conditions as found in 

section 1.1124. 

(8) All lots to be used for business, industry and public uses requiring parking for employees, shoppers, 
visitors and users, shall have 15 percent of lot area set aside as open space. This space shall only be 
occupied by lawn or landscape features not obstructing areas for snow piling. 

1.0412. PDD-1 planned development district. 

(A) Intent.  The PDD-1 planned development district is established to create a district which provides for the 

appropriate development of units that incorporates both living and working space.  Ensures the exterior 

design is compatible with the exterior design elements of residential buildings in the area. 

(B) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in the PDD-1 district:  

(1) Child care facilities limited to foster family homes, foster family group homes, family day care homes, 

group day care home.  

(2) Essential services.  

(3) Home occupations as provided and controlled in subsection 1.1123 for existing housing. 

(4) Institutional or public uses. 

(5) Live/Work Units. 

(6) Personal Services 

(7) Professional Services 

(8) Accessory structures and uses customarily incidental to a permitted use, provided such buildings and 

uses are located on the same zoning lot with the permitted use.  

(C) Special land uses. The following special land uses are permitted in the PDD-1 district, under the 

conditions of article VI of this zoning ordinance.  

(1) Catering facility 

(2) Child care facilities limited to child care centers or day care centers.  

(3) Functional equivalent family. 

(4) Reasonable accommodation use. 

(D) Required conditions. The following conditions are required in the PDD-1 district:  

(1) Area and bulk requirements. See article V, schedule of regulations, limiting the height and bulk of 

buildings, the minimum size of lot by permitted land use, and providing minimum yard setback 

requirements.  

389



 

(2) Floor area. For purposes of this section, the floor area of all dwellings or dwelling units in a building 

shall average not less than 600 square feet per dwelling unit, exclusive of the floor area for hallways, 

stairs, laundries, utilities, or other commercial uses.  

(3) Dwelling unit review.  Dwelling unit review.  All dwelling units, accessory structures, driveway, parking 

areas, and landscaping shall be reviewed by the building official subject to the following conditions as 

found in section 1.1124. 

(4) Site plan review. Site plan review and approval must be obtained in accordance with the provisions of 

article XII of this zoning ordinance.  

(5) All lots to be used for business, industry and public uses requiring parking for employees, shoppers, 
visitors and users, shall have 15 percent of lot area set aside as open space. This space shall only be 
occupied by lawn or landscape features not obstructing areas for snow piling. 

 

1.0412.1. PDD-2 planned development district. 

(A) Intent. The PDD-2 planned development district is established to create a planned development district 

convenient and attractive for a wide range of retail uses, business, residential, government and 

professional offices, and places of amusement in a setting conducive to and safe for pedestrian traffic.  

(B) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in the PDD-2 district.  

(1) Apartments above stores.  

(2) Banks, credit unions, or similar uses.  

(3) Bed and breakfast operations.  

(4) Business schools.  

(5) Clinic, dental or medical.  

(6) Condominiums.  

(7) Essential services.  

(8) Fast food restaurant.  

(9) Full service eating and drinking establishment.  

(10) Home occupations as provided and controlled in subsection 1.1123 for existing housing. 

(11) Hotels and motels.  

(12) Institutional or public uses.  

(13) Mixed-use development—Greater than three stories.  

(14) Laundry and dry cleaning.  

(15) Multifamily residential uses as found in the R-4 district.  

(16) Outdoor sale areas provided that they do not restrict pedestrian travel paths to less than 60 inches 

wide.  

(17) Personal services.  

(18) Printing or publishing.  

(19) Private schools.  

(20) Professional service offices.  

(21) Recreational facility.  

(22) Sidewalk cafes provided that they do not restrict pedestrian travel paths to less than 60 inches wide.  

(23) Social clubs.  

(24) Stores for retail sales and retail services.  

(25) Studio.  

(26) Theaters.  

(27) Transportation services.  

(28) Uses similar to the above uses.  

390



 

(29) Accessory structures and uses customarily incident to the above permitted uses, provided such 

buildings and uses are located on the same zoning lot with a permitted use.  

(C) Special land uses. The following special land uses are permitted in the PDD-2 district under the conditions 

of article VI [of this zoning ordinance].  

(1) Child care facilities limited to child care centers or day care center.  

(2) Murals.  

(3) Outdoor video display boards greater than 100 inches measured diagonally and 400 square feet 

overall and mounted on an assembly that when combined with the video display board results in a 

structure no higher than 40 feet above grade.  

(D) Required conditions. The following conditions are required in the PDD-2 planned development district.  

(1) Area and bulk requirements. See article V, schedule of regulations, [of this zoning ordinance] limiting 

the height and bulk of buildings, the minimum size of lot by permitted land use, and providing 

minimum yard setback requirements.  

(2) Dwellings. Existing dwellings, transient rooming houses and apartments shall meet the provision of 

the R-4 apartment district and special land uses within the R-4 apartment district, as set out in 

section 1.0404.  

(3) Screening dumpsters. All areas of trash storage and disposal including dumpsters must be screened 

by a six-foot screen fence, but in no case less than six inches in height over the top of the trash or 

dumpster.  

(4) Site plan review. Site plan review and approval must be obtained in accordance with the provisions 

of article XII of this zoning ordinance.  

(5) Use parameters. All permitted uses shall be conducted within the confines of a building or within an 

enclosure which screens any outdoor storage of materials from the view of adjoining residential 

streets or residential properties. A chain-link or decorative fence of sufficient density (1¼ inch by 1¼ 

inch) to keep discarded debris within the confines of a site for uses which are likely to have debris 

shall be provided.  

(6) All lots to be used for business, industry and public uses requiring parking for employees, shoppers, 
visitors and users, shall have 15 percent of lot area set aside as open space. This space shall only be 
occupied by lawn or landscape features not obstructing areas for snow piling. 

 

 1.0412.2. PDD-3 planned development district 3. 

(A) Intent. The PDD-3 planned development district is established to create a planned development district 

that accommodates high density apartments in the central business district, provides for a wide range of 

compatible uses for non-apartment space, and is compatible with the look, feel, and pedestrian nature of the 

downtown area.  

(B) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in the PDD-3 district.  

(1) Banks credit unions, or similar uses.  

(2) Business schools.  

(3) Clinic, dental or medical.  

(4)  Essential services. 

(5) Fast food restaurant.  

(6) Full service eating and drinking establishment.  

(7) High density apartments.  

(8) Home occupations as provided and controlled in subsection 1.1123 for existing housing. 

(9) Hotels and motels.  

(10) Institutional or public uses.  

(11) Laundry and dry cleaning.  

391



 

(12) Personal services.  

(13) Printing or publishing.  

(14) Professional service offices.  

(15) Social clubs.  

(16) Stores for retail sales and retail services.  

(17) Studio.  

(18) Uses similar to the above uses.  

(19) Accessory structures and uses customarily incident to the above permitted uses, provided such 

buildings and uses are located on the same zoning lot with a permitted use.  

(C) Special land uses. The following special land uses are permitted in the PDD-3 district under the conditions 

of article VI of this zoning ordinance.  

(1) Child care facilities limited to child care centers or day care centers. 

(2) Murals.  

(3) Outdoor sale areas.  

(4) Sidewalk cafes.  

(5) Transportation services.  

(D) Required conditions. The following conditions are required in the PDD-3 district.  

(1) Design review. Design review as provided for in article XIII of this zoning ordinance.  

(2) Demolition of buildings. Before a demolition permit is issued for a building located in the PDD-3 

district, the community development department shall refer the request to the downtown 

development authority which will review the request, hold a public hearing, and make 

recommendations to the property owner for alternate potential uses of the property or to proceed 

with demolition. If the property owner does not withdraw the request for a demolition permit within 

30 days after it is submitted, the community development department shall proceed to analyze the 

request and issue appropriate permits based upon the building and zoning ordinance requirements.  

(3) Screening dumpsters. All areas of trash storage and disposal including dumpsters must be screened 

as provided under the B-C district provisions of section 1.1106.  

(4) Site plan review. Site plan review and approval must be obtained in accordance with the provisions 

of article XII of this zoning ordinance.  

(5) Area and bulk requirements. See article V of this zoning ordinance, schedule of regulations, limiting 

the height and bulk of buildings, the minimum size of lot by permitted land use, and providing 

minimum yard setback requirements.  

(6) Compatibility with adjacent properties. The following conditions shall apply to permitted and special 

land uses in the PDD-3 district when those uses are adjacent to residential uses or residentially 

zoned property:  

(a) Rear and sideline setbacks to buildings from residential property lines shall be 45 feet.  

(b) Off street parking areas shall be screened on all sides that abut a residential property or 

residential zoning district by a solid fence that is maintenance free, stained, sealed or painted six 

feet in height, or a solid planting strip 15 feet in width and six feet in height at planting.  

(c) All exterior lighting shall be directed along exterior building walls and away from residential 
property. 

(7) All lots to be used for business, industry and public uses requiring parking for employees, shoppers, 
visitors and users, shall have 15 percent of lot area set aside as open space. This space shall only be 
occupied by lawn or landscape features not obstructing areas for snow piling. 

 
 

392



ARTICLE V. SCHEDULE OF REGULATIONS 

1.0501. Table—Schedule of Regulations. 

This section delineates the height, bulk, density and area limits pertaining to the zoning districts defined in 
this ordinance.  

 Minimum Zoning Lot Size  
Per Unit (k)(l)  

Maximum 
Height  
of Structure  
(k)(l)  

Minimum Yard Setback  
(Per Lot In Feet)  
(k)(l)(n)(o)(p)  

Maximum percentage  

Of Lot Area Covered  
(By All Buildings)  

Zoning District  Area in  
Square 
Feet  

Width  
In 
Feet  

In  
Stories  

In 
Feet  

Front  Each  
Side  

Rear  

R-1 rural 
residential  

35,000(a)  165(a)  2  30  40(b)  20(n) 

(c)(b)  

30(b)  40  

R-2 
subdivision 
residential  

11,000(a)  85(a)  2  30  30(b)  11(n)  
(c)(b)  

30(b)  40  

R-3 residential  7,500  60  2  30  25(b)  5(n)  
(c)(b)  

30(b)  50  

R-4 apartment  1,500  
(e)  

(e)  3  40  25(b)  5(b)(n)  30(b)  65  

R-5 residential  6,000  50  2  30  25(b)  5(n)(c)(b)  30(b)  50  

B-OS business 
office service  

—  100 2  30  25(g)  15 (h)(j)  25(i)  40  

B-C central 
business  

—  50 3(s)  40(s)  0 (g) 0  0   

B-H business 
highway 1 and 
Business 
Highway 2 

—  100 2  30  60(g)  0  (h)(j)  25(i)   

B-N business 
neighborhood  

  60  2  30  0  
(t)(u) (g) 

0  0  —  

M-1 
manufacturing 
1 

—  100   50  (g)(m)  10 (j)  10  50  

M-2 
manufacturing 
2 

 100  50 (g)(m) 10 (j) 10 50 

393



 

 

 2 of 14  

 

PDD-1 planned 
development  
district 1 

Refer to R-3  

PDD-2 planned 
development 
district  

—  50  —  70  0  0(q)  0(q)  100  

PDD-3 planned 
development 
district  

—  50  4  45  0  0(r)  0(r)  80  

 

Note: All footnotes in parentheses ( ) apply as designated in columns above (see section 1.0502).  

1.0502. Schedule of regulations. 

This section delineates the height, bulk, density and area limits pertaining to the zoning districts defined in 
this zoning ordinance. The following are notes to section 1.0501, table—schedule of regulations:  

(a) See Section 1.0503, average lot size, and section 1.0504, subdivision open space plan, regarding 
flexibility allowances.  

(b) For all uses permitted other than single-family residential, the setback shall equal the height of the 
principal building or the setback required in this section, whichever is the greater.  

(c) The front yard abutting upon a side street shall not be less than one-half the required front yard 
setback where corner lots have a common rear yard. In case of a corner lot rear yard abutting a side 
yard of an adjacent interior lot, the  front yard abutting a side street shall not be less than the required 
front yard of the district.  

(d) Reserved. 

394



 

 

 3 of 14  

 

 

 

(e) In an R-4 apartment districts, the total number of rooms (not including kitchen, dining and sanitary 
facilities) shall not be more than the area of the parcel, in square feet, exclusive of public road right-of-
way, divided by 1,500. In all instances where wetlands exist on the site, such wetlands shall not be 
utilized for determining the number of rooms allowed on the site. All units shall have at least one living 
room and one bedroom, except that not more than ten percent of the units may be of an efficiency 
apartment type. For the purpose of computing the permitted number of dwelling units per acre, the 
following room assignments shall control:  

Efficiency = 1 room  

One bedroom = 2 rooms  

Two bedroom = 3 rooms  

Three bedroom = 4 rooms  

Four bedroom = 5 rooms  

Plans presented showing one-, two- or three-bedroom units and including a den, library or other extra 
room shall count such extra room as a bedroom for the purpose of computing density.  

(f) In R-4 districts, the minimum distance between any two buildings shall be regulated according to the 
length and height of such buildings, and in no instance shall this distance be less than 30 feet. Parking 
may be permitted within a required side or rear yard but shall not cover more than 30 percent of the 
area of any required side or rear yard or any minimum distance between buildings. Yards abutting 
major thoroughfares shall have a minimum depth of 50 feet. The formula regulating the required 
minimum distance between two buildings as follows:  

395



 

 

 4 of 14  

 

S  =  l A + L B 2(H A + H B )  
 

6  

 

where:  

 S  =  Required minimum horizontal distance between any wall of building A and any wall 
of building B or the vertical prolongation of either.  

L A  =  Total length of building A. The total length of building A is the length of a wall or 
walls of building A which, when viewed directly from above, lines drawn 
perpendicular to building A will intersect any wall of building B.  

L B  =  Total length of building B. The total length of building B is the length of that portion 
or portions of a wall or walls of building B from which, when viewed directly from 
above, the lines drawn perpendicular to building B will intersect any wall of 
building A.  

H A  =  Height of building A. The height of building A at any given level is the height above 
natural grade level of any portion or portions of a wall or walls along the length of 
building A. Natural grade level shall be the mean level of the ground immediately 
adjoining the portions or portions of the wall or walls along the total length of the 
building.  

H B  =  Height of building B. The height of building B at any given level is the height above 
natural grade level of any portion or portions of a wall or walls along the length of 
building B. Natural grade level shall be the mean level of the ground immediately 
adjoining the portion or portions of the wall or walls along the length of the 
building.  

 

 

396



 

 

 5 of 14  

 

 

(g) Off-street parking shall be permitted to occupy a portion of the required front yard provided that there 
is maintained a minimum obstructed landscaped setback of 10 feet between the nearest point of the 
off-street parking area, exclusive of access driveways, and the nearest right-of-way line or property 
line.  

(h) No side yards are required along the interior side lot lines of the district, except as otherwise specified 
in the building code, provided that if walls of structures facing such interior side lot lines contain 
windows or other openings, side yards of not less than 10 feet shall be provided.  

(i) Loading space shall be provided in the rear yard in the ratio of at least ten square feet per front foot of 
building and shall be computed separately from the off-street parking requirements, except in the 
instance of B-OS districts loading may take place in undesignated places in parking lots provided such 
loading is of a short-term nature. Where an alley exists or is provided at the rear of buildings, the rear 
building setback and loading requirements may be computed from the center of the alley. All loading 
and unloading areas shall be screened from public view.  

(j) Off-street parking shall be permitted in a required side yard setback.  

397



 

 

 6 of 14  

 

(k) Single-family detached condominiums in condominium subdivisions shall meet all minimum 
requirements and standards of the district in which such dwellings are to be constructed.  

(l) Minimum yards for site condominiums shall be provided in accord with this section and shall be 
computed as follows:  

(1) Minimum front yard setbacks shall be equal to the distance between the front yard area line and 
the condominium dwelling.  

(2) Minimum rear yard setbacks shall be equal to the distance between the rear yard area line and 
the condominium dwelling.  

(3) Minimum side yard setbacks shall be equal to the distance between the side yard area line and 
the condominium dwelling.  

(m) Front yard setback shall be 40 feet for local streets, 50 feet for collector (minor or major) streets and 
minor arterials, and 60 feet for principal arterials as determined by the current Michigan Department 
of Transportation NFC Map.  

(n) On lots with a width of less than 60 feet and recorded as less than 60 feet prior to the date of adoption 
of this section, the minimum width of each of the side yards shall be five feet, except side street yards 
shall be a minimum width of 15 feet.  

(o) The front yard shall be the address side of the lot or parcel for setbacks purposes.  

(p) See section 1.0710 for yard exceptions.  

(q)      Where the PDD-2 district is adjacent to a residential district the setbacks at the shared property lines 
shall be as stated in the Schedule for the corresponding residential zoning district. Where the PDD-2 
district is adjacent to a property utilized exclusively for residential purposes as of September 1, 2013, 
the setbacks at the shared property lines shall be as stated for zoning district R-3 residential.  

(r) Off-street parking shall be permitted to occupy a portion of the required front, side and rear yards 
provided that there is maintained a minimum obstructed landscaped setback of five feet between the 
nearest point of the off-street parking area, exclusive of access driveways, and the nearest right-of-way 
line.  

(s) Unless modified by an approved special land use.  

(t) If parking is located in the front yard, curb stops are required at a minimum distance of five feet from 
any lot line abutting a public sidewalk or city right-of-way where a public sidewalk may be constructed.  

(u) In determining the front yard setback of the building, the requirements shall be calculated by 
averaging the depth of existing developed front yards on lots within 100 feet of the lot and 
within the same block. The property owner/potential owner may request consideration from 
the planning commission for front yard setbacks based directly on adjoining property front 
yard setbacks. The request, review, and fees by the planning commission shall follow the 
requirements of section 1.0602 of this zoning ordinance. 

1.0503. Average lot size. 

The intent of this section is to permit the subdivider or developer to vary his lot sizes and lot widths so as to 
average the minimum size of lot per unit as required in the Schedule of Regulations, for R-1, R-2 and R-3 residential 
districts. If this option is selected, the following conditions shall be met:  

(A) In meeting the average minimum lot size, the subdivision or site condominium shall be so designed as 
not to create lots having an area or width more than ten percent below that area or width required in 
the schedule of regulations and shall not create an attendant increase in the number of lots. In 

398



 

 

 7 of 14  

 

determining the maximum number of lots permitted, all calculations shall be predicated upon the 
single-family districts having the following gross densities (including roads):  

(1) R-1: one dwelling unit per acre;  

(2) R-2: 3.2 dwelling units per acre;  

(3) R-3: 4.4 dwelling units per acre.  

(B) All computations showing lot area and the average, resulting through this technique shall be indicated 
on the print of the preliminary subdivision plat or proposed site condominium plan. The computations 
shall include the dimensions and area of each lot proposed, the total square foot lot area in all 
proposed lots, and the resultant average square foot area per lot. The average square foot area per lot 
shall not be less than the minimum lot size area as required for the district in which the development is 
located nor shall the average width of lots in the aggregate be less than the minimum lot width as 
required in the district in which the development is located.  

(C) The modifications permitted under this section 1.0503, average lot size, shall not be applied in 
conjunction with the modifications permitted under section 1.0504, subdivision and site condominium 
open space plan.  

1.0504. Subdivision and site condominium open space plan. 

(A) Intent. The intent of the subdivision open space plan is to promote the following objectives:  

(1) Provide for moderate-density development of residential areas and thereby assist an overall city 
effort to provide for efficiency of city services, a reduction of transportation needs, and to provide 
a more desirable living environment by preserving the natural character of open fields, stands of 
trees, brook, hills and similar natural assets;  

(2) Encourage property owners to use a more creative approach in the development of residential 
areas;  

(3) Encourage a more efficient, aesthetic and desirable use of open area while recognizing a reduction 
in development costs and allowing the property owner to bypass natural obstacles on the site;  

(4) Encourage the provision of open space within reasonable distance to all lot development of the 
subdivision and to further encourage the development of recreational facilities;  

(B) Modifications. Modifications to the standards as outlined in the schedule of regulations may be made 
in the R-2 one-family residential district when the following conditions are met:  

(1) The lot area in all R-2 one-family residential districts which is served by a public sanitary sewer 
system may be reduced in area up to 20 percent. This reduction may be accomplished in part by 
reducing lot widths up to 10 feet. Lot area reductions shall be permitted, provided that the 
dwelling unit density is not greater than if the land area to be subdivided were developed in the 
minimum square foot lot areas as required under section 1.0501, Schedule of regulations. Dwelling 
unit densities shall not utilize, storm water detention or retention basins nor more than 25 percent 
of any wetlands in computing the maximum number of dwelling units allowed.  

(2) Lot depth shall not be less than 120 feet, except when such lots border on land dedicated for park, 
recreation and/or open space purposes, and provided that the width of such dedicated land shall 
not be less than 100 feet measured at the point at which it abuts the rear yard of the adjacent lot, 
such lot depth may be reduced to 100 feet.  

(3) Under the provisions of subsection (B)(1) of this section, for each square foot of land gained within 
a residential subdivision or site condominium through the reduction of lot size below the minimum 
requirements as outlined in the schedule of regulations, at least equal amounts of land shall be 

399



 

 

 8 of 14  

 

dedicated to the common use of the lot owners in a manner approved by the municipality, or may, 
if approved by the municipality, be dedicated to the municipality.  

(4) The area to be dedicated for open space purposes shall in no instance be less than three acres and 
shall be in a location and shape approved by the planning commission.  

(5) Access shall be provided to areas dedicated for open space for those lots not bordering on such 
open space by means of streets or pedestrian access ways.  

(6) Lands set aside to meet minimum requirement of this section may include, but not exceed, 25 
percent of any wetland. In those instances where such lands are utilized to meet minimum 
requirements, such lands shall be shown to be able to support uses suitable for residents of the 
development for recreational purposes or other lands on the site shall be developed for the 
common use of residents.  

(7) This open space plan shall be permitted only if it is mutually agreeable to the legislative body and 
the subdivider or developer.  

(8) This plan, for reduced lot sizes, shall be started within one year after having received approval of 
the final plat or final site condominium plan and must be completed in a reasonable time. Failure to 
start within this period shall void all previous approval.  

(9) Under this open space plan, the developer or subdivider shall dedicate the total park area at the 
time of filing of the final plat or final site condominium plan on all or any portion of the plat or plan.  

(10) Under this plan, provisions satisfactory to the city commission shall be made to provide for 
financing any improvements shown on the plan for the open space areas, and common 
use areas which are to be included within the development and that maintenance of such 
improvements is assured by means satisfactory to the city commission. (11) The standards 

as set forth in the Schedule of Regulations shall be modified at the option of the land-owner, to 
allow the number of dwelling units that would be permitted in R-1 one-family residential districts 
on a total development parcel, to be located on eighty (80) percent of the land area (including 
street right-of-way) being developed, provided that, the twenty (20) percent of the land area 
remains in an undeveloped state in perpetuity, by means of a conservation easement, plat 
dedication, restrictive covenant or other legal means that runs with the land. Such modification 
shall be subject to the following conditions.  

(a) Lands set aside to meet minimum requirement of this section may include, but not exceed, 
twenty-five (25) percent of any wetland. In those instances where such lands are utilized to 
meet minimum requirements, such lands shall be shown to be able to support uses suitable for 
residents of the development for recreational purposes or other land on the site shall be 
developed for the common use of residents.  

(b) The area to be dedicated for open space purposes shall be in a location and shape approve by 
the Planning Commission.  

(c) Access shall be provided to areas dedicated for open space for those lots not bordering on 
such open space by means of streets or pedestrian access ways.  

(d) Under this open space plan, the developer or subdivider shall dedicate the total park area at 
the time of filing of the final plat or final site condominium plan on all or any portion of the plat 
or plan.  

(e) Under this plan, provisions satisfactory to the City Commission shall be made to provide for 
financing any improvements shown on the plan for the open space areas, and common use 
areas which are to be included within the development and the maintenance of such 
improvements is assured by means satisfactory to the City Commission.  

400



 

 

 9 of 14  

 

1.0505. One-family cluster option. 

(A) Intent. 

(1) The intent of this section is to permit the development of one-family residential patterns which, 
through design innovation, will provide for an alternative means for development of single-family 
areas. To accomplish this, modifications to the one-family residential standards, as outlined in this 
schedule of regulations (section 1.0502) may be permitted in the R-1, R-2 and R-3 districts.  

(2) In R-1, R-2 and R-3 one-family residential districts, the requirements of the schedule of regulations 
may be waived and the attaching of one-family dwelling units may be permitted subject to the 
standards of this section.  

(B) Conditions and qualifications. 

(1) The planning commission may approve the clustering or attaching of buildings on parcels of land 
under single ownership and control which, in the option of the planning commission, have 
characteristics that would make sound physical development under the normal subdivision 
approach impractical because of parcel size, shape or dimension or because it is located in a 
transitional use area or the site has natural characteristics which are worth preserving or which 
make platting difficult. In approving an area for cluster development, the planning commission 
shall find at least one of the following conditions to exist:  

(a) The parcel contains floodplain or wetland soil conditions that result in a substantial portion 
of the total area of the parcel being unbuildable. In no instance shall soil condition constitute 
less than 20 percent of the parcel.  

(b) The parcel contains natural assets that would be preserved through the use of cluster 
development. Such assets may include natural stands of large trees, land that serves as a 
natural habitat for wildlife, unique topographic features or other natural assets that should 
be preserved.  

(c) The parcel to be developed has frontage on a secondary or primary artery and is generally 
parallel to the thoroughfare and is of shallow depth as measured from the thoroughfare.  

(d) The parcel has frontage on a primary artery and is narrow in width, as measured along the 
thoroughfare, which makes platting difficult, provided that the depth of the parcel is not 
greater than three times the width. The planning commission may vary this ratio if this 
would be in the best interests of the city.  

(e) The parcel is shaped in such a way that the angles formed by its boundaries make a 
subdivision difficult to achieve and the parcel has frontage on a secondary or primary artery.  

(f) The parcel has vehicular access to a secondary or primary artery and a substantial portion of 
the parcel's perimeter is border by land that is located in an R-4, R-5, B-OS or P district.  

(g) A substantial portion of the parcel's perimeter is bordered by land that is located in a B-OS, 
B-H or M district and the parcel has vehicular access to a secondary or primary artery.  

(2) In order to qualify a parcel for development under subsections (B)(1)a. or (B)(1)b. of this section, 
the planning commission shall determine that the parcel has these characteristics and the request 
shall be supported by written and /or graphic documentation, prepared by a landscape architect, 
engineer, professional community planner, architect or environmental design professional. Such 
documentation shall include the following as appropriate: soil test borings, floodplain map, 
topographic map of maximum two-foot contour level, inventory of natural assets', including plant 
material.  

(3) This option shall not apply to those parcels of land which have been split for the apparent purpose 
of coming within the requirements of this cluster options section. The zoning map effective at the 

401



 

 

 10 of 14  

 

date of adoption of the [zoning] ordinance shall be utilized to determine property lines where a 
question arises regarding a parcel split.  

(C) Permitted densities. 

(1) Dwelling unit densities shall not utilize stormwater detention basins nor more than 25 percent of 
any wetland in computing the maximum permitted densities. The maximum permitted densities 
including streets are as follows:  

(a) For those areas qualifying under subsections (B)(1)d.:  

R-1 district  1 dwelling unit/acre  

R-2 district  3.2 dwelling unit/acre  

R-3 district  4.4 dwelling unit/acre  

 

[For those areas qualifying under subsections] (B)(1)a. or b.:  

 R-1 district  1.5 dwelling unit/acre  

R-2 district  3.7 dwelling unit/acre  

R-3 district  4.4 dwelling unit/acre  

 

[For those areas qualifying under subsections] (B)(1)c., e. or f.:  

 R-1 district  2 dwelling unit/acre  

R-2 district  4.2 dwelling unit/acre  

R-3 district  5.1 dwelling unit/acre  

 

[For those areas qualifying under subsections] (B)(1)g.:  

 R-1 district  2.5 dwelling unit/acre  

R-2 district  4.7 dwelling unit/acre  

R-3 district  5.6 dwelling unit/acre  

 

(b) Water areas within the parcel may be included in the computation of density provided that land 
adjacent to the water is substantially developed as open space.  

(c) In those instances where a parcel qualifies under subsections (B)(1)a. or (B)(1)b. as well as under 
one or more of the remaining subsections (B)(1) through (g), the higher densities may be 
permitted provided that the planning commission finds that such density is reasonable and does 
not result in the destruction or removal of the natural assets enumerated under subsections 
(B)(1)a. and b.  

(D) Development standards and requirements. 

402



 

 

 11 of 14  

 

(1) In areas meeting the criteria of subsection (B)(1) of this section, the minimum yard setback and 
minimum lot sizes per unit as required by section 1.0502, schedule of regulations, may be waived 
and the attaching of dwelling units may be accomplished subject to the following:  

(a) The attaching of one-family dwelling units, one to another, may be permitted when the 
homes are attached by means of one of the following:  

i. Through a common party wall forming interior room space which does not have over 75 
percent of its length in common with an abutting dwelling wall, excluding garage;  

ii. By means of an architectural wall detail that does not form interior room space;  

iii. Through abutting garage party walls of adjacent structures;  

iv. No other common party wall relationship is permitted and the number of units attached in 
this manner shall not exceed four.  

(2)     Yard requirements shall be provided as follows:  

(a) Spacing between groups of attached buildings or between each group of four unattached 
buildings shall be equal to at least 35 feet in an R-1 district, 30 feet in an R-2 district, 24 feet in 
an R-3 district, measured between the nearest points of adjacent buildings. The minimum 
distance between any single detached unit and any adjacent building shall be 15 feet.  

(b) Off-street parking lots (more than two spaces) shall have setbacks of not less than 50 feet 
from any public street or from any abutting one-family residential district.  

(c) Building setbacks from streets shall be equal to the front yard setback of the district.  

(d) Buildings shall not be closer than 25 feet to the pavement edge of interior private drives.  

(3) The area in open space (including recreation areas and water) accomplished through the use of 
one-family clusters shall represent at least 20 percent of the horizontal area of a one-family 
cluster development that qualifies under subsections (B)(1)a. through (B)(1)f. of this section and 
15 percent in those qualifying under subsections (B)(1)g. [of this section]. The provision of walks, 
trails and recreation facilities is required within the open space areas.  

(4) In order to provide an orderly transition of density, where the parcel proposed for use as a cluster, 
development abuts a one-family residential district, the planning commission shall determine that 
the abutting one-family district is effectively buffered by means of one of the following within the 
cluster development:  

(a) Single-family lots subject to the standards of section 1.0502, schedule of regulations.  

(b) Detached one-family buildings with setbacks as required by the schedule of regulations for 
the applicable residential district.  

(c) Open or recreation space not less than 100 feet deep.  

(d) Significant changes in topography which provide an effective buffer and a building setback of 
not less than 75 feet.  

(e) A secondary or primary artery.  

(f) A similar means of providing a transition.  

(g) The transition area shall be free of any building, parking spaces or drives unless the planning 
commission finds that very unusual circumstances require such placement.  

(E) Procedures. 

403



 

 

 12 of 14  

 

(1) In making application for approval under this section, the applicant shall file a sworn statement 
indicating the date of acquisition of the parcel by the present owner and that the provisions of 
subsection (B)(3) of this section are complied with.  

(2) Qualification for cluster development.  

(a) Application to the planning commission for qualification of a parcel for cluster development 
shall include documentation substantiating one or more of the characteristics outlined in 
subsection (B) of this section, conditions for qualification.  

(b) The planning commission may make a preliminary determination as to whether or not a 
parcel qualifies for the cluster option under one of the provisions of subsection (13)(1) of this 
section based upon the documentation submitted. Such review is not a requirement but may 
be requested by the sponsor.  

(c) A preliminary determination by the planning commission that a parcel qualifies for cluster 
development does not ensure approval. It does, however, give an initial indication as to 
whether or not a petitioner should proceed to prepare a site plan.  

(3) Preliminary site plan and cluster approval.  

(a) A preliminary site plan shall be submitted to the planning commission and city commission for 
review in two stages:  

i. An initial review of the plan concept but including the information called for in subsection 
(E)(3)b. of this section,  

ii. Review of the plan at a public hearing, including information called for in subsection 
(E)(3)c. of this section.  

(b) In submitting a proposed layout under this section, the applicant of the development shall 
include, along with the site plan, typical building elevations and floorplans, topography drawn 
at two-foot contour intervals, all computations relative to . acreage and density, a preliminary 
grading plan, and any other details that will assist in reviewing the proposed plan.  

(c) Site plans submitted under this option shall be accompanied by information as required in the 
subdivision regulations of the city provided, however, that:  

i. Submission of an open space plan and project cost estimates for the initial review of the 
preliminary site plan shall be submitted at the option of the applicant.  

ii. The open space plan and cost estimate shall be submitted for review at the public hearing.  

(d) The planning commission shall give notice of the public hearing in accordance with provisions 
of section 1.1405(G) of this [zoning] ordinance.  

(e) If the planning commission is satisfied that the proposal meets the letter and spirit of the city 
zoning ordinance and should be approved, it shall set forth any conditions upon which such 
approval is based. If the planning commission is not satisfied that the proposal meets the 
letter and spirit of this title, or finds that approval of the proposal would be detrimental to 
existing development in the general area and should not be approved, it shall record the 
reasons therefor in the minutes of the planning commission meeting. Notice of 
recommendation of approval or disapproval of the proposal together with copies of all 
layouts and other relevant information shall be forwarded to the city clerk.  

(f) The city commission shall review the action of the planning commission together with 
relevant material submitted by the applicant. The city commission shall take action to 
approve or disapprove the preliminary plan or may refer such plan back to the planning 
commission with direction for further review.  

(4) Final site plan. 

404



 

 

 13 of 14  

 

(a) After approval of a preliminary plan and cluster option, final site plan shall be submitted in 
accordance with the requirements of article XII [of this zoning ordinance].  

(b) If the final site plan is recommended for approval, such plan shall be submitted to the city 
attorney for the preparation of agreements setting forth the conditions upon which the 
approval is based. Such agreement shall be finalized and approved by the city commission 
prior to the issuance of any building permits.  

(c) As a condition for the approval of the final site plan and open space plan, the applicant shall 
deposit cash, irrevocable letters of credit, or other equivalent forms of security as approved 
by the city commission, after review by the city attorney, in the amount of the estimated cost 
of the proposed improvements to the open land guaranteeing the completion of such 
improvements within a time to be set by the planning commission. Actual development of the 
open space shall be carried out concurrently with the construction of dwelling units. The city 
may require landscape improvement for the entire site frontage where such site abuts public 
streets as an initial site improvement even through such frontage is not part of any early 
stage of project development.  

405



 

 

 14 of 14  

 

 

 

Open Space Subdivision and Cluster Example  
 

 

406



 1 of 30  

 

ARTICLE VI. SPECIAL LAND USES AND STRUCTURES 

1.0601. Purpose. 

The development and execution of this section is based upon the division of the city into districts within 
which the uses of land and buildings and the bulk and location of buildings and structures in relation to the land 
are substantially uniform. It is recognized, however, that there are special uses which, because of their unique 
characteristics, cannot be properly classified in any particular district or districts without consideration, in each 
case, of the impact of those uses upon neighborhood land. These uses include uses publicly operated or 
traditionally affected with a public interest and uses entirely private in character, but of such an unusual nature 
that their operation may give rise to unique problems with respect to their impact upon neighboring property or 
public facilities.  

1.0602. General provisions. 

(A) Initiation of special land use. Any person having a freehold interest in land, a possessory interest entitled 
to exclusive possession, or a contractual interest which may become a freehold interest, and which is 
specifically enforceable, may file an application to use the land for one or more of the special uses 
provided for in this section in the zoning district in which the land is located.  

(B) Application of special land use. An application for special land use shall be filed with the community 
development department on an application form prescribed by the community development 
department. The application shall be accompanied by any plans or data prescribed by the community 
development department and shall include as a minimum the requirements for site plan review as noted 
in article XII [of this zoning ordinance]. The application shall also include a statement in writing by the 
applicant and adequate evidence showing that the proposed special land use will conform to the 
standards set forth in this section. The application shall also be accompanied with a fee to cover the 
expense of public hearing. The fee to be determined by resolution of the city commission shall be based 
upon the cost of processing the review. The resolution shall be on file with the city clerk for public 
information.  

(C) Public hearing. Upon receipt of an application for a special land use which requires a decision on 
discretionary grounds, a public hearing shall be held. One notice that a request for special land use 
approval has been received shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the city and shall 
be sent by mail or personal delivery to the owners of property for which approval is being considered, to 
all persons to whom real property is assessed within 300 feet of the boundary of the property in 
question, and to the occupants of all structures within 300 feet. The notice shall be given not less than 
five and not more than 15 days before the application will be considered. If the name of the occupant is 
not known, the term "occupant" may be used in making notification. Notification need not be given to 
more than one occupant of a structure, except that if a structure contains more than one dwelling unit 
or spatial area owned or leased by different individuals, partnerships, businesses, or organizations, one 
occupant of each unit or spatial area shall receive notice. In the case of a single structure containing 
more than four dwelling units or other distinct spatial areas owned or leased by different individuals, 
partnerships, businesses, or organizations, notice may be given to the manager or owner of the structure 
who shall be requested to post the notice at the primary entrance to the structure. The notice shall 
contain the following information:  

(1) Description of the nature of the special land use request.  

(2) Indication of the property which is the subject of the special land use request.  

(3) Statement of when and where the special land use hearing will be considered.  

(4) Indication of when and where written comments will be received concerning the request.  

407



 

 2 of 30  

 

(D) Standards. No special land use shall be recommended by the community development department or 
approved by the planning commission unless it shall find the following:  

(1) The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the special land use will not be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, or general welfare, or the natural environment.  

(2) The special land use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor shall it substantially diminish and impair 
property values within its neighborhood.  

(3) The establishment of the special land use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  

(4) Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and necessary facilities have been or are being provided.  

(5) Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress or egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  

(6) The special land use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district 
in which it is located and to any additional conditions or procedures as specified in article VI of this 
zoning ordinance.  

(E) Conditions and guarantees. Prior to the granting of any special land use, the planning commission shall 
stipulate the conditions and restrictions upon the establishment, location, construction, maintenance, 
and operations of the special land use as deemed necessary for the protection of the public interest and 
to secure compliance with the standards and requirements specified in this section. In all cases in which 
special land uses are granted, the planning commission shall require any evidence and guarantees as it 
may deem necessary as proof that the conditions stipulated in connection therewith are being and will 
be complied with. Any conditions imposed shall remain unchanged except upon the mutual consent of 
the planning commission and the landowner. The planning commission shall maintain a record of 
changes granted in the conditions.  

(F) Effect of denial of a special land use. No application for a special land use which has been denied wholly 
or in part by the planning commission shall be resubmitted for a period of one year from the date of the 
order of denial, except on the grounds of new evidence or proof of change of conditions found to be 
valid by the community development department and the planning commission.  

(G) Revocation. In any case where a special land use has not been established within one year after the 
date of granting authorization for the use, the special land use authorization shall automatically be null 
and void without further action by the planning commission.  

(H) Review or Revoke special land use.  

(1) The zoning administrator can initiate a review of a special land use by the Planning Commission 
that has been approved, if the conditions of the approval are not being met. 

(2) A special land use can be revoked by the Planning Commission, under the same procedure as the 
section used to approve it, if it is found that it no longer meets the standards of this zoning 
ordinance.  

 
 

408



 

 3 of 30  

 

1.0603. Special land use designated. 

The following are those uses identified as special land uses and the provisions or conditions that must be met 
so as to be approved in whole or conditionally.  

(A) Home occupations. Home occupations not specifically permitted may be permitted in all residential 
districts as a special land use under the following procedures and conditions and subject further to all 
conditions specified in section 1.0401(9).  

(1) The exterior appearance of the structure shall not be altered or the occupations within the 
residence be conducted in a manner which would cause the premises to differ from its residential 
character either by the use of colors, materials, construction, lighting, sips, or the emission of 
sounds, noises or vibrations.  

(2) No more than one person other than members of the immediate family occupying the dwelling 
shall be employed.  

(3) The occupations shall occupy no more than 25 percent of the floor area of the dwelling, or 50 
percent of a detached garage.  

(4) There shall be no outside storage of any kind related to any home occupation.  

(5) The use may not increase vehicular traffic flow and parking by more than one additional vehicle at 
a time, unless off-street parking as set forth in the off-street parking regulations in article IX of this 
zoning ordinance is provided.  

(6) Mechanical or electric equipment employed by the home occupations shall be comparable to the 
machinery or equipment customarily found in the home associated with a hobby or avocation.  

(7) Only one nameplate shall be allowed, in accordance with the sign regulations at 144 square 
inches. It may display the name of the home occupations, for example, John Doe, Realtor, and 
must be attached to the principal building.  

(8) No use shall create noise, dust, vibration, smell, smoke, glare, electrical interference, fire hazard, 
or nuisance to any greater or more frequent extent than that usually experienced in an average 
residential occupancy in the district in question under normal circumstances wherein no home 
occupation exists.  

(B) Two-family dwelling. Two-family dwelling may be permitted as a special use under the following 
provisions and conditions.  

(1) A lot area of not less than 10,000 square feet for each two-family dwelling shall be provided.  

(2) A lot width of not less than 100 feet for each two-family dwelling shall be provided.  

(3) Building setbacks and height requirements shall comply with the requirements for single-family 
dwellings as required for the R-3 district.  

(4) All driveways and parking shall be solid surface with either three inches asphalt or four inches 
concrete. Each dwelling unit shall have two dedicated parking spaces and shall further comply 
with article IX of this zoning ordinance as applicable.  

(5) Buildings shall be of substantially similar appearance as other residential buildings on adjacent 
properties and in the neighborhood or an adaptive reuse of a non-residential building.  

(C) Low-density apartments. Low-density apartments may be permitted as a special land use under the 
following provisions and conditions.  

(1) The density (lot area per dwelling unit) of the zone shall be complied with.  

(2) All apartment regulations and requirements of this [zoning] ordinance shall be complied with.  

409



 

 4 of 30  

 

(3) All yard requirements of the zone district shall be increased 50 percent.  

(4) All dwelling units shall be supplied with public sewer and water.  

(5) No building shall exceed 120 feet in length, width, or depth and all buildings shall be of 
substantially similar appearance as other residential uses in the neighborhood.  

(D) High-density apartments. High-density apartments may be permitted according to the following 
provisions and conditions.  

(1) The site requirements shall include 15 percent open space of the site to be landscaped.  

(2) All yard provisions of the district shall be complied with.  

(3) No minimum lot area per dwelling unit is required, provided that off-street parking requirements 
shall be complied with upon the same lot.  

(4) All buildings shall comply with the fire prevention code of the city.  

(E) Mobile home parks. 

 (1) All mobile home park development shall further comply with Public Act No. 96 of 1987 (MCL 
125.2301 et seq.). Public Act No. 96 of 1987 (MCL 125.2301 et seq.) shall supersede any 
requirements of this [zoning] ordinance where this [zoning] ordinance may provide more 
restrictive standards.  

(2) Access to any mobile home park shall be to other than a single-family residential street. The 
intent being to avoid higher-density traffic movements through existing or planned single-family 
developments. An emergency means of ingress and egress to a mobile home park, not used for 
general access, may be permitted to other than a major thoroughfare.  

(3) Mobile home parks shall not be permitted on parcels of less than 20 acres in area.  

(4) Mobile home parks shall provide land for open space use by residents of the park. These areas 
shall be so located and arranged that they functionally serve the residents to be served and meet 
or exceed mobile home commission rules, as adopted.  

(5) The outside storage of household effects, other than normal patio furniture, etc., is prohibited. 
The storage of recreational vehicles, e.g., boats, campers, trailers, motor homes, snowmobiles on 
mobile home sites and/or required, parking spaced for longer than 48 hours is prohibited.  

(6) The mobile home park developer is encouraged to provide trees and other landscape 
improvements on the individual mobile home sites and in the open space areas which will create 
an aesthetically pleasing and functional environment.  

(7) The proposed site plan for the mobile home park shall be submitted to the planning commission 
for their review and approval prior to any consideration. The suggestion of any changes or 
modifications shall be based on such reasonable requirements as are applied to the review and 
approval of all other uses in the city. Any items determined to be undesirable or inadequate shall 
be made known to the applicant and a copy of such objections shall immediately be forwarded to 
the state mobile home commission for their consideration in reviewing the proposed mobile 
home park plans.  

(F) Mobile home subdivisions. 

 (1) The requirements for mobile home subdivisions, in addition to the requirements contained in the 
Land Division Act (MCL 560.101) are:  

(a) Minimum lot size: single-wide area, 5,000 square feet; width, 50 feet; doublewide area, 
7,200 square feet; width, 60 feet.  

(b) Maximum building height: 25 feet.  

410



 

 5 of 30  

 

(c) Minimum yard setback: front, 25 feet; side, ten feet; rear, 25 feet.  

(d) Maximum lot coverage by all buildings: 30 percent.  

(e) In a mobile home subdivision, a corner lot which abuts upon a street on the same side of 
which other residential lots front in the same block, any building shall have a minimum side 
setback equal to the front setback of the district in which it is located.  

(G) Mixed-use development. 

 (1) No dwelling unit shall occupy any portion of the building at ground level or below ground level. 
Businesses may occupy any number of total floors.  

(2) Such dwellings shall meet all applicable codes and ordinance of the city, county, or state.  

(3) In the B-C district, if a proposed development meets the residential goals and objectives of the 
city's master plan, the planning commission shall have discretion in allowing an increase in the 
maximum height, not to exceed five stories.  

(4) Floorplans and elevations drawn to scale of all floors to be utilized for dwelling purposes shall be 
submitted to the building and zoning department.  

(5) In those instances where residential uses are proposed to occupy the same floor as a business 
use the planning commission shall review such mixed use and may approve such mixed use based 
on findings that compatibility of the business with residential occupancy will occur. Such findings 
may include but are not limited to:  

(a) Compatible hours of operation.  

(b) Noise of operation or occupancy that would be detrimental to the business operation or 
vice-versa.  

(c) Excessive foot traffic.  

(d) Structural control measures implemented by the development, including but not 
separation distance between uses, sound proofing, odor control, etc.  

(6) Off-street parking shall be provided in accord with article IX of this zoning ordinance and shall be 
provided in designated off-street parking areas within 1,000 feet of the dwelling unit they are to 
serve.  

(H) Conversion of a dwelling unit for up to four units. Conversion may be permitted provided the following 
conditions are maintained:  

(1) The existing floor area of the building shall not be increased by more than 10 percent.  

(2) Outside storage shall be limited by the restrictions set forth in section 1.1115.  

(3) Two paved parking spaces for each dwelling unit shall be provided.  

(4) All exposed mechanical and electrical equipment which services the dwelling shall be screened 
from view and free from casual entry by nonresidents.  

(5) A minimum lot area of 2,000 square feet for each dwelling unit shall be maintained.  

(6) The minimum floor area for each dwelling unit shall be 600 square feet.  

(7) All refuse containers shall be stored in an area located on a paved surface and shall be screened 
with solid fencing on all unenclosed sides all of which shall approximate the size of the 
containers.  

(I) Rooming, boarding, and motel accommodations. Rooming houses, boarding houses, and motels for 
transient guests may be permitted on any lot in any R-4 Apartment district facing upon a marked state 
or federal highway, provided that the total lot coverage shall not exceed 75 percent.  

411



 

 6 of 30  

 

(J) Bed and breakfast operation. [Bed and breakfast operation] may be permitted subject to the following 
provisions and conditions:  

(1) Such dwelling shall meet all applicable codes and ordinances of the city, county, and state.  

(2) Floorplans drawn to scale of all floors to be utilized for bed and breakfast activities shall be 
submitted.  

(3) Dwellings shall be suitable in character for the use proposed and shall not cause a change in 
character of the neighborhood.  

(4) The dwelling shall be the permanent residence of the bed and breakfast operator.  

(5) Each leasable sleeping room shall have a separate operating smoke detector alarm.  

(6) Lavatory and bathing facilities shall be available to all persons using any leasable sleeping room.  

(7) There shall not be separate cooking facilities provided for the bed and breakfast occupants.  

(8) A guest registry indicating name, address, phone number and vehicle license number shall be 
available to the city for inspection upon request.  

(9) A unlighted sign not exceeding six square feet in area per sign face may be provided. Such sign 
may be provided as a ground sign or wall sign.  

(10) Off-street parking shall be provided based upon the following: one space for each rental room, 
one space for the owner/operator of the facility, and one space for each employee. It is the city's 
intent to not encourage yards to be destroyed, landscaping removed, or the integrity of the 
neighborhood altered in order to provide parking. In those instances where parking requirements 
cannot be met, the applicant may request special consideration from the planning commission. 
In such a case the applicant shall submit an analysis of parking required and parking provided 
within a 300-foot radius of the subject parcel. After analyzing this data, the planning commission 
may lower the number of required parking spaces based on the fact that sufficient off-street 
parking exists in the neighborhood.  

(11) Such bed and breakfast dwelling shall not be located within 300 feet as measured from the 
nearest property lines, of another such facility.  

(12) The operations of the dwelling unit shall not be permitted to endanger, offend, or other-wise 
interfere with the safety or rights of others so as to constitute a public nuisance.  

(K) Functional equivalent family—Additional persons. The limit upon the number of persons who may 
reside as functional equivalent of the domestic family may be increased or enlarged upon a 
demonstration by the applicant of all of the following:  

(1) There are adequate provisions on the subject property for off-street parking for each adult 
proposed to reside on the premises, and adequate storage for each person proposed to reside on 
premises;  

(2) The extent of increase or enlargement of the limit upon the number of persons shall not, when 
considered cumulatively with existing and reasonably projected population concentration in the 
area, place an unreasonable burden upon public services, facilities and/or schools;  

(3) There shall be a minimum of 125 square feet of usable floor space per person on the premises;  

(4) If the planning commission grants an application under this provision, the determination shall 
include the specific maximum number of persons authorized to reside on the property, and any 
minimum parking or storage requirements to be maintained.  

(L) Reasonable accommodation use. This section is intended to authorize the grant of relief from the strict 
terms of the zoning ordinance in order to provide equal housing opportunities particularly suited to the 
needs of persons entitled to reasonable accommodation under law and to encourage innovation in 

412



 

 7 of 30  

 

land use and variety in design and layout. In the event state or federal law, e.g., The Federal Fair 
Housing Amendments Act of 1988, requires the city to make "reasonable accommodation" for a 
particular proposed user of property, the following shall apply:  

(1) As a condition to approval of a special accommodation use, the applicant must comply with all of 
the terms of this section, and must demonstrate all of the following:  

(a) The ultimate residential user or users of the property shall be persons for whom state or 
federal law mandates the city to make reasonable accommodations in connection with 
proposed uses of land.  

(b) Taking into consideration the needs, facts, and circumstances which exist throughout the 
community, and within the population to be served by the use, including financial and 
other conditions, making the proposed reasonable accommodation shall be necessary to 
afford such persons equal opportunity to the proposed use and enjoyment within the 
community.  

(c) Approval of the proposed housing shall not require or will likely result in a fundamental 
alteration in the nature of the land use district and neighborhood in which the property is 
situated, considering cumulative impact of one or more other uses and activities in, or 
likely to be in the area, and shall not impose undue financial and administrative burden. 
The interests of the community shall be balanced against the need for accommodation on a 
case-by-case basis.  

(d) No other specific ordinance provision exists and is available to provide the relief sought.  

(2) The application for a special accommodation use shall include the following:  

(a) A plan drawn to scale showing the proposed use and development.  

(b) A separate document providing a summary of the basis on which the applicant asserts 
entitlement to approval of a special accommodation use, covering each of the 
requirements of paragraphs (L)(1)(a) through (L)(1)(d) above.  

(c) The information required for site plan review, provided, upon a showing by the applicant 
that the inclusion of specified information generally required for site plan review would be 
irrelevant, the city may waive the requirement to include such material in the application.  

(d) All regulations and standards for buildings, structures and site improvements within the 
district in which the property is situated shall apply.  

(M) Child care or day care center. 

 (1) A child care or day care center may be permitted as the principal use of a property or may be 
permitted as an accessory use to an approved use, such as a church, school, office or other place 
of employment upon review and approval as a special use.  

(2) A valid registration or license as required by the state shall continually be on file with the city.  

(3) The facility shall be brought into compliance with all building codes.  

(4) One parking space per care giver and/or employee plus drop off space off the street right-of-way 
for delivery and pick-up of children shall be provided.  

(5) The site shall comply with the sign provisions of article X of this zoning ordinance.  

(6) The building shall have an appearance which is non-intrusive and consistent in color materials, 
roofline and architecture with the district in which it is located, as determined by the planning 
commission.  

(7) The lot shall be at least 800 feet from another child care center or day care center.  

413



 

 8 of 30  

 

(N) Farming or horticulture. Farming or horticulture may be permitted subject to the provisions of this 
zoning ordinance and the following conditions:  

(1) Field crop farming and horticulture shall be done on parcels of five acres or more.  

(2) The raising of livestock shall be a minor part of a farming operation.  

(O) Riding or boarding stables. Riding or boarding stables may be permitted subject to the provisions of 
this zoning ordinance and the following conditions.  

(1) A land parcel of not less than ten acres shall be provided.  

(2) Stables shall be located no nearer than 100 feet to any dwelling on an abutting property.  

(3) Shelter shall be available for all horses boarded.  

(4) Animal refuse shall be disposed of at regular intervals and shall be kept in such a manner as to 
minimize odor and insect nuisance to neighboring properties.  

(P) Animal hospitals. Animal hospitals may be permitted subject to the provisions of this zoning ordinance 
and the following conditions:  

(1) A land parcel of not less than five acres shall be provided.  

(2) All on site animal treatment and all kennels shall be within enclosed buildings.  

(3) No outdoor animal runs shall be permitted.  

(Q) Mortuary and office buildings. Mortuary establishments and their customary accessory buildings; 
offices for realty, professional, insurance, or similar occupations customarily carried on in an office; 
beauty salons; and barber shops are permitted as a special land use on any lot located upon a major 
street as designated on the master plan of the city if located in an R-4 apartment district within 700 
feet of the B-C central business district. However, the use shall not involve the sale or repair of 
products or equipment upon the premises.  

(R) Sidewalk cafes. Sidewalk cafes occupying public sidewalks or a public space may be permitted subject 
to the following:  

(1) A site drawing showing the detailed plan of the outdoor cafe must be submitted to and approved 
by the planning commission.  

(2) Plans for setting up the sidewalk cafe must be approved by the city engineer to provide for the 
free passage of pedestrians along the sidewalks and by the police department to provide for 
traffic and pedestrian safety.  

(3) The sidewalk cafe must be part of a licensed restaurant and meet all the requirement of the 
department of health.  

(4) Liability insurance and property damage coverage naming the City of Sturgis as an insured party, 
in an amount approved by the city, must be provided before an outdoor cafe may be set up on 
any public space.  

(5) Approval of the city commission is required for the use of any public area or facility.  

(S) Murals. Murals may be permitted as a special land use provided the following conditions are met:  

(1) The mural shall not contain advertising to promote the interest of any person, business, or 
product.  

(2) The mural shall provide historic or civic interest.  

(3) No mechanical animation or intermittent lighting shall be allowed as a part of any mural such as 
to distract drivers on public streets.  

414



 

 9 of 30  

 

(4) Provision for the maintenance of any mural shall be required.  

(5) A time period for removal of any mural may be specified should maintenance of such mural not 
be carried out.  

(T) Outdoor sales area, non-accessory. The temporary outdoor sale and display of merchandise may be 
permitted , subject to the following requirements:  

(1) Any materials displayed outside of an enclosed building shall not extend into or occupy any 
required parking or maneuvering areas for vehicles.  

(2) Display of materials on sidewalks shall not obstruct the free passage of pedestrians and shall 
provide not less than six feet of clear sidewalk passage area.  

(3) Lighting of outdoor display areas shall be shielded so as to deflect light away from any residential 
use or district. Such lighting shall also be deflected away from any adjacent street so as not to 
interfere with traffic.  

(4)     A sketch plan indicating the area where the display will be located, any trash or portable 
restrooms being provided if not immediately available by the principal use of the property.   

(5)     A signed lease agreement allowing this temporary use by the principal use.   

(6)     The approval will only be permitted for the time of the request. 

(U) Service stations and vehicle repair shops. Service stations and vehicle repair shops may be permitted in 
accord with the following requirements:  

(1)  All aboveground or underground structures other than permitted signs or drives are at least 20 
feet from any lot line, and at least 25 feet from any residential zone line.  

(2) The area for outdoor parking servicing or storage of vehicles is paved and conforms to sections 
1.0904 and 1.0905.  

(3) Driveways shall be at least 24 feet from any intersecting street rights-of-way or residential zone 
lines.  

(4)  A paved or enclosed area for the storage of inoperable or damaged vehicles awaiting repair is 
provided which is screened from any public street or residential zone.  

(5) A six-foot completely obscuring wall shall be provided abutting a residential district.  

(6) Under canopy lighting shall have fixture mounted flush with the surface of the underside of the 
canopy and shall not be of such intensity as to be distractive to traffic on abutting streets.  

Exception.  The planning commission may waive requirements for existing sites with pre-existing 
buildings that do not conform to current requirements of this section. However, all new buildings or 
significant expansions to existing buildings must fully comply with the applicable zoning regulations and 
meet the stated requirements. 

(V) Vehicle sales area. Vehicle sales areas may be permitted subject the following:  

(1) No vehicle sales area shall be accessory to a service station.  

(2) The plot plan for proposed vehicle sales area shall show the following requirements:  

(a) The provisions of divisions [subsections] (U)(1) through (U)(5) [of this section] above must 
be complied with, provided that no vehicles or equipment shall be located closer than ten 
feet to any side or rear property line nor closer than 25 feet to any front street right-of-
way.  

415



 

 10 of 30  

 

 Exception:  For an existing parking lot that was constructed prior to this zoning ordinance 
would permit vehicles or equipment to be located no closer than 5 feet to any front street 
right of way with the use of vehicles stops where it abuts a sidewalk. 

(b) No major repair work or refinishing shall be done on the lot.  

(c) Display lighting shall be screened from any public street or residential zone.  

(d) A six-foot completely obscuring wall shall be provided abutting a residential district.  

(W) Automobile carwash. An automobile carwash may be permitted subject to the following:  

(1) All buildings shall have a front yard setback of not less than 50 feet.  

(2) All washing facilities shall be within a completely enclosed building.  

(3) Vacuuming and drying areas may be located outside the building and shall not be closer than 25 
feet from any residential district.  

(4) All cars required to wait for access to the facilities shall be provided space off the street right-of-
way and parking shall be provided in accordance with article IX of this zoning ordinance.  

(5) Ingress and egress points shall be located at least 24 feet from the intersection of any two 
streets.  

(6) All off-street parking and waiting areas shall be paved.  

(7) All lighting shall be shielded and directed away from adjacent residential districts.  

(8) A six-foot completely obscuring wall shall be provided where abutting a residential district.  

(X) Ministorage. Ministorage may be permitted provided the conditions below are met:  

(1) No parking shall be allowed within 15 feet of a residence, or residential district.  

(2) The site shall be screened from a residential district or residence.  

(3) No exterior lighting shall shine or illuminate beyond the property line onto adjacent property.  

(4) All refuse containers shall be screened on all sides and located on a concrete pad.  

(5) No outdoor storage of any kind shall occur in the parking or site area.  

(6) No toxic, hazardous, flammable, explosive materials shall be stored or allowed on-site.  

(7) Security entry shall be required, restricting access to operators and users of the facility.  

(8) Chainlink fences may have an additional two feet in height added for security fence. 

(Y)      Pet shop and sales. Pet shops and sales may be permitted subject to the following:  

(1) All pets shall be located and cared for in a totally enclosed building:  

(2) No continuous noise level higher than 45 decibels shall be allowed that is discernable outside the 
building.  

(Z) Small engine repair. Small engine repair such as lawn mower repair and servicing may be permitted 
subject to the following:  

(1) Outdoor storage of parts or materials shall be prohibited unless such storage is within a fenced 
and obscured area which meets all setback requirements.  

(2) Areas for off-street parking required for customer use shall not be utilized for the storage of 
equipment awaiting repair.  

(3) All vehicle servicing or repair shall be conducted within a building.  

416



 

 11 of 30  

 

(4) Suitable containers shall be provided and utilized for the disposal of used parts and such 
containers shall be screened from public view.  

(5) A six-foot completely obscuring wall shall be provided abutting any residential district.  

(AA) Storage of waste disposal vehicles and operations. Storage of waste disposal vehicles and operations 
may be permitted subject to the following:  

(1) No outdoor storage of waste hauling vehicles or equipment is permitted.  

(2) All vehicles and equipment shall be regularly washed and maintained.  

(BB) Salvage yards. Salvage yards may be permitted as a special land use providing that the following 
requirements are complied with:  

(1) Plans and specifications shall be submitted to the planning commission and shall include the 
following:  

(a) Specific locations of the facility shown on a vicinity map.  

(b) Location of public roadways, habitable structures, and places of public use on the site and 
other properties influenced by the project.  

(c) Legal description and site boundaries.  

(d) Means of limiting access including fencing, gates, natural barriers, or other methods.  

(e) Details of the method of treating or disposing of liquid waste resulting from operation of 
the facility as it relates to the city's waste water treatment facility.  

(f) The location of all structures and equipment.  

(g) A detailed description and statement of appurtenances and procedures intended to handle 
heavy or bulky items, store refuse beyond the end of the working day, and control dust, 
odors, and fire as they comply with state and federal regulations.  

(h) The location of existing proposed utilities available to the site.  

(i) The method of final reduction, such as compacting, grinding, shredding, compression, or 
tamping equipment.  

(j) Daily clean-up procedures.  

(k) Other details necessary as required by the planning commission.  

(2) A facility shall be located not less than 500 feet from the nearest residential zone and must be 
screened by a fence of not less than eight feet in height and not less than 90 percent solid. It 
must also be screened by fences from streets, roads, or highways open to public vehicle travel.  

(3) The site must be located on major arterial roads and not on residential- or collector-type roads. 
Roadways on the property shall be all-weather roads and shall maintain a condition to prevent a 
dust nuisance.  

(4) Dust and odor resulting from unloading and operation of the facility shall be reasonably 
controlled at all times. Operation of the. facility shall be carried on in a manner to prevent noise 
and vibration, or a nuisance to an adjoining property.  

(5) Highly flammable or explosive materials shall not be accepted unless approved by the fire 
department.  

(6) The salvage yard site shall not be less than five acres in size.  

(7) Open burning shall not be carried on in a salvage area facility.  

417



 

 12 of 30  

 

(8) The salvage yard area shall be maintained in a sanitary manner at all times so as not to create 
general unsightliness or health and safety hazards.  

(9) Necessary operations of the salvage yard shall be carried out promptly in a systematic manner so 
that conditions are unfavorable for harborage and production of insects and rodents.  

(10) Adequate provisions shall be made for routine operational maintenance of the facility and all 
appurtenances.  

(CC) Adult entertainment facilities. Adult entertainment facilities may be permitted provided the conditions 
below are met:  

(1) No adult entertainment facility shall be permitted wit1iin 1,000 feet of a church or a public or 
private school property.  

(2) No adult entertainment facility shall be permitted within 1,000 feet of a residence or a district 
zoned for residential use.  

The distances provided in this section shall be measured by following a straight line, without regard to 
intervening buildings, from the nearest point of the property line upon which the proposed use is to be 
located, and the zoning district boundary, property or residence from which the proposed land use is 
to be separated.  

(DD) Nonresidential parking in a residential district. Nonresidential parking areas may be permitted 
providing that the following provisions and conditions are met.  

(1) Nonresidential parking in a residential district shall be limited to lots one of whose side lot lines is 
immediately adjacent to a B business or M manufacturing zone, with no less than 100 percent 
common side lot lines to the lot on which the building intended to be served is located. In no case 
shall the parking for a nonresidential use be located beyond the first such adjacent lot or the first 
150 feet of the adjacent lot, whichever is lesser.  

(2) All entrance and exit drives shall be a distance of at least 20 feet from any adjoining property line 
in a residential district.  

(3) All Parking areas shall be screened on all sides abutting either a residential district, a street, or an 
existing residence, with an ornamental fence, compact hedge, or wooden screen fence, not less 
than six feet in height, of the type which will obscure vision at all seasons from adjoining 
premises and the street. No such parking areas shall be located in any required front yard or side 
yard setback areas in accordance with those provisions of the residential district in which they 
are located.  

(4) No commercial repair work, commercial servicing or selling of any kind shall be conducted on the 
parking areas in residential districts.  

(5) No sign of any kind other than those indicating entrances and exits and the condition of use of 
the parking area shall be erected upon the parking area parcel or adjoining residential parcels.  

(6) All parking areas shall provide parking spaces a minimum of nine feet by 18 feet with an access 
drive behind the parking space 24 feet in width.  

(7) No outdoor storage of any kind shall occur in the parking area, including abandoned vehicles, 
storage of materials or supplies. All parking areas must be free of litter, dust, papers, and other 
items which could blow onto adjacent properties. Operation of the parking area shall be carried 
on in a manner to prevent dust, odor, noise, vibration, and other nuisances to adjoining 
properties.  

(8) No loud noises shall be allowed in the parking area, above 45 decibels after 10:00 p.m. or before 
8:00 a.m., or above 70 decibels during the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. No continual noise 
shall be permitted in the parking area.  

418



 

 13 of 30  

 

(9) Flammable or explosive materials shall not be permitted in the parking area.  

(10) In no instance shall vehicular parking be allowed within 15 feet of adjoining residential districts, 
residences, or residentially zoned properties.  

(11) All parking areas created under this section shall be constructed in compliance with sections 
1.0904 and 1.0905.  

(12) No exterior lighting shall shine or illuminate beyond the property line of the parking areas, onto 
adjacent residential property.  

(13) In addition to the above requirements of this section, other requirements may be deemed 
necessary or desirable by the planning commission for the protection of the adjoining residences 
in a residential district, in which such parking areas may be located. These requirements shall be 
presented by resolution of the planning commission after a duly held public hearing.  

(14) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the planning commission has the fight to deny a special land use 
because of the adverse impact which the development would have on adjacent residential areas. 
[The term] "adverse impact," as used in the section, includes but is not limited to such possible or 
potential problems such as:  

(a) Increased traffic.  

(b) Interruption of residential continuity.  

(c) Decreased safety and welfare within the given area.  

(EE) Office buildings. Office buildings may be permitted subject to the following:  

(1) Locations for office buildings shall be limited to sites abutting a primary or secondary artery.  

(2) Lot yard, height and area requirements of the R-4 districts shall apply.  

(3) Off-street parking for office uses as provided for in article IX of this zoning ordinance shall apply.  

(FF) Billboards. Billboards may be permitted subject to the following:  

(1) No person shall erect or cause to be erected within the city limits of Sturgis any billboard, or 
other like structure or any fence to be used for the posting of bills or signs thereon, until the 
person so doing shall have secured a permit from the City of Sturgis.  

(2) An application in writing accompanied by plan and specifications of the structure drawn to scale 
shall be submitted. The applicant shall address all items in this [sub]section (FF).  

(3) The billboard cannot be so located, constructed as, or contain advertising messages, which divert 
the attention of drivers from the roadway.  

(4) Billboards cannot exceed 300 square feet in area per side from edge of billboard construction.  

(5) Billboards cannot be installed within 300 linear feet of a residence, or 750 linear feet of historic 
sites, parks, schools, churches, hospitals, cemeteries or government buildings.  

(6) Billboards shall not be constructed or installed within 1,500 linear feet of another billboard, on 
either side of a roadway and/or intersecting streets.  

(7) Billboards shall not be installed on roofs or sides of other structures and buildings.  

(8) Billboards shall be a minimum distance of 200 linear feet from the road fight-of-way and limited 
in height to 25 feet.  

(9) Billboards shall not be illuminated if they are within sight/view of a residence.  

(GG) Group dwellings. Group dwellings may be permitted subject to the following:  

419



 

 14 of 30  

 

(1) Existing buildings and new buildings constructed to be utilized as group dwellings shall be of a 
design compatible with existing residential dwellings on adjacent properties and in the 
immediate neighborhood.  

(2) Off-street parking for all supervisory personnel shall be provided and off-street parking for 
dwelling occupants shall be provided at not less than 0.5 parking spaces per resident.  

(3) All regulations and standards for buildings, structures and site improvements within the district in 
which the property is situated shall apply.  

(HH) Social clubs. Social clubs may be permitted subject to the following:  

(1) Social clubs shall not be permitted in any planned industrial parks.  

(2) Social clubs shall be located only on primary or secondary arteries.  

(3) Outdoor activity areas shall be screened with planting and/or shall be so located as not to impact 
on abutting properties.  

(4) The schedule of regulations (section 1.0502) shall apply for the district in which such social club is 
located.  

(II) Mineral extraction operations. Mineral extraction operations shall be subject to the following 
requirements in addition to those of the district in which the use is located, as well as all other 
applicable conditions, standards and regulations regarding site design and development:  

(1) Special land use approval. No mineral shall be removed from any land within the city without 
special land use approval, except for in the following circumstances:  

(a) When the earth removal is incidental to an operation for which a building permit has been 
issued by the city;  

(b) When the earth removal involves any normal landscaping, driveway installation and repairs, 
or other minor projects;  

(c) The earth removal involves less than 100 cubic yards;  

(d) The earth removal will not be in violation of any other section of this ordinance, other city 
ordinances, the Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control Act of 1972, or any other applicable 
state or federal law.  

(2) Review and approval criteria. Planning commission review and approval of a special land use 
request for a mineral extraction operation shall be in accordance with all applicable provisions of 
this ordinance; and shall also be based on consideration of the following factors:  

(a) Review and approval criteria:  

i. Confirmed presence of large volumes of high-quality, mineral resource deposits that 
will sustain an operation over a specified period of time. If deemed necessary by the 
planning commission, the presence of such resource deposits shall be confirmed by 
the appropriate governmental agency having regulatory authority over any respective 
mineral industry (e.g. the department of natural resources);  

ii. The most practical use of the land, resources and property;  

iii. The protection and preservation of the general health, safety and welfare of the city;  

iv. Adequacy of state and local transportation systems, and private access and haul 
road(s), to accommodate heavy equipment and truck traffic;  

v. Compatibility with existing or planned land use patterns in the area;  

vi. Presence of fish and habitat and/or threatened and endangered species;  

420



 

 15 of 30  

 

vii. Impacts to air and water quality and the natural environment, including critical areas 
(i.e. sensitive environmental lands);  

viii. Proximity to major transportation corridors and market areas;  

ix. Existence of the operations prior to the adoption of the provisions of this ordinance 
and the extent and character of such previous operations; and  

x. The mineral excavation operation will not result in very serious consequences to 
surrounding properties for the community in general.  

(b) Conditions of approval: In making any decision, the planning commission reserves the right 
to impose such additional conditions and safeguards as it deems necessary to limit the 
length of time the special land use is to be effective and may provide for a periodic review 
of the proposed operations to determine compliance with the conditions and limitations 
imposed upon the same. The planning commission may renew or extend a special land use 
approval where all standards and conditions are complied with and may revoke or refuse to 
renew the same where non-compliance exists, in accordance with this ordinance. No 
revocation or failure to renew or extend a permit shall release the applicant from the duty 
of rehabilitation and reclamation of a mined or disturbed area.  

(3) Site plan approval. Site plan approval is required with the special land use approval in accordance 
with article XII. Mining site/operations shall be conducted in accordance with an approved site 
plan and conditions of permit approval. In addition to required application items listed in section 
1.1204, the site plan shall indicate the location of all mining activities, including excavation, 
processing, stockpiling, batching, product manufacture and sales areas, equipment maintenance 
and storage areas, truck routes and haul roads, as well as any excluded areas resulting from 
setbacks and other requirements of local, state and/or federal law. The application must also 
specify the duration of the mineral extraction operation.  

(4) Necessary studies. The planning commission may require an environmental impact statement, 
engineering data, traffic impact study or other such documentation supporting the need for 
and/or identifying the consequences of such extraction operations.  

(5) Use establishment. All uses shall be established and maintained in accordance with all applicable 
state statutes. If any of the requirements of this subsection are less restrictive than applicable 
state statutes, the state requirements shall prevail.  

(6) Location. No machinery shall be erected or maintained within 150 feet of any property or street 
line. No cut or excavation shall be made closer than 50 feet to any street right-of-way line or 
property line in order to ensure sublateral support to surrounding property. The setback area 
shall not be used in conjunction with mineral extraction, except for access, berms, fencing, 
landscaping and/or signs. All excavation operations, processing plants and accessory structures 
shall be set back a minimum 250 feet from the banks of any lake, stream or other watercourse. 
The planning commission may require greater distances for the location of machinery, storage or 
parking of equipment, or limits of excavation where the site is located in or within 200 feet of 
any residential or commercial use or district.  

(7) Safety. Safety measures shall be implemented in accordance with state and federal requirements 
to protect the public from harm during utility construction, improvements, location or relocation.  

(8) Screening. As determined by the planning commission, all operations visible from any roadway or 
developed adjacent land use shall be screened by an evergreen planting established at least six 
feet in height, obscured decorative fencing at least six feet in height, or landscaped berm of at 
least six feet in height with decorative landscaping placed along the top of the berm at a level 
determined by the zoning administrator. If determined appropriate by the planning commission, 
a combination of the above screening methods may be used.  

421



 

 16 of 30  

 

(9) Fencing. All areas of the operation shall be secured with fencing adequate to prevent trespass at 
a minimum height of six feet. Any excavation operation which results in, or produces for a period 
of at least one month during the year, collections of water or severe slopes, as described below, 
shall be subject to the following safety requirements:  

(a) Where an excavation leaves standing water with a depth of greater than one foot for any 
period of at least one month, and occupying an area of 200 square feet or more, the 
applicant shall erect a fence completely surrounding the portion of the site where the body 
of water extends, and shall be placed no closer than 50 feet to the top or bottom of any 
slope. The fence shall not be less than six feet in height complete with gates, which gates 
shall be kept locked when operations are not being conducted.  

(b) Where slopes 3-1 horizontal to vertical or steeper exist for a period of one month or more, 
access to such slopes shall be barred by a fence at least six feet high and at least 50 feet 
outside the edge of the excavation, with suitable gates controlling access to the excavation 
area.  

(10) Operational buildings. No building shall be erected or placed on the premises except as may 
otherwise be permitted in the zoning ordinance or except as temporary shelter for machinery or 
for a field office, subject to approval by the planning commission. All such buildings must be 
shown on the approved site plan.  

(11) Access routes. The planning commission shall determine routes for truck movement to and from 
the site in order to minimize the wear on public streets and to prevent hazards and damage to 
properties in the community. Access roads within the area of operation shall be provided with a 
dustless surface and the entry road shall be hard surfaced for a distance established by the 
planning commission to minimize dust, mud, and debris being carried onto the public street. 
There shall not be more than one entranceway from a public road for each 660 feet of front lot 
line. Each entranceway shall be located not less than 500 feet from an intersection of two or 
more public roads.  

(12) Welfare. All permitted installations shall be maintained in a neat, orderly condition so as to 
prevent injury to property, individuals, or to the community in general.  

(13) Nuisance. Proper measures, as determined by the zoning administrator shall be taken to 
minimize the nuisance of noise and flying dust or rock. Such measures may include, when 
considered necessary, limitations upon the practice of stockpiling excavated material upon the 
site. Stockpiles of mineral resource extractions shall not exceed 100 feet in height as measured 
from ground level before excavation, and shall be setback from all parcel boundary lines the 
greater of 150 feet or twice the height of the stockpile. The setback distance shall be measured 
from the edge of the stockpile.  

Equipment shall be installed, used and maintained so that noise and vibration emitted from the 
site do not exceed the level reasonably necessary for the operation of the equipment. The 
emission of measurable noises from the premises shall not exceed 70 decibels as measured at 
the property lines, between the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. The measurable noises shall not 
exceed 60 decibels as measured at the property lines between 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. Where 
normal street traffic noises exceed the established noise levels during such periods, the 
measurable noise emanating from the premises may equal, but not exceed traffic noises.  

(14) Environmental protection. All fuels, chemicals and other hazardous materials to be contained on 
site shall be noted in the application, including material, quality, use, and method or primary and 
secondary containment. All containment structures or devices shall be designed and operated to 
prevent groundwater pollution. The applicant shall provide a written spill response plan, in the 
event that a hazardous materials spill occurs on site. The spill response plan shall indicate how 
any and all contaminated material will be collected and properly disposed. Mineral resource 
extraction operations shall not:  

422



 

 17 of 30  

 

(a) Create erosion problems or alter the groundwater table of the area;  

(b) Cause the creation of sand blows, stagnant water pools, or stagnant swampy areas; or  

(c) Cause a permanent adverse affect to the environment, natural topography, or any natural 
resource, other than the earth materials involved.  

(15) Operation. All uses shall be conducted according to the following operational timelines:  

(a) Mineral resource extraction operations shall not operate prior to 7:00 a.m. or after 7:00 
p.m., Monday through Friday. Saturday operations shall not operate prior to 8:00 a.m. or 
after 3:00 p.m. Operations shall not operate any time on Sundays or holidays as observed 
by the city. The planning commission may further limit the days and hours of operation 
pursuant to article VI, section 1.0602;  

(b) Inactivity of mineral resource extraction operations for a 12-month consecutive period shall 
constitute termination of such activities.  

(16) Rehabilitation plan. A rehabilitation plan toward reclamation of a mining area is also required 
and shall be submitted in conjunction with the site plan review. Such plan shall include:  

(a) A statement of planned rehabilitation, including methods of accomplishment, phasing and 
timing. The plan must comply with the following:  

i Ensure final contours of the reclaimed property are consistent with the natural 
contours of adjacent lands. All portions of the site shall be graded so that no gradients 
in disturbed earth shall be steeper than a slope of 6:1 (horizontal-vertical);  

ii. Remove all debris, temporary structures and stockpiles;  

iii. A layer of arable topsoil, of a quality approved by the zoning administrator, shall be 
spread over the excavated area, except exposed rock surfaces or areas lying below 
natural water level, to a minimum depth of four inches in accordance with an approved 
reclamation plan. The area shall be seeded with a suitable native ground cover 
sufficient to control erosion and maintained until the area is stabilized for a specific 
reclaimed use and approved by the planning commission;  

iv. Water accumulating upon the site may be retained after the completion of such 
operation when, due to the excavation, such water cannot reasonably be drained by 
gravity flow; provided, that provisions shall be made to avoid stagnation (with the 
exception of man-made lakes), pollution and improperly controlled releases of such 
water that may endanger the public. Where excavation operation results in a body of 
water, the owner or operator shall place appropriate "Keep Out Danger" signs around 
said premises not more than 150 feet apart;  

v. Perform final restoration to conform to zoning regulations in effect at the time of 
implementation; and  

vi. Identify the possible or potential end use of the rehabilitated area.  

(b) A phasing plan, if the excavation of the site is to be accomplished in phases. This plan shall 
indicate the area and extent of each phase and the approximate timing of each phase.  

(c) Reclamation timing must comply with the following:  

i. Rehabilitation of mined areas shall be accomplished as soon as practicable following 
the mining or excavation of an area. Rehabilitation and reclamation shall be 
commenced immediately upon the termination of the mining or excavation operations 
in any area consisting of one acre or more. Substantial completion of reclamation and 
rehabilitation, including grading, debris removal and revegetation, shall be achieved 
within one year of termination of mining or excavation activity.  

423



 

 18 of 30  

 

ii. Upon cessation of mining operations by abandonment or otherwise, the operating 
company, within a time not to exceed 12 months, shall remove all structures, 
foundations, buildings, stockpiles and equipment, provided that buildings and 
structures which have a function under the reclamation plan and which can be lawfully 
used under the requirements of the zoning district in which they will be located may be 
retained.  

iii. Restoration shall be completed within two years from the date of completion or 
abandonment of the subject site or portion of the site.  

(17) Explosives. The use of explosives shall be done in accordance with the "Regulations for Storage 
and Handling of Explosives," as published by the state police, fire marshall division, and local 
applicable ordinance requirements.  

(18) Performance bond. The planning commission shall require a performance bond or other 
guarantee as deemed necessary to ensure that the requirements of this ordinance are fulfilled, 
and may revoke the special land use approval at any time if specified conditions are not met.  

(19) Liability insurance. All owners/operators of property involved in mineral resource extraction 
operations shall be required to carry personal injury and property damage insurance while any 
unreclaimed or unrehabilitated area exists, in the amount of not less than $1,000,000 per 
incident. Such insurance shall cover injury or damage occurring upon the site of the operations as 
well as upon properties adjoining thereto, as a result of conditions or activities existing upon the 
site. A copy of the policy shall be submitted annually with the city clerk.  

(20) Inspections. A mining permit will be issued upon approval of a special land use and renewed by 
the owner/operator on an annual basis. To insure compliance with the permit, the zoning 
administrator shall conduct periodic inspections and shall file a written annual report to the 
planning commission.  

(21) Allowance for associated uses. Approval of mineral extraction activities as a special land use may 
include allowance for related types of uses, including but not limited to, concrete mixing and 
asphalt plants, situated and operated in conjunction with such activities, subject to compliance 
with all the preceding provisions. Such associated activities and uses are subject to separate 
special land use review and approval.  

(JJ) Medical marihuana manufacturing and distribution facilities for primary caregivers and qualifying 
patients. Medical marihuana manufacturing and distribution facilities for primary caregivers and 
qualifying patients as otherwise contemplated by the City of Sturgis Code of Ordinances may be 
permitted if the conditions set forth in subsection 38-91(d)(4) and (e)(7) are met.  

(KK) Professional offices. Professional offices may be permitted in the restricted zone subject to the 
following provisions and conditions:  

(1) The location at which the professional office is to be located has been unoccupied for a minimum 
of six months; and  

(2) The existence of at least one  of the following conditions:  

(a) At the time of application a minimum of five percent of the front footage of all properties 
within the restricted zone are unoccupied properties; or  

(b) At the time of application the total front footage of all professional offices within the 
restricted zone is less than or equal to 35 percent of all front footage properties, including 
unoccupied properties.  

(LL) Marquee signs. Marquee signs may be permitted subject to the following requirements:  

(1) Marquee signs are permitted only for use on theaters as defined in section 1.0202 of this 
ordinance.  

424



 

 19 of 30  

 

(2) All marquee signs must be submitted to the design review committee regardless of what zone 
they are to be installed.  

(3) Proper scale and architectural compatibility will be crucial elements when marquee signs are 
reviewed by the planning commission.  

(4) Marquee signs are allowed to be internally lighted.  

(MM) Commercial medical marihuana facilities. Commercial marihuana facilities as otherwise contemplated 
by the City of Sturgis Code of Ordinances may be permitted if the conditions set forth in section 38-92 
are met.  

(NN) Provisioning centers. Provisioning centers as otherwise contemplated by the City of Sturgis Code of 
Ordinances may be permitted if the conditions set forth in section 38-92 are met.  

(OO) Large solar energy systems. The following requirements shall apply to all large solar energy systems.  

(1) Purpose and intent. The purpose and intent of this section is to establish standards for the siting, 
installation, operation, repair, decommissioning and removal of large solar energy systems as a 
special land use.  

(2) Preliminary site plan. The following items must be shown on a preliminary site plan drawing for 
special land use approval:  

(a) All lot lines and dimensions, including a legal description of each lot or parcel comprising the 
large solar energy system.  

(b) Names of owners of each lot or parcel within the City of Sturgis that is proposed to be within 
the large solar energy system.  

(c) Vicinity map showing the location of all surrounding land uses.  

(d) Location and height of all proposed solar array(s), buildings, structures, electrical tie lines 
and transmission lines, security fencing, and all above-ground structures and utilities 
associated with a large solar energy system.  

(e) Horizontal and vertical (elevation) to scale drawings with dimensions that show the location 
of the proposed solar array(s), buildings, structures, electrical tie lines and transmission 
lines, security fencing and all above ground structures and utilities on the property.  

(f) Proposed setbacks from the solar array(s) to all existing and proposed structures within the 
large solar energy system.  

(g) A written description of the maintenance program to be used for the solar array and other 
components of the large solar energy system, including decommissioning and removal. The 
description shall include maintenance schedules, types of maintenance to be performed, 
and decommissioning and removal procedures and schedules if the large solar energy 
system is decommissioned.  

(h) Additional detail(s) and information as required by the special land use requirements of the 
zoning ordinance, or as required by the planning commission.  

(3) Final site plan requirements. All site plans submitted must be drawn to scale and dimensioned 
and certified by a registered engineer licensed in the State of Michigan. In addition to all items 
required in article XII, Site Plan and article XV section 1.1505 Groundwater Protection Section, 
the following must be provided for final site plan approval:  

(a) Access driveways within and to the large solar energy system, together with a detailed 
narrative regarding dimensions, composition, and maintenance of each proposed driveway.  

(b) Planned lightning protection measures.  

425



 

 20 of 30  

 

(c) Location of all existing and proposed overhead and underground electrical transmission or 
distribution lines within the large solar energy system and within 100 feet of all exterior 
property lines of the large solar energy system.  

(d) Land elevations for the solar array(s) location and the relationship to the land elevations of 
all existing and proposed structures within the large solar energy system at a minimum of 
five foot contours.  

(e) Screening and/or landscaping details.  

(f) Planned security measures to prevent unauthorized trespass and access during the 
construction, operation, removal, maintenance or repair of the large solar energy system.  

(g) All items submitted for preliminary special land use approval must be submitted in final 
detail. Any major change may result in a review of the special land use by the planning 
commission.  

(4) Compliance with the State Construction Code and the National Electric Safety Code. Construction 
of a large solar energy system shall comply with the National Electric Safety Code and the State 
Construction Code (as shown by approval by the city) as a condition of any special land use 
permit under this section. In the event of a conflict between the State Construction Code and 
National Electric Safety Code (NESC), the NESC shall prevail.  

(5) Certified solar array components. Components of a solar array shall be approved by the Institute 
of Electrical and Electronics Engineers ("IEEE"), Solar Rating and Certification Corporation 
("SRCC"), Electronic Testing Laboratories ("ETL"), or other similar certification organization if the 
similar certification organization is approved by the city, which approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld.  

(6) Height. Maximum height of a solar array, other collection device, components or buildings of the 
large solar energy system, excluding substation and electrical transmission equipment, shall not 
exceed 15 feet (as measured from the natural grade at the base of improvements) in height at 
any time or location on the property. Substation and electrical transmission equipment shall not 
exceed 100 feet in height or height restrictions if within the airport glide path area.  

(7) Lot size. A large solar energy system shall be located on one or more parcels with an aggregate 
area of ten acres or greater.  

(8) Setbacks. A setback of 100 feet shall be required where the large solar energy system is abutting 
to any residence or district zoned for residential use. Refer to section 1.0501 for all other front, 
side and rear yard setback requirements.  

(9) Lot coverage. A large solar energy system is exempt from maximum lot coverage limitations.  

(10) Driveways and parking areas. All driveways and parking areas within the front yard setback area 
shall be provided with a minimum four inch asphaltic or concrete surfacing. All other access 
drives shall be minimum gravel or stone materials.  

(11) Fencing. A large solar energy system shall be completely enclosed by perimeter fencing to restrict 
unauthorized access. The applicant will submit a fencing style type included in the site plan for 
approval by the city.  

(a) Fencing shall be no greater than six feet tall. An additional two feet of height can be added 
for security wire.  

(b) Electric fencing is not permitted.  

(12) Screening. The perimeter of large solar energy systems shall be screened and buffered when it is 
located within 100 feet of a residence or district zoned for residential use. Screening shall occur 
by installed evergreen or native vegetative plantings whenever existing natural vegetation does 

426



 

 21 of 30  

 

not otherwise reasonably obscure the large solar energy system, subject to the following 
requirements:  

(a) The large solar energy systems shall be exempt from the other landscape requirements of 
the zoning ordinance.  

(b) The evergreen or native vegetative buffer shall be composed of native or evergreen trees 
that at planting shall be a minimum of four feet in height and shrubs two feet in height. The 
evergreen trees shall be spaced no more than 15 feet apart on center (from the central trunk 
of one plant to the central trunk of the next plant), native trees shall be placed no more than 
30 feet apart on center and shrubs shall be spaced no more than seven feet apart on center. 
All unhealthy 60 percent dead or greater) and dead material shall be replaced by the 
applicant within one year, or the next appropriate planting period, whichever occurs first.  

(c) To the extent practicable, all plant materials shall be installed between March 15 and 
November 15. If the applicant requests a final certificate of occupancy from the city and the 
applicant is unable to install required landscaping because of the weather, the city may issue 
a temporary certificate of occupancy for no longer than six months duration. A temporary 
certificate of occupancy may only be issued if the applicant submits a financial guarantee (an 
irrevocable letter of credit, surety, corporate guarantee or cash) for an amount equal to one 
and one-half times the cost of any approved planting and landscape work. Upon the 
applicant's completion of required landscaping work, the city shall return the financial 
guarantee, less any city costs incurred. If the applicant does not complete the required 
landscape work within six months of the city's issuance of the temporary certificate of 
occupancy, as approved by the city, the city has the right, upon 72 hours' notice to the 
applicant, to call the guarantee and arrange completion of the work, the cost of which shall 
be covered by the financial guarantee.  

(d) Failure to install or continuously maintain the required vegetative buffer shall constitute a 
violation of this section. Any violation of a special land use condition may result in the 
planning commission determining that the special land use has been violated and may result 
in the revocation of the permit, provided however that applicant shall have 90 days from 
notification by the planning commission to cure any violation.  

(13) Signage. A ground or wall sign that is accessory to the business conducted on the property is 
permitted. The sign shall not exceed 32 square feet in area and six feet in height. No advertising 
or non-project related graphics shall be on any part of the solar arrays or other components of 
the large solar energy system. Directional signage will be permitted as per section 1.1001(J). This 
exclusion does not apply to entrance gate signage or notifications containing points of contact or 
any and all other information that may be required by authorities having jurisdiction for electrical 
operations and the safety and welfare of the public.  

(14) Noise. The emission of measurable noises from the premises shall not exceed 70 decibels as 
measured at the property lines, between the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. The measurable 
noises shall not exceed 60 decibels as measured at the property lines between 10:00 p.m. and 
7:00 a.m. Where normal street traffic noises exceed the established noise levels during such 
periods, the measurable noise emanating from the premises may equal, but not exceed traffic 
noises.  

(15) Lighting. All lighting for parking lots, driveways, external illumination of buildings, or the 
illumination of signs shall be directed away from and be shielded from adjacent properties and 
shall be so arranged as to not adversely affect driver visibility on adjacent public roads.  

(16) Distribution, transmission and interconnection. All collection lines and interconnections from the 
solar array(s) to any electrical substations shall be located and maintained underground inside 
the large solar energy system, except in areas where technical or physical constraints make it 

427



 

 22 of 30  

 

preferable to install equipment above ground. This requirement excludes transmission 
equipment meant to connect the project substation to the local transmission system.  

(17) Abandonment and decommissioning. Following the operational life of the project, the applicant 
shall perform decommissioning and removal of the large solar energy system and all its 
components. The applicant shall prepare a decommissioning plan and submit it to the planning 
commission for review and approval prior to issuance of the special land use permit. Under this 
plan, all structures, concrete, piping, facilities, and other project related materials above grade 
and any structures below-grade shall be removed offsite for disposal. Any solar array or 
combination of photovoltaic devices that is not operated for a continuous period of 12 months 
shall be considered abandoned and shall be removed under the decommissioning plan. The 
ground must be restored to its original topography within 365 days of abandonment or 
decommissioning.  

(18) General standards. The planning commission shall not approve any large solar energy system 
special land use permit unless it finds that all of the general standards for special land use of this 
section are met.  

(19) Approval time limit and extension. Special land use permits and site plan approvals or permits 
under this section shall be established within one year after the granting authorization for the 
use. The applicant may request a one year extension to establishing the special land use by 
applying in writing to the planning commission. The applicant shall appear before the planning 
commission to explain why such extension should be granted. Once construction of a project as 
per an approved site plan has been completed, the special land use shall have effect until the use 
is abandoned or per condition of the special land use permit, whichever is shorter.  

(20) Conditions and modifications. Any conditions and modifications approved by the planning 
commission shall be recorded in the planning commission's minutes. The planning commission 
may, in addition to other reasonable conditions, require landscaping, walls, fences and other 
improvements that are reasonable in relation to and consistent with the nature of the applicable 
or adjacent zoning districts.  

(21) Inspection. The city shall have the right at any reasonable time, and upon providing reasonable 
notice to the applicant (a minimum of 48 hours) to inspect the premises on which any large solar 
energy system is located. The city may hire one or more consultants to assist with inspections. 
Inspections must be coordinated with, and escorted by, the applicant's operations staff at the 
large solar energy facility to ensure compliance with the Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration (OSHA), NESC and all other applicable safely guidelines.  

(22) Maintenance and repair. Each large solar energy system must be kept and maintained in good 
repair and condition at all times. If the city zoning administrator determines that a large solar 
energy system fails to meet the requirements of this section and the special land use permit, or 
that it poses a safety hazard, the zoning administrator, or his or her designee, shall provide 
notice to the applicant of the safety hazard. Applicant shall keep a maintenance log on the solar 
array(s), which shall be available for the city's review within 48 hours of such request. Applicant 
shall keep all sites within the large solar energy system neat, clean and free of refuse, waste or 
unsightly, hazardous or unsanitary conditions.  

(23) Roads. Any material damages to a public road located within the city, township or county 
resulting from the construction, maintenance or operation of a large solar energy system shall be 
repaired at the applicant's expense. In addition, the applicant shall submit to the appropriate city 
or county agency a description of the routes to be used by construction and delivery vehicles; 
any road improvements that will be necessary to accommodate construction vehicles, 
equipment or other deliveries. The applicant shall abide by all city and county requirements 
regarding the use and/or repair of city and county roads and also specifically agrees to be bound 
by any city or county special assessment regarding road improvements.  

428



 

 23 of 30  

 

(24) Continuing security. If any large solar energy system is approved for construction under this 
section, applicant shall post decommissioning security prior to the start of construction in a 
mutually agreed upon form ("Option 1"). Alternatively, if applicant can demonstrate the 
presence of a long-term power purchase commitment from a credit-worthy entity, then the 
decommissioning security shall be posted prior to the date five years prior to the expiration of 
such power purchase commitment ("Option 2"). Prior to posting decommissioning security, the 
applicant shall solicit a decommissioning cost estimate from a third party engineering firm or 
contractor approved by the city. This cost estimate will be the basis for the amount of 
decommissioning security. The amount shall be reasonably sufficient to restore the property to 
its previous condition prior to construction and operation of the large solar energy system. Such 
financial security shall be kept in full force and effect during the required time, and such financial 
security shall be irrevocable and non-cancelable.  

(a) In the event applicant elects Option 2, applicant agrees to provide the following as 
additional decommissioning security:  

i. Mortgage. Applicant shall provide a mortgage to the city, on terms acceptable to the 
city, pledging the real estate upon which the large solar energy system is to be located 
securing applicant's obligations to the city to properly decommission the large solar 
energy system.  

ii. First right of refusal. Applicant shall provide a right of first refusal to the city, on terms 
acceptable to the city, to purchase, in the event the large solar energy system has been 
abandoned, the property upon which the large solar energy system has been 
constructed.  

Other requirements. Each large solar energy system shall also comply with all applicable federal, state 
and county requirements, in addition to other applicable city ordinances. The applicant should contact 
the Michigan Department of Agriculture and Rural Development (MDARD) to verify the impact of a 
large solar energy system on a property's enrollment and/or participation in PA 116 (Farmland 
Preservation).  

(PP) Vacant commercial type buildings conditional use permit. 

(1) Eligible parcels. A new commercial use may only be permitted if all of the following conditions 
are met.  

(a) A commercial use must have been permitted in the building based on assessing records.  

(b) The structure has been vacant for six months or longer.  

(2) Use conditions. 

(a) The use must not be reasonably expected to negatively affect, or create any nuisance to, 
the surrounding neighbors.  

(b) Hours of operation should not intrude on the neighborhood in which they are located.  

(3) Requirements. 

(a) The applicant must meet with the zoning administrator to determine whether the parcel 
and the use qualify for a vacant commercial type buildings conditional use permit.  

(b) Provide a business plan. 

(c) Parking and means of egress shall be indicated on a sketch plan for review by engineering, 
police, fire and community development departments.  

(QQ) Indoor vehicle sales area. 

429



 

 24 of 30  

 

(1) Two vehicles are allowed to be displayed on the outside of the building on an approved 
parking surface that meets the parking requirements in article IX-off street parking.  

(2) To calculate the number of vehicles allowed inside a building, a floor plan must be submitted 
showing the area inside of the building which will be used for vehicle display. For each vehicle, 
both of the following minimum area standards must be met:  

(a) 25′ × 30′ floor area per vehicle.  

(b) Minimum of five feet clearance on all sides of the vehicle.  

(3) Required parking.  

(a) Two parking spaces shall be provided for staff.  

(b) One parking space shall be provided per two vehicles spaces permitted inside the building.  

(4) Building must meet all applicable building, electrical, mechanical, plumbing, fire prevention 
code and fire safety requirements.  

(5) Applicant must provide the city with state issued license.  

(RR) Marihuana establishments. Marihuana establishments as otherwise contemplated by the City of 
Sturgis Code of Ordinances may be permitted if the conditions set forth in section 38-93 are met.  

(SS) Marihuana retailers. Marihuana retailers as otherwise contemplated by the City of Sturgis Code of 
Ordinances may be permitted if the conditions set forth in section 38-93 are met.  

(TT) Stores for retail and retail services. 

(1) The retail use must be a minimum of 5,000 square feet.  

(2) The retail use must be co-located with another permitted or special land use on the site. This 
can be a portion of one building on the property or a separate building on the property.  

(3) The retail use shall only occupy a maximum of 30 percent of the total floor area of the building 
in which the use will be located if the uses are grouped in the same building, or 30 percent of 
the total floor area of all buildings on the property, if located in a separate building.  

(4) Off-street parking shall be provided in accord with article IX of this zoning ordinance and shall 
be provided in designated off-street parking areas within 300 feet of the portion of the 
building in which they serve.  

(5) The retail use shall comply with signage requirements for the B-H 2 zoning district.  

(UU)   Cottage court developments. 

 

(1) Purpose. A cottage court development is a cluster of dwelling units available as an alternative 
to the development of typical detached single-unit dwellings. Cottage courts are intended to 
address the changing composition of households, and the need for more diverse, and more 
affordable housing choices. 

430



 

 25 of 30  

 

(2) Ownership. Cottage court developments may be sited on one commonly owned parcel with 
individual cottages owned in a condominium, cooperative, or similar arrangement, or cottages 
may be on individual lots with shared amenities and facilities owned in common. 

(3) Site Plan Review Required. Cottage court developments require approval through the site plan 
review process in Article XII Site Plan Review.  A storm water management system is required 
for the court. 

(4) Standards. Cottage court developments are subject to the following standards: 

(a) Number of Cottages. A cottage court development is composed of at least one cottage 
cluster, with a cluster containing four (4)  to twelve (12) dwelling units. 

(b) Cottage Design. The cottages in a cottage housing development are subject to the 
following standards: 

i. Maximum Height. The height of each cottage shall not exceed the maximum height 
permitted in the zoning district. 

ii. Setbacks. The setbacks from adjacent property lines along the perimeter of the 
cottage court development shall be the same as required by the zoning district. The 
minimum distance between all structures, including accessory structures, shall be in 
accordance with building code requirements. 

iii. Density.  The number of cottages permitted on a single lot shall be calculated as per 
section 1.0502 (e). 

iv. Dwellings shall be permanently attached to a perimeter foundation and shall 
conform to all applicable city codes and ordinances. 

v. Orientation of Cottages. Cottages shall be clustered around common open space. 
Each cottage shall have a primary entrance oriented to common open space.  A 
covered porch is recommended to be included with the design.  If a covered porch is 
implemented as part of the cottage, it shall be a minimum of 6 feet deep and 10 feet 
wide.   

(5) Community Buildings. Cottage court developments may include community buildings that 
provide space for accessory uses such as community meeting rooms, exercise rooms, day care, 
or community eating areas. Their design, including the roof lines, shall be similar to and 
compatible with that of the cottages within the cottage court development. 

(6) Common Open Space. All cottage housing developments must provide 100 square feet of 
common open space per unit. Parking areas, required setback areas, required open space, and 
driveways do not qualify as common open space. 

(7) Off-Street Parking. Off-street parking shall comply with Article IX Off Street Parking and Loading 
Requirements. 

(a) Cottage court developments shall provide the required minimum parking spaces through 
a combination of individual garages/carports or common off-street parking areas. 

(8) Fences.  

(a) Interior fences.  Fences on the interior of the cottage court development shall be an 

ornamental fence and not exceed three feet in height. 

(b) Exterior fences.  Where a cottage court abuts a neighboring residential district, it shall 

require a minimum of a six (6) foot high privacy fence or landscaping or a solid planting 

strip 15 feet in width for the length of the property line meeting corner clearance 

requirements and six feet in height at planting. 

431



 

 26 of 30  

 

(9) Existing Structures. On a lot or parcel to be used for a cottage court development, an existing 
detached single-unit dwelling that may be nonconforming with respect to the requirements of 
this section may remain, but the extent of its nonconformity may not be increased. Such 
dwellings shall count towards the number of cottages allowed in the cottage housing 
development. 

(10) Trash Requirements and Enclosures.  All cottage court developments shall provide a dumpster 
with enclosure for all cottages to utilize.  Each dumpster shall be placed inside of a six (6) foot 
high enclosure with gate. 

(UU) Large battery energy storage systems (ESS). The following requirements shall apply to all large battery 

energy storage systems.  

(1) Purpose and intent. The purpose and intent of this section is to establish standards for the siting, 

installation, operation, repair, decommissioning and removal of battery energy storage systems 

as a special land use.  

(2) Preliminary site plan. The following items must be shown on a preliminary site plan drawing for 

special land use approval:  

(a) All lot lines and dimensions, including a legal description of each lot or parcel comprising 

the ESS.  

(b) Names of owners of each lot or parcel within 300 feet of the proposed ESS.  

(c) Vicinity map showing the location of all surrounding land uses and distances from structures 

within 300 feet of the property lines.  

(d) Location and height of all proposed buildings, structures, electrical tie lines and 

transmission lines, security fencing, and all above and below ground structures and utilities 

associated with the battery energy storage system. 

(e) Horizontal and vertical (elevation) to scale drawings with dimensions that show the location 

of the proposed battery energy storage system, buildings, structures, electrical tie lines and 

transmission lines, security fencing and all above ground structures and utilities on the 

property.  

(f) Proposed setbacks from the battery energy storage system to all existing and proposed 

structures within the ESS. 

(g) A written description of the maintenance program to be used for the battery energy storage 

system and other components of the system, including decommissioning and removal. The 

description shall include maintenance schedules, types of maintenance to be performed, 

and decommissioning and removal procedures and schedules if the battery storage system 

is decommissioned.  

(h) Additional detail(s) and information as required by the special land use requirements of the 

zoning ordinance, or as required by the planning commission.  

(3) Final site plan requirements. All site plans submitted must be drawn to scale and dimensioned 

and certified by a registered engineer licensed in the State of Michigan. In addition to all items 

required in article XII, Site Plan and article XV, Groundwater Protection Section, the following 

must be provided for final site plan approval:  

432



 

 27 of 30  

 

(a) Location of all existing and proposed overhead and underground electrical transmission or 

distribution lines within the ESS and within 100 feet of all exterior property lines of the ESS.  

(b) Screening and/or landscaping details.  

(c) Planned security measures to prevent unauthorized trespass and access during the 

construction, operation, removal, maintenance or repair of the ESS.  

(d) All items submitted for preliminary special land use approval must be submitted in final 

detail. Any major change may result in a review of the special land use by the planning 

commission.  

(4) Compliance and construction shall comply with the Michigan Building Code, International Fire 

Code, National Electric Code and the National Electric Safety Code.  

(5) System Certification. Battery energy storage systems and equipment shall be listed by a 

Nationally Recognized Testing Laboratory to UL 9540 (Standard for battery energy storage 

systems and Equipment) or approved equivalent, with subcomponents meeting each of the 

following standards as applicable: 

(a) UL 1973 (Standard for Batteries for Use in Stationary, Vehicle Auxiliary Power and Light 

Electric Rail Applications). 

(b) UL 1642 (Standard for Lithium Batteries). 

(c) UL 1741 or UL 62109 (Inverters and Power Converters). 

(6) Height. Maximum height of a battery storage container, buildings or components, excluding 

substation and electrical transmission equipment, shall not exceed 15 feet (as measured from 

the natural grade at the base of improvements) in height at any time or location on the 

property. Substation and electrical transmission equipment shall not exceed 100 feet in height 

or height restrictions if within the airport glide path area.   

(7) Lot size. A large battery energy storage system shall be located on no more than one parcel with 

an aggregate area of two acres or greater.  

(8) Setbacks. A setback of 150 feet shall be required where the large battery storage energy system 

is abutting or across a right of way or railway to any residence or district zoned for residential 

use. Refer to section 1.0501 for all other front, side and rear yard setback requirements.  

(9) Lot coverage. A large battery storage energy system is exempt from maximum lot coverage 

limitations.  

(10) Driveways and parking areas. All driveways and parking areas within the front yard setback 

area shall be provided with a minimum of four inch asphaltic or concrete surfacing. All other 

access drives shall be minimum gravel or stone materials.  

(11) Fencing. A large battery energy storage system shall be completely enclosed by perimeter 

fencing to restrict unauthorized access. The applicant will submit a fencing style type included in 

the site plan for approval by the city.  

(a) Fencing shall be no less than seven (7) feet tall and no greater than eight (8) feet tall. An 

additional two feet of height can be added for security wire.  

(b) Electric fencing is not permitted.  

433

https://library.municode.com/mi/sturgis/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_APXAZO_ARTVSCRE_1.0501TACHRE


 

 28 of 30  

 

(12) Screening. The perimeter of ESS’s shall be screened and buffered when it is located within 100 

feet of a residence or district zoned for residential use. Screening shall occur by installed 

evergreen or native vegetative plantings whenever existing natural vegetation does not 

otherwise reasonably obscure the ESS, subject to the following requirements unless an 

alternate method of screening is approved by the planning commission:  

(a) The evergreen or native vegetative buffer shall be composed of native or evergreen trees 

that at planting shall be a minimum of four feet in height and shrubs two feet in height. The 

evergreen trees shall be spaced no more than 15 feet apart on center (from the central 

trunk of one plant to the central trunk of the next plant), native trees shall be placed no 

more than 30 feet apart on center and shrubs shall be spaced no more than seven feet 

apart on center. All unhealthy 60 percent dead or greater) and dead material shall be 

replaced by the applicant within one year, or the next appropriate planting period, 

whichever occurs first.  

(b) To the extent practicable, all plant materials shall be installed between March 15 and 

November 15. If the applicant requests a final certificate of occupancy from the city and the 

applicant is unable to install required landscaping because of the weather, the city may 

issue a temporary certificate of occupancy for no longer than six months duration. A 

temporary certificate of occupancy may only be issued if the applicant submits a financial 

guarantee (an irrevocable letter of credit, surety, corporate guarantee or cash) for an 

amount equal to one and one-half times the cost of any approved planting and landscape 

work. Upon the applicant's completion of required landscaping work, the city shall return 

the financial guarantee, less any city costs incurred. If the applicant does not complete the 

required landscape work within six months of the city's issuance of the temporary 

certificate of occupancy, as approved by the city, the city has the right, upon 72 hours' 

notice to the applicant, to call the guarantee and arrange completion of the work, the cost 

of which shall be covered by the financial guarantee.  

(13)  Decommissioning.  The applicant shall submit a decommissioning plan, to be implemented 

upon abandonment and/or in conjunction with removal from the facility. The 

decommissioning plan shall include: 

(a) Comprehensive description describing how the large battery energy storage system’s 

components will be removed from the site, identifying who will be responsible for the 

activities and the timeline for removal. This includes structures, equipment, and 

transmission lines. 

(b) Ensure proper disposal of solid and hazardous waste in compliance with local, state, and 

federal regulations. This addresses the environmental and safety concerns associated with 

hazardous materials in batteries. 

(c) Estimate how long the battery energy storage system is expected to remain operational. 

(d) Provide an estimate for the cost of decommissioning, explaining the basis for the 

calculations.  

(e) Specify how funds will be set aside and guaranteed to cover the decommissioning expenses, 

ensuring that the removal and restoration will be financially supported when necessary. 

(f) Describe how the decommissioning cost estimates will be updated over time, accounting for 

inflation, changes in technology, or other cost-related factors. 

434



 

 29 of 30  

 

(g) Detail how the site will be restored post-decommissioning, including protecting adjacent 

structures, fire detection and suppression systems, and ensuring the site’s safety and 

structural integrity once the system is removed. 

(h) Provide scenarios for decommissioning in both regular operational shutdowns and in cases 

where the system has been damaged, such as by fire or other events.  

(i) Decommissioning Fund.  

i. The owner or operator of the ESS must establish and maintain a decommissioning 

fund or bond that is payable to the City of Sturgis. This fund guarantees that the city 

has the necessary resources to remove the ESS if the owner fails to do so. 

ii. The type of financial security (e.g., a bond, letter of credit) must be in a form that is 

approved by the City of Sturgis, ensuring it meets the city’s requirements for 

financial viability and accessibility. 

iii. The city will determine the amount of the decommissioning fund, likely based on 

the estimated costs of removal, site restoration, and compliance with safety and 

environmental regulations. 

iv. The financial assurance must be maintained throughout the entire lifespan of the 

BESS, ensuring continuous protection for the city and the site. 

v. The fund may take the form of a letter of credit from a financial institution licensed 

in Michigan. This letter of credit provides a guarantee that funds are available for 

decommissioning. 

vi. All expenses associated with setting up and maintaining the decommissioning fund 

or bond, including any fees related to the financial security, will be the responsibility 

of the applicant (the BESS owner or operator). 

(14) Emergency Operations Plan. An emergency operations plan must be provided to the City of 

Sturgis with the special land use request.   A copy of the approved plan must be provided to the 

system owner, the local fire department, and the local fire code official. Additionally, a 

permanent copy must be kept in a location accessible to facility personnel, emergency 

responders, and fire code officials.  Any changes to the emergency operations plan must be 

submitted to the City for review and approval.  The emergency operations plan shall include 

the following information: 

(a) Procedures for safe shutdown, de-energizing, or isolation of equipment and systems under 

emergency conditions to reduce the risk of fire, electric shock, and personal injuries, and for 

safe start-up following cessation of emergency conditions. 

(b) Procedures for inspection and testing of associated alarms, interlocks, and controls. 

(c) Procedures to be followed in response to notifications from the ESS, when provided, that 

could signify potentially dangerous conditions, including shutting down equipment, 

summoning service and repair personnel, and providing agreed upon notification to fire 

department personnel for potentially hazardous conditions in the event of a system failure. 

(d) Emergency procedures to be followed in case of fire, explosion, release of liquids or vapors, 

damage to critical moving parts, or other potentially dangerous conditions. Procedures can 

435



 

 30 of 30  

 

include sounding the alarm, notifying the fire department, evacuating personnel, de-

energizing equipment, and controlling and extinguishing the fire. 

(e) Response considerations that will address response safety concerns and extinguishment. 

(f) Procedures for dealing with battery energy storage system equipment damaged in a fire or 

other emergency event, including maintaining contact information for personnel qualified 

to safely remove damaged battery energy storage system equipment from the facility. 

(g) Other procedures as determined necessary by the City of Sturgis to provide for the safety of 

occupants, neighboring properties, and emergency responders. 

(h)  Procedures and schedules for conducting drills of these procedures and for training local 

first responders on the contents of the plan and appropriate response procedures. 

(15) Enforcement.  Any violation of the special land use may result in the planning commission 

determining that the special land use has been violated and may result in the revocation of the 

permit, provided however that applicant shall have 90 days from notification by the planning 

commission to cure any violation.  

 

 

436



 

 1 of 2  

 

ARTICLE VII. GENERAL EXCEPTIONS 

AREA, HEIGHT AND USE EXCEPTIONS  

The regulations in this title shall be subject to the following interpretations and exceptions.  

1.0701. Essential services. 

Essential services serving the city and essential transportation services authorized by state and federal law 
shall be permitted as authorized and regulated by law and other ordinances of the municipality.  

1.0702. Voting place. 

The provisions of this [zoning] ordinance shall not be so construed as to interfere with the temporary use of 
any property as a voting place in connection with a municipal or other public election.  

1.0703. Height limit. 

The height limitations of this zoning ordinance shall not apply to farm buildings, chimneys, church spires, flag 
poles, public monuments, wireless transmission towers or approved wireless communication towers; provided, 
however, that the board of appeals may specify a height limit for any such structure when such structure required 
authorization as a special use and unless otherwise specified in this zoning ordinance.  

1.0704. Lot area. 

Any lot existing and of record on the effective date of the zoning ordinance may be used for any principal use 
permitted in the district in which such lot is located.  

1.0705. Lots adjoining alleys. 

In calculating the area of a lot that adjoins an alley for the purpose of applying lot area and setback 
requirements of this [zoning] ordinance, one-half the width of such alley abutting the lot shall be considered as 
part of such lot.  

1.0706. Yard regulations. 

When yard regulations cannot reasonably be complied with, or where their application cannot be 
determined on lots of peculiar shape, topography or due to architectural or site arrangement, such regulations 
may be modified or determined by the board of appeals.  

1.0707. Porches and decks. 

An open, unenclosed and uncovered porch or paved terrace not exceeding 24 inches in height or the height 
of the finished floor elevation (FFE), whichever is higher, may project into a required front yard for a distance not 
exceeding ten feet. Decks not exceeding 24 inches in height above the grade upon which placed or installed at the 
finished floor elevation (FFE) of the home, whichever is higher, may project into a required side or rear yard not to 
exceed a depth of 30 percent of the depth of the required side or rear yard.  

1.0708 Projections into yards. 

Architectural features, including gutters, soffits, eaves, cornices, and roof overlaps, may extend or project 
into a required side yard not more than two inches for each one foot of width of such side yard; and may extend or 
project into a required front yard or rear yard not more than three feet.  

Bay windows, chimneys, cantilevered floors, and other similar projections of up to ten feet in length, and not 
occupying more than 30 percent of the length of the wall on which they are located, may project into required side 

437



 

 2 of 2  

 

yard not more than two inches for each one foot of width of such side yard (up to a maximum of two feet of 
projection), and may project into a required front or rear yard not more than three feet.  

1.0709. Yard exceptions. 

(A) Front yards. 

(1) Exceptions for existing alignment of building setbacks, in any residential district, the front yard 
requirements of a lot may be modified so as to equal the average depth of existing developed front 
yards on lots within 100 feet of the lot and within the same block front. The front depth shall not be 
less than ten feet.  

(B) Side yards. 

(1) On lots with a width of less than 60 feet and recorded as less than 60 feet prior to the date of adoption 
of this section, the minimum width of each of the side yards shall be five feet.   

(C) Rear yards. 

(1) Rear yards can be reduced in the following cases.  

(2) In all residential districts any platted and recorded lot less than 120 feet deep may have three inches 
deducted from the required rear yard depth for every foot the lot is less than 120 feet deep. However, 
no rear yard shall be less than ten feet.  

(D) All yards. 

(1) When determining yard types for setback purposes any wall of any building can be the front, rear, or 
side so long as the rear is opposite the front and the sides to each other. The address side of the lot 
shall be considered the front yard side of the lot unless otherwise determined by the board of appeals.  

 

438



 1 of 5  

 

ARTICLE VIII. NONCONFORMING USES AND STRUCTURES 

1.0801. Nonconforming uses, structures, and lots established. 

Within the districts established by this zoning ordinance or amendments that later may be adopted, there 
may exist lots, structures, uses of land and structures, and characteristics of use which were lawful before this 
zoning ordinance was passed or amended, but which would be prohibited, regulated, or restricted under the terms 
of this zoning ordinance or future amendments. It is the intent of this zoning ordinance to permit these 
nonconformities to continue until they are removed, but not to encourage their survival.  

It is further recognized that certain nonconforming uses and structures do not significantly depress the value of 
nearby properties and are not contrary to the public health, safety, and welfare and that such use or structure was 
lawful at the time of its inception and that no useful purpose would be served by the strict applications or 
requirements for nonconformities under this zoning ordinance and, therefore, two classes of nonconforming use 
and structure are designated, being class A and B. Approved Class A nonconforming uses or structures may be 
permitted to expand or change with zoning board of appeals review and approval  

1.0802. Nonconforming lots. 

In any district in which single-family dwellings are permitted, notwithstanding limitations imposed by other 
provisions of this zoning ordinance, a single-family dwelling and customary accessory buildings may be erected on 
any single lot of record, regardless if class A or B, at the effective date of adoption or amendment of this zoning 
ordinance. This provision shall apply even though such lot fails to meet the requirements for area or width or both 
that are generally applicable in the district, provided that yard dimensions and other requirements not involving 
area or width or both of the lot shall conform the regulations for the district in which such lot is located. 

1.0803. Nonconforming uses of land. 

Where, at the time of the passage of this zoning ordinance, a lawful use of land exists which would not be 
permitted by the regulations imposed by this zoning ordinance and where the uses involve individual structures, 
the use may be continued so long as it remains otherwise lawful, subject to the following provisions:  

(A) No nonconforming use shall be enlarged or increased nor extended to occupy a greater area of land 
than was occupied at the effective date of adoption or amendment of this zoning ordinance, except 
bringing the land parcel into compliance with federal ADA requirements shall be permitted.  

(B) No nonconforming use shall be moved in whole or in part to any portion of the lot or parcel other than 
that occupied by the use at the effective date of adoption or amendment of this zoning ordinance.  

(C) If any nonconforming use of land ceases for any reason for a period of more than 12 months, any 
subsequent uses of the land shall conform with the regulations specified by the zoning ordinance for 
the district in which the land is located.  

(D) No additional structure not conforming to the requirements of this zoning ordinance shall be erected in 
connection with the nonconforming use of land. 

1.0804. Nonconforming structures. 

Where a lawful structure exists or is lawfully under construction at the effective date of adoption or 
amendment of this zoning ordinance that could not be built under the terms of this zoning ordinance by reason of 
restriction on area, height, yards, its location on the lot, or other requirements concerning the structure, the 
structure may be continued so long as it remains otherwise lawful subject to the following provisions:  

(A) No nonconforming structure may be enlarged or altered in a way which increases its nonconformity, 
but any structure or portion thereof may be altered in a way that does not increase its nonconformity.  

(B) Any nonconforming structure which has been damaged or destroyed by any means to an extent of 
more than 50 percent of its true cash value as determined by the city assessor at the time of damage 

439



 

 2 of 5  

 

or destruction, shall not be reconstructed except in case of unusual hardship for which the zoning 
board of appeals may grant conditional approval for reconstruction.  

(C) Any nonconforming structure can be brought into federal ADA compliance at any time, and all work to 
alter the structure to bring it into conformance shall begin with ADA compliance.  

(D) Should the nonconforming structure be moved for any reason for any distance whatsoever, it shall 
thereafter conform to the regulations for the district in which it is located after it is moved. 

1.0805. Nonconforming use of structures or of structures and land in combination. 

If a lawful use involving individual structures or a structure and land in combination exists at the effective 
date of adoption or amendment of this zoning ordinance that would not be allowed in the district under the terms 
of this zoning ordinance, the lawful use may be continued as long as it remains otherwise lawful, subject to the 
following provisions:  

(A) No existing structure devoted to a use not permitted by this zoning ordinance in the district in which it 
is located shall be enlarged, extended, constructed, reconstructed, moved or structurally altered 
except in changing the use of the structure to a use permitted in the district in which it is located.  

(B) Any nonconforming use may be extended throughout any parts of a building which were arranged or 
designed for the use at the time of adoption or amendment of this zoning ordinance, but no use shall 
be extended to occupy any land outside the building.  

(C) Any structure, or structure and land in combination, in or on which a nonconforming use is changed to 
a permitted use, shall thereafter conform to the regulations for the district, and the nonconforming 
use may not thereafter be resumed.  

(D) When a nonconforming use of a structure or structure and land in combination is discontinued or 
abandoned for 12 consecutive months or for 18 months during any three-year period (except when 
government action impedes access to the premises or if it is a seasonal-type use), the structure, and 
land in combination, shall not thereafter be used except in conformity with the regulations of the 
district in which it is located.  

(E) When nonconforming use status applies to a structure and land in combination, removal or destruction 
of the structure shall eliminate the nonconforming status of the land. Destruction for the purpose of 
this division is defined as damage to an extent of more than 50 percent of the true cash value as 
determined by the city assessor at the time of destruction.  

(F) The use of a nonconforming building may be changed to another nonconforming use if the zoning 
board of appeals finds that the new use would markedly decrease the degree of nonconformance and 
would enhance the value and desirability of adjacent conforming uses. 

1.0806. Class A nonconforming uses or structures. 

Class A nonconforming uses or structures may be improved, replaced, or expanded following approval by the 
planning commission for such work.  Class A designations are reviewed and approved as either a class A or B by the 
planning commission following a public hearing. 

(A)     Process. The applicant shall submit an application to the planning commission for determination on the 
designation of class A conforming structure or use.  Following a completed application, the planning 
commission shall hold a hearing in accordance with provisions of section 1.0602(C) of this zoning 
ordinance prior to approving or denying the request. 
 

(B)  Findings. No class A designation shall be approved by the planning commission unless it shall find the 
following:  

(1) The use or structure was lawful at its inception.  

(2) Continuance of the use or structure does not significantly depress property values of nearby 
properties.  

440



 

 3 of 5  

 

(3) Continuance of the use or structure would not be contrary to the public health, safety, or welfare 
or the spirit of the [zoning] ordinance.  

(4) No useful purpose would be served by strict application of the provisions of this [zoning] 
ordinance with which the use or structure does not conform.  

(5) An improvement to an existing nonconforming use will result.  

(C) Conditions.  The decision to grant a class A designation shall be made in writing setting forth the 
findings and reasons on which it is based. Conditions may be attached, including time limits where 
deemed necessary to assure the use or structure does not become contrary to the public health, safety 
or welfare or the spirit and purpose of this zoning ordinance and further to assure that at least the 
following standards are met:  

(1) Screening and landscaping may be required in keeping with community standards to provide 
compatibility with adjacent uses.  

(2) Effects which may have a negative impact such as lighting, noise or visual impact should be 
minimized.  

(3) Where such use is in close proximity to homes, parking should not be permitted to utilize curbside 
parking to an extent greater than the immediate property frontage of the nonconforming use.  

(4) New signage should meet zoning district requirements. Existing nonconforming signs shall be 
required to be eliminated or reduced in size and number as the planning commission may, in its 
judgment, determine.  

(5) The exterior building materials utilized in any alteration to the building shall be harmonious with 
materials on abutting properties whenever practical.  

(6) Enlargement of a building may be allowed provided such enlargement does not create a more 
nonconforming yard setback condition which would impact on conforming properties in the 
immediate vicinity.  

(7) The planning commission may require such other safeguards and improvements as it may deem 
necessary to protect conforming uses in the surrounding area.  

(D) Permit. No building permit shall be issued until all required conditions, as applicable, are met and 
confirmed by the building official.  No class A nonconforming use or structure shall be used, altered or 
enlarged in violation of any condition imposed in its designation. 

(E)     Revocation. Any class A designation shall be revoked, following the same procedure required for 
designation, upon a finding that as a result of any change of conditions or circumstances the use or 
structure no longer qualifies for class A designation.  

1.0807. City designated Class A structures and uses. 

(A) Class A nonconforming use status, only, is hereby granted without further action to any two family 

dwelling located in the R-3 residential district which is properly registered as required pursuant to the 

City Property Maintenance Code as of the effective date of this ordinance amendment. For the purpose 

of this section, only the use, and not the structure, is granted Class A status. If a structure does not meet 

conforming status, it may be granted Class A status on a case by case basis by the planning commission 

as provided in section 1.0806 of the zoning ordinance.  

(B) Existing pylon signs.  Class A nonconforming structure status, only, as provided in section 1.0806 of this 
zoning ordinance is hereby granted without further action to any pylon signs located in the B-N business 
neighborhood district effective March 9, 2022.  

(C) Class A nonconforming structure status, only, of this zoning ordinance is hereby granted without further 
action to any non-residential use as stated in section 1.0409.1(D)(8). This Class A designation shall expire 

441



 

 4 of 5  

 

when the use changes. After this time, the new use would be required to request a Class A designation 
from the planning commission. 

1.0808. Class B nonconforming uses or structures. 

 All nonconforming uses or structures, not approved for a class A designation, shall be class B nonconforming 
uses or structures. A Class B designation for the nonconforming use and structure shall comply with all the 
provisions of this zoning ordinance relative to nonconforming uses and structures above.  

1.0809. Repair or replacement. 

(A) Class B nonconforming uses or structures repair or replacement shall not exceed 25 percent of the true 
cash value as determined by the city assessor of the nonconforming structure during any consecutive 12-
month period the extent of repair or replacement. Class A designated structures may be repaired or 
replaced more than 25 percent of the true cash value.  

(B) The cubic contents of the structure shall not be increased for class A or class b designated 
nonconformities.  

(C) Approved class A uses and structures may be strengthened or restored to a safe condition if any building 
or part thereof declared to be unsafe by an official charged with protecting the public safety, upon order 
of the official.  

(D) There may be a change of tenancy, ownership or management of any existing nonconforming uses of 
land or structures or of structures and land in combination. A change of ownership between private 
parties does not remove the nonconformity nor extend time limits.  

1.0810. Removal of nonconforming status. 

(A) Any nonconforming structure or land may be made conforming by appropriate action or modifications 
which cause the structure or land to fulfil the requirements of the district in which it is located.  

(B) In case of a nonconforming use which is a use designated as a special land use by this [zoning] ordinance, 
the nonconforming status may be removed upon issuance of a special land use permit after the 
appropriate action has been taken in accordance with the provisions of this section. It shall be the 
responsibility of the owner or person requesting the special land use permit to initiate the request in 
accordance with sections 1.0601 through 1.0602.  

(C) Any nonconformity is lost by changing to conform to the ordinance or through vacancy, lack of 
operation, removal, or otherwise for twelve (12) or more successive calendar months. Class A structures, 
that contain a conforming use, may be vacant for longer than twelve (12) calendar months and not lose 
their status.  

If lost, any future use of such premises shall be in conformity, in its entirety, with the provisions of this 
zoning ordinance.  Loss of a nonconformity shall terminate the right to continue the nonconformity.  The 
building official shall consider the following factors to determine the intent of the property owner to 
abandon the nonconformity: 

(1)   Whether utilities, such as water, gas, and electricity to the property have been disconnected. 

(2) Whether signs or other indications of the existence of the nonconformity have been removed. 

(3)  Whether equipment or fixtures necessary for the operation of the nonconformity have been 
removed. 

(4)  Other information or actions that evidence an intention on the part of the property owner to 
abandon the nonconformity. 

442



 

 5 of 5  

 

1.0811. Elimination of nonconforming structures or land. 

The city may acquire by purchase, condemnation, or otherwise, private property for the removal of 
nonconforming uses and structures. The city commission may in its discretion provide that the cost and expense of 
acquiring the private property be paid from general funds, or the cost and expense or any portion thereof may be 
assessed to a special district. The elimination of any nonconforming uses and structures in a zoned district as 
herein provided is hereby declared to be for a public purpose and for a public use. The city commission shall have 
authority to institute and prosecute proceedings for the condemnation of nonconforming uses and structures 
under the power of eminent domain in accordance with the laws of the state or provisions of the city charter 
relative to condemnation.  

1.0812. Nonconforming signs. 

Nonconforming signs shall be permitted to continue, provided should a business move or vacate a premises 
all non-conforming signs shall be removed or made to comply with zoning ordinance requirements building (sic). 
Walls shall be left in good repair and properly maintained within 60 days. Upon failure of any person to comply 
with the provisions of this section the city may effectuate compliance through any available public agency or by 
contract or arrangement by private persons and the cost thereof shall be charged against the owner of the real 
estate upon which the building is located and any such cost shall be a lien upon such real estate.  

  
Existing pylon signs. Class A nonconforming structure status as provided in section 1.0806 of this zoning ordinance 
is hereby granted without further action to any pylon signs located in the B-N business neighborhood district 
effective March 9, 2022 and as referenced in section 1.0711. 

443



 1 of 23  

 

ARTICLE IX. OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING REQUIREMENTS 

1.0901 General parking requirements. 

(A) Use. Off-street parking, loading, or stacking areas shall only be used for their intended purpose. All other 
uses, unless specifically permitted, are prohibited.  

(B) Placement. 

(1) Defined areas. Off-street parking areas and loading zones in nonresidential areas shall include painted 
lines, and may also include vehicle stops, to clearly define parking and loading spaces.  

(2) Proximity. All off-street parking areas that are not within the community parking district or in the 
business neighborhood zoning district shall be on the same lot as the use they serve, or on an abutting 
lot under the same ownership.  

(C) Review and approval. 

(1) Permit required. A permit must be obtained prior to any construction or rehabilitation of an off-street 
parking area.  

(2) Application for parking lot construction. Any person desiring to establish or change a parking area shall 
submit site plans showing the locations, design, size, shape, landscaping, surfacing, marking, lighting, 
drainage, curb cuts, entrances, exits, and any other features of the parking lot. Any curb cuts, 
entrances, exits, drainage, and design shall have city staff approval and shall be presented for site plan 
approval by the planning commission.  

(3) Parking lot rehabilitation. Rehabilitation of an existing parking area, including parking striping, shall 
require an application and sketch plan submittal. The proposed rehabilitation shall be reviewed 
administratively for compliance with standards in this ordinance.  

(4) Completion. The number of off-street parking spaces, in conjunction with all land or building use, shall 
be provided prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy as prescribed in this article, except as 
provided in section 1.0904(G)(1)(b) which allows six months after the issuance of a certificate of 
occupancy, with a possible three-month extension granted by the building official, to complete the 
surfacing of parking and loading areas.  

(5) Performance agreement. In the event that a certificate of occupancy is issued and the applicant has six 
months to complete the parking lot, as identified in section 1.0904(G)(1)(b), the building official may 
require execution of a performance agreement, in the amount of the cost to develop that parking lot, 
in order to compel compliance with and performance of all off-street parking requirements of this 
article.  

(D) Maintenance. All parking areas shall be maintained and kept free of weeds and debris.  

1.0902 Required parking. 

(A) Standards. 

(1) Usable floor area. Parking measurements based on building square footage shall be calculated by 
"usable floor area" as defined in section 1.0202 of this zoning ordinance.  

(2) Fractional spaces. When units or measurements determining the number of required parking spaces 
result in requirement of a fractional space, the fractional number shall be rounded down to the nearest 
whole number if ten or more spaces are required and rounded up if fewer than ten are required.  

(3) Use determinations. 

444



 

 2 of 23  

 

(a) For those uses not specifically mentioned, the requirements for off-street parking facilities shall 
be in accordance with the use which the zoning administrator considers to be most similar in 
type.  

(b) For multiple uses within the same development, the minimum parking requirements for each use 
shall be determined separately, and the cumulative total number of required parking spaces shall 
be calculated using Table B3A: Shared Parking Factors.  

(4) Unit of measure. 

(a) Number of employees. The number of employees shall be based on the maximum number 
needed or the largest shift.  

(b) Occupant load. The occupant load as determined by the Michigan Building Code or the 
International Fire Code.  

(c) Floor area. That area of a nonresidential building used for or intended to be used for the sale of 
merchandise or services (also called usable floor area). Such floor area which is used for or 
intended to be used primarily for the storage or processing of merchandise which may include 
hallways, breezeways, stairways, and elevator shifts, or for utilities and sanitary facilities, shall be 
excluded from the computation of usable floor area.  

(5) Barrier-free parking. Off-street parking areas shall provide barrier-free spaces in compliance with the 
Michigan Building Code and the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), as applicable.  

(6) Garage parking. Garage parking will be counted towards parking requirements where an approved 
surface and driveway connects the garage to the right-of-way.  

(7) Number of spaces required. The minimum number of off-street parking spaces shall be determined in 
accordance with the following table:  

Residential Uses  

(1)   Use  Number of Minimum 
Parking Spaces Per 
Unit of Measure  

 (a)  Dwelling, one-family or two-family  2 per dwelling unit.  
 (b)  Dwelling, multifamily  2 per dwelling unit 

with 2 or fewer 
bedrooms, and 2½ 
for each dwelling unit 
having 3 or more 
bedrooms.  

 (c)  Dwelling, unit in mixed-use building  2 per dwelling unit 
with 2 or fewer 
bedrooms, and 2½ 
for each dwelling unit 
having 3 or more 
bedrooms.  

 (d)  Elderly housing—Dependent  0.75 per dwelling 
unit.  

 (e)  Elderly housing—Independent  1.25 per dwelling 
unit.  

445



 

 3 of 23  

 

 (f)  Mobile home park  2 per dwelling unit, 1 
for each employee of 
the mobile home 
park and 1 for each 3 
mobile homes visitor 
parking.  

 (g) Cottage Courts 1 per dwelling unit up 
to one bedroom, 1.5 
per dwelling unit with 
2 bedrooms, and 2 
per dwelling unit with 
three bedrooms or 
more 

 

   

Institutional Uses  

(1)    Use  Number of 
Minimum 
Parking 
Spaces Per 
Unit of 
Measure  

  
(a)  

Assembly areas, including private clubs, lodges, religious institutions, 
theaters, and auditoriums  

1 per 5 
total 
occupancy 
load.  

  
(b)  

Convalescent and/or nursing Homes  1 per 4 
beds plus 1 
per 
employee.  

  
(c)  

Education, elementary/junior high  1 per 
classroom, 
plus 2 per 5 
seats in 
largest 
assembly 
area.  

  
(d)  

Education, secondary, parochial school, business school, college, etc.  1 for each 
0.75 total 
occupancy 
load.  

446



 

 4 of 23  

 

  
(e)  

Hospitals  1 per bed.  

  
(f)  

Nursery schools and childcare centers  1 per 
employee, 
plus 1 short 
term 
parking 
space per 
classroom. 
Drop off 
area to be 
included on 
site plan.  

  
(g)  

Recreation facilities  1 per the 
number of 
participants 
of the 
active 
recreation 
space or 1 
per 3 of the 
designed 
occupant 
load of the 
space plus 
1 per 5 
total 
occupancy 
of assembly 
areas.  

 

Commercial Uses  

(1)    Use  Number of 
Minimum 
Parking Spaces 
Per Unit of 
Measure  

  (a)  Automobile major and minor repair  1 for each 100 
square feet of 
usable floor 
area of sales 
room or 3 for 
each auto 

447



 

 5 of 23  

 

service stall in 
the service 
areas, 
whichever is 
greater.  

  (b)  Automobile sale or rental establishment  1 per 500 sq. ft. 
usable floor 
area, 1 per 
employee plus 
one for each 
automobile for 
sale or rent  

  (c)  Automobile service station  1 parking space 
for each 50 
square feet of 
floor area in 
the cashier and 
office areas in 
addition to 
space provided 
at each fuel 
pump 
dispenser. In 
no instance 
shall such 
facility provide 
fewer than 3 
spaces for 
cashiers and 
office use.  

  (d)  Bowling alleys  5 per lane., 
plus 1 per 
employee  

  (e)  Full service eating and drinking establishment  1 for each 2 
persons 
allowed within 
the maximum 
occupant load 
of the interior 
space, plus 1 
for every 4 
seats of 

448



 

 6 of 23  

 

outdoor dining 
if present.  

  (f)  Drive-through establishment, eating and drinking  With multiple 
lanes, stacking 
for 4 vehicle 
spaces at each 
ordering 
station or 
machine, in 
addition to use 
requirement. 
With only one 
lane, stacking 
for 8 vehicle 
spaces, in 
addition to use 
requirement. A 
12-foot-wide 
escape lane is 
required for all 
drive-through 
establishments.  

  (g)  Drive-through establishment, other  Stacking for 4 
vehicle spaces 
at each bay or 
machine, in 
addition to use 
requirement. A 
12-foot-wide 
escape lane is 
required for all 
drive-through 
establishments.  

  (h)  Funeral homes and mortuary establishments  1 per 250 sq. ft. 
usable floor 
area for office 
uses, plus 1 per 
5 total 
occupant load 
of assembly 
space, plus 
stacking for 10 
vehicle spaces.  

449



 

 7 of 23  

 

  (i)  Golf courses  4 for each golf 
hole and 1 for 
each 
employee.  

  (j)  Miniature golf or par 3 golf course  2 for each hole 
and 1 for each 
employee.  

  (k)  Greenhouse or nursery  1 per 400 sq. ft. 
usable floor 
area.  

  (l)  Hotels, motels, bed and breakfast operations or boarding 
houses.  

1.25 for each 
rooming unit 
plus 1 for each 
employee.  

  
(m)  

Kennels  1 per 300 sq. ft. 
usable floor 
area.  

  (n)  Laundromats and dry cleaners, self-service  1 per 3 washing 
and drying 
machines.  

  (o)  Open air business  1 per 200 sq. ft. 
indoor usable 
floor area, plus 
1 per 1,000 sq. 
ft. of outdoor 
display area.  

  (p)  Personal service establishment  1 per 400 sq. ft. 
usable floor 
area and 1 per 
personal 
service booth, 
chair or room.  

  (q)  Professional office of doctors, dentists, veterinarians and similar 
professions  

1 for each 50 
sq. ft. of floor 
area in waiting 
rooms, and 1 
for each 
examining 
room, dental 
chair, office, 
laboratory, X-
ray therapy 

450



 

 8 of 23  

 

room or similar 
use area.  

  (r)  Retail: furniture and appliances  1 per 800 sq. ft. 
usable floor 
area.  

  (s)  Retail: All other stores  1 per 250 sq. ft. 
usable floor 
area.  

  (t)  Mini-storage facilities  1 per 75 
storage units, 
parallel parking 
with a 
maneuvering 
lane shall be 
provided 
around all 
buildings.  

 

Office Uses  

(1)    Use  Number 
of 
Minimum 
Parking 
Spaces 
Per Unit 
of 
Measure  

  
(a)  

Banks, credit unions, or similar uses  1 per 250 
sq. ft. 
usable 
floor 
area.  

  
(b)  

Business and Professional services  1 per 400 
sq. ft. 
usable 
floor 
area.  

 

   

Industrial Uses  

(1)    Use  Number of 
Minimum 

451



 

 9 of 23  

 

Parking 
Spaces Per 
Unit of 
Measure  

  
(a)  

Manufacturing, assembling,  
processing  

5 plus 1 for 
every 1½ 
employees 
in the largest 
working shift 
or 1 per 450 
sq. ft. of 
usable floor 
area 
whichever is 
greater. 
Space on site 
shall also be 
provided for 
all 
construction 
workers 
during 
periods of 
plant 
construction.  

  
(b)  

Research and development  5 plus 1 for 
every 1½ 
employees 
in the largest 
working shift 
or 1 per 750 
sq. ft. of 
usable floor 
area 
whichever is 
greater. 
Space on site 
shall also be 
provided for 
all 
construction 
workers 
during 

452



 

 10 of 23  

 

periods of 
plant 
construction.  

  
(c)  

Warehousing and distribution  5 plus 1 for 
every 1½ 
employees 
in the largest 
working shift 
or 1 per 
2,000 sq. ft. 
of usable 
floor area 
whichever is 
greater. 
Space on site 
shall also be 
provided for 
all 
construction 
workers 
during 
periods of 
plant 
construction.  

  
(d)  

Wholesale activities  5 plus 1 for 
every 1½ 
employees 
in the largest 
working shift 
or 1 per 
1,000 sq. ft. 
of usable 
floor area 
whichever is 
greater. 
Space on site 
shall also be 
provided for 
all 
construction 
workers 
during 
periods of 

453



 

 11 of 23  

 

plant 
construction.  

 

(B) Shared parking. 

(1) Two or more buildings or uses may collectively provide the required off-street parking.  

(2) Where there is a mix of land uses that create staggered peak periods of parking demand, the minimum 
requirements may be reduced according to the provisions in this section.  

(3) To calculate the number of parking spaces required in a shared parking scenario, the sum of the 
minimum required spaces for all uses must be divided by the shared parking factor specified in Table 
B3A. The required number of shared parking spaces may be further reduced at the planning 
commission's discretion.  

Example: Use 1 is residential and requires 12 parking spaces. 
Use 2 is retail and requires 32 parking spaces. 
The sum of both requirements is 44 parking spaces. 
The shared parking factor for residential and retail uses is 1.2. 
Dividing 44 by 1.2 yields 36.7 required spaces. 
Fraction is rounded down because it there are 10 or greater spaces required to produce 
the shared parking requirement: 36 

 

Table B3A: Shared Parking Factors  

 Residential  Lodging  Office  Retail  

Residential  1  1.1  1.4  1.2  

Lodging  1.1  1  1.7  1.3  

Office  1.4  1.7  1  1.2  

Retail  1.2  1.3  1.2  1  

 

Source: Smartcode 

(4) Shared parking facilities shall be among abutting parcels, or if within the B-N district, located within 
500 feet of the use. Additionally, shared parking provisions apply for multiple uses within the same 
development.  

(5) A copy of a shared parking agreement, recorded with the county register of deeds, between all parties 
concerned shall be provided to the city. The agreement shall include the owners and occupants of the 
premises which are served by the parking facility. If an owner or occupant that is part of a shared 
parking agreement ceases operation, the remaining parties of the shared parking agreement may 
continue using the shared parking facility. When there is a new occupancy, a change of use shall be the 
trigger to establish a new shared parking agreement, which shall be provided to the city and approved 
prior to a building permit be issued.  

(C) Deferred parking. For development in any zoning district, the planning commission may defer construction of 
the required number of parking spaces if, at the outset of development, a parking demand less than that 
required for the use by this article can be demonstrated. The full parking area shall be reserved, but the 
unused area may be constructed as additional open space, which shall not be used to satisfy open space area 
requirements, until such time as it may be needed for parking. A site that contains any deferred parking 
spaces shall be graded for the full parking area and the deferred parking spaces shall be covered with 
appropriate groundcover. Adequate stormwater facilities shall also be provided as if the whole parking area 
were to be developed.  If approved, the planning commission shall determine the circumstances under which 
the deferred parking area will be installed. 

454



 

 12 of 23  

 

(D) Stacking spaces. The following standards shall apply to all required stacking spaces:  

(1) Each stacking space shall be measured at not less than 20 feet in length and ten feet in width.  

(2) In no instance shall stacking spaces interfere with required parking or maneuvering lanes.  

(E) Community parking district. The community parking district encompasses an area in the B-C and B-N districts 
as indicated in figure community parking district area. Properties within the community parking district, 
except for single and two family dwellings and multi-family apartment buildings less than 12 units, shall be 
subject to the following standards:  

(1) Parking calculations. All developments in the community parking district shall calculate their required 
parking as outlined in this section via the following standards or via the tables in section 1.0902(A)(7), 
whichever is less:  

(a) Residential use: One space per dwelling unit  

(b) Commercial use: One space per 400 square feet  

(2) Changes of use or redevelopments. A lot with an existing building(s) that has a change of use or is 
otherwise redeveloped shall not require additional off-street motor vehicle parking or loading unless 
the change of use or redevelopment requires ten or more additional spaces than the previous use.  

(a) A redevelopment includes existing buildings that are renovated or expanded as well as a building 
that is completely demolished and replaced with new construction if construction on the 
replacement building commences within 12 months of demolition.  

(3) New developments. New developments of vacant lots shall not require off-street motor vehicle parking 
or loading unless the development requires ten or more parking spaces.  

(4) Alternative parking plan. If a developer is required to provide new parking spaces under this section, 
they may provide an alternative parking plan to the planning commission for their consideration. This 
may include a reduction or elimination of the parking requirement or some alternative for providing 
parking (i.e. a shared parking agreement). If the plan includes a reduction or elimination of required 
parking, the planning commission may require a parking study by an approved third-party be 
completed at the developer's cost to determine current public parking conditions and the impact of the 
proposal.  

(5) All properties within the community parking district shall consider adequate passenger loading and 
curb management, as outlined in section 1.0903(B).  

 

455



 

 13 of 23  

 

Community Parking District Area 
 

 

(F) Parking in the B-N district. All properties within B-N zoning district, except those within the community 
parking district, shall qualify for the following reduced parking requirements:  

(1) On-street parking spaces within 125 feet from lot frontages shall count toward minimum parking 
requirements. The applicant shall submit aerial and street-level images showing the specific spaces to 
be counted. The city shall maintain updated documentation on the allocation of on-street parking 
spaces for properties within the B-N zoning district.  

(a) Properties may apply for an alternative parking plan, subject to planning commission review and 
approval. The request, review and fees by the planning commission shall follow the requirements 
of section 1.0905 of this zoning ordinance.  

(2) Properties may provide shared parking facilities, subject to the requirements outlined in this article.  

(3) Any property that uses one of the reduced parking requirement provisions listed in this section shall 
enter into a recorded agreement with the city, using a form provided by the city, indicating city 
approval of the reduction of parking requirements. A change of use shall be the trigger to terminate 
any such agreement.  

(G) Parking in residential districts and for residential uses. 

(1) Location. For all multifamily residential buildings, institutional uses, and public services in a residential 
district, the required parking area shall be provided on the same lot with the buildings or on an 
abutting lot under the same ownership.  

(2) Driveways. Parking in residential districts shall not be permitted in any required front yard or in the 
street side yard of a corner lot except in a driveway or a defined parking area. Driveways and defined 
parking areas are subject to the following standards:  

(a) Front yard setback area. The following regulations pertains to the driveways and defined parking 
areas only in the front yard setback or in the street side yard of a corner lot:  

456



 

 14 of 23  

 

i. The maximum width of the driveway or defined parking area shall not exceed the lesser of 
35 percent of the lot width or 26 feet.  

ii. If the lot width exceeds 100 feet, the property owner may request consideration from the 
planning commission for driveway widths greater than 26 feet and/or for two driveways. 
For the purpose of this Section, lot width is calculated based on the road frontage of where 
the driveway is or will be located on the property. The request, review and fees by the 
planning commission shall follow the requirements of section 1.0602 of this zoning 
ordinance.  

iii. The driveway opening where the parking area meets the right-of-way shall be a minimum 
of ten feet in width and a maximum of 24 feet in width.  The driveway opening shall not be 
greater than two feet more than the right of way opening.   

1) Exception: Improvement of existing driveways, city engineer can approve if 
minimum width can not be met based on site constraints.  

(b) The driveway or defined parking area shall be constructed of a hard surface pavement with a 
minimum two-and-a-half (2.5) inches of asphalt or four inches of concrete. Bricks or pavers may 
be approved if they are constructed according to the manufacturer's specifications for driveways 
but may not be used in the right-of-way or sidewalk area.  The right of way or sidewalk area must 
be of a material approved by the city of Sturgis engineering department.  

Exception:  Existing non-hard surface driveways or parking areas permitted prior to 2011 may be 

expanded by up to two (2) feet in width without requiring this additional area to be constructed 

of a hard surface material. This exception may only be utilized once and is subject to compliance 

with all other applicable requirements of this zoning ordinance. 

(c) Driveways and parking areas shall be constructed in a way that prevents stormwater from 
flowing onto adjacent private properties. Draining into the public right-of-way is permitted.  

(d)     Paved wheel tracks for driveways shall not be permitted. 

(3) Screening. Within residential areas, all nonresidential parking areas shall be screened according to 
1.1106.  

(4) Type of parking. Required off-street parking for single-family dwellings may be provided in a stacking 
configuration in a driveway, garage, or combination thereof.  

(5) Lawn parking. Lawn areas shall not be used for off-street parking or regular access to a driveway, 
building, or accessory structure. Regular access is indicated by tire marks and/or excessive wear on the 
grass.  

457



 

 15 of 23  

 

 

(6) Repair work. No commercial repair work, commercial servicing, or selling of any kind shall be 
conducted on parking areas in residential districts. A resident may repair vehicles which are registered 
to the address of the resident's dwelling unit on-site; however, in no instance shall a resident repair 
other vehicles on said property. Such personal repair shall not exceed seven consecutive days in any 
30-day period.  

(7) Sales. A resident of a dwelling unit may have not more than one motorized vehicle for sale on the site 
of such dwelling unit at any time. The vehicle for sale must be titled to the resident of the dwelling. In 
no instance shall vacant residential lots or parcels be utilized for the sale of vehicles, and in no instance 
shall a vehicle for sale be displayed in a front yard other than on the driveway portion of the yard.  

(8) Commercial vehicles. Commercial vehicles shall be prohibited in any residential district or on any 
residential property. However, this section shall not prevent the temporary location of such vehicle 
while engaged in a delivery, pick-up or service call to the property.  

(9) Recreational equipment and vehicles. Within all residential districts and residential use areas, 
recreational equipment and no more than one recreational vehicle ("RV") per dwelling unit may be 
parked on a parcel. Parking of RVs and recreational equipment are subject to the conditions below.  

(a) Parking in a developed driveway or parking area. An RV and/or recreational equipment on a 
trailer may be parked in a developed driveway or defined parking area as long as the required 
off-street parking requirements are maintained and remain available in addition to the space(s) 
occupied. The RV and/or recreational equipment shall not encroach on the required front yard 
setback (see table 1.0501) by more than 15 feet, and can in no case be closer than ten feet to the 
front lot line or right-of-way.  

(b) Parking in areas other than a developed driveway or parking area. An RV and/or recreational 
equipment may be parked on an occupied property in an area other than a developed driveway 
or defined parking area if the following provisions are met:  

i. The RV and/or recreational equipment must be owned by the occupant.  

ii. The RV and/or recreational equipment must be licensed and operable (if applicable).  

iii. The RV and/or recreational equipment must be maintained and in good repair.  

458



 

 16 of 23  

 

iv. The RV and/or recreational equipment must be constructed on a wheel-base or stored on a 
trailer.  

v. The area around and under the RV and/or recreational equipment must be kept free of any 
tall grass or weeds.  

vi. The RV and/or recreational equipment shall not encroach on the required front yard 
setback (see table 1.0501) by more than 15 feet, and can in no case be closer than ten feet 
to the front lot line or right-of-way.  

vii. The RV and/or recreational equipment shall not encroach on a required side yard that is 
the street side of a corner lot.  

(c) Temporary parking for RVs and/or recreational equipment. The occupant is allowed to 
temporarily park RVs or recreational equipment with the following restrictions:  

i. Guest RV. An occupant is allowed to have one guest RV in addition to the requirements of 
this section. The guest RV must either be parked in a developed driveway or defined 
parking area or parked according to the provisions of subsections (9)(b)(ii) through (vii). 
The guest RV may only be parked for a period not to exceed two weeks in any 30-day 
period and not to exceed six weeks in any calendar year.  

ii. Loading and unloading of RVs and recreational equipment. One RV, trailer, or piece of 
recreational equipment on a trailer may be parked in a developed driveway or defined 
parking area irrespective of maintaining off-street parking requirements for a period of two 
days for purpose of loading and or unloading.  

1.0903 Required loading. 

(A) Freight loading. 

(1) Application. Loading and unloading spaces shall be provided for all commercial and industrial uses, 
except in cases where adequate space, as determined by the community development department, is 
or can be provided on adjacent public property.  

(2) Location. 

(a) The off-street loading zone space shall be located in rear and side yards only. Front yard loading 
zone spaces are prohibited.  

(b) Shared loading arrangements amongst establishments are permitted, provided the shared 
loading information is provided on the site plan.  

(c) Each loading space shall be at least 12 feet in width, 88 feet in length, and have a height 
clearance of 14 feet above grade. The dimensions of the loading space(s) may be reduced at the 
planning commission's discretion.  

(d) No off-street loading zone space shall be located closer than 50 feet to any residentially zoned 
property, unless wholly within a completely enclosed building or properly screened on all sides 
facing residential zones as per section 1.1106.  

(3) Pavement types. All dedicated loading spaces shall be constructed of a hard surface pavement with a 
minimum two-and-a-half inches of asphalt or four inches of concrete. The use of gravel, crushed 
concrete, crushed asphalt, or similar materials shall be prohibited.  

(4) Loading space requirements. The minimum number of loading zone spaces shall be provided as 
described below. Loading space requirements shall not apply to properties within the community 
parking district.  

Size  Loading Space(s)  

459



 

 

 17 of 23  

 

Less than 10,000 sq. ft. gross floor area  None  

10,000—20,000 sq. ft. gross floor area  1  

20,001—50,000 sq. ft. gross floor area  2  

50,001—100,000 sq. ft. gross floor area  3  

100,001 sq. ft. gross floor area or more  5  

 

(B) Passenger loading and curb management. 

(1) Properties within the B-C and B-N districts that do not provide immediately adjacent parking shall 
consider an onsite passenger drop-off and pick-up location for ease of patron access. If it is determined 
that a passenger loading and curb management space is needed, the zoning administrator may require 
that the space be permanently provided.  

460



 

 18 of 23  

 

1.0904 Parking lot design. 

(A) Parking design. Off-street parking areas shall be designed to the following minimum standards:  

Table 1.900B 

Parking Pattern 
(degrees)  

Maneuvering 
Lane Width 
(feet)  

Parking Space 
Width (feet)  

Parking Space 
Length  
(feet)  

Total Width of 
One Tier of 
Spaces (feet)  

Total Width of 
Two Tiers of 
Spaces (feet)  

Parallel parking  12  9  23  NA  NA  

30° to 53°  12  9  20  32  52  

54° to 74°  15  9  20  36.5  58  

75° to 90°  20  9  20  40  60  

 

 

(1) Barrier-free parking. 

(a) Off-street parking facilities shall provide barrier-free spaces in accordance with the table below:  

461



 

 19 of 23  

 

Total Number of Parking Spaces 
Provided in Lot  

Minimum Number of Barrier-Free 
Spaces Required  

Minimum Number of  
Van-Accessible Barrier-Free  
Spaces Required  

Up to 25  1  1  

26 to 50  2  1  

51 to 75  3  1  

76 to 100  4  1  

101 to 150  5  1  

151 to 200  6  1  

201 to 300  7  2  

301 to 400  8  2  

401 to 500  9  2  

501 to 1000  2% of total   

1001 and over  20, plus 1 for each 100, or  
fraction thereof, over 1,000  

 

 

(b) Barrier-free parking spaces shall comply with the following ADA design standards.  

i. A minimum width of eight feet for automobiles and 11 feet for vans.  

ii. A minimum five-foot wide access aisle for all types of barrier-free parking spaces. Access 
aisles shall be marked with painted hatch marks.  

iii. A van-accessible aisle may be a minimum of eight feet wide if the adjoining access aisle is 
also eight feet wide.  

iv. Van-accessible spaces, their associated access aisles, and the vehicular routes serving them 
shall provide a vertical clearance of a minimum of 98 inches.  

 

Source: https://adata.org/factsheet/parking  

(B) Curb and vehicle stops. All off-street parking areas shall include six inch curbs or vehicle stops to prevent 
vehicles from overhanging into or over public rights-of-way or on-site sidewalks. If curbs are integrated into 
the parking area, a seven foot wide sidewalk is required where they abut the curb. If vehicle stops are placed 
in the parking area, they shall be placed a minimum of three feet from the edge of sidewalks.  

(C) Circulation. 

(1) Interconnectivity and access management. Any new or rehabilitated off-street parking area in the B-C, 
B-N, B-H1, or B-H2 district shall include a design for cross-parcel connection to any existing parking 
area on all adjacent and neighboring properties, and such connection shall be constructed up to the 
property line. When designing the connection, it is recommended to seek input from the owner of such 

462



 

 20 of 23  

 

adjacent property in order to accommodate site limitations or advantages that may not be 
immediately visible. If no adjacent property and parking facility exists at the time of development, the 
new off-street parking facility shall be designed so that future cross-access circulation and access is 
possible.  

Exception: The planning commission may waive this requirement due to specific site and use 
conditions..  

(2) Drives and aisles. 

(a) All parking areas shall be provided with circulation aisles meeting the standards of this article for 
parking design.  

(b) All maneuvering lane widths shall permit one-way traffic movement, except that the 90° pattern 
may permit two-way movement.  

(c) In no case shall a parking space be permitted which would necessitate the backing of a motor 
vehicle into a street or over a public walk.  

(d) Parking lots with 300 or more spaces shall include perimeter drives and a central access drive 
leading to the principal building.  

(e) Adequate ingress and egress to the parking lot by means of clearly limited and defined drives 
shall be provided for all vehicles. Driveways shall be a minimum of 24 feet wide and permit two-
way traffic. For one way traffic, the minimum width shall be 15 feet wide and must be approved 
by city staff. Upon city staff recommendation, the planning commission may approve a smaller 
driveway width or require a larger one based on evidence such as trip generation data or physical 
roadway conditions.  

(f) Each entrance to and exit from any off-street parking lot for commercial and manufacturing use 
shall be at least 25 feet from any residential property line that is abutting or directly across the 
street, unless approved by the city engineer.  

(g) Any construction or rearrangement of existing drives which involve the ingress or egress of 
vehicular traffic to or from a public street shall be approved by city staff in accordance with traffic 
safety standards and best practices.  

(h) An escape lane is required for all new developments with a drive through. Redevelopments of 
existing sites with existing buildings will not be required to provide escape lanes if the site does 
not permit due to site constraints.  

463



 

 21 of 23  

 

 

(D) Pedestrian circulation. All off-street parking areas, except for those in industrial districts and single-family 
residential districts, shall consider safe and efficient pedestrian circulation. This may include paved walkways, 
marked pavement patterns, and other facilities to define pedestrian movement and alert drivers to possible 
conflicts.  

(E) Screening, landscaping, and lighting. 

(1) Screening and landscaping. 

(a) Off-street parking areas shall be effectively screened and landscaped on any side which adjoins 
or faces a residential district or any residential or institutional use as per section 1.1106.  

(b) All dumpsters and mechanical equipment located in any off-street parking lot shall be screened 
on all sides with a durable, opaque material, at a minimum height of one foot above the trash 
receptacle or mechanical equipment. The maximum height shall not exceed eight feet.  

(2) Tree islands. All new off-street parking areas with 20 or more parking spaces per row shall provide tree 
islands in the parking lot design satisfying the following standards. Referencing the City's Forestry 
Ordinance (Chapter 66 of the Sturgis Code of Ordinances) for recommendations on tree species is 
highly encouraged.  

(a) Single-loaded aisles shall have one tree island containing one canopy tree at both ends of each 
row. The minimum dimensions for each island shall be nine feet by 18 feet.  

(b) Double-loaded aisles shall have one tree island containing two canopy trees at both ends of each 
row. The minimum dimensions for each island shall be 12 feet by 36 feet.  

(c) Tree islands shall be surrounded by a concrete curb at a height of six inches and shall be 
vegetated with turf in addition to the required canopy tree(s). The islands may be used for 
stormwater management if appropriate curb cuts are placed to allow the flow of stormwater into 
the island from parking areas. Snow storage on tree islands is prohibited.  

464



 

 22 of 23  

 

 

(F) Exterior lighting. 

(1) Exterior lighting shall be arranged so it is deflected away from adjacent properties and so it does not 
impede the vision of traffic along adjacent streets. Lighting shall not exceed 0.5 footcandles when 
measured from ground level at the adjoining property boundary.  

(2) Flashing or intermittent lights shall not be permitted.  

(3) Light poles and fixtures shall be no higher than 25 feet in parking lots, and no higher than 16 feet in 
height along interior sidewalks and walkways. All light poles and fixtures shall have a downcast glow.  

(4) Light poles and fixtures set in the perimeter of parking areas shall not be placed in a parking space.  

(G) Surfacing and stormwater management. 

(1) Materials and surfacing. The entire parking and loading area for all commercial and industrial districts, 
including parking spaces and maneuvering lanes, shall be provided with 2 ½” asphalt, 4” concrete, 
brick, pervious pavers, or other similar hard surfacing in accordance with specifications approved by 
the zoning administrator and city engineer except as provided for residential areas. In instances where 
a parking area is non-conforming, the expansion or significant improvement of the use of the land or 
structure shall require the paving of such parking area to conform with this Section.  

(a) Screened storage areas shall not be required to be paved with a hard surface but in no instance 
shall green space be used for parking. Surface to be approved by zoning administrator and city 
engineer.  

(b) Parking and loading areas shall be surfaced within six months of the issuance of a permit. One 
three-month extension may be granted by the building official upon written request, with ample 
cause for an extension.  

(c) Paved wheel tracks for driveways shall not be permitted.  

(2) Stormwater and drainage. Off-street parking areas shall be drained to dispose of all surface water 
accumulated in the parking area in such a way as to preclude drainage of water onto adjacent property 
or toward buildings. All surface stormwater drainage areas abutting a driveway, parking area, or 
sidewalk that are greater than three feet in depth and have a side slope steeper than one foot in 
vertical rise for every three feet in horizontal run shall be enclosed with four foot high fencing. Fencing 
installed around storm water drainage areas shall be chainlink and must be maintained free of debris, 

465



 

 23 of 23  

 

weeds and noxious growth. All stormwater and drainage must adhere to the city's stormwater 
management guide.  

1.0905 Variances and exceptions. 

(A) Planning commission waiver or consideration. The planning commission may reduce or waive the number of 
off-street parking and/or loading spaces required for a specific use, provided it determines that no good 
purpose would be served by providing the required number of such spaces. Any such reduction or waiver 
request shall require a public hearing, and the planning commission shall process the request and give notice 
of said public hearing in accordance with the provisions of section 1.0602 of this [zoning] ordinance. In 
making such a determination to reduce or waive the requirements for off-street parking and/or loading 
spaces of this chapter, the planning commission may consider the following:  

(1) Extent that existing on-street parking and/or loading spaces can effectively accommodate the parking 
and loading needs of a given use without negatively impacting traffic safety or adjacent uses.  

(2) Existing and proposed building placement.  

(3) Location and proximity of municipal parking lots and/or public alleys.  

(4) Agreement for parking and/or loading spaces with adjacent or nearby property owners.  

(B) Zoning board of appeals. The zoning board of appeals shall have authority to interpret this section and may 
grant variance from these requirements in specific cases, according to the standards of 1.1405 of this zoning 
ordinance.  

 

466



Page 1 of 15 

ARTICLE X. SIGNS  

1.1001. General requirements.  

Following are the general requirements for all signs:   
(A) Wind pressure and dead load requirements. Ground, projecting, wall and marquee signs shall be designed 

and constructed to withstand a wind pressure of not less than 30 pounds per square foot of surface area 
and shall be constructed to receive dead loads as required elsewhere in the city code.   

(B) Permit number to be on sign. Signs shall have placed in a conspicuous place thereon, in letters not less than 
one-half inch in height the permit number.   

(C) Illumination. Internally and externally lighted, reflectorized, glowing, and other forms of illumination shall 
be permitted on all signs except as regulated elsewhere in this zoning ordinance. All illuminated signs shall 
meet the following provisions:   
(1) All illumination shall be concentrated on the area of the sign or landscape feature so as to prevent glare 

upon the street or adjacent property.   
(2) No sign shall be illuminated by other than electric means or devices, and wiring shall be installed in 

accordance with the National Electrical Code.   
(3) All electrical transformer boxes, raceways, and conduits shall be concealed from view. Any concealment 

or other visible part of these elements should be painted to match the building area to which they are 
attached, or otherwise painted to be harmonious with the building.   

(D) Obstruction to doors, windows and fire escapes. No sign shall be erected or maintained so as to prevent free 
ingress and egress from any door, window or fire escape.   

(E) Signs not to construct a traffic hazard. No sign shall be erected at the intersection of any streets in such a 
manner as to obstruct free and clear vision or any location where, by reason of the position, shape, or color, 
it may interfere with, obstruct the view of, or be confused with any authorized traffic sign, signal, or device, 
or which makes use of the word, "Stop, "Look," "Danger," or any word, phrase, symbol, or character in such 
manner as to interfere with, mislead, or confuse traffic. At street intersections, no signs other than 
municipal traffic control signs shalt be located within eight feet of the ground surface in the triangle formed 
by the property lines paralleling the streets and extending for a distance of 25 feet each way from the 
intersection of the right-of-way lines at the corner lot.   

(F) Removal of certain signs. Any sign now or hereafter existing which no longer advertises a business 
conducted, or a product, or entertainment, service, or commodity offered or sold on the lot, shall be taken 
down and removed by the owner, agent or person having the beneficial use of the building or structure 
upon which said signs shall be found 60 days after written notice from the city.   

(G) Sign area. The area of all signs shall be computed as follows:  
(1) The total area of the lettering and display background where the sign background is separated from the 

principal building.  
(2) The total area of the lettering and display background where the background is illuminated from within, 

whether attached to or separate from the principal building.  
(3) The total area encompassed by an imaginary line which can be drawn around all the lettering or designs 

where the lettering or signs are affixed to the wall of a building and the wall constitutes the background.  
(H) Permits. No sign shall be erected, constructed, repaired, or relocated without a building permit or a 

temporary permit. This is meant to include those commercial signs of a temporary nature advertising special 
events. The re-lettering, repainting, or changing of lighting elements of a permitted sign for the same 
business shall not require a building permit.  

(I) Directional signs. Directional signs such as entrance and exit signs not exceeding six square feet in area per 

sign are permitted in R-4, B-OS, B-C, BH-1, BH-2, M-1, and M-2 districts exclusive of the maximum sign area 
requirement for the district in which they are located.   

(J) Prohibited sign types. Sign types not specifically permitted in any zoning district shall be interpreted to be 
prohibited from such district.   

467



Page 2 of 15 

(K) Tourist oriented directional signs. Tourist oriented directional signs, as defined in Michigan Public Act 299 of 
1996 are permitted if approved by the Michigan Department of Transportation pursuant to the PA 299 of 
1996 and by a vote of the Sturgis City Commission.   

(L) Electronic message display signs. Electronic message display signs shall be subject to the following 
requirements:   
(1) Only allowed on permitted, non-residential uses in all zoning districts.   
(2) Electronic message display signs are subject to the following additional restrictions based on their zoning 

district:   
(a) Only one sign incorporating an electronic message display is permitted in residential zones for non-

residential uses.  
(b) Electronic message display signs in the BC district must be recommended by the design review 

committee, as per article XIII of the zoning ordinance, prior to an application for approval being 
considered by the planning commission.   

(c) Areas located in the central business district as defined in section 1.1006 but not located in the B-C—
central business zoning district shall follow the requirements for electronic message display signs of 
the zoning district in which they are located.   

(3) Must be part of a ground or pylon sign. The electronic message display shall be a part of the primary 
ground or pylon sign and shall not exist as a standalone sign.   

(4) Flashing, rotating, strobing, audio or noise, pyrotechnic simulation or creating a distraction shall be 
prohibited.   

(5) Length of time a message must be displayed before changing and message display mode is determined 
by district as outlined in Table 1.1001A.   

TABLE 1.1001A  
Zoning District(s)   Minimum Length of Time 

Between Static Message 
Changes   

Type of Message Display Modes 
Allowed   

R-1, R-2, R-3, R-4, R-5, BC   Once every 30 seconds   Static message   

BH-2, B-N, BOS, M   Once every three seconds   Static message and traveling text   

BH-1   Once every three seconds for 
static messages and maximum 
display time for animation 
shall be ten seconds.   

Static message, traveling text, and 
animation   

  
(6) Modes: The following modes of operation are described for electronic message signs:   

(a) Static. Messages which include no animation or effects simulating animation.   
(b) Traveling text. For electronic message display signs displaying a single line of text, the text message 

may continuously travel. Message cannot include images, animation, or effects simulating 
animation.   

(c) Animation. Messages which include motion graphics and video are displayed.   
(7) Transitions: Electronic message display signs shall be operated in one of the permitted modes except for 

transitions between messages.   
(a) Permitted transition types for static messages include:   

i.   Instantaneous. Change between messages without noticeable transition.   
ii.  Fade. Messages are changed by means of varying light intensity, where the first message gradually 

reduces intensity to the point of not being legible and the subsequent message gradually 
increases in intensity to the point of legibility.   

iii. Traveling. Signs where the message is changed by the apparent horizontal movement of the letters 
or graphic elements of the message.   

iv. Scrolling. Signs where the message is changed by the apparent vertical movement of the letters or 
graphic elements of the message.   

468



Page 3 of 15 

(b) The transition time between messages and/or message frames is limited to three seconds and these 
transitions may employ fade, dissolve, and/or other transition effects.   

(8) Electronic message displays must have an automatic sensor that adjusts their brightness and intensity 
during operational hours. The overall brightness and intensity shall only be enough to make the sign 
legible and shall not create a nuisance or a traffic hazard. Luminance shall not exceed 0.3 foot-candles 
above the ambient (i.e., naturally illuminated environment) light measurement when measured at the 
recommended distance, based on the electronic message display size.   

(9) If a property has an electronic message display sign that is within 150 feet of a residential dwelling unit, 
it must be automatically turned off from dusk until dawn if equipped with a photosensor or other similar 
device. If the sign is not equipped with this option, the sign must be turned off between 7:00 p.m. and 
7:00 a.m. a. The distance provided in this section shall be measured by following a straight line, without 
regard to intervening buildings, from the nearest edge of electronic message display sign to the nearest 
point of the primary structure of residential dwelling unit.  

(10) All electronic message display signs permitted before the effective date of this section that can be 
altered to comply with it must be so altered.   

(11) In the event of a malfunction, an electronic message display message sign shall turn to a dark screen. The 
dark screen shall remain until the malfunction is corrected.   

(M) Flags of the United States, the state, the city, foreign nations having diplomatic relations with the United 
States, military, and any of their flags adopted or sanctioned by an elected legislative body of competent 
jurisdiction are not considered signs.   

(N) Signs are not permitted to extend above the roofline of the structure.  

1.1002. Signs in the R districts.  

(A) In the R residential districts the following accessory signs only shall be permitted:   
(1) One nonilluminated wall sign not more than 144 square inches in area attached to the principal 

building.   
(2) Signs which are deemed necessary to the public welfare by the governing body.   
(3) Refer to section 1.1003 for permitted non-residential uses in residential districts.  

(B) Permitted non-residential uses and apartment buildings. In addition to the signage above, sign(s) may be 
erected in residential districts for permitted non-residential uses and apartment buildings. Such signs shall 
meet all the requirements as stated under this zoning ordinance including the following:   
(1) No establishment is permitted to have more than two signs in total, which may face either a street, a 

parking area, or one of each. This does not allow for two signs facing the street and two signs facing the 
parking area. 

(2) All signs attached to a building shall comply with the following requirements:   
(a) No sign shall exceed 32 square feet.   
(b) Where a sign extends more than three inches from the face of the building, the sign shall be no closer 

than eight feet to the ground.   
(c) The maximum width of any sign attached parallel to a wall shall not exceed 60 percent of the width of 

the wall.   
(3) There shall be no more than one ground sign per public road frontage.   

(a) No part of the sign shall be closer than five feet to any property line or sidewalk.   
(b) No sign shall exceed 32 square feet in area for a single face and 64 square feet in area if a two-sided 

sign. If a parcel has multiple road frontage access, then an additional ground sign is allowed up to a 
maximum of 50 square feet of total signage, counting a single face of each sign. Sign(s) shall not 
exceed six feet in height.   

1.1003. Signs in B-OS business, office, service districts.  

(A) In B-OS business, office, service districts, no sign shall be permitted which is not accessory to the business 
conducted on the property and shall meet all requirements of this zoning ordinance including the 
following:   

469



Page 4 of 15 

(1) The total sign area for all signs permitted shall not exceed 30 percent of the area of the front face of the 
building.   

(2) No establishment is permitted to have more than two signs in total, which may face either a street, a 
parking area, or one of each. This does not allow for two signs facing the street and two signs facing the 
parking area.   

(3) All signs attached to a building shall comply with the following requirements:   
(a) No sign shall extend further than 24 inches over a street or public property. Where a sign extends 

more than three inches from the face of the building, the sign shall not be closer than eight feet to 
the ground.   

(b) The maximum width of any sign attached parallel to a wall shall not exceed 60 percent of the total 
width of the wall. However, if the wall contains a bump-up or bump-out/in feature, a sign may cover 
the entire width of that individual section, provided that the total sign width does not exceed 60 
percent of the overall wall width. 

(c) No part of the sign shall be closer than five feet to any property line or sidewalk.  
(4) A ground sign is permitted in addition to the total number permitted in subsection (A) (2) above, 

computed as part of the maximum total area permitted in subsection (A)(1) of this section above. The 
ground sign shall not exceed 30 square feet in area per sign face and shall not exceed six feet in height.   

1.1004. Signs in the B-C central business district.  

In the central business district, no sign shall be permitted which is not accessory to the business conducted 
on the property. Accessory signs may only be erected, painted or placed in accordance with the following 
requirements.  

(A) Signage size, location and number.  
 (1)The total area for all permitted signs shall not exceed ten percent of the first floor front face area of a 

tenant.   
(2) Additional signage allowed. The following signs are allowed and are not counted as part of the total sign 

area calculation in subsection (A) (1) of this section.   
(a) An additional sign for each first floor tenant space may be placed on the rear of a building, if that 

tenant space has an entrance at the rear of the building used by the public. This sign cannot exceed 
50 percent of the allowable signage.   

(b) Window signage. 
i. Window signage shall not exceed 30 percent of each individual window and up to a total of 25 

square feet per tenant is allowed.  
(c) An additional sign relating to business open and hours may be provided for each first floor tenant 

space of a building. These signs must be window signs subject to the regulations of above subsection 
(A) (2) (b).   

(d) An additional sign may be placed on the first floor of the building listing all businesses operating on a 
floor other than the first floor. The total area of this sign may be 25 percent of the primary exterior 
entry way leading to the non-first floor tenant space(s) as determined by the zoning administrator. The 
sign may not exceed five square feet.   

(3) If a first floor tenant space has no access from the front of the building and its principal store front is on 
the side or rear of the building, the total area for all permitted signs of that tenant space shall not exceed 
ten percent of the first floor tenant space of the principal store front.   
(a) The location of the principal store front will be determined by the zoning administrator.   

(4) No establishment is permitted to have more than two signs in total, which may face either a street, a 
parking area, or one of each. This does not allow for two signs facing the street and two signs facing the 
parking area, not including signs under subsection (A) (2) (b) of this section.   

(5) No sign shall be placed above the first floor or above the bottom window ledge of the second floor 
window.   

Exception 1.  If the entire wall area where the sign is to be placed has no openings, a sign may be 
placed anywhere on the wall face. 

470



Page 5 of 15 

Exception 2. A sign may be placed up to the top of the second-floor windows if the wall area 
where the sign is to be placed is at least six (6) feet from any opening on the second floor or 
abutting buildings. All proposed signs under this subsection must be reviewed by the design 
review committee and receive a recommendation before being considered by the planning 
commission.  

(6) Where a sign extends more than three inches from the face of the building, the sign shall not be closer 
than eight feet to the ground.   

(7)  The maximum width of any sign attached parallel to a wall shall not exceed 60 percent 
of the total width of the wall. However, if the wall contains a bump-up or bump-out/in feature, a 

sign may cover the entire width of that individual section, provided that the total sign width does not 
exceed 60 percent of the overall wall width. 

(B) Signage types.   
(1) Wall and projecting signs are permitted, computed as part of the maximum total area in subsection (A) 

of this section. 
(2) Ground sign. A freestanding ground sign is permitted, computed as part of the maximum total area 

permitted in subsection (A) of this section. The sign shall not exceed 32 square feet in display area. The 
freestanding ground sign shall not exceed six feet in height and must be set back five feet from all 
property lines and sidewalks. Corner clearances must be maintained as per section 1.1107.   

(3) A building with at least three or more distinct business or office uses shall be permitted to have a sign 
identifying each business or office as a combined ground sign. The area of a ground sign shall not exceed 
60 square feet per sign face. The sign area allowed for each business or office shall be prorated by the 
shopping center, business or office complex; however, no one business shall exceed 50 percent of 
maximum area allowed.   

(4) Canopy sign. Where a building has a canopy constructed as an integral part of the building, signs may be 
placed upon the canopy if parallel to the building face.   
(a) The permitted area of awning and canopy signs shall be determined as part of the total area for signs 

as provided in subsection (A) of this section.   
(b) Awning and canopy signs can be internally lighted provided that only the letters and/or logo of the 

sign are illuminated and are designed with a translucent and not transparent material. Any other part 
of the awning must be made of an opaque material.   

(5) Window sign. Window signage should be applied to the window or mounted on the interior of the 
building using high quality materials and application methods such as paint or vinyl film, wood or metal 
panels with applied lettering, or neon signs conforming to the other provisions of this zoning code. 
Illuminated tube band signs, or neon surrounding an entire window is prohibited.   

 (C) Sign materials and lighting shall be harmonious with the historic character of the buildings in the district 

and shall utilize materials as may be appropriate such as wood, brass, vintage painting, etc. in conformity 
with design guidelines established by the downtown development authority, a copy of which is 
incorporated herein by reference and which is available in the office of the city clerk. The community 
development department shall be responsible for determining if the sign design is in conformity with 
those design guidelines, subject to review by the planning commission or its designated design review 
committee.   

(D) Internal and external illumination on signage in the central business district (B-C) is allowed as regulated in 
this zoning ordinance.   
(1) Provided lighting must be steady and stationary in source and intensity. Acceptable sources include 

incandescent, halogen, neon, LED, and metal halide lighting.   
(2) For internally lighted signs and awnings, only letters, numerals, and logos may be illuminated.   
(3) Acceptable forms of internally lighted signs include:   

(a) Backlit (halo) signs.   
(b) Individual internally-illuminated letters (channel or dimensional lettering).   
(c) Box-type signs with three-dimensional push-through or inset graphics.   
(d) Awning or canopy signs where letters and logos are translucent.   

471



Page 6 of 15 

(4) All proposed internally illuminated signage will be sent to the design review committee for 
recommendation before an application is considered by the planning commission.   

(F) Internally illuminated box signs shall only be permitted with metal or completely opaque material 
backgrounds. Letters and logos must be stencil cut through the surface and filled with three-dimensional 
push-through or inset graphics that are of a translucent and not transparent material.   

(G) Internally lit, channel letter/logo signs may be lit using either exposed neon tubing within the letter/logo 
channel or another light source behind a translucent, not transparent material. For non-neon signs, letter 
forms must contain soft, diffused light sources inside each letter or logo. Regulations for distance of the 
letters from the building will be as follows:   

(1) Channel letters with transformers mounted inside the letters shall not extend more than 16 inches 
from the building wall.   

(2) Channel letters with remote transformers shall not extend more than 12 inches from the building 
wall.   

(3) Channel letters mounted on a raceway shall not extend more than 16 inches from the building wall.   
(H) No flashing sign, rotating or moving sign, animated sign or sign with moving lights or creating the illusion of 

movement shall be permitted. A sign whereon the current time and/or temperature is indicated by 
intermittent lighting shall not be deemed to be a flashing sign if the lighting changes are limited to the 
numerals indicating the time and/or temperature and are not more frequent than every 15 seconds.   

(I) The community development department may request a review by the planning commission design review 
committee where a question may exist as to the application of this section.   
A design review committee shall be appointed by the planning commission for the purpose of assisting the 
planning commission to preserve, protect and enhance the aesthetic appeal of the central business district 
as it relates to signage and to protect property values through the application of good design principles; and 
promote the general health, safety and welfare of the central business district and the community. The 
design review committee shall consist of not less than three regular members and shall include one member 
of the planning commission, one member of the downtown development authority and one member at 
large. The review committee, as it determines necessary or appropriate, shall utilize the assistance of 
planning, architectural and other consultants. The review committee shall seek the assistance of relevant 
experts in an effort to achieve accord in those instances in which the applicant objects to the decision of the 
review committee.   

 1.1005. Signs in B-H 1 business highway 1 district.  

(A) In the B-H 1 business highway district no sign[s] shall be permitted which is [that are] not accessory to the 
business conducted on the property, except a billboard as a special use subject to the following 
requirements are met.   

(1) No establishment shall have a total of more than three sign types facing upon any one street or 
parking area.   

(2) All signs attached to a building shall comply with the following requirements:   
(a) Where a sign extends more than three inches from the face of the building, the sign shall not be 

closer than eight feet to the ground.   
(b) Wall signs are permitted and the combined area per road frontage shall not exceed 15 percent of 

the total area of the wall to which the signs are attached. In addition, the total area shall not 
exceed 100 square feet per road frontage.  

Exception.  Where an establishment does not face a road and only faces a parking lot, the allowable 
sign area shall be determined based on the area of the principal storefront wall area of the tenant 
space.   

(c) The maximum width of any sign attached parallel to a wall shall not exceed 60 percent of the total 
width of the wall. However, if the wall contains a bump-up or bump-out/in feature, a sign may 
cover the entire width of that individual section, provided that the total sign width does not 
exceed 60 percent of the overall wall width. 

(d) For wall frontage on a public or private street that exceeds 200 lineal feet of frontage and with a 
setback greater than 300 feet from a public or private street and having a usable floor area of 

472



Page 7 of 15 

50,000 square feet or more, the following maximum allowable sign areas may be used in place of 
subsection 1.1005(A)(2)(b):   

Building Setback (in feet)   Wall Sign Area Permitted (in square feet)   

300—400   150   

400—500   175   

Greater than 500   Total wall sign area shall not exceed 10 percent of the 
total wall area of the wall to which the signs are 
attached   

  
(3) All pylon or ground signs must meet the following requirements:   

(a) A pylon sign is permitted and shall not exceed 60 square feet in area per sign face. A pylon sign 
shall be no higher than 30 feet or closer to the ground than eight feet. No part of the sign shall be 
closer than five feet to a property line or sidewalk. In no case shall there be more than one pylon 
sign with the same business name or logo facing upon any one street.   

(b) A ground sign is permitted and shall not exceed 30 square feet in area per sign face and shall not 
exceed six feet in height. No part of the sign shall be closer than five feet to the property line or 
sidewalk.   

(c) There shall only be one ground sign or pylon sign facing upon any one street; however, a second 
sign shall be allowed for a development having more than one entranceway onto a road right-of-
way, and where those entrance ways are at least 250 lineal feet apart. In these cases, signs must 
be placed no closer than 150 lineal feet apart and the second sign shall be a ground sign.   

(d) A shopping center, business or office complex with at least three or more distinct business or 
office uses shall be permitted to have a sign identifying each business or office as a combined 
pylon or ground sign. The area of a pylon sign shall not exceed 120 square feet per sign face and 
the area of a ground sign shall not exceed 60 square feet per sign face. The sign area allowed for 
each business or office shall be prorated by the shopping center, business or office complex; 
however, no one business shall exceed 50 percent of maximum area allowed.  

(4) Lots with dual frontages may not combine permissible signs for one frontage with another frontage 
for the purpose of placing a combined area of sign area on one frontage.   

(5) No sign shall be lighted by means of flashing or intermittent illumination. All light sources used for the 
illumination of signs or buildings or areas surrounding them, or for the illumination of display 
merchandise or products shall be completely shielded from the view of vehicular traffic.   

1.1006. Signs in B-H 2 business highway 2 and M manufacturing districts.  

(A) In the B-H 2 business highway 2 and M manufacturing districts, no sign[s] shall be permitted which is [that 
are] not accessory to the business conducted on the property, except a billboard as permitted below:  

(1) No establishment is permitted to have more than three signs in total, which may face either a street 

or a parking area.   

(2) The total sign area for all signs at each tenant space permitted shall not exceed 30 percent of the area 
of the front face of the building up to a maximum of 150 square feet.   

(3) All signs attached to a building shall comply with the following requirements:   
(a) No sign shall extend further than 15 inches over a street or public property or required side yard. 

Where a sign extends more than three inches from the face of the building, the sign shall not be 
closer than eight feet to the ground.   

(b) The maximum width of any sign attached parallel to a wall shall not exceed 60 percent of the total 
width of the wall. However, if the wall contains a bump-up or bump-out/in feature, a sign may 
cover the entire width of that individual section, provided that the total sign width does not 
exceed 60 percent of the overall wall width. 

(4) A pylon sign is permitted, computed as part of the maximum total area permitted in subsection (A)(2) 
of this section above. The sign shall not exceed 60 square feet in area. A pylon sign shall be no higher 

473



Page 8 of 15 

than 30 feet or closer to the ground than eight feet. No part of the sign shall be closer than five feet 
to a property line.   

(5) A ground sign is permitted, computed as part of the maximum total area permitted in subsection 
(A)(2) of this section above. The sign shall not exceed 30 square feet in area per sign face and shall 
not exceed six feet in height. No part of the sign shall be closer than five feet to the property line.   

(6) A shopping center, business or office complex with a group of business or office use shall be 
permitted to have a sign identifying each business or office as a pylon or ground sign. The area of 
such sign shall be governed by the sign area allowed for all signs as required in section (A)(2) above. 
The sign area allowed for each business or office shall be prorated based on the sign area allowed for 
each business or office unless otherwise agreed to by the shopping center, business or office complex 
but in no instance shall the total area of all signs exceed the requirements of section (A)(2).   

(7) No sign shall be lighted by means of flashing or intermittent illumination. All light sources used for the 
illumination of signs or buildings or areas surrounding them, or for the illumination of display 
merchandise or products shall be completely shielded from the view of vehicular traffic.   

(8) Billboards may be permitted in M manufacturing districts in accord with provisions of article VI, 
special land uses and structures.   

(9) Temporary signs subject to section 1.1012.   

1.1007. Signs in the PDD-2 planned development district.  

 

Sign Type   Max. Quantity   Max. Letter Height   Max. Signage Area   

Primary Sign Types       120 sq. ft.   

Type A—Trellis/Marquee   One per Tenant frontage   24 Inches   120 sq. ft.   

Type B—Fascia Wall Sign   One per Tenant frontage   24 Inches   120 sq. ft.   

Type C—Feature Sign   One per Tenant frontage   24 Inches   120 sq. ft.   

Secondary Sign Types       60 sq. ft.   

Type D—Window and 
Door   

One per window   8 inches   10 sq. ft. (only 1 side 
counted)   

Type E—Changeable Signs   One easel per major entry   N/A   12 sf (umbrellas) sq. ft. 
(easels)   

Type F—Projecting Blade 
Sign   

One per Tenant frontage   N/A   10 sq. ft. (only 1 side 
counted)   

Type G—Awning Sign   One per awning   8 inches   10 sq. ft. per awning   

Type H—Plaque Sign   One per major entry   N/A   4 sq. ft.   

Type I—Video Display 
Board   

N/A   N/A   .75 sq. ft. per linear foot of 
frontage   

  
(A) Signs shall be designed as an integral part of the storefront design concept and shall complement the 

existing context of other buildings and signs in the PDD-2 district.   
(B) Primary sign area is limited to 1.5 square feet per linear foot of frontage, up to the maximum size indicated 

in the chart below. (Frontage is measured parallel to street right-of-way.)   
(C) Secondary sign area is limited to .75 square feet per linear foot of frontage, up to the maximum size 

indicated below.   
(D) Graphic symbols and corporate logos, when used with primary signs (sign types A, B, and C) shall not exceed 

eight feet in any one direction or 64 sq. ft. in aggregate area. Such square footage shall be computed as part 
of the maximum sign area permitted.   

(E) All primary signs must be three-dimensional, with maximum letter return of six inches and a minimum panel 
thickness of one inch.   

474



Page 9 of 15 

(F) Tenants in corner locations or with frontage on two principal streets may be permitted to use two or more 
primary signs for identification. If in a corner location, one of the signs must be a feature/marquee type 
sign.   

1.1008. Signs in the PDD-3 planned development district 3.  

(A) Signage size, location and number. Buildings in PDD-3 are allowed signage for the primary occupant, 
secondary tenant spaces, and one building ground sign.   

(1) Primary occupant signage. The total area for all permitted signs for the primary occupant shall not exceed 
ten percent of the first floor principal face area of the building.   
(a) The primary occupant is defined as the business or entity that occupies more than 50 percent of the 

floor area of building.   
(b) The principal face of the building will be determined by the zoning administrator.   
(c) The primary occupant shall have a total of no more than two signs attached to the building, not 

including signs under subsection (A)(4) of this section.   
(2) Secondary tenant space signage. The total area for all permitted signs for a secondary tenant shall not 

exceed ten percent of the first floor front face area of the tenant space.   
(a) A secondary tenant is defined as any business that occupies less than 50 percent of the floor area of 

the building and has a tenant space with a public, exterior access.   
(b) A secondary tenant space shall have a total of no more than two signs facing upon any one street or 

parking area, not including signs under subsection (A)(4) of this section.   
(c) No sign for a secondary tenant space shall be placed above the first floor.   

(3) Building ground sign. Each parcel is permitted one freestanding ground sign. The freestanding ground sign 
shall not exceed six feet in height and must be set back five feet from all property lines and sidewalks. 
Corner clearances must be maintained as per section 1.1107.   
(a) If promoting only the primary occupant, the sign shall not exceed 32 square feet in display area per 

sign face.   
(b) If promoting the primary occupant and at least one secondary tenant, the total area of the sign shall 

not exceed 60 square feet per sign face. The sign area allowed for the primary occupant shall not 
exceed 32 square feet per sign face and the sign area for any secondary tenant cannot exceed one half 
the sign area per sign face of the primary occupant.   

(c) Sign area within the ground sign is not counted as part of the total sign area calculation for the primary 
occupant or secondary tenant spaces.   

(4) Additional signage allowed. The following signs are allowed and are not counted as part of the total sign 
area calculation in subsection (A)(1) of this section.   
(a) An additional sign for each first floor tenant space may be placed on the rear of a building, if that 

tenant space has an entrance at the rear of the building used by the public. This sign cannot exceed 50 
percent of the allowable signage.   

(b) Window signage equal to not more than ten percent of each individual window and up to a total of 25 
square feet per tenant is allowed.   

(c) An additional sign relating to business open and hours may be provided for each first floor tenant 
space of a building. These signs must be window signs.   

(5) Location.  Where a sign extends more than three inches from the face of the building, the sign shall not 
be closer than eight feet to the ground.   

(6) Maximum width. The maximum width of any sign attached parallel to a wall shall not exceed 60 
percent of the total width of the wall. However, if the wall contains a bump-up or bump-out/in 

feature, a sign may cover the entire width of that individual section, provided that the total sign width 
does not exceed 60 percent of the overall wall width. 

(B) Signage types.  
(1) Awning or canopy sign. Where a building or tenant space has a canopy constructed as an integral part of 

the building, signs may be placed upon the canopy if parallel to the building face.   

475



Page 10 of 15 

(a) Awning and canopy signs can be internally lighted provided that only the letters and/or logo of the 
sign are illuminated and are designed with a translucent and not transparent material. Any other 
part of the awning must be made of an opaque material.   

(2) Grand projecting sign. Tall, large, vertically oriented signs which project from the building perpendicular 
to the façade and which are structurally integrated into the building.   

(a) Only allowed as a sign for the primary occupant.   
(b) Grand projecting signs shall be no taller than 30 feet from the bottom-most part of the sign to the 

tallest part of the sign. Shall project no more than six feet from the façade of the building. Shall be 
no less than 12 feet from the bottom-most part of the sign to the ground. No portion of the sign 
shall extend above the roofline.   

(c) No portion of the sign shall be located within four feet of any window of a residential unit or hotel 
room.   

(d) Grand projecting signs shall be illuminated only by steady, shielded light sources directed solely at 
the sign or at the sign or internal to it. Use of glaring undiffused lights or bulbs shall be prohibited. 
Lights shall be shielded so as not to project onto adjoining properties or thoroughfares.   

(e) No portion of a grand projecting sign shall be placed above the third floor of a building.   
(3) Projecting sign. Signs which are affixed to the building and oriented perpendicularly to the building 

façade.   
(a) No projecting sign shall exceed 16 square feet in size.   
(b) Projecting signs shall project no more than four feet from the façade of the building.   
(c) No portion of the sign shall be located within four feet of any window of a residential unit or hotel 

room.   
(d) No projecting sign shall be placed above the first floor.   

(4) Wall sign. Signs located on and parallel to a building wall.   
(5) Window sign. Window signage should be applied to the window or mounted on the interior of 

the building using high quality materials and application methods such as paint or vinyl film, 
wood or metal panels with applied lettering, or neon signs conforming to the other provisions 
of this zoning code. Illuminated tube band signs, or neon surrounding an entire window is 
prohibited.   

(D) If the building or any tenant space of the building has been vacant for more than one year the vacant space 
shall immediately have all signs removed and building walls and/or grounds left in good repair. Upon failure 
of any person to comply with the provisions of this section, the city may effectuate compliance through any 
available public agency or by contract or arrangement by private persons and the cost thereof shall be 
charged against the owner of the real estate upon which the building is located and any such cost shall be a 
lien upon such real estate.   

(E) Sign materials and lighting shall be harmonious with the buildings in the district and in conformity with 
design guidelines established by the downtown development authority, a copy of which is incorporated 
herein by reference and which is available in the office of the city clerk. The community development 
department shall be responsible for determining if the sign design is in conformity with those design 
guidelines, subject to review by the planning commission or its designated design review committee.   

(F) No flashing sign, rotating or moving sign, animated sign or sign with moving lights or creating the illusion of 
movement shall be permitted. A sign whereon the current time and/or temperature is indicated by 
intermittent lighting shall not be deemed to be a flashing sign if the lighting changes are limited to the 
numerals indicating the time and/or temperature and are not more frequent than every 15 seconds.   

(G) Internal and external illumination on signage in PDD-3 is allowed as regulated for this type of sign in the B-C 
central business district.   

(H) Temporary signs in PDD-3 are allowed as regulated in the B-C central business district subject to section 
1.1012 of this zoning ordinance.   

The community development department may request a review by the planning commission design review 
committee where a question may exist as to the application of this section.   

1.1009. Signs in the B-N business neighborhood district.  

476



Page 11 of 15 

(A) In the B-N business neighborhood district no sign shall be permitted which is [that are] not accessory to the 
business conducted on the property. Residential uses that are not part of an apartment building or mixed-
use development shall follow section 1.1002 of this zoning ordinance.   

(B) Signage size, location, and number.   
(1) The combined permitted signage area shall not exceed 30 percent of the principal storefront wall area of 

the tenant space.  In addition, the total area shall not exceed 100 square feet. In the case of corner lots, 
the zoning administrator shall determine the street that constitutes the site's frontage.   

(2) No commercial establishment is permitted to have more than three signs in total, which may face a 
street or parking area.   

(3) Where a sign extends more than three inches from the face of the building, the sign shall not be closer 
than eight feet to the ground.   

(4) There shall be no more than one ground sign per public road frontage.   
(C) Signage types.   

(1) Wall signs. The maximum width of any sign attached parallel to a wall shall not exceed 60 percent of the 
total width of the wall. However, if the wall contains a bump-up or bump-out/in feature, a sign may 
cover the entire width of that individual section, provided that the total sign width does not exceed 60 
percent of the overall wall width. 

(2) Awning or canopy signs. The maximum area of an awning or canopy sign is ten square feet.   
(3) Projecting signs. The maximum area of a projecting sign is ten square feet.   
(4) Ground sign. A freestanding ground sign is permitted, computed as part of the maximum total area 

permitted in subsection (C) of this section. The sign shall not exceed 32 square feet in area. The 
freestanding ground sign shall not exceed six feet in height and must be set back five feet from all 
property lines and sidewalks. Corner clearances must be maintained as per section 1.1107.   

(5) Multi-tenant ground sign. A building with three or more distinct business or office uses shall be 
permitted to have a combined ground sign identifying each business or office. The area of such 
combined ground sign shall not exceed 64 square feet per sign face. The sign area allowed for each 
business or office shall be prorated by the shopping center, business or office complex; however, no one 
business shall exceed 50 percent of maximum area allowed.   

(6) Window signage. Window signage equal to not more than ten percent of each individual window, and up 
to a total of 25 square feet per tenant, is allowed. This area shall not be counted as part of the total sign 
area calculation in subsection (C). Window signage shall be applied to the window or mounted on the 
interior of the building using materials such as paint or vinyl film, wood or metal panels with applied 
lettering, or neon signs conforming to the other provisions of this zoning code. Illuminated tube band 
signs and neon surrounding an entire window are prohibited.   

(E) Nonconforming signs.   
(1) Existing pylon signs. Class A nonconforming structure status as provided in sections 1.0802 and 1.0803 of 

this zoning ordinance is hereby granted without further action to any pylon signs located in the B-N 
business neighborhood district effective March 9, 2022 and as referenced in section 1.0711.   

(F) Internal and external illumination. Internal and external illumination on signage is allowed as regulated in 
this section.   
(1) Lighting must be steady and stationary in source and intensity. Acceptable sources include incandescent, 

halogen, LED, and metal halide lighting.   
(2) For internally lighted signs and awnings, only numbers, numerals, and logos may be illuminated.   
(3) Acceptable forms of internally lighted signs included:   

(a) Backlit (halo) signs.   
(b) Individually internally-illuminated letters (channel or dimensional lettering).   
(c) Box-type signs with three-dimensional push-through or inset graphics.   
(d) Awning or canopy signs where letters and logos are translucent.   

(4) Internally illuminated box signs shall only be permitted with metal or completely opaque material 
backgrounds. Letters and logos must be stencil-cut through the surface and filled with three-dimensional 
push-through or inset graphics that are of a translucent and not transparent material.   

477



Page 12 of 15 

(5) Internally lit, channel letter/logo signs may be lit using either exposed neon tubing within the letter/logo 
channel or another light source behind a translucent, not transparent material. For non-neon signs, 
letter forms must contain soft, diffused light sources inside each letter or logo. Regulations for distance 
of the letters from the building will be as follows:   

(a) Channel letters with transformers mounted inside the letters shall not extend more than 16 inches 
from the building wall.   

(b) Channel letters with remote transformers shall not extend more than 12 inches from the building 
wall.   

(c) Channel letters mounted on a raceway shall not extend more than 16 inches from the building 
wall.   

(6) No flashing sign, rotating or moving sign, animated sign, sign with moving lights, or sign creating the 
illusion of movement shall be permitted.   

(7) If the building official cannot determine whether the project meets the standards, the building official 
shall refer the project to the design review committee for its determination and recommendation to the 
planning commission for approval.   

1.1010. Signs accessory to public parks and public facilities in any district.  

(A) Sign(s) may be erected in any district for public parks and public facilities. Such signs shall meet all 

requirements as stated under this zoning ordinance including the following:   
(1) Such signs may be placed on the property line if all corner clearances are maintained at all driveways, 

buildings and parking areas.   
(2) All signs are subject to final approval from the planning commission and the following standards should 

be used for establishing size, setback and placement of signs:   
(a) Visibility of vehicular and pedestrian traffic off site and at the site, visibility and legibility of signs for 

drivers and/or pedestrians and the impact upon the visibility of traffic signals or regulatory devices 
in the public street right-of-way.   

(b) Negative impact of proposed signs upon adjacent properties and their signage and the impact of 
lighting and appearance of signs upon residential zoned property.   

(c) Particular site characteristics such as yard areas, landscaping, topography, location of buildings, site 
use and number of road frontages.   

(3) Emergency, directional, parking, address, temporary event or activity and promotional signs shall 
not require a permit if it does not exceed 32 square feet.   

1.1011. Temporary promotional materials.  

In all zoning districts, temporary promotional materials shall be displayed and removed with strict adherence 
to the following guidelines:   

(A) The following types of signs are permitted as temporary promotional materials: 
(1) Banners may be displayed on first-floor tenant spaces. If placed in an area where pedestrians may pass 

underneath, banners must be installed at least eight feet above ground level. Each banner shall not 
exceed 32 square feet, and only one banner is permitted to be displayed at a time. 

(2) Window Signs may cover up to 30 percent of total square feet of all display windows, not to exceed 50 
percent coverage of any single pane/panel or contiguous series of panes/panels.  

(3) Sandwich Board may display temporary promotional materials if it is placed where a minimum of 60 
inches of unobstructed pedestrian walkway is maintained.  Sandwich boards signs shall not exceed eight 
(8) square feet and four (4) feet in height.  

(B) Time limitations: All temporary promotional materials must be removed within 60 days of installation. 
Temporary promotional materials may be displayed year round however each special promotion i.e., 
Christmas holidays, new product line, sale, etc. may only be advertised in this fashion for a maximum of 60 
days.   

(C) Installation and removal: Any adhesive applied to glass must be transparent. All materials used for 
installation tape etc. must be completely removed when promotion posters are removed.   

478



Page 13 of 15 

  

1.1012. Temporary signs.  

(A) Temporary signs in all districts are permitted subject to the following, including additional district 
requirements of this section.  
(1) No temporary sign shall be close than five feet to any property line or sidewalk.  
(2) Corner clearance requirements must be maintained as per section 1.1107.  
(3) All temporary signs must be maintained in good condition.  
(4) Temporary signs shall not be placed in parking area.  
(5) No temporary sign shall create a vision hazard.  

(B)  In addition to (A) above, temporary signs in commercial districts. B-H 1, B-H 2, and B-OS are permitted 
subject to the following conditions:   
(1) A temporary sign shall only be displayed upon receipt of an issued permit.  When issued, the applicant 

will receive an approval sticker to be placed on each sign.  Each sign requires a separate permit.   
(2) Temporary signs must be accessory to a business on the parcel.   

(a) Permission must be granted by all tenants and the owner of the parcel to display non accessory sign 
for up to five business days.   

(3) Upon expiration of the permit, the sign shall be removed by the permit holder.   
(4) Temporary sign types allowed as a periodic permit: banner, portable, rigid frame yard sign, feather, wire 

frame yard sign and flag signs.   
(a) No temporary banner, portable, wire frame or rigid frame yard sign shall be displayed for more than 

30 calendar days for any one permit and no more than two permits shall be issued for any tenant 
space during any calendar year. Each sign requires a permit.   

(b) Temporary signs in this section (B) (4) may be displayed for 24 hours per day. 
(c) No temporary feather or flag sign shall be permitted for more than two consecutive weeks and no 

more than four permits shall be issued for any tenant space during any calendar year. Each sign 
requires a permit.   

(d) Signs under this subsection must be placed at least 50 feet from another temporary sign on the same 
parcel.   

(e) No more than two signs under this subsection may be displayed at any one time by the same tenant.   
(5) Temporary sign types allowed as a permanent permit: Feather, flag, wire frame yard sign and sandwich 

board signs.   
  (a) Must allow for a minimum 60 inches of unobstructed pedestrian walkway and shall not obstruct 

access to parking.  
  (b) No more than two signs under this section may be displayed at any one time.  
  (c) Signs under this subsection must be placed at least 50 feet from another temporary sign on the same 

parcel.   

479



Page 14 of 15 

(d) Temporary signs in section (B) (5) may only be displayed during business hours or a maximum of 
twelve 12 hours per day.  They must be removed at the close of business hours or when the 12-hour 
time limit is reached.   

(6) Maximum height and square feet for these signs are listed in table 1.1012 A1.   
TABLE 1.1012 A1  

Type of Sign   Maximum Area per sign   Maximum Height of Sign   

Banner Sign   32 sq. ft.   6 ft.   

Portable Sign   32 sq. ft.   6 ft.   

Flag Sign   6 sq. ft.   See Section 1.1012(B) 7   

Rigid Frame Yard Sign   32 sq. ft.   6 ft.   

Wire Frame Yard Sign   6 sq. ft.   3 ft.   

Feather Sign   25 sq. ft.   12 ft. to top of sign   
(including pole)   

Sandwich Board Sign   8 sq. ft. per side   4 ft.   

  
(7) Flag signs may not be placed where the lowest edge of the flag is less than seven feet to the ground level 

when attached to a building. If placed in a pedestal or into the ground it may not exceed eight feet in 
height.   

(8) Air-blown devices and inflatable signs are allowed two times per year. A permit is required each time an 
air blown device will be displayed.   
(a) These types of signs shall be secured directly to, and not suspended from, the ground. They may not 

be placed on a roof or suspended from a building.   
(b) Inflatable signs shall not exceed 30 percent of the total area of the wall of the tenant space or 60 sq. 

ft., whichever is larger. Inflatable signs shall not exceed 30 ft. in height when fully inflated.   
(c) Air blown devices and inflatable signs must be set back the maximum height of the sign from the 

property line but in no instance shall this be less than five feet.   
(d) They shall not be located in required parking spaces, driveways that provide access to parking spaces, 

or fire lanes, nor shall the sign or its securing device encroach into the right-of-way.   
(e) Each permit allows for display up to ten consecutive days.   

(C) In addition to (A) above, temporary signs in M - Manufacturing districts are permitted subject to the 
following conditions:   
(1) Temporary signs shall be allowed in manufacturing districts and no permit is required as long as the 

requirements of this section are met.   
(2) Temporary signs shall not exceed six feet in height.  
(3) Temporary signs shall not exceed 32 square feet in area.   
(4) No temporary sign shall be displayed for more than 30 consecutive days.   

(D) In addition to (A) above, temporary signs in the B-C - Central business, B-N - Business neighborhood, B-OS – 
Business office service, PDD-2, and PDD-3 zoning districts are permitted subject to the following 
conditions:   
(1) A temporary sign shall only be displayed upon receipt of an issued permit for each sign.   
(2) Temporary sign types allowed as a permanent permit: Feather, flag and sandwich board signs.   

(a) Two temporary signs may be placed at the same time, but they each must be a different, permitted 
sign type.   

(b) Feather and sandwich board signs may be placed on sidewalks or walking areas that are directly in 
front of tenant space for which it is advertising.   

(c) They must allow for a minimum of 60 inches of unobstructed pedestrian walkway and shall not 
obstruct access to parking or create a vision hazard.   

(d) Feather flags may be displayed using any of the following methods:   
i. Attached to a pedestal style base not affixed to the ground.   

480



Page 15 of 15 

ii. Placed in the existing flag holes constructed by the city. These holes may only be utilized when not 

otherwise used for display of the American flag by the city or other group authorized by the city. 
If a feather flag is displayed at the time an authorized group wishes to display the 
American flag, the feather flag must be immediately removed.   

(e) Flags may be displayed using one of the following methods:   
i. Attached to the building wall of the tenant space for which it is advertising where the lowest edge 

of the flag must be seven feet or more and not extend above the first floor tenant space.   
ii. Placed in the existing flag holes constructed by the city. These holes may only be utilized when not 

otherwise used for display of the American flag by the city or other group authorized by the city. If 
a flag sign is displayed at the time an authorized group wishes to display the American flag, the flag 
sign must be immediately removed.   

(f) They may only be displayed during business hours and must be removed at the close of business 
hours.   

(3) Maximum height and square feet for these signs are listed in table 1.1012 D1.   
Table 1.1012 D1  

Type of Sign   Maximum Area per Sign   Maximum Height of Sign   

Flag Sign   6 sq. ft.   No higher than first floor tenant 
space   

Feather Sign   25 sq. ft.   12 ft. to top of sign   

Sandwich Board Sign   8 ft. per side   4 ft.   

  

(4) Banner signs shall only be allowed for up to 30 days within 90 days of a new business opening. The 
sign shall not exceed 32 square feet in area and four feet in height. The banner sign must be 
placed on the building where the new tenant is located.   

(5) Tenant spaces other than on the first floor may be permitted a sandwich board sign in front of first floor 
tenant space.   

(E) Temporary signs in residential districts are permitted subject to the following conditions:   
(1) Temporary signs shall be allowed in residential districts and no permit is required.   
(2) Temporary signs shall not exceed four feet in height or 16 square feet in area.   
(3) No temporary sign shall be displayed for more than 30 consecutive days.   
(4) No temporary sign shall be closer than five feet to any property line.   
(5) No temporary sign shall be placed in the right-of-way.   

(F) Enforcement. Upon failure of any person to comply with the provisions of the sign ordinance, the 
city may effectuate compliance by first notifying the owner of the sign in violation by mail, phone, 
or in person that they have 24 hours to come into compliance. If the sign is not removed or 
brought into compliance, a citation may be issued as per appendix B Fine Schedule in the City Code 
of Ordinances. A citation may be issued for each day the violation remains. Non accessory signs 
may be removed by the City.  

  
 

481



 1 of 28  

 

ARTICLE XI. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

1.1101. Scope. 

No building or structure, or part thereof, shall hereafter be erected, constructed or altered and maintained, 
and no new use or change shall be made or maintained of any building, structure or land, or part thereof, except in 
conformity with the provisions of this [zoning] ordinance.  

1.1102. Conflicting regulations. 

Whenever any provision of this [zoning] ordinance imposes more stringent requirements, regulations, 
restrictions or limitations than are imposed or required by the provisions of any other law or ordinance, then the 
provisions of this [zoning] ordinance shall govern. Whenever the provisions of any other law or ordinance impose 
more stringent requirements than are imposed or required by this title, then the provision of such ordinance shall 
govern.  

1.1103. Uses not otherwise included within a specific district. 

Because the uses or activities referred to in this section possess unique characteristics making it impractical 
to include them in a specific use district classification, they may be permitted under the conditions specified.  

These uses or activities require special consideration since they service an area larger than the city or require 
sites creating problems of control with reference to abutting use districts. Reference to those uses falling 
specifically within the intent of this section is as follows:  

(A) Wireless telecommunication towers and antennas. 

 (1) Purpose. The purpose of this [zoning] ordinance is to establish general guidelines for the siting of 
wireless communications towers and antennas. The goals of this [zoning] ordinance are to:  

(a) Protect residential areas and land uses from potential adverse impacts of towers and 
antennas;  

(b) Encourage the location of towers in nonresidential areas;  

(c) Minimize the total number of towers throughout the community;  

(d) Strongly encourage the joint use of new and existing tower sites as a primary option rather 
than constructions of additional single-use towers;  

(e) Encourage users of towers and antennas to locate them, to the extent possible, in areas 
where the adverse impact on the community is minimal;  

(f) Encourage users of towers and antennas to configure them in a way that minimizes the 
adverse visual impact of the towers and antennas through careful design, siting, landscape 
screening, and innovative camouflaging techniques;  

(g) Enhance the ability of the providers of telecommunications services to provide such 
services to the community quickly, effectively, and efficiently;  

(h) Consider the public health and safety of communication towers; and  

(i) Avoid potential damage to adjacent properties from tower failure through engineering and 
careful siting of tower structures. In furtherance of these goals, the City of Sturgis shall give 
due consideration to its master plan, zoning map, existing land uses, and environmentally 
sensitive areas in approving sites for the location of towers and antennas.  

482



 

 2 of 28  

 

(2) Definitions. As used in this [zoning] ordinance, the following terms shall have the meanings set 
forth below:  

(a) [The term] "alternative tower structure" means manmade trees, clock towers, bell 
steeples, light poles and similar alternative design mounting structures that camouflage or 
conceal the presence of antennas or towers.  

(b) [The term] "antenna" means any exterior transmitting or receiving device mounted on a 
tower, building or structure and used in communications that radiate or capture 
electromagnetic waves, digital signals, analog signals, radio frequencies (excluding radar 
signals), wireless telecommunications signals or other communication signals.  

(c) [The term] "backhaul network" means the lines that connect a provider's towers/cell sites 
to one or more cellular telephone switching offices, and/or long distance providers, or the 
public switched telephone network.  

(d) [The term] "FAA" means the Federal Aviation Administration.  

(e) [The term] "FCC" means the Federal Communications Commission.  

(f) [The term] "height" means, when referring to a tower or other structure, the distance 
measured from the finished grade of the parcel to the highest point on the tower or other 
structure, including the base pad and any antenna.  

(g) [The term] "preexisting towers and preexisting antennas" means any tower or antenna for 
which a building permit or special use permit has been properly issued prior to the 
effective date of this [zoning] ordinance, including permitted towers or antennas that have 
not yet been constructed so long as such approval is current and not expired.  

(h) [The term] "tower" means any structure that is designed and constructed primarily for the 
purpose of supporting one or more antennas for telephone, radio and similar 
communication purposes, including self-supporting lattice towers, guyed towers, or 
monopole towers. The term includes radio and television transmission towers, microwave 
towers, common-carrier towers, cellular telephone towers, alternative tower structures, 
and the like. The term includes the structure and any support thereto.  

(3) Applicability. 

 (a) New towers and antennas. All new towers or antennas in the City of Sturgis shall be subject 
to these regulations, except as provided in [sub]sections (3)(b) through (d) [of this section], 
inclusive.  

(b) Amateur radio station operators/receive only antennas. This [zoning] ordinance shall not 
govern any tower, or the installation of any antenna, that is under 70 feet in height and is 
owned and operated by a federally-licensed amateur radio station operator or is used 
exclusively for receive only antennas.  

(c) Preexisting towers or antennas. Preexisting towers and preexisting antennas shall not be 
required to meet the requirements of this [zoning] ordinance, other than the requirements 
of [sub]sections (4)(f) and (4)(g) [of this section].  

(d) AM array. For purposes of implementing this [zoning] ordinance, an AM array, consisting of 
one or more tower units and supporting ground system which functions as one AM 
broadcasting antenna, shall be considered one tower. Measurements for setbacks and 
separation distances shall be measured from the outer perimeter of the towers included in 
the AM array. Additional tower units may be added within the perimeter of the AM array 
by right.  

(4) General requirements. 

483



 

 3 of 28  

 

 (a) Principal or accessory use. Antennas and towers may be considered either principal or 
accessory uses. A different existing use of an existing structure on the same lot shall not 
preclude the installation of an antenna or tower on such lot.  

(b) Lot size. For purposes of determining whether the installation of a tower or antenna 
complies with district development regulations, including but not limited to setback 
requirements, lot-coverage requirements, and other such requirements, the dimensions of 
the entire lot shall control, even though the antennas or towers may be located on leased 
parcels within such lot.  

(c) Inventory of existing sites. Each applicant for an antenna and/or tower shall provide to the 
community development department an inventory of its existing towers, antennas, or sites 
approved for towers or antennas, that are either within the jurisdiction of the City of 
Sturgis or within one mile of the border thereof, including specific information about the 
location, height, and design of each tower. The community development department may 
share such information with other applicants applying for administrative approvals or 
special use permits under this [zoning] ordinance or other organizations seeking to locate 
antennas within the jurisdiction of the City of Sturgis, provided, however that the 
community development department is not, by sharing such information, in any way 
representing or warranting that such sites are available or suitable.  

(d) Aesthetics. Towers and antennas shall meet the following requirements:  

(1) Towers shall either maintain a galvanized steel finish or, subject to any 

applicable standards of the FAA, be painted a neutral color so as to reduce 
visual obtrusiveness.  

(2) At a tower site, the design of the buildings and related structures shall, to the 

extent possible, use materials, colors, textures, screening, and landscaping that 
will blend them into the natural setting and surrounding buildings.  

(3) If an antenna is installed on a structure other than a tower, the antenna and 

supporting electrical and mechanical equipment must be of a neutral color that 
is identical to, or closely compatible with, the color of the supporting structure 
so as to make the antenna and related equipment as visually unobtrusive as 
possible.  

(e) Lighting. Towers shall not be artificially lighted, unless required by the FAA or other 
applicable authority. If lighting is required, the lighting alternatives and design chosen must 
cause the least disturbance to the surrounding views.  

(f) State or federal requirements. All towers must meet or exceed current standards and 
regulations of the FAA, the FCC, and any other agency of the state or federal government 
with the authority to regulate towers and antennas. If such standards and regulations are 
changed, then the owners of the towers and antennas governed by this [zoning] ordinance 
shall bring such towers and antennas into compliance with such revised standards and 
regulations within six months of the effective date of such standards and regulations, 
unless a different compliance schedule is mandated by the controlling state or federal 
agency. Failure to bring towers and antennas into compliance with such revised standards 
and regulations shall constitute grounds for the removal of the tower or antenna at the 
owner's expense.  

(g) Building codes: safety standards. To ensure the structural integrity of towers, the owner of 
a tower shall ensure that it is maintained in compliance with standards contained in 
applicable state or local building codes and the applicable standards for towers that are 
published by the Electronic Industries Association, as amended from time to time. If, upon 
inspection, the City of Sturgis concludes that a tower fails to comply with such codes and 

484



 

 4 of 28  

 

standards and constitutes a danger to persons or property, then upon notice being 
provided to the owner of the tower, the owner shall have 30 days to bring such tower into 
compliance with such standards. Failure to bring such tower into compliance within said 30 
days shall constitute grounds for the removal of the tower or antenna at the owner's 
expense.  

(h) Measurement. For purposes of measurements, tower setbacks and separation distances 
shall be calculated and applied to facilities located in the City of Sturgis irrespective of 
municipal and county jurisdictional boundaries.  

(i) Not essential services. Towers and antennas shall be regulated and permitted pursuant to 
this [zoning] ordinance and shall not be regulated or permitted as essential services, public 
utilities, or private utilities.  

(j) Franchises. Owners and/or operators of towers or antennas shall certify that all franchises 
required by jaw for the construction and/or operation of a wireless communication system 
in the City of Sturgis have been obtained and shall file a copy of all required franchises with 
the community development department.  

(k) Public notice. For purposes of this [zoning] ordinance, any special use request, variance 
request, or appeal of an administratively approved use or special use shall require public 
notice to all abutting property owners and all property owners of properties that are 
located within the corresponding separation distance listed in [sub]section (7)(b)(5)(ii) [of 
this section], Table 2, in addition to any notice otherwise required by the zoning ordinance.  

(l) Signs. No signs shall be allowed on an antenna or tower.  

(m) Buildings and support equipment. Buildings and support equipment associated with 
antennas or towers shall comply with the requirements of [sub]section (A)(8) [of this 
section].  

(n) Multiple antenna/tower plan. The City of Sturgis encourages the users of towers and 
antennas to submit a single application for approval of multiple towers and/or antenna 
sites. Applications for approval of multiple sites shall be given priority in the review 
process.  

(5) Permitted uses. 

 (a) General. The uses listed in this Section are deemed to be permitted uses and shall not 
require administrative approval or a special use permit.  

(b) Permitted uses. The following uses are specifically permitted:  

(1) Antennas or towers located on property owned, leased, or otherwise controlled 

by the City of Sturgis provided a license or lease authorizing such antenna or 
tower has been approved by the City of Sturgis.  

(6) Administratively approved uses. 

 (a) General. The following provisions shall govern the issuance of administrative approvals for 
towers and antennas.  

(1) The community development department may administratively approve the 

uses listed in this section.  

(2) Each applicant for administrative approval shall apply to the community 

development department providing the information set forth in [sub]sections 
(A)(7)(b)(1) and (A)(7)(b)(3) [of this section] of this [zoning] ordinance and a 
nonrefundable fee as established by resolution of the Sturgis City Commission 
to reimburse the City of Sturgis for the costs of reviewing the application.  

485



 

 5 of 28  

 

(3) The community development department shall review the application for 

administrative approval and determine if the proposed use complies with 
[sub]sections (A)(4)(7)(b)(4) and (A)(7)(b)(5) [of this section] of this [zoning] 
ordinance.  

(4) The community development department shall respond to each such 

application within 60 days after receiving it by either approving or denying the 
application. If the community development department fails to respond to the 
applicant within said 60 days, then the application shall be deemed to be 
approved.  

(5) In connection with any such administrative approval, the community 

development department may, in order to encourage shared use, 
administratively waive any zoning district setback requirements in [sub]section 
(A)(7)(b)(4) [of this section] or separation distances between towers in 
[sub]section (A)(7)(b)(5) [of this section] by up to 50 percent.  

(6) In connection with any such administrative approval, the community 

development department may, in order to encourage the use of monopoles, 
administratively allow the reconstruction of an existing tower to monopole 
construction.  

(7) If an administrative approval is denied, the applicant shall file an application for 

a special use permit pursuant to [sub]section (A)(7) [of this section] prior to 
filing any appeal that may be available under the zoning ordinance.  

(b) List of administratively approved uses. The following uses may be approved by the 
community development department after conducting an administrative review:  

(1) Locating a tower or antenna, including the placement of additional buildings or 

other supporting equipment used in connection with said tower or antenna, in 
any industrial zoning district.  

(2) Locating antennas on existing structures or towers consistent with the terms of 

subsections (a) and (b) [(A)(6)(b)(2)(a) and (A)(6)(b)(2)(b) of this section] below.  

(a) Antennas on existing structures. Any antenna which is not attached to a 

tower may be approved by the community development department as 
an accessory use to any commercial, industrial, professional, institutional, 
or multifamily structure of eight or more dwelling units, provided:  

(i) The antenna does not extend more than 30 feet above the highest 
point of the structure;  

(ii) The antenna complies with all applicable FCC and FAA regulations; 
and  

(iii) The antenna complies with all applicable building codes.  

(b) Antennas on existing towers. An antenna which is attached to an existing 

tower may be approved by the community development department 
and, to minimize adverse visual impacts associated with the proliferation 
and clustering of towers, collocation of antennas by more than one 
carrier on existing towers shall take precedence over the construction of 
new towers, provided such collocation is accomplished in a manner 
consistent with the following:  

486



 

 6 of 28  

 

(i) A tower which is modified or reconstructed to accommodate the 
collocation of an additional antenna shall be of the same tower 
type as the existing tower, unless the community development 
department allows reconstruction as a monopole.  

(ii) Height.  

(a) An existing tower may be modified or rebuilt to a taller 

height, not to exceed 30 feet over the tower's existing height, 
to accommodate the collocation of an additional antenna.  

(b) The height change referred to in subsection 

[(A)(6)(b)(2)(b)](ii)(a) [of this section] may only occur one time 
per communication tower.  

(c) The additional height referred to in subsection 

[(A)(6)(b)(2)(b)](ii)(a) [of this section] shall not require an 
additional distance separation as set forth in [sub]section 
(A)(7). The tower's premodification height shall be used to 
calculate such distance separations.  

(iii) Onsite location.  

(a) A tower which is being rebuilt to accommodate the 

collocation of an additional antenna may be moved onsite 
within 50 feet of its existing location.  

(b) After the tower is rebuilt to accommodate collocation, only 

one tower may remain on the site.  

(c) A relocated onsite tower shall continue to be measured from 

the original tower location for purposes of calculating 
separation distances between towers pursuant to 
[sub]section (A)(7)(b)(5) [of this section]. The relocation of a 
tower hereunder shall in no way be deemed to cause a 
violation of [sub]section (A)(7)(b)(5).  

(d) The onsite relocation of a tower which comes within the 

separation distances to residential units or residentially zoned 
lands as established in [sub]section (A)(7)(b)(5) [of this 
section] shall only be permitted when approved by the 
community development department.  

(3) New towers in nonresidential zoning districts. Locating any new tower in a 
nonresidential zoning district other than industrial, provided a licensed 
professional engineer certifies the tower can structurally accommodate the 
number of shared users proposed by the applicant; the community 
development department concludes the tower is in conformity with the goals 
set forth in [sub]section (A)(1) [of this section] and the requirements of 
[sub]section (A)(4) [of this section]; the tower meets the setback requirements 
in [sub]section (A)(7)(b)(4) [of this section] and separation distances in 
[sub]section (A)(7)(b)(5) [of this section]; and the tower meets the following 
height and usage criteria:  

(i) For a single user, up to 90 feet in height;  

(ii) For two users, up to 120 feet in height; and  

487



 

 7 of 28  

 

(iii) For three or more users, up to 150 feet in height.  

(4) Locating any alternative tower structure in a zoning district other than 
industrial that in the judgment of the community development department is in 
conformity with the goals set forth in section (A)(1) of this zoning ordinance.  

(5) Installing a cable microcell network through the use of multiple low-powered 
transmitters/receivers attached to existing wireline systems, such as 
conventional cable or telephone wires, or similar technology that does not 
require the use of towers.  

(7) Special use permits. 

 (a) General. The following provisions shall govern the issuance of special use permits for 
towers or antennas by the planning commission:  

(1) If the tower or antenna is not a permitted use under section 1.1405 of this 
[zoning] ordinance or permitted to be approved administratively pursuant to 
section 1.1406 of this [zoning] ordinance, then a special use permit shall be 
required for the construction of a tower or the placement of an antenna in all 
zoning districts.  

(2) Applications for special use permits under this Section shall be subject to the 
procedures and requirements of article VI, section[s] 1.0601 and 1.0602 of the 
zoning ordinance, except as modified in this section.  

(3) In granting a special use permit, the planning commission may impose 
conditions to the extent the planning commission concludes such conditions 
are necessary to minimize any adverse effect of the proposed tower on 
adjoining properties.  

(4) Any information of an engineering nature that the applicant submits, whether 
civil, mechanical, or electrical, shall be certified by a licensed professional 
engineer.  

(5) An applicant for a special use permit shall submit the information described in 
this section and a nonrefundable fee as established by resolution of the Sturgis 
City Commission to reimburse the City of Sturgis for the costs of reviewing the 
application.  

(b) Towers. 

 (1) Information required. In addition to any information required for application for 
special use permits pursuant to article VI of the zoning ordinance, applicants for 
a special use permit for a tower shall submit the following information:  

(i) A scaled site plan clearly indicating the location, type and height of the 

proposed tower, on-site land uses and zoning, adjacent land uses and 
zoning (including when adjacent to other municipalities), master plan 
classification of the site and all properties within the applicable 
separation distances set forth in [sub]section (A)(7)(b)(5) [of this section], 
adjacent roadways, proposed means of access, setbacks from property 
lines, elevation drawings of the proposed tower and any other structures, 
topography, parking, and other information deemed by the community 
development department to be necessary to assess compliance with this 
zoning ordinance.  

(ii) Legal description of the parent tract and leased parcel (if applicable).  

488



 

 8 of 28  

 

(iii) The setback distance between the proposed tower and the nearest 

residential unit, platted residentially zoned properties and unplatted 
residentially zoned property.  

(iv) The separation distance from other towers described in the inventory of 

existing sites submitted pursuant to [sub]section (A)(4)(c) [of this section] 
shall be shown on an updated site plan or map. The applicant shall also 
identify the type of construction of the existing tower(s) and the 
owner/operator of the existing tower(s), if known.  

(v) A landscape plan showing specific landscape materials.  

(vi) Method of fencing, and finished color and, if applicable, the method of 

camouflage and illumination.  

(vii) A description of compliance with [sub]sections (A)(4)(c), (d), (e), (f), (g), 

(j), (l), and (m), (A)(7)(b)(4), (A)(7)(b)(5) [of this section] and all applicable 
federal, state or local laws.  

(viii) A notarized statement by the applicant as to whether construction of the 

tower will accommodate collocation of additional antennas for future 
users.  

(ix) Identification of the entities providing the backhaul network for the 

tower(s) described in the application and other cellular sites owned or 
operated by the applicant in the municipality.  

(x) A description of the suitability of the use of existing towers, other 

structures or alternative technology not requiring the use of towers or 
structures to provide the services to be provided through the use of the 
proposed new tower.  

(xi) A description of the feasible location(s) of future towers or antennas 

within the City of Sturgis based upon existing physical, engineering, 
technological or geographical limitations in the event the proposed tower 
is erected.  

(2) Factors considered in granting special use permits for towers. In addition to any 
standards for consideration of special use permit applications pursuant to 
article VI of the zoning ordinance, the planning commission shall consider the 
following factors in determining whether to issue a special use permit, although 
the planning commission may waive or reduce the burden on the applicant of 
one or more of these criteria if the planning commission concludes that the 
goals of this [zoning] ordinance are better served thereby:  

(i) Height of the proposed tower;  

(ii) Proximity of the tower to residential structures and residential district 

boundaries;  

(iii) Nature of uses on adjacent and nearby properties;  

(iv) Surrounding topography;  

(v) Surrounding tree coverage and foliage;  

(vi) Design of the tower, with particular reference to design characteristics 

that have the effect of reducing or eliminating visual obtrusiveness;  

489



 

 9 of 28  

 

(vii) Proposed ingress and egress; and  

(viii) Availability of suitable existing towers, other structures, or alternative 

technologies not requiring the use of towers or structures, as discussed in 
[sub]section (A)(7)(b)(3) [of this section] of this [zoning] ordinance.  

(3) Availability of suitable existing towers, other structures, or alternative 
technology. No new tower shall be permitted unless the applicant 
demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of the planning commission that 
no existing tower, structure or alternative technology that does not require the 
use of towers or structures can accommodate the applicant's proposed 
antenna. An applicant shall submit information requested by the planning 
commission related to the availability of suitable existing towers, other 
structures or alternative technology. Evidence submitted to demonstrate that 
no existing tower, structure or alternative technology can accommodate the 
applicant's proposed antenna may consist of any of the following:  

(i) No existing towers or structures are located within the geographic area 

which meet applicant's engineering requirements.  

(ii) Existing towers or structures are not of sufficient height to meet 

applicant's engineering requirements.  

(iii) Existing towers or structures do not have sufficient structural strength to 

support applicant's proposed antenna and related equipment.  

(iv) The applicant's proposed antenna would cause electromagnetic 

interference with the antenna on the existing towers or structures, or the 
antenna on the existing towers or. structures would cause interference 
with the applicant's proposed antenna.  

(vii) The applicant demonstrates that an alternative technology that does not 

require the use of towers or structures, such as a cable microcell network 
using multiple low-powered transmitters/receivers attached to a wireline 
system, is unsuitable. Costs of alternative technology that exceed new 
tower or antenna development shall not be presumed to render the 
technology unsuitable.  

(4) Setbacks. The following setback requirements shall apply to all towers for which 
a special use permit is required; provided, however, that the planning 
commission may reduce the standard setback requirements if the goals of this 
[zoning] ordinance would be better served thereby:  

(i) Towers must be setback a distance equal to at least 75 percent of the 

height of the tower from any adjoining lot line.  

(ii) Guys and accessory buildings must satisfy the minimum zoning district 

setback requirements.  

(5) Separation. The following separation requirements shall apply to all towers and 
antennas for which a special use permit is required; provided, however, that 
the planning commission may reduce the standard separation requirements if 
the goals of this [zoning] ordinance would be better served thereby.  

(i) Separation from off-site uses/designated areas.  

490



 

 10 of 28  

 

(a) Tower separation shall be measured from the base of the tower to 

the lot line of the off-site uses and/or designated areas as specified 
in Table 1, except as otherwise provided in Table 1.  

(b) Separation requirements for towers shall comply with the minimum 

standards established in Table 1.  

TABLE 1  

 Off-site Use/Designated Area  Separation Distance  

Single-family or duplex residential units1  200 feet or 300% height of tower whichever is greater  

Vacant single-family or duplex residentially zoned land 
which is either platted or has preliminary subdivision 
plan approval which is not expired  

200 feet or 300 height of tower2 whichever is greater  

Vacant unplatted residentially zoned lands3  100 feet or 100% height of tower whichever is greater  

Existing multifamily residential units greater than 
duplex units  

100 feet or 100% height of tower whichever is greater  

Nonresidentially zoned lands or nonresidential uses  None; only setbacks apply  

 

1  Includes modular homes and mobile homes used for living purposes.  
2  Separation measured from base of tower to closest building setback line.  
3  Includes any unplatted residential use properties without a valid preliminary subdivision plan or valid 

development plan approval and any multifamily residentially zoned land greater than duplex.  

 

(ii) Separation distances between towers.  

(a) Separation distances between towers shall be applicable for and 

measured between the proposed tower and preexisting towers. 
The separation distances shall be measured by drawing or following 
a straight line between the base of the existing tower and the 
proposed base, pursuant to a site plan, of the proposed tower. The 
separation distances (listed in linear feet) shall be as shown in Table 
2.  

TABLE 2  

Existing Towers—Types  

  Lattice  Guyed  Monopole 75 
Feet  
in Height  
or Greater  

Monopole Less  
than 75 Feet  
in Height  

Lattice  5,000  5,000  1,500  750  

Guyed  5,000  5,000  1,500  750  

Monopole 75 feet in height or 
greater  

1,500  1,500  1,500  750  

Monopole less than 75 feet in 
height  

  750    750    750    750  

 

(6) Security fencing. Towers shall be enclosed by security fencing not less than six 
feet in height and shall also be equipped with an appropriate anticlimbing 

491



 

 11 of 28  

 

device; provided however, that the planning commission may waive such 
requirements, as it deems appropriate.  

(7) Landscaping. The following requirements shall govern the landscaping 
surrounding towers for which a special use permit is required; provided, 
however, that the planning commission may waive such requirements if the 
goals of this [zoning] ordinance would be better served thereby.  

(i) Tower facilities shall be landscaped with a buffer of plant materials that 

effectively screens the view of the tower compound from property used 
for residences. The standard buffer shall consist of a landscape strip at 
least four feet wide outside the perimeter of the compound.  

(ii) In locations where the visual impact of the tower would be minimal, the 

landscaping requirement may be reduced or waived.  

(iii) Existing mature tree growth and natural land forms on the site shall be 

preserved to the maximum extent possible. In some cases, such as towers 
sited on large, wooded lots, natural growth around the property 
perimeter may be sufficient buffer.  

(8) Buildings or other equipment storage. 

 (a) Antennas mounted on structures or rooftops. The equipment cabinet or 
structure used in association with antennas shall comply with the 
following:  

(1) The cabinet or structure shall not contain more than 175 square 

feet of gross floor area or be more than 14 feet in height. In 
addition, for buildings and structures which are less than 65 feet in 
height, the related unmanned equipment structure, if over 100 
square feet of gross floor area or eight feet in height, shall be 
located on the ground and shall not be located on the roof of the 
structure.  

(2) If the equipment structure is located on the roof of a building, the 

area of the equipment structure and other equipment and 
structures shall not occupy more than 10 percent of the roof area.  

(3) Equipment storage buildings or cabinets shall comply with all 

applicable building codes.  

(b) Antennas mounted on utility poles or light poles. The equipment cabinet 
or structure used in association with antennas shall be located in 
accordance with the following:  

(1) In residential districts, the equipment cabinet or structure may be 

located:  

(i) In a front or side yard provided the cabinet or structure is no 

greater than three feet in height or 16 square feet of gross 
floor area and the cabinet/structure shall be screened by an 
evergreen hedge with an ultimate height of at least 42 to 48 
inches and a planted height of at least 36 inches.  

(ii) In a rear yard, provided the cabinet or structure is no greater 

than four feet in height or 25 square feet in gross floor area. 
The cabinet/structure shall be screened by an evergreen 

492



 

 12 of 28  

 

hedge with an ultimate height of eight feet and a planted 
height of at least 36 inches.  

(2) In commercial or industrial districts the equipment cabinet or 

structure shall be no greater than 14 feet in height or 175 square 
feet in gross floor area. The structure or cabinet shall be screened 
by an evergreen hedge with an ultimate height of eight feet and a 
planted height of at least 36 inches. In all other instances, 
structures or cabinets shall be screened from view of all residential 
properties which abut or are directly across the street from the 
structure or cabinet by a solid fence six feet in height or an 
evergreen hedge with an ultimate height of eight feet and a planted 
height of at least 36 inches.  

(c) Antennas located on towers. The related unmanned equipment structure 
shall not contain more than 175 square feet of gross floor area or be 
more than 14 feet in height, and shall be located in accordance with the 
minimum yard requirement of the zoning district in which located.  

(d) Modification of building size requirements. The requirements of 
[sub]sections (A)(7)(b)(8)(a) through (A)(7)(b)(8)(c) [of this section] may 
be modified by the community development department in the case of 
administratively approved used or by the planning commission in the 
case of uses permitted by special use to encourage collocation.  

(9) Removal of abandoned antennas and towers. Any antenna or tower that is not 
operated for a continuous period of 12 months shall be considered abandoned, 
and the owner of such antenna or tower shall remove the same within 90 days 
of receipt of notice from the City of Sturgis notifying the owner of such 
abandonment. Failure to remove an abandoned antenna or tower within said 
90 day[s] shall be grounds to remove the tower or antenna at the owner's 
expense. If there are two or more users of a single tower, then this provision 
shall not become effective until all users cease using the tower.  

(10) Nonconforming uses. 

 (a) Not expansion of nonconforming use. Towers that are constructed, and 
antennas that are installed, in accordance with the provisions of this 
[zoning] ordinance shall not be deemed to constitute the expansion of a 
nonconforming use or structure.  

(b) Preexisting towers. Preexisting towers shall be allowed to continue their 
usage as they presently exist. Routine maintenance (including 
replacement with a new tower of like construction and height) shall be 
permitted on such Preexisting towers. New construction other than 
routine maintenance on a preexisting tower shall comply with the 
requirements of this [zoning] ordinance.  

(c) Rebuilding damaged or destroyed nonconforming towers or antennas. 
Notwithstanding [sub]section (A)(7)(b)(9) [of this section], bona fide 
nonconforming towers or antennas that are damaged or destroyed may 
be rebuilt without having to first obtain administrative approval or a 
special use permit and without having to meet the separation 
requirements specified in [sub]section (A)(7)(b)(4) and (A)(7)(b)(5) [of this 
section]. The type, height, and location of the tower onsite shall be of the 
same type and intensity as the original facility approval. Building permits 
to rebuild the facility shall comply with the then applicable building codes 

493



 

 13 of 28  

 

and shall be obtained within 180 days from the date the facility is 
damaged or destroyed. If no permit is obtained or if said permit expires, 
the tower or antenna shall be deemed abandoned as specified in 
[sub]section (A)(7)(b)(9) [of this section].  

1.1104. Airport glide path. 

(1) Glide path area designated. The glide path area shall be all land lying within 300 feet of the centerline of any 
runway shown on the adapted airport master plan, as well as all land within 300 feet of the centerline as 
extended 2,000 feet beyond the ends of the runway.  

(2) State regulations to apply. State requirements concerning the permitted height of buildings, lighting of 
elevated structures, placement of aboveground essential services, the location of institutional uses involving 
the congregation of people, and other similar regulations, shall be complied with in the designated glide path 
area.  

(3) Public congregation. No public building, playground, institutional use, or other place of public congregation 
shall be permitted within the glide path area.  

(4) Building locations. No accessory building shall be permitted within 25 feet of centerlines projected as 
described in [sub]section (1) [of this section]. No principal building shall be permitted within 35 feet 
therefrom.  

(5)      Properties outside of the designated glide path. Properties outside of the designated glide path may be 
subject to additional requirements as determined by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) or the 
Michigan Aeronautics Commission (MAC). 

1.1105. Accessory buildings, structures and uses. 

(A) Accessory building or accessory structures in any district. 

(1) No accessory building or accessory structure may be permitted on a lot which does not contain a 
principal use or principal building.  

(2) No accessory building or accessory structure shall be placed in any required front or side yard.  

(3) Accessory buildings shall be no closer than ten feet to any other building on the same lot unless:  

(a) A one hour fire separation is provided as per the Michigan Building Code between the accessory 
building and other buildings.  

(b) It is one of the following:  

i. Dog houses.  

ii. Pergolas.  

iii. Play houses.  

iv. Pump houses.  

v. Accessory buildings similar to the above.  

(c) It is an accessory building 200 square feet or less; in this case it shall be a minimum of three feet 
from any other building on the same lot.  

(d) As specified elsewhere in the zoning ordinance or City Code of Ordinances.  

(4) Swimming pools shall be no closer than ten feet to any building on the same lot unless:  

(a) It is one of the following:  

494



 

 

 14 of 28  

 

i. Dog houses.  

ii. Pergolas.  

iii. Play houses.  

iv. Pump houses.  

v. Accessory buildings similar to the above.  

(5) An accessory building or accessory structure 200 square feet or less located in a rear yard shall not be 
closer than three feet to any lot line unless specified elsewhere in the zoning ordinance or City Code of 
Ordinances; accessory buildings or accessory structures greater than 200 square feet located in a rear 
yard shall be no closer than ten feet to any lot line unless specified elsewhere in the zoning ordinance 
or City Code of Ordinances.  

(6) Residential kennels shall be no closer than six feet to the principal building on the same lot and no 
closer than six feet to the lot line.  

(7)      Donation Bins.  Bins designed to solicit donations shall be allowed in any non-residential use as an 
accessory structure, subject to the following standards: 

(a)  Donations bins shall be limited to one (1) per tenant space. 

(b)  No illumination shall be used to draw attention to any donation bin. 

(c)   Donation bins shall not encroach into any required setbacks, public right of ways, or required 
landscape areas. 

  (d)   All donation bins shall be securely attached to the ground to prevent tipping hazard. 

  (e)   No items shall be stored outside of the donation bin. 

(8)      Sale, Garage or Yard.   This type of sale shall include garage sale, yard sale, auctions or similar activities. 
They shall be permitted as an accessory use to residentially zoned properties and residential uses 
subject to the following standards:  

(a) Residents are permitted to conduct a maximum of four (4) sales per calendar year. 

(b) Sales are not permitted to be more than four (4) consecutive days. 

(c) Sales are permitted between the hours of 8:00am and 6:00pm on the designated sale day. 

(d) Temporary signs advertising the sale are allowed but must be removed within 24 hours after 
the sale ends. 

(e) Signs shall not obstruct public pathways or roadways and shall comply with sign ordinances 
in the district where the sale is located. 

(f) Sales must be conducted on the resident’s property and not extend onto public sidewalks or 
streets. 

(g) The property owner is responsible for maintaining the cleanliness and orderliness of the sale 
area. 

(h) No loudspeakers or amplified music are allowed. 

9)       Prohibited Accessory Buildings, Structures and Uses: In residential zoning districts, transient (shipping) 
containers are not permitted as an accessory structure or building. In residential zoning districts, no 
mobile home, tank, junk object, salvage materials, trailer, vehicle, or similar item shall be utilized as an 
accessory building or storage structure; provided, however, the above requirements shall not be 
applicable to: 

495



 

 

 15 of 28  

 

(a) Temporary offices, tool sheds or similar temporary storage structures, used pursuant to 
permitted construction or approved as part of a special land use. 

(b) Underground storage tanks accessory to permitted use.  Said tanks, including the operation 
of same, shall meet all State and Federal permitting and monitoring requirements. 

(c)  Underground tanks or piping required as part of a State or Federal remediation project.   

(d)  Storage/shipping containers, subject to the following restrictions: 

i.  Storage / shipping containers shall be allowed as temporary use for a period not to 
exceed fourteen (14) days, unless approved by the zoning administrator for additional 
time.   

ii. Such containers shall only be for the use of the person utilizing the storage/shipping 
container for moving goods and materials.   

(e) Portable toilets, subject to the following restrictions: 

i. Portable toilets may be utilized during construction projects or temporary events at the 
property.  

ii. Portable toilets shall be removed within seven (7) days of the construction project’s 
completion or abandonment or after the event. 

iii. Portable toilets are permitted for municipal parks, events and, activities. 

(10) Temporary structures. Temporary structure(s) 400 square feet or greater for construction, assembly, 
outdoor gathering area, or retail sales area shall meet the following requirements: 

(a) Shall not be placed in a corner clearance area as determined by section 1.1107.(B)   

(b) Shall be securely anchored to the ground. 

(c) Shall not be permitted for greater than thirty (30) days after installation, except 
construction trailers shall be removed within thirty (30) days after the completion or 
abandonment of the construction.   

(d) Shall not be placed in a required fire lane, fire apparatus access road or limit fire 
department access to a structure on the same property or adjacent property. 

(e) Shall not be used as a dwelling unit. 

(f) Shall not be permitted if it has an unreasonable detrimental effect or will be a nuisance 
upon adjacent property, based upon findings of the Zoning Administrator regarding the 
noise, light, odor, vibration, or other off-site nuisance impacts that are generated by the 
proposed structure. At the discretion of the Zoning Administrator, structures may be 
referred to the Planning Commission for an interpretation regarding the nuisance impact of 
such structures.  

(g) Shall not be permitted if the access to the area constitutes a traffic hazard due to ingress or 
egress.  

(h) Shall provide off-street parking based on the use in table in section 1.0902. 

(i) Structure must meet applicable building, electrical, mechanical, plumbing, fire prevention 
codes and fire safety requirements. 

(j) Membrane structures shall be properly labeled with the following: 

i. Size of the structure. 

ii. Type of fabric or material indicating flame retardant information. 

496



 

 

 16 of 28  

 

(k) Provide an affidavit from the owner to attest to the following: 

i. Name and address of the owners of the tent. 

ii. Date the fabric was last treated with flame retardant solution. 

iii. Trade name or kind of chemical used in the treatment. 

iv. Name of testing agency and test standard by which the fabric was tested. 

v. Name of the person or firm that treated the material. 

(11) Temporary structures less than 400 square feet are exempted from the requirements above and no 
permit is required, if they meet all conditions listed below: 

(a) Shall be removed within seven (7) days of being installed. 

(b) Shall not be located in a corner clearance area as determined by section 1.1107. 

(c) Shall not have unreasonable detrimental effect or be a nuisance upon adjacent property, 
based upon findings of the Zoning Administrator that the structure does not generate 
excessive noise, light, odor, vibration, or other off-site nuisance impacts. At the discretion 
of the Zoning Administrator, structures may be referred to the Zoning Board of Appeals for 
an interpretation regarding the nuisance impact of such structures. 

(B) Accessory building or accessory structures in a residential district. In addition to the requirements of 
subsection (A) of this section, the following restrictions shall apply to accessory buildings or accessory 
structures in residential districts. 

(1) Accessory buildings or accessory structures shall not exceed 14 feet in height with the exception of 
satellite systems, antenna systems, solar panels, wind generators or similar structures. If these 
structures are installed as a stand-alone structure, they shall not exceed 20 feet in height. If these 
structures are installed atop a building or structure, they shall not exceed the maximum height as per 
table 1.0501.—Table - Schedule of Regulations.  

(2) A private garage or a portion thereof may be rented or leased for not more than two motor vehicles of 
the noncommercial type, to persons not residing in the dwelling on the lot.  

(3) The total square footage of all accessory buildings shall not exceed the square footage of the ground or 
first floor area of the principal building including an attached garage with a foundation and roof.  

(4) When an accessory building in any residential district is intended for other uses than the storage of 
private motor vehicles, the uses proposed for the accessory building must be compatible with the uses 
permitted within the subject district.  

(5) Accessory buildings exceeding 200 square feet must be provided with exterior finish materials similar 
to the principal building on the lot. Examples include roofing and siding materials. These items shall be 
of the same or similar, compatible colors to the principal building. An alternate roofing or siding 
material may be substituted if the color(s) is compatible with the principal building. They shall be built 
with architecture and materials that reasonably compliment the architecture and materials of the 
dwelling.  

(6) Canopy and tarp like structures are not permitted unless used as outdoor furniture, unless such 
structures are permitted as temporary structures under Section 1.1105(A)(10). These items may be 
used from the months of April through October if maintained in good condition and used in the 
manner they were designed.  

(7) Dog houses shall not exceed six feet in height and 20 square feet in area.  

(8) There shall be no more than two accessory buildings on any one parcel excluding playhouses, dog 
houses, chicken coops not exceeding 30 square feet, pergolas or gazebos not exceeding 150 square 
feet, or buildings of similar uses.  

497



 

 

 17 of 28  

 

(9) If a lot area exceeds 125 percent of the minimum lot size required in the district, a property owner may 
request consideration from the planning commission for additional accessory building square footage 
greater than what this zoning ordinance allows, subject to the following conditions:  

(a) The request and review by the planning commission shall follow the requirements of section 
1.0602 of this zoning ordinance.  

(b) The maximum lot coverage for accessory structures shall not exceed ten percent of the total lot 
area.  

(c) All other standards pertaining to accessory structures, as outlined in this section, shall apply 
unless approved by the planning commission.  

(10) Chicken coops shall not exceed eight (8) feet in height and sixty (60) square feet in area.  Chicken coops 
shall be removed if a valid urban chicken permit as per section 10.65 of the City of Sturgis code of 
ordinances is maintained. 

(11) Storage/shipping containers shall be allowed as temporary use for a period not to exceed fourteen (14) 
days, unless approved by the zoning administrator for additional time.  Such containers shall only be for 
the use of the person utilizing the storage/shipping container for moving goods and materials.  At no 
time shall any container be placed as a permanent structure within a residential zoning district or 
residential use. Only one (1) container may be placed at any residentially zoned property or use at any 
time.  The container shall not encroach on the City right of way, be placed in any required off street 
parking, or encroach on any corner clearance requirement. 

(11) Solar Energy Systems (Photovoltaic) 

(a)        Visibility and Glare:  A solar energy system whether installed on the roof or ground shall be 
mounted or oriented so that concentrated solar glare will not be directed toward or onto nearby 
properties or right of ways at any time of the day.   

(b)       Support Structures for ground mount.  Support structures shall be of as single, non-reflective 
matte finish. 

(c)       Ground mounted solar installations shall only be installed in the rear or side yard.   

(d)       The area of a ground mounted solar installation shall count towards the maximum area allowed 
for accessory buildings/structures with a principal use.  To calculate the area, you will square off 
the area the solar energy system uses. 

(C) Permitted Accessory Uses 

(1) Repair of vehicles in residential districts. 

(a) A resident may repair vehicles of the resident on the property of the resident's dwelling unit; 
however, in no instance shall a resident repair the vehicles of other than a resident of the 
dwelling unit on said property and such repair shall be conducted in not to exceed seven 
consecutive days in any 30-day period.  

(2) Accommodations for servants and/or caretakers;   

(3) Outdoor swimming pools, hot tubs and saunas for the use of occupants of a residence, or their guests;   

(4) Domestic or agricultural storage in a barn, shed, toolroom, or similar accessory building or other 

structure;   

(5) A newsstand primarily for the convenience of the occupants of a building, which is located wholly 

within such building and has no exterior signs or displays;   

(6) Storage of merchandise normally carried in stock in connection with a business or industrial use, unless 

such storage is excluded in the applicable district regulations;   

498



 

 

 18 of 28  

 

(7) Storage of goods used in or produced by industrial uses or related activities, unless such storage is 

excluded in the applicable district regulations;   

(8) Accessory off-street parking spaces, open or enclosed, subject to the accessory off-street parking 

regulations for the district in which the zoning lot is located;   

(9) Offices of an industrial or commercial complex located on the site of the commercial or industrial 

complex;   

(10) Accessory off-street loading, subject to the off-street loading regulations for the district in which the 

zoning lot is located;   

(11) Accessory signs, subject to the sign regulations for the district in which the zoning lot is located;   

(12) Common household gardening in a residential district when located only in the rear yard and/or non-

required side yard areas. For purposes of this title, common household gardening shall include the 

growing of fruits and vegetables for consumption, solely by members of the family residing in the 

dwelling unit located on the same zoning lot; [and]   

(13) Solar panels, wind generators, television reception antenna and air conditioning units.   

(14) Any structure or area designed and used specifically for the boarding or exercise of pet or pets (dogs, 

cats, rabbits, etc.), including but not limited to houses, pens, kennels, and dog/pet runs shall be 

considered as accessory structures. 

(15) Other uses clearly incidental to a main use, 

1.1106. Walls and fences. 

(A) Walls. For those use districts and uses listed in Table 1.1106A, there shall be provided and maintained on 
those sides abutting or adjacent to a residential district an obscuring wall in character with the abutting 
residential area and as required herein.  

(1) The planning commission may, in its review of site plans for specific uses, allow or require the provision 
of an earth berm and/or a greenbelt planting consisting of trees and shrubs to serve as an obscuring 
wall, where such obscuring walls are required under this zoning ordinance, and where conditions are 
such that a more effective and harmonious development with abutting or neighboring land uses would 
result. Review and approval shall be required by the planning commission of types of plant materials 
and their location in such greenbelt.  

(2) Required walls shall be located on the lot line except where underground utilities interfere and except 
in instances where this zoning ordinance requires conformance with front yard setback lines in 
abutting residential districts. Upon review of the site plan, the planning commission may approve a 
reduction in height requirements or may approve an alternate location for the wall or may waive the 
wall requirement if in specific cases it would not serve the purposes of screening the parking area 
effectively. Required walls may, upon approval of the planning commission, be located on the opposite 
side of an alley right-of-way from a nonresidential zone that abuts a residential zone when mutually 
agreeable to affected property owners. The continuity of the required wall or, a given block will be a 
major consideration of the planning commission in reviewing such request.  

(3) Walls and screening barriers shall have no openings for vehicular traffic or other purposes, except as 
otherwise provided in this [zoning] ordinance and such openings as may be approved by the building 
official. All walls required under this [zoning] ordinance shall be durable, weather-resistant, rustproof, 
and shall be maintained by the property owner or tenant at all times equal in condition to the 
completed structure at the time of initial installation.  

(4) Walls may be constructed with opening which do not in any square section (height and width) exceed 
20 percent of the surface. Where walls are so pierced, the openings shall be so spaced as to maintain 

499



 

 

 

 
    Created: 2023-07-20 16:08:43 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 7) 

 
Page 19 of 28 

 

the obscuring character required, and shall not reduce the minimum height requirement. The 
arrangement of the openings shall be reviewed and approved by the building official.  

(5) The city may require that suitable maintenance guarantee be provided for the continued maintenance 
of walls required under this title.  

TABLE 1.1106A  

Use Requirements* 

Off-street parking area   6-foot-high masonry wall  

B-N, B-OS, B-H, M districts  6-foot-high masonry wall  

B-C district: screening of trash 
dumpsters and parking areas  

6-foot-high masonry wall  

B-C and B-N district: parking areas 
and other allowed fencing uses  

36" to 60" ornamental fence. Construction of cast iron, decorative metal, 
or a material providing a similar aesthetic appearance. Fencing cannot 
contain elements which provide a hazard to the public, including but not 
limited to spikes and sharp points.  

B-C district: temporary outdoor 
gathering areas  

Any temporarily-installed fencing material at least 50% open to the air, 
including plastic or wood snow fence.  

M districts open storage areas, 
loading or unloading areas, service 
areas  

6-foot-high to 8-foot-high masonry wall (height shall provide the most 
complete obscuring possible)  

 

*The planning commission may permit wood, vinyl, composite or metal screening or landscape materials where 
such material provides a suitable compatibility with abutting uses. In those instances where a residential property 
exists in one of the above districts, materials other than masonry may be utilized by the residential property owner 
to screen or enclose such property from abutting nonresidential uses.  

(B) Permanent Fences or walls in all nonresidential districts. 

(1) In B-OS districts (business office service), fences up to six feet in height are permitted in rear and side 
yards. Fences not more than 50 percent solid and not more than four feet in height are permitted in 
required front yards. Fences in the front yard shall not be chainlink or of wire construction.  

(2) Fences not more than six feet in height may be placed in any yard in M (manufacturing) or B-H 
(business highway) districts. All parking areas for commercial or industrial district uses shall be 
screened on all sides abutting or across a street or alley from a residential district.  

(3) Chainlink fences in the M (manufacturing) districts may have an additional two feet in height added for 
security fence.  

(4) Fences or walls in the B-C central business district are permitted for the following uses, with 
regulations as specified in Table 1.1106A.  

(a) Screening of trash dumpsters.  

(b) Screening of parking areas.  

(c) Outdoor gathering areas.  

(d) Public facilities and public use locations.  

500



 

 

 

 
    Created: 2023-07-20 16:08:43 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 7) 

 
Page 20 of 28 

 

(5) Clear vision must be maintained on all drives, streets and sidewalks. All fences or walls must be located 
on the property line except as required for loading areas as specified in section 1.0903.  

(6) Fence support structures or devices must be on the permit holder's side of the fence, with the finished 
side of the fence facing the adjacent property (see Figure 1.1105B).  

(7) Fences shall not contain electric current or charge of electricity.  

(8) Fence post supports shall be placed a minimum of 18” below grade for fences greater than four feet in 
height. 

(9)     No temporary fencing shall be permitted unless being utilized for construction sites, temporary 
gathering area, or similar uses approved by the zoning administrator. 

(10)   Post supports may extend above the maximum height permitted by 6 inches. 

 

(C)     Permanent Fences or walls in all residential districts. 

(1) Fences or retaining walls may be located along the property line.  

(2) Fences on lots in all residential districts which enclose property and/or are within a side or rear yard 
shall not exceed six feet in height, measured from the surface of the ground and shall not extend 
toward the front of the lot nearer than the front of the house or the required minimum front yard, 
whichever is greater.  

(3) Fences shall not contain barbed wire, electric current or charge of electricity.  

(a) Underground pet fences shall be permitted. 

(4) Ornamental fences within the front yard shall not exceed 36 inches in height, and clear vision must be 
maintained on corner lots in accord with section 1.1106. Privacy fences are not permitted in the front 
yard area.  

(5) Fences which enclose public or institutional parks, playgrounds or public landscaped areas, situated 
within an area developed with recorded lots, shall not exceed eight feet in height, measured from the 
ground, and shall not obstruct vision to an extent greater than 25 percent of their total area.  

(6) Fence supports or devices must be on the permit holders side of the fence, with the finished side of the 
fence facing the adjacent property. (See Figure 1.1105B.)  

(7) Clear vision must be maintained on all drives, streets and sidewalks.  

(8)      Fence post supports shall be placed a minimum of 18” below grade for fences greater than four feet in 
height. 

(9)      No temporary fencing shall be permitted unless being utilized for construction sites, temporary 
gathering area, or similar uses approved by the zoning administrator. 

(10) Post supports may extend above the maximum height permitted by 6 inches. 

501



 

 

 

 
    Created: 2023-07-20 16:08:43 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 7) 

 
Page 21 of 28 

 

 

Figure 1.1105B 

1.1107. Corner clearance. 

(1) No fence, wall, shrubbery, sign or other obstruction to vision above a height of two feet or an 
ornamental fence if no taller than three feet in height  shall be permitted within the triangular area 
formed at the intersection of any street right-of-way lines by a straight line drawn between said right-
of-way lines at a distance along each line of 25 feet from their point of intersection, nor shall such 
obstruction to vision be permitted at the intersection of any driveway or alley and a street right-of-way 
line within a triangular area formed at such intersection by a straight line drawn between the driveway 
or alley line and the street right-of-way line at a distance along each line of 15 feet from their point of 
intersection. In those instances where such triangular area cannot be constructed on the property in 
question, a 15-foot setback shall be required between the property line and the driveway or alley (See 
Figure 1.1107A.)  

(2) Where a lot is bounded by two intersecting streets, the front yard requirements shall be met on one 
abutting street and one-half the front yard requirement shall be met on the other abutting street. The 
owner shall have the discretion to decide upon which abutting street the full front yard requirement 
shall be met. No portion of the lot within 25 feet of the side lot line of any adjoining property may be 
utilized for a building or solid fence or wall over three feet in height unless the front yard requirement 
for the adjoining property is met within the area. Where the rear yard abuts the side yard of an 
adjoining property, the side yard requirement of the adjoining lot shall be provided between any 
structure over three feet in height and the rear lot line.  

502



 

 

 

 
    Created: 2023-07-20 16:08:43 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 7) 

 
Page 22 of 28 

 

Figure 
1.1107A.  
Corner 

Clearance  

1.1108. Area or space required. 

No lot, yard, court, parking area, or other space shall be divided, altered, or reduced so as to make the area 
or dimensions less than the minimum required under this section. If existing spaces are already less than the 
minimum required under this section, the area or dimension shall not be further divided or reduced.  

1.1109. Yard requirements along zoning boundary line. 

A lot having a side yard line adjacent to any zoning boundary line of a more restricted district shall have a 
side yard not less than the minimum width required for the adjoining side yard for the more restricted district.  

1.1110. Front yards on lots running through the block. 

In any district where a lot runs through a block front street to street and where a front yard is required, the 
front yard shall be provided along each street lot line.  

Figure 1.1107A.  Corner Clearance 

503



 

 

 23 of 28  

 

1.1111. Restrictions for lot widths adjacent to platted lots. 

In a block where there exists some platted and unplatted land, and where 50 percent or more of the total 
frontage on both sides of a street in the same block is platted, the balance of the unplatted land must be divided 
into lots each having an average width not less than the average of 50 percent of the platted lots, but in no case 
shall the width of any lot so determined be less than 60 feet. If less than 50 percent of the frontage has been 
platted into lots, then the balance of the unplatted land shall meet the width requirements for the district in which 
it is located.  

1.1112. Institutional and public uses. 

Institutional and public uses may be located in any residential, business or industrial zone, provided the 
following requirements are complied within and adjacent to residential zones.  

(A) Application and a site plan shall be submitted to the planning commission.  

(B) The required site plan shall show the property lines and dimensions of the tract and the proposed 
development, including all existing and proposed buildings and uses, as well as the location, 
dimensions, and capacities of all areas to be used for motor vehicle parking.  

(C) Sufficient additional data shall be provided as needed to enable the planning commission to determine 
compliance with the requirements of this section, and to determine the best possible physical layout 
for the proposed use from the standpoint of its relationship to the general health, safety, and welfare 
of the city and adjoining property values.  

(D) Before approving the plan or plans the planning commission shall require proper guarantees that the 
proposed use shall not constitute a public hazard and is reasonably necessary for the convenience of 
the community.  

(E) Where an institutional or public use is to be occupied as a residence, nursing home, convalescent 
home, hospital, or similar use where humans will be living or cared for, the minimum lot size required 
for a dwelling in a zone shall be provided for each six humans to be accommodated.  

(F) This section shall not conflict with state board of education and fire marshal reviews for all school 
buildings.  

1.1113. Sewage and water requirements. 

No building permit shall be issued for any building to be occupied by human beings unless provisions have 
been made to provide public sewer and water to the building. In the absence of public sewer or water the 
community development department can only issue a building permit when county or state permits for water and 
sewage disposal meet state and municipal standards.  

1.1114. Surface runoff. 

No premises shall be filled or graded so as to discharge surface runoff to abutting premises in a manner so as 
to cause ponding or surface accumulation of the runoff on those premises. This would include water runoff from 
building via eaves or similar apparatus.  

1.1115. Garbage and rubbish and screening of outdoor storage; junk motor vehicles. 

The outdoor storage, collection, keeping, or placing of garbage or rubbish by a property owner or occupant is 
prohibited in all public rights-of-way, all yards in any residential zone, and in front and side yards in B-H business or 
M manufacturing zones unless in a covered and approved container for a period not to exceed 24 hours; Provided 
however, on the day of rubbish pickup only, garbage and rubbish may be stored in secure paper or plastic bags at 

504



 

 

 24 of 28  

 

an appropriate rubbish pickup location. An approved container is one which is leakproof with a close-fitting cover 
for the storage of garbage or rubbish. Outdoor storage of materials and rubbish is permitted in B-H business or M 
manufacturing districts, but only in rear yards, and when any such rear yard abuts residentially zoned or developed 
areas, it shall be screened from the adjacent residential areas by a solid fence or wall at least six feet in height, or 
by six-foot evergreen planting. Notwithstanding the foregoing, building materials or rubbish in a dumpster may be 
stored temporarily on a construction site while construction is actually in progress. Other types of materials too 
large or bulky to be conveniently placed in a container may be temporarily stored in an outdoor location for not 
more than 24 hours while awaiting pickup by a rubbish collector or hauler.  

Motor vehicles which are inoperable or not currently licensed shall be deemed to be rubbish and shall not be 
stored in any residential zone except within the confines of an enclosed building.  

If garbage or rubbish is stored, collected, kept or placed in a public night-of-way or a required front yard 
setback area for more than 24 hours, the city may, after five business day written notice to remove the garbage or 
rubbish to the property owner or occupant, remove the garbage or rubbish and bill the property owner or 
occupant. In all other circumstances, if garbage or rubbish is stored, collected or placed in violation of this section, 
the city may, ten days after issuance of a citation to the property owner or occupant, cause the garbage or rubbish 
to be removed and bill the property owner or occupant. If any such billing is not paid within 90 days it shall 
become a lien on the property, properly recorded at the county.  

1.1116. Swimming pools. 

Swimming pools accessory to a principal permitted use are allowed in all districts, provided the pools are 
constructed, operated, and maintained in accordance with city regulations pertaining thereto. No pool shall be 
closer than six feet to any side or rear lot line nor located in any required side street side yard or required front 
yard. All swimming pool installations shall comply with NFPA National Electrical Code for operation as well as 
clearance.  

505



 

 25 of 28  

 

1.1117. Basement dwellings. 

The use of a basement or the basement of a partially built or planned building as a residence or dwelling unit 
is prohibited in all zones. This shall not prohibit a dwelling unit located partially below ground which has access to 
a hallway providing two remote means of egress to ground level.  

1.1118. Abandoned buildings and structures. 

Any building or structure not in continuous use as defined by permitted, special land use, or nonconforming 
uses in any district for a period greater than 365 days, shall be considered abandoned and come under the 
provisions of this [zoning] ordinance and other city codes for buildings and structures. In order to obtain a 
certificate of occupancy as a use in the future, once 365 days have passed, the building or structure shall have to 
meet all the current standards of all applicable City codes specifically article VIII, nonconforming uses of this zoning 
ordinance.  

1.1119. Open space minimum area. 

All lots to be used for business, industry and public uses requiring parking for employees, shoppers, visitors 
and users, shall have 15 percent of lot area set aside as open space. This space shall only be occupied by lawn or 
landscape features not obstructing areas for snow piling.  

1.1120. Storage of household furniture and appliances. 

It shall be unlawful for an owner, occupant, or person in control, of any structure or lot to use or permit to 
remain on any structure or lot, for a period exceeding 24 hours, on any open porch, yard, or exterior area of any 
structure susceptible to moisture from inclement weather, including rain, snow or hail, or susceptible to 
infestation by insect, rodent or other pest, any furniture or appliance designed for indoor use, including but not 
limited to cushions, pillows, mattresses, couches, chairs, washers, dryers, refrigerators or freezers.  

For purposes of this section, "open porch" shall mean any part of a structure that is not fully enclosed and 
shielded from the elements on all sides by roof and walls, and "furniture" does not include furniture designed and 
intended for outdoor use and exposure to moisture from inclement weather.  

This provision shall not apply during a lawful yard sale or garage sale while such furniture or appliances are 
offered for sale; nor shall it apply while such furniture or appliances are otherwise lawfully held for refuse 
collection.  

1.1121.  Reserved. 

1.1122.  Demolition of buildings. 
 
The purpose of this section is to provide a clean, level, top soiled, seeded, buildable site at the conclusion of the 
demolition process. Whenever a structure is demolished or removed, the person, firm, or corporation commencing 
such demolition or removal must do the following:    

(A) Prior to commencing demolition:    

(1) Submit a completed demolition permit application and pay the appropriate fees for all activities 
related to the demolition process, including but not limited to hazardous material assessment, 
hazardous material abatement, and demolition.  This can also be submitted by the owner or owner’s 
agent.  

(2) Arrange for proper abandonment of all utility services. Sign-offs shall be provided with the application 
for demolition. This may include gas, electric, water, sewer, storm, phone, and cable.  

(3) Conduct a hazardous material assessment and abate hazardous materials in accordance with local, 
state, and federal regulations and the hazardous material assessment report.   

(4) Contact Miss Dig to locate any underground public utilities.  

506



 

 26 of 28  

 

(5) Coordinate the closure of any public street or sidewalk with the City of Sturgis Engineering 
Department by submitting a Right of Way Permit application. Some locations may require approval 
from the Michigan Department of Transportation.  

(6) Verify the existing condition of streets, sidewalks, curbs, fences, and other infrastructure and site 
improvements with the Community Development Department and Engineering Department.  
Applicant shall provide photographs of all damages that exist prior to mobilizing equipment on-site.   

(7) Install safety measures to limit access to the demolition site.   

(8) Install soil erosion control measures as required by your soil erosion permit, if applicable.   
  

(B) During demolition:   

(1) Water down all structures and any ensuing debris during demolition and loading of trucks to mitigate 
any dust and particle nuisance for adjoining properties.   

(2) Demolish the entire structure(s) unless the permit was issued for a portion of a building or structure.   

(3) Remove all footings, foundations, basement walls, basement floors, septic systems and properly 
abandon any wells.  

(4) Demolish or remove all garages, sheds, and accessory or temporary structures including, but not 
limited to, poles, decks, fences, retaining walls, carports, pools, and play structures as nothing can be 
buried or remain.   

(5) Remove all landscaping and shrubs unless approved by the zoning administrator.    

(6) Remove all hard surfaces including, but not limited to, concrete, masonry, asphalt, and hard packed 
stone or gravel, but excluding public sidewalks.   

(7) Remove all driveway curbs, gutter openings and approaches as directed by the Engineering 
Department.    

 

(C) After demolition:    

(1) Request inspection by the Community Development Department for an open hole inspection when 
all debris has been removed from the site and prior to any backfilling of open hole.   

(2) Excavations shall be backfilled with clean fill and compacted to 95% to prevent settling. The 
Community Development Department reserves the right to require compaction testing by a third 
party paid by the contractor, if deemed necessary.   

(3) Install new curb and gutter as directed by the Engineering Department to replace the driveway curb 
and gutter openings if ordered to be removed as part of the permitting process.   

(4) Grade the site to blend smoothly with surrounding properties, public sidewalks, driveways, and curbs. 
Final grade shall be executed in a manner that provides a continuous smooth grade free of voids, 
pockets, and debris including, but not limited to, rocks, roots, plastic, wood, cement, block, brick, and 
steel or other construction material. Grade shall be completed to eliminate standing water or 
draining of water onto neighboring properties.   

(5) Install a minimum of two (2) inches of topsoil and the appropriate grass seed. All grass seed must be 
suitable for mowing and comply with City of Sturgis regulations.  

(6) Properly repair and reseed landscape areas on adjoining properties and the area between the curb 
and sidewalk damaged during demolition or removal activities with topsoil and appropriate grass 
seed.  

(7) Replace all public sidewalks, curbs, driveway approaches, and driveways on the demolition site and 
adjoining properties damaged during demolition or removal activities in accordance with the right of 
way permit requirements.   

(8) Remove all paper, wood, rubbish, and debris from the site before final inspection.   

(9) Request final inspection by the Community Development Department when all work has been 
completed. 
  

507



 

 27 of 28  

 

Exception.  The zoning administrator may authorize a deviation from the above standards in the best interest of 
the City, provided that the deviation complies with the spirit and intent of the ordinance.  

  

1.1123. Home Occupations. 
 A home occupation is an accessory use by the occupant of the dwelling unit.  Home occupation as used in 
this chapter shall be incidental to the principal use of the dwelling unit as a residential use and subject to the 
following: 

(A)   Home occupations that create the following conditions shall not be permitted:  

(1) Changes the outside appearance of the dwelling or is visible from the street. 

(2) Generates traffic, parking, sewerage, or water use in excess of what is normal in the residential 
neighborhood. 

(3) Creates noise, vibration, glare, fumes, odors or results in electrical interference, or becomes a 
nuisance. 

(4) Results in outside storage or display of anything other than a sign in accordance with Section 1.1002. 

(5) Requires the employment of more than one person in the home other than the dwelling occupants. 

(6) Requires exterior building alterations to accommodate the occupation. 

(7) Occupies more than 25 percent of the floor area of the dwelling, or 50 percent of a detached garage. 

(8) Requires parking for customers that cannot be accommodated on the site. Required parking may 
include not exceeding one parking space at curbside on the street. 

(9) Requires the delivery of goods or the visit of customers before 6:00 a.m. and after 8:00 p.m.  

(B) The following are permitted home occupations provided they do not violate any of the provisions of the 
previous paragraph subsections (A)(1-9)of this section:  

(1) Dressmaking, sewing and tailoring. 

(2) Painting, sculpturing or writing. 

(3)     Telephone answering. 

(4) Home crafts, such as model making, rug weaving and lapidary work. 

(5) Tutoring limited to four students at a time. 

(6) Computer application including software and not including sale of computers. 

(7) Salespersons office or home office of a professional person. 

(8) Laundering and ironing. 

(9) Repair of clocks, instruments or other small appliances which do not create a nuisance due to noise, 
vibration, glare, fumes, odors or results in electrical interference. 

(10) Barbershops and beauty parlors, limited to one operator. 

(11) Dance studios, limited to four students. 

(12)   Day care for six or fewer children 

(C) The following are prohibited as home occupations:  

(1) Private clubs. 

(2) Repair shops which may create a nuisance due to noise, vibration, glare, fumes, odors or electrical 
interference.  

508



 

 28 of 28  

 

(3) Restaurants. 

(4) Boarding, stables, kennels. 

(5) Short term rental. 

(6) Motor vehicle repair or paint shops. 

(7) Retail sales that require visits of customers to the home.  

(a) Any proposed home occupation that is neither specifically permitted of this section nor 
specifically prohibited by this section shall be considered a special use and be granted or denied 
upon consideration of those standards contained in section[s] 1.0602 and 1.0603 of this zoning 
ordinance.  

1.1124. Dwelling Unit Review. 

All properties are subject to the following conditions for all new single or two family dwelling units, 
additions, changing of exterior finish materials, and adding or changing parking areas:  

(A) Dwelling units shall conform to all applicable building, electrical, plumbing, fire, energy, city codes and 
ordinances, and with applicable state or federal requirements with respect to the construction of the 
dwelling.  

(B) Dwelling units shall be permanently attached to a perimeter foundation. In instances where the applicant 
elects to set the dwelling on piers or other acceptable foundations which are not at the perimeter of the 
dwelling, then a perimeter wall minimum 24 inches below finish grade shall also be constructed. Any such 
perimeter wall shall be constructed of durable materials and shall also meet all local requirements with 
respect to materials, construction, and necessary foundations below the frost line. Any such wall shall also 
provide an appearance which is compatible with the dwelling and other homes in the area.  This section 
applies to garages attached to the dwelling unit. 

(C) Dwelling units shall be provided with home designs similar to the dwelling units on adjacent properties or 
in the surrounding residential neighborhood. 

(D)  Dwelling units shall be provided with exterior finish materials that is harmonious in color and design.   

(E) Dwelling units shall be provided with an exterior building wall configuration which represents an average 
width to depth or depth to width ratio which does not exceed 3:1, or is in reasonable conformity with the 
configuration of dwelling units on adjacent properties or in the surrounding residential neighborhood.  

(F) The dwelling shall contain storage capability in a basement located under the dwelling, in an attic area, in 
closet areas, or in a separate structure of standard construction similar to or of better quality than the 
principal dwelling, which storage area shall be equal to ten percent of the square footage of the dwelling or 
100 square feet, whichever shall be less.  

(G) All areas not covered by the dwelling unit, accessory structures or buildings, landscaping, or parking areas 
shall have be top dressed with a minimum two (2) inches of topsoil and the appropriate grass seed. All 
grass seed must be suitable for mowing and comply with City regulations. 

(H) The building official may request a review by the planning commission of any dwelling unit with respect to 
this section. The building official or planning board shall not seek to discourage architectural variation but 
seek to promote the reasonable compatibility of the character of dwelling units, thereby protecting the 
economic welfare and property value of surrounding residential uses and the city at large. In reviewing any 
such proposed dwelling unit, the building official may require the applicant to furnish such plans, 
elevations and similar documentation as he deems necessary to permit a complete review and evaluation 
of the proposal. When comparing the proposed dwelling unit to similar types of dwelling unit, 
consideration shall be given to comparable types of homes within 300 feet. If the area within 300 feet does 
not contain any such homes, then the nearest 25 dwellings shall be considered.  

509



 1 of 6  

 

ARTICLE XII. SITE PLAN REVIEW 

1.1201. - Purpose. 

Before a building permit is issued for any use identified as requiring a building permit, a site plan shall be 
submitted to the Community Development Department for review and approval. Before granting approval, the 
planning commission shall ascertain that all provisions of this article are complied with and that the proposed 
location and arrangement of buildings, accesses, parking area, walkways, yards, open areas, and other 
improvements limit potential health, safety, or protection hazards, and that the arrangement of buildings and 
structures will provide convenience for the intended occupants or utilization by the public and will be harmonious 
with development on adjoining properties. 

1.1202. - Scope. 

(A) Except as set forth below, the Community Development Department shall not issue a building permit for 
construction of any buildings, structures, or uses until a site plan, submitted in accordance with this 
zoning ordinance, shall have been reviewed and approved by the planning commission. 

(B) The following buildings, structures, or uses shall be exempt from the site plan review and approval by the 
planning commission procedure but must receive approval from the zoning administrator: 

(1) Single or two-family dwellings on an individual and separate lot and including accessory structures and 
uses. 

(2) Accessory buildings which meet all the following criteria: 

(a) Require no new or additional means of access from adjoining public roads or highways. 

(b) Do not require additional parking exceeding 10% of existing parking area. 

(c) Comply with all zoning ordinance requirements. 

(3) Projects involving the expansion, remodeling, or enlargement of existing buildings which meet all the 
following criteria: 

(a) Require no new or additional means of access from adjoining public roads or highways. 

(b) Do not require additional parking exceeding 10% of existing parking area. 

(c) Comply with all zoning ordinance requirements. 

(4) Additional buildings or structures similar to those previously existing upon an individual site that meet 
all the following criteria: 

(a) Require no new or additional means of access from adjoining public roads or highways. 

(b) Do not require additional parking exceeding 10% of existing parking area. 

(c) Comply with all zoning ordinance requirements. 

(5) Uses such as on-premises advertising signs except as provided for in article XIII of this zoning 
ordinance. 

(6) Parking area projects which meet all the following criteria: 

(a) Require no new or additional means of access from adjoining public roads or highways. 

(b) Do not require additional parking exceeding 10% of existing parking area. 

(c) Comply with all zoning ordinance requirements. 

510



 2 of 6  

 

(7) Parking lot mill and repave projects where an approved site plan is on file, unless there are grading 
changes or changes to the configuration of the parking lot. 

(8) Minor site plan amendments. 

1.1203. - Optional Pre-Application Meeting and Sketch Plan Review. 

(A) Preliminary sketches of proposed site and development plans may be submitted for review to the 
Community Development Department prior to final approval. The purpose of this procedure is to allow 
discussion between an owner, the zoning administrator and other City staff to better inform the owner of 
the acceptability of his proposed plans prior to incurring extensive engineering and other costs necessary 
for final site plan approval. The sketch plan shall include, as a minimum, the following information. 

(1) The name and address of the applicant or developer. 

(2) Sketch plans drawn to scale of site and any existing and proposed improvements. 

(3) Use of property, building information, outside changes, surrounding land uses. 

(B) City staff or the planning commission shall not be bound by a tentative approval if given at this time. 

1.1204. - Application procedure. 

Requests for site plan review shall be made by filing the following items with the Community 

Development Department: 

(A) A review fee as determined by resolution of the City Commission. No application shall be accepted until 
the fee has been paid. 

(B) A completed application form for site plan review which shall contain, as a minimum, the following 
information: 

(1) The name, address and contact information of the applicant. 

(2) The name, address and contact information of the property owner. 

(3) A correct legal description of the property. 

(4) The area of the property stated in acres, or if less than one acre, in square feet. 

(5) The present zoning classification of the property and abutting parcels. 

(6) A description of the proposed development. 

(C) Three full paper sets and one digital format set of site development plans with the architect’s and/or 
engineer’s seal affixed shall be submitted. Plans shall include the following information: 

(1) The title of the proposed project. 

(2) The name of the property owner or proprietor. 

(3) The location of the project, the street name, and the address. 

(4) Professional seal of the architect or engineer which are licensed in the State of Michigan, and their 
name, address, phone number, and email address. 

(5) The date drawn and subsequent revision dates. 

(6) The plan shall be drawn to an appropriate scale of not smaller in size than one inch equals 20 feet for a 
development of not more than three acres, and a scale of not smaller in size than one inch equals to 
100 feet for a development in excess of three acres. 

(7) The plan shall show an appropriate descriptive legend, north arrow, and scale. 

511



 3 of 6  

 

(8) The property shall be identified by lot lines and general location together with dimensions, angles, and 
size correlated with the legal description of the property. 

(9) All utilities including water, sewer, electric, gas, phone, fiber, cable, wells and cisterns, hydrants, fire 
department connections, right of ways and points of access. For water service, include size of service 
line and meter. For sanitary service include the building sewer size. 

(10) The topography of the site with at least one-foot contour intervals and all natural features such as 
wood lots, streams, rivers, lakes, wetlands, unstable soils, and similar features shall be shown. 

(11) Existing manmade and natural features upon the site and adjoining sites within 100 feet of the site 
boundary shall be identified and located. Indicate which features will be retained or removed. This 
shall include signs, parking areas, dumpster location and enclosure, fences, drainage, 
above/underground storage tanks, fire department connections, wooded areas, drains, 100-year flood 
plains, floodway, soil contamination, groundwater contamination, etc. 

(12) The location of all buildings with setbacks as required by the zoning ordinance, distance from lot lines 
and other buildings, proposed finished floor and grade line elevations, the size of proposed principal 
and accessory buildings, the relationship of buildings to one another and to any existing structures on 
the site, number of floors, width, length and the height of all buildings and square footage of floor 
space therein shall be indicated. Site plans for multiple-family residential development shall also 
include a density schedule showing the number of dwelling units per net acres, including a dwelling 
schedule showing the unit type (one bedroom, two bedrooms, etc.) and number of each unit. 

(13) All proposed and existing streets, driveways, sidewalks, and other pedestrian, non-motorized or 
vehicular circulation features upon and adjoining to the site shall be shown, together with the location, 
size, and number of parking areas, service lanes thereto, and service parking and delivery or loading 
areas. Sidewalks are required which meet ADA access, for inter-site access, as well as public access 
across the property along all road frontages. Interconnection of parking lots between business 
properties shall follow the requirements in Article IX of the zoning ordinance. 

(14) The location, use, and size of open spaces together with landscaping, screening, fences, walls, and 
proposed alterations of topography or other natural features shall be indicated. 

(15) The proposed operations on the site shall be described in sufficient detail to indicate the effect, if 
any, upon adjoining lands and occupants, together with any special features which are proposed to 
relieve any adverse effects to adjoining land and occupants. The colors, materials, textures of all 
buildings, walls, roofs, fences, and signage and other items of installation on the site shall be explained 
in sufficient detail to allow review. 

(16) Elevations of all building, accessory buildings, and accessory structures. This includes mechanical 
equipment. If in the Central Business District, all items to verify compliance with the Design Review 
Guidelines shall be shown. 

(17) Any earth-change plans required by state law shall also be submitted with the application. 

(18) Electric service, meter location, and transformer proposed locations shown on the site plan. Pre-
application for electric service must be completed prior to submittal. 

(19) On-site lighting with photometrics. 

(20) Surface water drainage for the site. All new storm water system shall be built and maintained in 
compliance with the City of Sturgis Storm Water Design Criteria Manual. Calculation worksheet must 
be included with the submittal and be signed and sealed by architect or engineer. 

(21) The locations of signs, either existing or proposed, and an indication of their size, height, and design 
to verify compliance with the zoning ordinance. 

(22) The location of any outdoor storage including a description of the items to be located outdoors, as 
well as the location and description of required screening. 

512



 4 of 6  

 

(23) Location of any hazardous materials. If any will be located on the site, provide type of material, 
quantity, and all required hazards. 

(24) The site plan shall include any other information as may be determined to be necessary by the zoning 
administrator because of any peculiar features of the proposed development. 

(25) If the proposed development is located in the City’s wellhead protection area, it shall also follow 
Article XV Groundwater Protection of this zoning ordinance. 

1.1205. - Action on application and plans. 

(A) The Community Development Department shall record the date the application and plans are received and 
shall transmit copies to affected City departments. 

(B) City administrative approval is required prior to review by the planning commission. Upon receiving 
administrative approval by City staff, the site plan will be placed on an upcoming Planning Commission 
meeting. The zoning administrator or their designee will notify the applicant of the date, time, and place of 
the planning commission meeting for the review to be heard. 

(C) Members of the planning commission shall be provided with copies of the application and plans prior to 
the meeting. 

(D) Following the planning commission review, the planning commission shall have the authority to approve, 
disapprove, modify, or alter the proposed plans in accordance with the purpose of the site plan review 
provisions of this section and the criteria contained herein. In those instances where modification is 
required, the planning commission may either approve the plans contingent upon the required alterations 
or modifications, if any, or may require a further review after the modifications have been included in the 
proposed plans for the applicant. 

(E) The planning commission may stipulate special conditions and restrictions upon the approval of the site 
plan as deemed necessary for the protection of the public interest. 

(F) A copy of the approved final site plan, including any required modifications or alterations, shall be 
maintained as part of the City records for future review and enforcement. If any variances from the zoning 
ordinance have been obtained from the zoning board of appeals, the minutes concerning the variances 
shall also be filed with the City records as a part of the site plan and delivered to the applicant for his 
information and direction. The site plan shall become part of the record of approval and subsequent 
actions relating to the activity authorized shall be consistent with the approved site plan. 

1.1206. - Criteria for review. 

In reviewing the application and site plan and approving, disapproving, or modifying the plan, the 
planning commission shall be governed by the following standards: 

(A) There is a proper relationship between the existing streets and highways within the vicinity and proposed 
acceleration and/or deceleration lanes, service drives, entrance and exit driveways, and parking areas to 
ensure the safety and convenience of pedestrian, non-motorized, and vehicular traffic. 

(B) The buildings and structures proposed to be located upon the premises are so situated as to minimize 
adverse effects upon owners and occupants of adjoining properties. 

(C) As many natural features of the landscape shall be retained as possible where they furnish a barrier screen, 
or buffer between the project and adjoining properties used for dissimilar uses and where they assist in 
preserving the general appearance of the neighborhood. 

(D) Any adverse effects of the proposed development and activities emanating therefrom which affect 
adjoining residents or owners shall be minimized by appropriate screening, fencing, landscaping, setback, 
and location of buildings, structures, and entryways. 

513



 5 of 6  

 

(E) The layout of buildings and improvements will minimize any harmful or adverse effect which the 
development might otherwise have upon the surrounding neighborhood. 

(F) The site plan must comply with all provisions of the City code of ordinances and the zoning code.  The 
planning commission may stipulate special conditions and restrictions of the site plan as deemed necessary 
for the protection of the public interest. However, this would not preclude the applicant from applying for 
an appropriate variance with the zoning board of appeals. 

1.1207. - Conformity to approved site plan. 

(A) Revocation of site plan approval. Property which is the subject of site plan approval must be developed in 
strict compliance with the approved site plan, inclusive of any amendments, which has received approval. 
If construction and development does not conform with the approved plan, the approval of the site plan 
shall be revoked by the Community Development Department by written notice of the revocation posted 
upon the premises involved and mailed to the owner at his last known address. Upon revocation of this 
approval, all construction activities shall cease upon the site until the time the violation has been corrected 
or the planning commission has, upon proper application of the owner and after review, approved a 
modification of the site plan. 

(B) Criteria for commencing construction. Approval of the site plan shall be valid for a period of one year. If a 
building permit has not been obtained and on-site development commenced within one year, the site plan 
approval shall become void and a new application for site plan approval shall be required and new 
approval obtained before any construction or earth change is commenced upon the site. An applicant may 
make application for a six-month extension of the site plan to the Community Development Department. 
The extension shall be granted if the zoning administrator finds good cause for the extension and that 
zoning regulations and site conditions of the subject property and adjoining properties have not changed 
since the site plan approval. 

1.1208. - Amendment to site plan. 

(A) A proposed amendment, modification, or alteration to a previously approved site plan may be submitted 
to the zoning administrator. The zoning administrator shall determine whether the change is major, 
warranting review by the planning commission, or minor, allowing administrative approval, as noted 
below: 

(1) Minor changes. Minor changes may be approved by the zoning administrator after review by affected 
City departments determining that the proposed revision(s) will not alter the basic design and character 
of the plan as approved by the planning commission, nor any specified conditions imposed as part of 
the original approval. The zoning administrator has the discretion to request review by the planning 
commission for minor changes. Minor changes shall include the following: 

(a) Reduction of the size or height of any building. 

(b) Movement of buildings and/or signs by no more than ten feet if consistent with required setbacks, 
open space, and other standards. 

(c) Landscaping approved in the final development plan that is replaced by similar landscaping to an 
equal or greater extent. 

(d) Changes in floor plans, of up to five percent of the total floor area, which do not alter the character 
of the use or increase the amount of parking by more than 10%. 

(e) Internal rearrangement of a parking lot which does not affect the number of parking spaces or alter 
access locations or design. 

(f) Improvements or slight relocation of site access or circulation, such as inclusion of deceleration 
lanes, boulevards, curbing or pedestrian/bicycle paths, where appropriate. 

514



 6 of 6  

 

(g) Changes of building materials to another of similar or higher quality, or a slight change in the color of 
the exterior material. 

(h) Grade change of up to one foot, reviewed and approved by the City engineer. 

(i) Modification of entry design, sign placement or reduction in size of signs. 

(j) Changes to the location of accessory buildings and structures. 

(k) Changes required or requested by the city, county, or other state or federal regulatory agency to 
conform to other laws or regulations which do not substantially modify the plan. 

(2) Major changes. A proposed change not determined by the zoning administrator to be minor shall be 
submitted as an amendment to the site plan and shall be reviewed in the same manner as the original 
site plan application. 

1.1209. - Performance guarantee. 

(A) In compliance with the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (MCL 125.3505, as amended), the City shall have the 
right and authority to ensure compliance with the zoning ordinance and any condition imposed thereunder 
to require a performance guarantee approved by the Community Development Department to ensure the 
development of the site in accordance with the approved site plan. The performance guarantee shall 
continue for the duration of the construction and development of the site. 

(B) The performance guarantee may be in the form of a cash deposit, certified check, irrevocable letter of 
credit, or surety bond acceptable to the City, in an amount to cover the cost of the improvements 
associated with the project. It shall be deposited with the City clerk to insure faithful completion of the 
improvements as set out in the site plan approval. If the City has required a performance guarantee, then it 
shall be subject to the following terms and conditions: 

(1) The performance guarantee shall be deposited prior to the issuance of the building permit authorizing 
the activity or project. 

(2) Rebates of cash deposits. Where the performance guarantee has been made in the form of a cash 
deposit, the performance guarantor shall be entitled to a rebate of the cash deposit in reasonable 
proportion to the ratio of work completed on the required improvements as satisfactory work 
progresses. 

The performance guarantor may request the rebates in three equal installments each time one-third of 
the entire required work has been satisfactorily completed in accordance with the final approved site 
plan, including any approved amendments. 

(3) Failure to complete improvements. If the performance guarantor fails to complete the improvements as 
approved in the final approved site plan within such time period as is required by the conditions or 
guarantees as outlined above, then the City may proceed to have such work completed and shall 
reimburse itself for the cost thereof by appropriating the cash deposit, certified check, or surety bond 
or by drawing upon the irrevocable letter of credit, or shall take the necessary steps to require 
performance by the bonding company. 

1.1210. – Appeals 

Any person or party aggrieved by an administrative determination or decision of the planning commission 

under this chapter may appeal such decision to the zoning board of appeals in accordance with the provisions of 

this zoning ordinance. Such appeal shall be filed within ten (10) days of the date of a final decision made by the 

planning commission or City staff. 

515



 1 of 5  

 

ARTICLE XIII DESIGN REVIEW - CENTRAL BUSINESS AREA 

1.1301. Design review. 

Design review is required in order to provide for the orderly development and redevelopment of the central 
business district, the boundaries of which are defined in the adopted Sturgis Zoning Map, and to maintain and 
enhance property values, to promote the economic and general prosperity of the district and to protect the health, 
safety and welfare of the community by facilitating development where the physical, visual and spatial 
characteristics are established and reinforced through appropriate design; to provide for a design review 
committee of the planning commission to act in the application of this provision; to encourage creativity in the 
development and redevelopment of property in the central business district; and to ensure the standards and 
guidelines established by the ordinance are administered so as to encourage the disposition of development 
proposals without undue delay or cost to property owners in the district.  

(A) Definitions. Because many of the words or terms used in design review are not in common usage, or 
they could be misconstrued as to meaning, the following definitions are to be used in the context of 
the use of this section. Terms not herein defined shall have the meaning customarily assigned to them, 
unless otherwise defined in this ordinance.  

(1) Appearance. The outward aspect of a building structure or site visible to the public.  

(2) Appropriate. Sympathetic, or fitting, to the context of the site and the whole community.  

(3) Appurtenances. The visible, functional objects accessory to and part of buildings.  

(4) Architectural concept. The basic aesthetic idea of a building, or group of buildings or structures, 
including the site and landscape development, which produces the architectural character.  

(5) Architectural feature. A prominent or significant part or element of a building, structure, or site.  

(6) Architectural style. The characteristic form and detail, as of buildings of a particular historic 
period.  

(7) Central business district. The area designated on the adopted Sturgis Zoning Map as the central 
business district.  

(8) Character. The combination of traits which, when considered together, distinguish specified land 
and/or development from other specified land and/or development. In assessing character, the 
following may be considered, along with any other expressly identified factors:  

(a) Percentage of a lot covered by structures and other impervious improvements;  

(b) Type or style of structure;  

(d)      Traffic flow and pattern, and the relationship of traffic to pedestrian and vehicular 
thoroughfares;  

(d) Density of land uses and;  

(e) Intensity of uses.  

(9) External design feature. The general arrangement of any portion of a building, sign, landscaping 
or structure and including the kind, color, and texture of the materials of such portion and the 
types of roof, windows, doors, lights, attached or ground signs or other fixtures appurtenant to 
such portions, as will be open to public view from any street, place or way.  

(10) Graphic element. A letter, illustration, symbol, figure, insignia, or other device employed to 
express and illustrate a message or part thereof.  

(B) Design review committee. 

516



 2 of 5  

 

 (1) Creation. A design review committee shall be appointed by the planning commission for the 
purpose of assisting the planning commission to preserve, protect and enhance the aesthetic 
appeal of the central business district; protect property values through the application of good 
design principles; and promote the general health, safety and welfare of the central business 
district and the community. The design review committee will also be charged with reviewing all 
applications and making a recommendation to the planning commission for all internally-
illuminated signs in the B-C district per section 1.1006(D)(4) and all special land use marquee 
signs per section 1.0603(LL). For the purpose of this review (marquee signs) will be judged on 
their individual design with building scale and architectural compatibility being key elements.  

(2) Membership. The design review committee shall consist of not less than three regular members 
and shall include one member of the planning commission, one member of the downtown 
development authority and one member at large. The review committee, as it determines 
necessary or appropriate, shall utilize the assistance of planning, architectural and other 
consultants. The review committee shall seek the assistance of relevant experts in an effort to 
achieve accord in those instances in which the applicant objects to the decision of the review 
committee.  

(3) Requirement for approved design; nature of review. In the central business district, no permit 
required under the ordinances of the city for a sign or for the erection, construction, alteration, 
or repair of any building or structure which involves an exterior design feature, or any painting of 
a commercial building other than "touch-up" painting of the same color, shall be issued by the 
city unless the project meets all requirements of the design guidelines listed in article XIII. If the 
building official cannot determine if the project meets the proposed standards, or it is mandated 
by other sections of this zoning code, the building official shall refer the project to the design 
review committee for its determination and recommendation to the planning commission.  

(4) The design guidelines established by the downtown development authority for the central 
business district shall serve as a guide to the design review committee in the review of plans.  

(C) Administration. 

 (1) Application. As a separate and distinct part of site plan review, drawings and plans shall be 
submitted to the city at a scale in sufficient detail to illustrate clearly the design for which 
approval is sought. Such plans shall show the following:  

(a) Existing conditions (both public and private) and natural features, all structures and uses, 
improvements, public street rights-of-way, sidewalks, public and private easements and 
restrictions for the subject site and immediately abutting property.  

(b) Site plan in accordance with the requirements of the zoning ordinance containing the 
information as prescribed by the rules of the planning commission.  

(c) Architectural drawings of all exterior building elevations, colors of exterior walls, trims and 
roofs, lighting materials, ornamental, pictorial or decorative material to be used in or about 
the exterior of the structure. Samples of building materials and colors may be required to 
be submitted.  

(d) Such other information as may be required by the design review committee to permit 
reasonable consideration of the application.  

(D) Design review committee action. The design review committee shall recommend to the planning 
commission approval, conditional approval or disapproval of the application. Such action shall not be in 
lieu of site plan review by the planning commission.  

(1) Enforcement. Upon the granting of an approved design or amendments thereto, and following 
site plan review by the planning commission, the exterior drawings, sketches, landscape and site 
plans, renderings and materials upon which an approved design or amendment was granted shall 

517



 3 of 5  

 

be turned over to the community development department, whose responsibility it shall be to 
determine, from time-to-time as the project is in progress and finally upon its completion, that 
there have been no deviations therefrom.  

(a) It shall be the duty of the person, firm or corporation to whom an approved design has 
been granted to comply therewith, and to obtain such inspections as may be necessary in 
order to assure compliance. The community development department may notify such 
person of any deficiencies found to exist. Failure to comply with an approved design will 
constitute a violation of this ordinance.  

(b) Before any use may be made of improvements constructed under these provisions of 
design review, a final inspection of the premises must be obtained from the community 
development department. An occupancy permit will not be issued unless such an 
inspection has been made and the completed work found to be in compliance with plans 
approved.  

(E) Design criteria. 

 (1) Criteria. The purpose of these criteria is to establish a checklist of those items which affect the 
physical aspect of the central business district environment. Pertinent to appearance is the 
design of the site, building and structures, planting, signs, street hardware, and miscellaneous 
other objects which are observed by the public. The design guidelines established by the 
downtown development authority shall serve as the guideline for review by the design review 
committee.  

These criteria are not intended to restrict imagination, innovation, or variety, but rather to 
provide a guide for decision making and assist in focusing on design principles which can result in 
creative solutions that will continue to develop and enhance a satisfactory visual-appearance 
within the central business district.  

(2) Relationship of building site. 

 (a) Parking areas where provided shall be treated with decorative elements, building wall 
extensions, plantings, berms or other innovative means so as to largely screen parking 
areas from view from public ways.  

(b) The height and scale of each building shall be compatible with its site and adjoining 
buildings.  

(3) Relationship of building and site to adjoining area. 

 (a) Adjacent buildings of different architectural styles that are in harmony with the overall 
downtown development authority design guidelines shall be respected in the design or 
alterations of a building site.  

(b) Harmony in texture, lines, and masses is required.  

(c) To the extent reasonably feasible, the building and site shall not be inconsistent with the 
character (as defined in this ordinance) of the area.  

(4) Building design. 

(a) Architectural style is not restricted. Evaluation of appearance of a project shall be based on 
quality of its design and relationship to surroundings.  

(b) Buildings shall have good scale and be in harmonious conformance with permanent 
neighboring development.  

(c) Materials shall have good architectural character and shall be selected for harmony of the 
building with adjoining buildings.  

518



 4 of 5  

 

(d) Materials shall be selected for suitability to the type of buildings and the design in which 
they are used. Buildings shall have the same materials, or those which are architecturally 
harmonious, used for all building walls and other exterior building components wholly or 
partly visible from public ways.  

(e) Inappropriate materials and methods, and those which will produce inconsistency with the 
structure of the building, shall be avoided.  

(f) Materials shall be of durable quality.  

(g) Building components - such as windows, doors, eaves, and parapets - shall have good 
proportions and relationship to one another.  

(h) Colors shall be harmonious, and not used to draw attention, e.g., serving as a sign. 

(i) Mechanical equipment or other utility hardware on roof, ground, or buildings shall be 
screened from public view with materials harmonious with the building, or they shall be 
located so as not to be visible from any public ways.  

(j) Exterior lighting, including external and interior lighted signs, shall be part of the 
architectural concept. Fixtures, standards, and all exposed accessories shall be harmonious 
with building design.  

(k) Refuse and waste removal areas, service yards, storage yards, and exterior work areas shall 
be screened from view from public ways, using materials as stated in criteria for equipment 
screening.  

(l) Inappropriate, incompatible, bizarre, and exotic designs shall be avoided.  

(m) The provisions of the zoning ordinance in regard to lot, yard, height, and area regulations 
and standards, which directly affect appearance, shall be part of the criteria of this 
subsection.  

(n) To the extent reasonably feasible, the building design shall not be inconsistent with the 
character (as defined in this ordinance) of the area.  

(F) Signs. The provisions of the zoning ordinance in regard to signs shall be part of the criteria of this 
subsection. In addition to zoning ordinance standards the design guidelines established by the 
downtown development authority shall serve as a guide for sign design.  

(1) Wall signs shall be part of the architectural concept. Size, color, lettering, location, and 
arrangement shall be harmonious with the building design, and shall be compatible with signs in 
conformance with zoning standards on adjoining buildings. Signs shall have good proportions.  

(2) Identification signs of a prototype design shall conform to the criteria for signs.  

(3) Materials used in signs shall have good architectural character and be harmonious with building 
design and surrounding landscape.  

(4) Every sign shall have good scale in its design and in its visual relationship to buildings and 
surroundings.  

(5) Colors shall be used harmoniously. Brilliant colors shall be avoided. Lighting shall be harmonious 
with the design. If external spot or ground lighting is used, it shall be arranged so that the light 
source is shielded from view. Internally lighted signs, with the exception of those utilizing neon, 
shall use soft lighting sources that do not overwhelm or distract from the atmosphere of the 
building or surrounding area.  

(G) Miscellaneous structures and street hardware. 

519



 5 of 5  

 

 (1) Miscellaneous structures include any structures, other than buildings, visible to view from any 
public way or ways. Street hardware includes all objects not commonly referred to as structures 
and located in streets and public ways and outside of buildings.  

(2) Miscellaneous structures and street hardware located on private property shall be designed to be 
part of the architectural concept of design and landscape. Materials shall be compatible with 
buildings, scale shall be good, colors shall be in harmony with buildings and surroundings, and 
proportions shall be attractive.  

(3) Miscellaneous structures and street hardware located in public ways and other public property 
shall be harmonious with design of adjacent buildings and other structures and landscape.  

(4) Lighting in connection with miscellaneous structures and street hardware shall meet the criteria 
applicable to site, landscape, buildings and signs.  

(5) The provisions of the zoning ordinance in regard to area and bulk regulations and standards, and 
of those portions of the building code which directly affect appearance, shall be part of the 
criteria of this subsection.  

(H) Building lighting. 

(1) Building lighting shall be harmonious with adjacent building.   

(2) Building lighting shall not shine onto adjacent buildings or into residential tenant spaces. 

(3) Light sources shall be steady and not blink, flash or move and don’t produce a glare.   

(4) Electrical fixtures, conduit or wire should not be exposed.  If this is not possible, it shall be 
painted to match background. 

(5) Exceptions.  For downtown lighting projects that are overseen as part of a Downtown 
Development Authority (DDA) or City of Sturgis project, the above requirements may be 
amended with approval from the Planning Commission through the Design Review Process. 

(I) Maintenance—planning and design factors. 

(1) Continued good appearance depends upon the extent and quality of maintenance. The choice of 
materials and their use, together with the types of finishes and other protective measures, must 
be conducive to easy maintenance and upkeep.  

(2) Materials and finishes shall be selected for their durability and wear as well as for their beauty. 
Proper measures and devices shall be incorporated for protection against the elements, neglect, 
damage and abuse.  

(3) Provision for washing and cleaning of buildings and structures, and control of dirt and 
refuse, shall be included in the design. Such configurations that lend to catch and 
accumulate debris, leaves, trash, dirt and rubbish shall be avoided.  

520



 

 1 of 18  

 

ARTICLE XIV. ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

1.1401. Building permits. 

No sign, parking area, fence, building, or other structure regulated by this zoning ordinance shall be erected, 
razed, moved, extended, enlarged, altered, or changed in use, and no exterior of any commercial building in the 
central business district shall be painted until a building permit has been issued by the community development 
department, except the following: 

(1) Touch-up painting of the same color of any commercial building in the central 
business district. 

(2) Accessory structures and fences that are included as part of an urban chicken 
permit, Chapter 10, section 10.65 of the City of Sturgis code of ordinances.  

(A) Issuance. No building permit shall be issued unless the application and plans conform in all respects to 
this [zoning] ordinance and to other applicable city regulations and have been approved by any 
required review board or person. The building permit shall state any special conditions imposed by this 
section or by any review board or person and shall be signed by the community development 
department and the owner. A copy of the signed building permit shall be sent to the city assessor.  

(B) Approval of Sturgis City Commission for movement of buildings. It shall be unlawful to move an existing 
building having a floor area of more than 100 square feet or over 14 feet in height onto property within 
the city without the written approval of the Sturgis City Commission. In determining whether to grant 
approval, the city commission shall enforce:  

(1) The terms and conditions of this section;  

(2) All state statutes;  

(3) All other city ordinances and regulations; and  

(4) Such additional conditions as the city commission shall impose by written agreement with the 
owner of the site upon which the building is to be moved.  

(5) The applicant must obtain all applicable state and local permits within 60 days after such 
approval by the city commission.  

No agreement shall be made, the terms and provisions of which shall have the effect of waiving the 
provisions of any state statute or any ordinance, resolution or regulation of the city.  

The following buildings shall be exempt from the approval provisions of this subsection (B): Any 
manufactured home that meets all of the following: (i) the manufactured home is intended to be 
installed at a properly-licensed mobile home park, (ii) the owner of the home or the owner of the 
mobile home park must provide proof of previous certification by the federal Department of Housing 
and Urban Development ("HUD"), and (iii) the HUD certification confirms that the manufactured home 
at one time met the National Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Standards Act of 1974, 42 
US 5401 to 5428 (as referenced in § 125.2307 of the Michigan Compiled Laws).  

With respect to any such building, the committee established pursuant to subsection (C) shall, within 
ten days after receipt by the city of a completed application to move a manufactured home within the 
city, including pictures and such other documentation as reasonably requested by the committee, 
review the building to be moved and determine compliance with subsection (D). If the committee 
determines that the building does not comply with subsection (D), the city building official shall inform 
the applicant of the concerns to be resolved. If no response is provided to the applicant within 15 days 
from the date of receipt of the completed application, the application to move the building shall be 
deemed approved.  

521



 

 2 of 18  

 

Upon receiving notification from the city building official that the building does not comply with 
subsection (D), the applicant may, if the applicant does not agree with the determination, request the 
city commission at its next regularly scheduled meeting to grant permission to move the building.  

(C) Committee to advise Sturgis City Commission on moving buildings. A committee of three persons shall 
be formed by the city manager in order to review all buildings which are to be moved and the site to 
which the building is to be moved. The committee shall make a recommendation to the Sturgis City 
Commission concerning the applicability of section 1.1401(D) to the building(s) to be moved. The 
committee shall consist of the city manager, or his designee, one resident at large from the City of 
Sturgis and one resident from the neighborhood to which the building is proposed to be moved.  

(D) Building to be occupied as dwelling after move to conform to other dwellings in the area. All buildings 
which are to be moved to a location within the city and which are to be used for residential purposes 
shall conform, as far as possible to the general type, age and construction of the predominant 
residential buildings in the area adjacent to the proposed site, provided said adjacent buildings shall 
comply with, or are more restrictive, than the zoning regulations of the street upon which the building 
is to be located.  

1.1402. Occupancy permits. 

Before any existing use of land or use of a building is changed, and before any new sign, parking area, a 
building, or other new structure or a new part thereof regulated by this [zoning] ordinance is occupied or used, an 
occupancy permit shall be issued. The community development department shall ascertain, by inspection, that the 
intended use, premise, building, structure, or parts thereof comply with the provisions of this section, with any 
other pertinent city regulations, with any special conditions imposed on the building permit, and to all aspects of 
the approved site plan. Upon so finding the community development department shall issue an occupancy permit 
which shall be acknowledged by the signature of the owner thereon. A copy of the occupancy permit shall be sent 
to the city assessor, police chief and fire chief by the community development department.  

1.1403. Enforcement; violations procedure. 

(A) Enforcement. This section shall be enforced by the community development department. The 
community development community development department shall not issue any permit which would 
authorize a violation of any provision of this section or of any other applicable city regulations, except 
upon the order of the zoning board of appeals or a court.  

(B) Inspections. The community development department shall make periodic inspections of the city to 
ensure that the requirements of the zoning ordinance, building and property maintenance code are 
being compiled with.  

(C) Violations. The community development department shall investigate any alleged violation of Appendix 

A – Zoning.  If a violation is found to exist, the community development department may serve notice 

upon the owner by personal service or regular mail, and order a termination of the violation. In the case 

of a violation of section 1.1115, if a violation is found still to exist seven days after notification and 

order, the community development department may prosecute a complaint to terminate the violation 

before the district court.  In the case a violation of any section other than section 1.1115, if a violation is 

found to still exist 30 days after the notification and order, the building official may prosecute a 

complaint to terminate the violation before the district court. Pursuant to section 9c of Public Act No. 

175 of 1927 (MCL 764.9c), if the community development department has reasonable cause to believe 

that a person has violated any provision of Appendix A - Zoning, the community development or police 

department may, in its discretion, issue and serve upon the person an appearance ticket with respect to 

the violation, in which event the violation shall be processed as provided by law.  

522



 

 

 3 of 18  

 

(D) Records. The community development department shall keep records of all inspections, investigations, 
applications, fees, and permits issued, with notations of all special conditions involved. Copies of all plot 
plans approved by the planning commission or zoning board of appeals shall also be kept unless the 
permit or authorization has expired. These records shall be available as a public record.  

523



 

 

 4 of 18  

 

1.1404. City planning commission. 

(A) Powers and duties. The city planning commission is hereby designated as the commission as specified in 
Article II of Public Act No. 33 of 2008 (MCL 125.3811) and shall perform the duties of the planning 
commission as provided in this act, together with any other powers and duties that are given to the 
planning commission by the provisions of this section, including authority to act on all matters requiring 
the approval or recommendation of the planning commission.  

(B) Authority to approve uses. Whenever in this section the lawful exercise or existence of a use requires 
the approval of the planning commission, the planning commission is hereby authorized and directed to 
investigate the matter requiring the approval, to conduct a public hearing thereon where required, to 
make a determination, to either grant or refuse the approval, and to do all things reasonably necessary 
to the making of the investigation and determination, subject to the provisions of this [zoning] 
ordinance.  

(C) Hearing notice. Prior to conducting a public hearing, as authorized in division subsection (B) of this 
section above, a public notice stating the time and place of the hearing, shall be posted and served in 
accordance with the provisions established in section 1.1405(G).  

(D) Rules of procedure. The planning commission is hereby authorized to adopt rules of procedure 
consistent with the state statutes and the provisions of this section.  

(E) Surveys and plans. Where the planning commission is empowered to approve certain uses of premises 
under the provisions of this zoning ordinance, or in cases where the planning commission is required to 
make an investigation, the applicant shall furnish the surveys, plans, or other information as may be 
reasonably required by the planning commission for the proper consideration of the matter in 
accordance with the provisions of this [zoning] ordinance.  

(F) Hearings. In making any recommendations or approval authorized by the provisions of this [zoning] 
ordinance, the planning commission shall consider the following:  

(1) Whether there has been a compliance with the provisions of this [zoning] ordinance.  

(2) Whether there is proper yard space, parking facilities, loading space, percentage of lot coverage, 
green belts, size of building, lot area, and other conditions required by this [zoning] ordinance.  

(3) Whether the use involved is in accord with the spirit and purposes of this [zoning] ordinance.  

(4) Whether the use involved would constitute a public or private nuisance.  

(5) Whether the use involved would disturb or interfere with the natural or planned development of 
the surrounding neighborhood.  

(6) Whether the use involved would affect the natural system or planned drainage so as to 
deleteriously affect the surrounding neighborhood.  

1.1405. Zoning board of appeals. 

(A) General grant of power. The zoning board of appeals shall perform all the duties and have all the 
powers prescribed by the state statutes, as amended and supplemented from time to time.  

(B) Procedure. 

(1) General. 

(a) The zoning board of appeals shall adopt rules of procedure consistent with the provisions of 
state statutes and local ordinances, as it may deem necessary to the proper performance of 
its duties and the proper exercise of its powers.  

524



 

 

 5 of 18  

 

(b) Meetings of the zoning board of appeals shall be held at the call of the chairman and at all 
other times as the board may determine. The chairman, or in his absence, the acting 
chairman, may administer oaths and compel the attendance of witnesses.  

(c) Hearings of the zoning board of appeals shall be public. The board shall keep minutes of its 
proceedings showing the action of the board and the vote of each member upon each 
question, or if absent or failing to vote, indicating that fact, and shall keep records of its 
examination and other official actions, all of which shall be immediately filed in the office of 
the board and shall be a public record.  

(d) The zoning board of appeals shall hear and decide appeals from and review orders, 
requirements, decisions, or determinations made by an administrative official or body 
charged with enforcement of this section, as brought before the board. The board shall also 
hear and decide matters referred to them or upon which they are required to pass under an 
ordinance of the legislative body adopted pursuant to the Zoning Enabling Act. This includes 
the zoning board of appeals power to hear and decide upon request the interpretation of 
the provisions of this [zoning] ordinance. The zoning board of appeals shall have their 
decision in these matters as the criteria established by this [zoning] ordinance under article 
XIV, section 1.1405(D).  

(e) An appeal to the zoning board of appeals in cases in which it has original jurisdiction under 
the provisions of this [zoning] ordinance may be taken by any property owner, including a 
tenant, or by a government office, department, board, or bureau. An application for an 
appeal shall be filed with the community development department who shall transmit the 
application together with all the plans, specifications, and other papers pertaining to the 
application, to the board.  

(2) Membership and appointment. 

(a) Pursuant to state law, there is hereby created a zoning board of appeals consisting of at least 
five members, each to be appointed by the city commission for a term of three years 
running from the date of appointment, and extending for a further period until a successor 
shall be appointed. Vacancies shall be filled by appointment for the unexpired term, The 
zoning board of appeals shall elect its own chairman, vice-chairman, and secretary from 
among its own membership. Members of the board must be residents of the city; members 
moving outside the city boundaries may finish their terms but will not be reappointed.  

(b) The city commission may also if it so desires appoint not more than two alternate members 
for the same term as regular members of the board of appeals. The alternate members may 
be called on a rotating basis to sit as regular members of the board of appeals in the absence 
of a regular member. An alternate member may also be called to serve in the place of a 
regular member for the purpose of reaching a decision on a case in which the regular 
member has abstained for reasons of conflict of interest. The alternate member having been 
appointed shall serve in the case until a final decision has been made. The alternate member 
shall have the same voting rights as a regular member of the board of appeals.  

(3) Voting. The concurring vote of a majority of the members of the board shall be necessary to 
reverse an order, requirement, decision, or determination of an administrative official or body; to 
decide in favor of the applicant a matter upon which the zoning board of appeals is required to 
pass under the terms of an ordinance; or to affect a variation in an ordinance, except that a 
concurring vote of two-thirds of the members of the board shall be necessary to grant a variance 
from uses of land permitted in an ordinance.  

(C) Appeal procedure. 

(1) Appeal permitted.  An appeal may be taken by a person aggrieved, or by an officer, department, 
board, or bureau of the city. An appeal shall be taken within 30 days of the date of the decision 

525



 

 

 6 of 18  

 

appealed from, as prescribed by the rules of the board of appeals, by the filing with the officer or 
body from whom the appeal is taken and with the board of appeals a notice of appeal specifying 
the grounds for the appeal. The party from whom the appeal is taken shall immediately transmit 
to the board all the papers constituting the record upon which the action appealed was taken.  

(2) Stay of proceedings. An appeal stays all proceedings in furtherance of the action appealed from 
unless the officer or body from whom the appeals is taken certifies to the zoning board of appeals, 
after the notice of appeal is filed, that by reason of facts stated in the certificate, a stay would in 
the opinion of the officer or body cause imminent peril to life or property, in which case 
proceedings shall not be stayed otherwise than by a restraining order. This restraining order may 
be granted by the zoning board of appeals or circuit court, on application of, or notice to the 
officer or body from whom the appeal is taken and undue cause shown.  

(3) Decisions on appeals and applications. The zoning board of appeals shall render its decision upon 
any appeal or application submitted to it within 60 days after the hearing thereon, and in any 
event, within 90 days after the date of filing of the appeal or application. Upon failure to do so, 
the appeal or application shall thereupon be deemed to be decided adversely to the appellant or 
applicant in the same manner as though the board had rendered its decision to that effect. All 
decisions of the zoning board of appeals shall become final five days after the date of entry of an 
order, unless the board shall find, and so certify on the record, that it is necessary to cause the 
order to have immediate effect, in order to preserve property or personal rights.  

Any matter appealed to the zoning board of appeals under site plan review provisions of this 
zoning ordinance (article XII) for which the board of appeals provides for a variance from the 
zoning ordinance, the subject site plan shall be referred back to the planning commission for 
review as an amended site plan.  

(4) Appeals to circuit court. 

(a) The decision of the zoning board of appeals shall be final. However, a person having an 
interest affected by the zoning code may appeal to the circuit court. Upon appeal, the circuit 
court shall review the record and decision of the board of appeals to ensure that the 
decision complies with the following:  

i. Complies with the constitution and laws of the state.  

ii. Is based upon proper procedure.  

iii. Is supported by competent, material, and substantial evidence on the record.  

iv. Represents a reasonable exercise of discretion granted by law to the board of appeals.  

(b) As a result of the court's review, the court may affirm, reverse, or modify the decision of the 
board of appeals.  

(D) Variance procedures. 

(1) Grant of power for variances. In addition to other duties and powers specified herein, the zoning 
board of appeals, after public hearing, shall have the power to authorize a land use or structural 
dimensional variance from the provisions of this section where it is alleged by the applicant that 
any of the following conditions exists.  

(a) By reason of exceptional narrowness, shallowness, or shape of a specific piece of property 
on the effective date of this [zoning] ordinance; or by reason of exceptional topographic 
conditions or other extraordinary situation or condition of the land, building, or structure; or 
by reason of the use or development of property immediately adjoining the property in 
question, the literal enforcement of the requirements of this zoning ordinance would involve 
practical difficulties or would cause undue hardship.  

526



 

 

 7 of 18  

 

(b) There are practical difficulties or unnecessary hardship in the way of carrying out the strict 
letter of this zoning ordinance relating to the construction, structural changes in equipment, 
or alterations of buildings or structures, or the use of the land, buildings, or structures.  

(c) The condition or situation of the specific property or the specific intended use of the 
property is not of a general or recurrent nature so as to make the formulation of general 
regulations in this section practical.  

(d) This provision shall not be construed to permit the board under the variance to change the 
use of the land or structure.  

(2) Variances prohibited. A variance may be allowed by the zoning board of appeals only in cases 
where there is reasonable evidence in the official record of the hearing that the following are true.  

(a) No portion of the zoning ordinance or map are amended by the zoning board of appeals 
action.  

(b) The alleged practical difficulties or unnecessary hardships are present.  

(c) The variance will not reverse or modify any refusal of a permit or order, nor validate, legalize 
or ratify any violation, law or regulation of this zoning ordinance.  

(d) The variance will not be detrimental to adjacent property and the surrounding 
neighborhood.  

(e) The variance will not impair the intent and purpose of this [zoning] ordinance, or change the 
use permitted.  

(f) At least two of the following conditions are found to exist:  

i. There are exceptional or extraordinary circumstances or conditions applying to the 
property in question, or to the intended use of the property that do not apply generally 
to other properties in the same zoning district.  

ii. The condition or situation of a specific piece of property or the intended use of the 
property for which the variance is sought, is not of so general or recurrent in nature as to 
make reasonably practicable the formulation of a general regulation for the conditions or 
situation.  

iii. The variance is necessary for the preservation and enjoyment of a substantial property 
right similar to that possessed by other properties in the same zoning district and in the 
vicinity. The possibility of increased financial return shall not of itself be deemed 
sufficient to warrant a variance.  

(3) Land use variance procedures. 

(a) Information required. In addition to the information required for other variance requests, an 
application for a use variance under this section shall include a plan drawn to scale detailing 
the specific use and improvements proposed by the applicant, and a summary of the facts 
which support each of the following conclusions:  

i. Applicant's property cannot be used for the purposes permitted in the zoning districts;  

ii. Applicant's plight is due to unique circumstances peculiar to his property and not to 
general neighborhood conditions;  

iii. Applicant's suggested use would not alter the essential character of the area;  

iv. Applicant's problem has not been self-created;  

v. Unavailability of administrative relief which may afford reasonable use of applicant's 
property.  

527



 

 

 8 of 18  

 

(b) Prehearing conference. Prior to the scheduling of a hearing, the applicant shall contact the 
building official for the purpose of scheduling a prehearing conference. The purpose of the 
prehearing conference shall be to:  

i. Review, the procedure for the hearing and identify all persons who will testify (directly or 
through affidavit) and the evidence to be offered on behalf of the applicant;  

ii. Attempt to secure a statement of agreed-upon facts to be used to narrow the matters of 
dispute and shorten the hearing;  

iii. Explore a means of providing relief to the applicant by way of nonuse variance from the 
zoning board of appeals, or other relief which may require action by persons or bodies 
other than the zoning board of appeals which will afford an adequate remedy for the 
applicant;  

iv. The prehearing conference shall be scheduled and conducted on an expeditious basis so 
as to avoid unreasonable delay to the applicant. Sufficient time shall be taken, however, 
to achieve the purposes of the prehearing conference stated above.  

(c) Use variance decision by the board of appeals. 

i. The zoning board of appeals may deem it appropriate in any given case to provide an 
opportunity for anyone presenting testimony or evidence to submit proposed findings of 
fact and conclusions.  

ii. At the conclusion of the hearing, the zoning board of appeals may make its decision at 
that meeting, or it may adjourn the hearing to a new date for the purpose of reviewing 
the testimony and evidence, and reviewing proposed findings and conclusions submitted 
by hearing participants, in preparation for making its decision.  

iii. If the zoning board of appeals determines to grant variance relief, it shall be the 
minimum relief required to allow reasonable use of the property, while maintaining the 
essential character of the area. Such relief may be in the form of one or more nonuse 
variances and/or in the form of a use variance. The motion may include conditions that 
are authorized by law.  

iv. If the zoning board of appeals adopts a motion to grant variance relief, such motion may 
be made as a tentative grant of relief, subject to review by the planning commission, 
planning director/ consultant, engineer or other person or official with expertise, with a 
view of obtaining recommendations on any conditions that may be relevant and 
authorized by law, and for the further purpose of ensuring that the grant of relief would 
not violate applicable law. If such a tentative grant of relief is approved, the zoning board 
of appeals shall request the completion of all reviews by other boards or persons by a 
specific date, so that relief may be expeditiously finalized.  

(E) Temporary uses and public utility permits. 

(1) The temporary use of a building or premises in any district for purposes of use that do not 
conform to the regulations prescribed by this section for the district in which it is located is 
permitted upon permit granted by the zoning board of appeals, provided that the use is of a true 
temporary nature and does not involve the erection of substantial buildings. The permit shall be 
granted in the form of a temporary and revocable permit for not more than a 12-month period, 
subject to any conditions as will safeguard the public health, safety, convenience, and general 
welfare.  

(2) The temporary use of a building or premises in undeveloped sections for a purpose that does not 
conform to the regulations prescribed by this [zoning] ordinance for the district in which it Is to 
be located is permitted upon permit granted by the zoning board of appeals, provided that the 
structure or use is of a true temporary nature, is promotive of or incidental to the development 

528



 

 

 9 of 18  

 

of the undeveloped sections, and does not involve the erection of substantial buildings. The 
permit shall be granted in the form of a temporary and revocable permit for not more than a 12-
month period, subject to any conditions as will safeguard the public health, safety, convenience, 
and general welfare.  

(3) Public utilities. The zoning board of appeals shall have the power to permit the erection and use 
of a building of a public service corporation or for public utility purposes in any permitted district 
to a greater height or larger area than the district requirements herein established, and permit 
the location in any use district of a public utility building, structure, or use if the board of appeals 
shall find the use, height, area, building, or structure reasonably necessary for the public 
convenience and service. However, the building, structure, or use must be designed, erected, 
and landscaped to conform harmoniously with the general architecture of the district.  

(F) Interpretation of map. Where a street or lot layout actually on the ground, or as recorded, differs from the 
street and lot lines as shown on the zoning map, the zoning board of appeals, after notice to the owners of 
the property and the immediate adjoining property and after public hearing, shall interpret the map in a way 
so as to carry out the intent and purposes of this [zoning] ordinance for the particular section or district in 
question.  

(G) Public hearing; notice. Upon the filing of any appeal or application as hereinafter provided, or upon any 
application in any other manner or proceeding over which the zoning board of appeals shall have jurisdiction 
by law or ordinance, the board shall hold a public hearing on the appeal or application. The hearing shall be 
held at the next meeting of the board to be held not less than 15 days after the date of filing. The zoning 
board of appeals shall cause notice of the time and place of the hearing to be given to the appellant or 
applicant, and shall also cause notice of the time, place, and purpose of the hearing to be given to all owners 
of property within 300 feet of the property to be affected by the appeal or applications, and to the occupants 
of all single- and two-family dwellings within 300 feet of the property. This notice shall be given by regular 
mail, sent to the respective address of the owners and occupants, as listed in the city tax rolls, or the notice 
may be delivered by handing a copy thereof to the property owners and occupants personally and obtaining 
their certifying signatures evidencing the delivery. If the name of any occupant is not known, the term 
"occupant" may be used in addressing any notices sent by regular mail. Where ownership is in more than 
one person, a partnership, a corporation, an infant, or a trust, service upon any one of the owners or 
partners, an officer or registered agent of the corporation, the guardian or parent of the infant or trustee of 
the trust, as the case may be, shall be sufficient. At the hearing, any party may appear in person, or be 
represented by an attorney, or agent. This hearing procedure shall apply to all public hearings required under 
this [zoning] ordinance.  

(H) Fees. Upon the filing of any appeal or application to the zoning board of appeals by any person other than an 
officer, department, board or agency of the city, the appellant or applicant shall pay a fee set by the city 
commission, to defray the cost of the hearing and recording the matter. In addition, if testimony is to be 
taken stenographically, the cost of doing so and of transcribing the testimony shall be borne and paid for by 
the appellant or applicant. The board of appeals may require a deposit to be made for this purpose, as shall 
be reasonable in the circumstances.  

(I) Time limit for construction. If a variance is granted, the issuance of a permit is finally approved, or some 
other action by the appellant or applicant is authorized, any necessary permits shall be secured and the 
authorized action, construction, or use begun within three months after the date when the variance is finally 
granted, the issuance of the permit is finally approved, or the other action to be taken by the appellant or 
applicant is authorized. The structure, building, or alteration, as the case may be, shall be completed within 
12 months of this date. For good cause shown, the zoning board of appeals may, upon application in writing 
stating the reasons thereof, extend either the three- month or the 12-month period for any further time as 
the board may, in its sole discretion, deem sufficient, and may require the applicant to post a bond with the 
city in the cash amount of the proposed construction activity.  

(1) Should the appellant or applicant fall to obtain any necessary permit within the three-month period, or 
having obtained the permit, should fail to commence work, to take action, or to exercise a use 

529



 

 

 10 of 18  

 

authorized thereunder within the three-month period, it shall be conclusively presumed that the 
appellant or applicant has waived, withdrawn, and abandoned his appeal or his application, and all 
permissions, permits, and variances to him granted by reasons of the appeal or application shall be 
deemed automatically rescinded by the zoning board of appeals.  

(2) Should the appellant or applicant commence any required construction or alteration within the three-
month period, but should he fail to complete the construction or alteration within the 12-month 
period, the zoning board of appeals may, upon ten days written notice, rescind or revoke the granted 
variance, the issuance of the permit, or the right to take any other action as may have been authorized 
to the appellant or applicant, if the board finds that no good cause appears for this failure.  

(J) Employees. The zoning board of appeals may employ any clerical or other assistance as may be necessary, 
provided it shall not at any time incur any expense beyond the amount of the appropriation made and then 
available for the purpose.  

(K) Minutes and records. The secretary of the zoning board of appeals shall keep minutes of the substance of all 
testimony and the board's proceedings, showing the vote of each member upon every question, or If absent 
or failing to vote, indicating that fact. The secretary shall keep records of the board's examinations and 
official actions, all of which shall be immediately filed in the office of the board and shall be public record.  

1.1406. District changes and section amendments. 

(A) In accordance with the provisions of Public Act No. 207 of 1921 (MCL 125.581 et seq.) and Public Act No. 285 
of 1931 (MCL 125.31 et seq.), the city commission may from time to time amend, or change by ordinance, 
the number, shape, or area of districts established on the zoning map or the regulations set forth in this 
[zoning] ordinance. However, no amendment or change shall become effective unless the ordinance 
proposing the amendment or change shall first be submitted to the planning commission for approval, 
disapproval, or suggestions, and the planning commission shall have been allowed a reasonable time, not 
less than 30 days, for consideration and report.  

(B) Any person or persons desiring a change in the zoning ordinance text or map shall make application to the 
city commission. In case of a zoning ordinance text amendment, a letter shall be submitted which shall 
contain the requested change and the reason for the change. In case of a desired zoning map change a 
petition shall be submitted which shall describe the property involved, the zone change desired, and the 
reason for the change. With either type of request there shall be an accompanying remittance of a fee to 
cover costs encountered in conducting a public hearing, as set by the city commission.  

(C) The city commission shall refer all applications, for either a change in the zoning ordinance text or zoning 
map, to the planning commission. Before submitting its recommendations and report to the city commission, 
the planning commission shall conduct a public hearing on the proposed amendment or change after 
publishing a notice of the hearing at least 15 days prior to the date of the hearing, by publication in an official 
paper or a paper of general circulation in the municipality, and by sending a copy of the notice by United 
States Mail to each public utility company and railroad company owning or operating any public utility or 
railroad within the districts or zones affected that registers its name and mailing address with the city clerk 
for the purposes of receiving the notice. An affidavit of mailing shall be maintained. A hearing shall be 
granted a person interested at the time and place specified on the notice. In case of a proposed zoning map 
change, all property owners within 300 feet of the boundaries of the property proposed to be changed shall 
be likewise notified by mail. All public notices, including publication in the newspaper and letter, shall state 
the time and place of hearing, the proposed amendment, and the property to be affected in case of a 
proposed amendment, and/or map change. The omission of the name of any owner or occupant of property 
who may, in the opinion of the planning commission, be affected by the amendment or change shall not 
invalidate any ordinance passed hereunder. It is the intention of this section to provide reasonable notice to 
the persons substantially interested in the proposed change that an ordinance is pending before the city 
commission proposing to make a change in the zoning map or the regulations set forth in this section.  

530



 

 

 11 of 18  

 

(D) After receiving the recommendations and report from the planning commission, the city commission may 
deny the request or enact an amendment to the zoning code, or zoning map. However, upon presentation of 
a protest petition meeting the requirements of this section, an amendment to the zoning code which is the 
object of the petition shall be passed only by a two-thirds vote of the city commission. The protest petition 
shall be presented to the city commission before final legislative action on the amendment, and shall be 
signed by one of the following groups of people:  

(1) The owners of at least 20 percent of the area of land included in the proposed change.  

(2) The owners of at least 20 percent of the area of land included within an area extending outward 100 
feet from any point on the boundary of the land included in the proposed change.  

(3) Publicly owned land shall be excluded in calculating the 20 percent land area requirement.  

(E) Following adoption of a zoning ordinance and subsequent amendments by the city commission, one notice 
of adoption shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the city within 15 days after adoption. 
The notice shall include the following information.  

(1) In the case of a newly adopted zoning ordinance the following statement: "A zoning ordinance 
regulating the development and use of land has been adopted by the city commission of the City of 
Sturgis, Michigan."  

(2) In the case of amendment to an existing ordinance, either a summary of the regulatory effect of the 
amendment including the geographic area affected, or the text of the amendment.  

(3) The effective date of the [zoning] ordinance.  

(4) The place and time where a copy of the [zoning] ordinance may be purchased or inspected. The filing 
and publication requirements in this section relating to the city zoning ordinance supersede charter 
provisions relating to the filing and publication of city ordinances.  

1.1406.5 Creation of Planned Development District (PDD) 

(A) Intent. Planned development districts are promoted as special land uses in the city as a way for the city to 
encourage high quality development with an emphasis on enhanced architectural and site design, 
landscaping, pedestrian, motorized and nonmotorized activities.  

In creating a "win-win" situation, the developer may expect a cooperative working relationship with the city by 
receiving relief from typical zoning ordinance standards, such as setbacks and parking requirements. Planned 
development districts are not intended to be used for circumventing the more specific standards in the zoning 
ordinance. Rather, these provisions are intended to result in a higher level of development, which may not be 
feasible with traditional zoning regulations. If this improved level of development is not clearly apparent upon city 
review, a site shall not qualify for the modifications allowable under this article.  

(1) A planned development district (PDD) may be established as a zoning district when approved by the 
city commission and planning commission in accordance with the procedures specified herein. It is the 
intent of this district to:  

(a) Provide for flexibility in the regulation of land development;  

(b) To encourage innovation in land use and variety in design, layout, and type of structures;  

(c) To achieve economy and efficiency in the use of land, natural resources, energy, and the 
provision of public services and utilities; and  

(d) To encourage useful open space; and to create better living, working, and shopping 
environments.  

(2) In order to accomplish these objectives, this provision permits the relaxation of the conventional 
requirements found in the zoning districts. The use of land and the construction and use of buildings 

531



 

 

 12 of 18  

 

and other structures as planned development districts shall be in conformance with the procedures, 
standards, requirements, and conditions for eligibility contained in this article.  

(B) Eligibility criteria. Any development which fails to meet the following qualifying conditions, at a minimum, 
shall not be considered for a PDD:  

(1) The PDD site shall not be less than three acres of fully contiguous property not separated by a public 
road, railroad, or other such feature or barrier. The planning commission may consider a PDD on lesser 
acreage if it is clear that the proposed PDD substantially promotes the intent of a PDD as stated above. 
In addition, the planning board may use the same intent section of the zoning ordinance when 
considering a PDD with property that may be separated by a public road, railroad, or other such 
feature or barrier (e.g. if the applicant owned property on the north and south sides of LaFayette 
Street, the applicant would need to prove why the separation would not restrict their ability to develop 
a cohesive PDD).  

(2) All PDDs shall be served by public water and sanitary sewer facilities.  

(3) The tract(s) of land for which a PDD application is received must be individually owned, jointly owned 
and jointly filed with all participating properties, or filed with legal option agreements relating to the 
property(ies) in question.  

(4) The PDD shall provide for integrated, safe and abundant pedestrian access and movement within the 
PDD and to adjacent properties.  

(5) The PDD shall provide for coordinated and innovative architectural styles, building forms and building 
relationships.  

(6) The PDD shall provide for enhanced landscaping within the development. Examples include efforts to 
preserve the natural landscape, tree lined streets, decorative landscaping around structures and focal 
landscape areas.  

(7) The proposed development shall not have an adverse impact on future development as proposed in 
the city's master plan for future land use.  

(8) Open space requirements:  

(a) The PDD development shall contain usable open space in an amount equal to at least 20 percent 
of the total PDD site. The planning commission may consider a PDD with a lesser amount of open 
space if it is clear that the proposed PDD substantially promotes the intent of this article. It is 
noted that open space is a very important element of a PDD and reductions to the open space 
provision should be granted only as a result of specific reasons.  

(b) Useable open space shall not include required yards or buffers, parking areas, drives, rights-of-
way, utility or road easements, stormwater detention ponds, and structures.  

(c) Such open space shall be permanently set aside for the benefit, use, and enjoyment of present 
and future occupants of the PDD through covenant, deed restriction, open space easement, or 
similar legal instrument acceptable to the city; or, if agreed to by the city commission, the open 
space may be conveyed to the city for the use of the general public.  

(C) Permitted uses. Any permitted or special land uses otherwise allowed in the underlying district(s) in which 
the PDD is to be located may be approved within a PDD. A mixed use PDD may be allowed in a residential 
district allowing for a minimal amount of commercial uses as determined by the planning commission that 
relate to the project (e.g. 15 percent). At least 30 percent of the residential uses in the PDD would need to be 
provided prior to developing the commercial portion of a mixed use PDD. In a mixed use PDD, the applicant 
must demonstrate that the proposed use(s) would enhance the development and be compatible with 
surrounding and nearby uses.  

(D) PDD design standards. 

532



 

 

 13 of 18  

 

(1) General standards. 

(a) Signs, lighting, landscaping, building architecture and materials, and other features of the project, 
shall be designed to achieve an integrated and controlled development.  

(2) Dimensional requirements. To encourage flexibility and creativity consistent with the intent of the PDD, 
specific departures may be permitted from the requirements of the zoning ordinance as a part of the 
approval process. Any regulatory modification shall be approved through a finding that the deviation 
shall result in a higher quality of development than would be possible using conventional zoning 
standards.  

(3) Parking. 

(a) To encourage a true integration of mixed uses and improved efficiency in land use, the overlap in 
parking requirements may be permitted between uses that have alternating peak-parking 
demands or where the mixture of uses on a site would result in multi-purpose trips. The planning 
commission should use caution when considering parking requirements for certain commercial 
uses due to potential tenant changes that may require more parking than a previous tenant. The 
district regulations should be used as a guide. All parking requirements shall be written into the 
final site plan.  

(b) Parking lot landscaping. Site design and landscaping should diminish the prominence of parking 
lots as viewed from public streets.  

(4) Signs. Residential and commercial entrance signs may deviate from the district requirements and shall 
be approved as part of the final site plan.  

(5) Driveway access and circulation. 

(a) Large PDD developments shall have limited access to major arterial routes. Access drives shall 
have limited access onto major and arterial roads. Additional access drives onto a major or 
arterial road should only be considered if spaced at least 500 feet apart. The planning 
commission may require the PDD applicant to provide a traffic impact study prior to any 
approvals, if deemed necessary.  

(b) Site design considerations should take into account vehicle stacking and queuing depths, traffic 
flows focused on main access points, peak hour volumes, internal site circulation, delivery routes, 
refuse pick-up/dumpster locations, etc.  

(E) Planned development district; approval process. 

(1) PDD zoning district. 

(a) A property meeting the eligibility criteria may be rezoned to a PDD district, based on the 
requirements of this section and appropriate requirements contained elsewhere in this 
ordinance. Unless initiated by the city, the rezoning shall be concurrent with the approval of a 
preliminary PDD site plan.  

(b) A rezoning request to amend the recorded development agreement must be submitted. 
Rezonings initiated by the city are not required to include an approved sketch plan or 
development agreement. No development shall occur within the Planned Development District 
(PDD) until a final site plan and development agreement have been submitted and approved in 
accordance with the provisions of this article.  

(c) Once rezoned, the PDD designation shall be noted on the official zoning map.  

(2) Pre-application process. To help facilitate a more streamlined process, PDD candidates are encouraged 
to take full advantage of pre-application meetings and workshops.  

(a) Pre-application staff meetings. An applicant is encouraged to schedule PDD concept meetings 
through the zoning administrator. In order to establish a more productive PDD concept meeting, 

533



 

 

 14 of 18  

 

the applicant may want to consider submitting concept plans in advance of the meeting. 
Regardless, city staff will diligently work to help facilitate an open collaborative process allowing 
the applicant to best understand city staff desires for the PDD, along with any utility and 
infrastructure opportunities or concerns. City planning commission or commission members may 
be requested to assist in the process. These meetings do not infer approvals and no formal action 
is taken.  

(b) Pre-application planning commission workshop. An optional pre-application workshop with the 
planning board may be requested by the applicant to discuss a PDD concept, solicit feedback and 
receive requests for additional materials supporting the proposal. No formal action is taken at a 
workshop.  

(3) PDD preliminary plan application. The applicant shall prepare and submit to the city a written request 
for PDD rezoning that shall include a PDD preliminary plan meeting the requirements of section 1.1203. 
The zoning administrator can determine the necessity of all the requirements in section 1.1203. A 
suitable number, as determined by the zoning administrator, of the preliminary plan shall be provided. 
The PDD application and preliminary plan shall be submitted in advance of any planning commission 
meeting within the time established by the zoning administrator. The extensiveness of the project will 
determine the amount of time necessary, realizing that the preliminary plan will need to be reviewed 
by city staff. An applicant that utilized the pre-application process should have a clear indication of city 
staff thoughts, concerns, etc. by the time the application is submitted. Additional items to be included 
on the PDD preliminary plan include:  

(a) Phases of development, anticipated start and completion dates of construction and approximate 
time frame for each phase (if a phased project);  

(b) Proposed deed restrictions, covenants, or similar legal instruments to be used within the PDD;  

(c) Location, type, and size of areas to be dedicated for common open space.  

(4) Planning commission public hearing and recommendation. The planning board shall review the PDD 
rezoning request, the PDD preliminary plan, and conduct a public hearing. Following the public hearing, 
the planning commission shall make a recommendation to the city commission based on the following 
standards:  

(a) The PDD complies with the intent of this article;  

(b) The PDD satisfies the eligibility criteria of this article;  

(c) The PDD complies with the requirements of this article, other applicable requirements of the 
zoning ordinance and applicable requirements of the subdivision or condominium requirements 
of the city.  

(d) The PDD conforms to the criteria for review of site plans, section 1.1206 of this ordinance or 
section 1.1301(E)(1-4), except as noted above in 1.1406.5(E)(3).  

(e) The PDD is designed and constructed in a manner harmonious with the character of adjacent 
property and the surrounding area.  

(f) The PDD is adequately served by essential public facilities and services, such as roads, pedestrian 
or bicycle facilities, police and fire protection, drainage systems, water supply and sewage 
facilities.  

(g) The proposed PDD does not have a significant adverse effect on the quality of the natural 
environment.  

(5) City commission; preliminary PDD decision. Following receipt of the planning commission's 
recommendation and comments from the public hearing, the proposed PDD preliminary plan shall be 
considered by the city commission. The city commission, following the second reading, shall take one 
of the following actions on the request:  

534



 

 

 15 of 18  

 

(a) Table. If the application is determined to be insufficient, does not fully respond to planning 
commission issues or more information is required, then the request may be tabled. The city 
commission shall direct the applicant to prepare additional information, revise the PDD plan or 
direct the city staff to conduct additional analysis.  

(b) Reconsideration. If the city commission believes there is new information which might modify the 
recommendation of the planning commission, the city commission may return the application 
with the new information to the planning board for reconsideration. The planning commission 
shall provide a recommendation within 30 days.  

(c) Approval. Upon determination that a PDD preliminary plan is in compliance with the standards 
and requirements of this ordinance and other applicable ordinances and laws, the city 
commission shall approve the PDD preliminary PDD plan. The city commission may impose 
reasonable conditions with the approval of a preliminary PDD. Conditions of any approval are 
attached to the land and will remain through subsequent owners. Approval conditions will be 
established into a development agreement drafted by the city and to be signed by the applicant.  

(d) Denial. Upon determination that a PDD preliminary plan does not comply with standards and 
regulations set forth in this ordinance, or requires extensive revision in order to comply with said 
standards and regulations, the city commission shall deny the application. Re-submittal of an 
application which was denied shall be considered a new application.  

(F) PDD preliminary plan; approval validity. Approval of the preliminary plan by the city commission shall be 
effective for a period of two years and the accepted plan may be extended for one year upon expiration of 
the two-year period provided conditions have not changed that would be cause for denial of the extension. 
The two-year period for preliminary PDD approval may be extended for one year, if applied for by the 
petitioner and granted by the city commission.  

(G) PDD final plan application. 

(1) Prior to any development of the PDD, final site plans shall be submitted for review and approval in 
accordance with article XII, site plan review. If final site plans meeting the requirements of section 
1.1204 for at least the first phase of the project are not submitted and approved during the approval 
period, the right to develop under the approved PDD preliminary plan shall terminate and a new 
application must then be filed and processed. In reviewing final site plans, the following shall apply:  

(a) Site plans shall be in substantial conformance with the PDD preliminary plan.  

(b) Each site plan shall either individually or in combination with previously approved contiguous 
project areas, meet the standards of this article and the approved PDD preliminary plan 
regarding layout, open space and land use.  

(c) If the plan consists of phases, then the site plan review process is only required for the specific 
phase(s) being presented for final approval to the planning commission. Each subsequent phase 
shall be reviewed in the same manner.  

(H) PDD final plan approval. 

(1) The planning commission shall review the final development plan in relation to its conformance with 
the preliminary development plan and any conditions of the PDD rezoning. If it is determined that the 
final plan is not in substantial conformance with the preliminarily development plan, the review 
process shall be conducted as a preliminary development plan review, in accordance with the 
procedures mentioned for preliminary plan review of this article.  

(2) If the final development plan is consistent with the approved preliminarily development plan, the 
planning commission shall review the final plan in accordance with the standards for approval stated in 
article XII, site plan review.  

535



 

 

 16 of 18  

 

(3) The planning commission shall prepare a record of its findings and shall approve, approve with 
conditions, or deny the final development plan.  

(4) Any zoning ordinance regulatory modification (e.g. setbacks) may be approved through a finding by the 
planning commission that the deviation shall result in a higher quality of development than would be 
possible using conventional zoning standards. A table shall be provided on the final site plan which 
specifically details all deviations from the established zoning area, height and setback regulations, off-
street parking regulations, general provisions, or subdivision regulations which would otherwise be 
applicable to the uses and development proposed in the absence of this PDD section.  

(I) PDD development agreement. 

(1) Prior to issuance of any building permits or commencement of construction on any portion of the PDD, 
the applicant shall enter into an agreement with the city in recordable form, setting forth the 
applicant's obligations with respect to the PDD. The agreement shall describe all improvements to be 
constructed as part of the PDD and shall incorporate, by reference, the final development plan with all 
required revisions, other documents which comprise the PDD, and all attached conditions. Approval 
shall be effective upon recording. At a minimum, the agreement shall provide:  

(a) A survey of the acreage comprising the proposed development;  

(b) The manner of ownership of the developed land;  

(c) The manner of the ownership and of dedication or mechanism to protect any areas designated as 
common areas or open space;  

(d) Open space provisions assuring open space areas shown on the plan for use by the public or 
residents of the development will be or have been irrevocably committed for that purpose. The 
city may require conveyances or other documents to accomplish this purpose;  

(e) Satisfactory provisions to provide for the future financing of any improvements shown on the 
plan for site improvements, open space areas and common areas which are to be included within 
the development and that maintenance of such improvements is assured by a means satisfactory 
to the city. The city may require a performance guarantee to accomplish this purpose;  

(f) Provisions to ensure adequate protection of natural features;  

(g) A phasing plan shall also be submitted describing the intended schedule for start and completion 
of each phase and the improvements to be undertaken in each phase;  

(h) The agreement shall also establish the remedies of the city in the event of default by the 
applicant in carrying out the PDD, and such remedies shall be binding on all successors in interest 
to the applicant.  

(2) Any amendment requested to the recorded development agreement shall be submitted for review by 
the city attorney and approved by the zoning administrator.  

(3) All documents shall be executed and recorded in the county register of deeds.  

(J) Revisions to an approved PDD plan. Approval of the final site plan confers upon the zoning administrator the 
authority to approve certain minor deviations in accordance with the requirements of this article. The zoning 
administrator shall determine whether the change is major, warranting review by the planning commission, 
or minor, allowing administrative approval, as noted below:  

(1) The holder of an approved PDD final development plan shall notify the zoning administrator of any 
desired change to the approved PDD.  

(2) Minor changes. Minor changes may be approved by the zoning administrator upon determining that 
the proposed revision(s) will not alter the basic design and character of the PDD, nor any specified 
conditions imposed as part of the original approval. Minor changes shall include the following:  

536



 

 

 17 of 18  

 

(a) Reduction of the size or height of any building;  

(b) Movement of buildings and/or signs by no more than ten feet if consistent with required 
setbacks, open space and other standards;  

(c) Landscaping approved in the final development plan that is replaced by similar landscaping to an 
equal or greater extent;  

(d) Changes in floor plans, of up to five percent of the total floor area, which do not alter the 
character of the use or increase the amount of required parking;  

(e) Internal rearrangement of a parking lot which does not affect the number of parking spaces or 
alter access locations or design;  

(f) Improvements or slight relocation of site access or circulation, such as inclusion of deceleration 
lanes, boulevards, curbing or pedestrian/bicycle paths, where appropriate;  

(g) Changes of building materials to another of higher quality, or a slight change in the color of the 
exterior material, as determined by the building official and zoning administrator;  

(h) Grade change of up to one foot, reviewed by the city engineer;  

(i) Modification of entry design, sign placement or reduction in size of signs, which is consistent with 
the approved sketch or final PDD plan;  

(j) Internal rearrangement of parking lots which does not affect the number of parking spaces or 
alter access locations or design;  

(k) Changes to the location of accessory buildings and structures only when the new location will be 
consistent with the building envelope identified on the approved plan; and  

(l) Changes required or requested by the city, county, or other state or federal regulatory agency in 
order to conform to other laws or regulations which do not substantially modify the plan.  

(3) Major changes. A proposed change not determined by the zoning administrator to be minor shall be 
submitted as an amendment to the PDD and shall be processed in the same manner as the original 
PDD application for the final development plan.  

(K) Limitations on variances from zoning board of appeals. Regulatory modifications are not subject to variance 
approval of the zoning board of appeals. No part of a PDD plan may be appealed to the zoning board of 
appeals. This provision shall not hamper an individual lot owner from seeking a variance (e.g. a residential 
detached garage variance related to setbacks) following final approval of the PDD, provided such variance 
does not involve alterations to open space areas as shown on the approved PDD site plan.  

(L) PDD preliminary final plan approval validity. Each approved final PDD or PDD phase must be under 
construction within 12 months after the date of approval of the PDD final development plan(s), except as 
noted in this section.  

(1) The planning commission may grant one extension of up to one additional 12-month period from the 
expiration date of the PDD or a PDD phase if the applicant applies for such extension prior to the date 
of the expiration of the PDD or PDD phase and provided that:  

(a) The applicant presents reasonable evidence that the development has encountered unforeseen 
difficulties beyond the control of the applicant; and  

(b) The PDD requirements and standards, including those of the zoning ordinance, that are 
reasonably related to the development have not changed.  

(2) Should neither of the above two provisions be fulfilled, or an extension has expired without 
construction underway, the PDD preliminary plan approval(s) shall be null and void. This does not 
include any phases that may have received final PDD approval.  

537



 

 

 18 of 18  

 

(3) Should the PDD district become null and void, the subject property remains zoned as a PDD, but the 
preliminary or final PDD plans previously approved become null and void. In order to utilize the 
property as a PDD, an applicant would have to resubmit plans for preliminary and final PDD site plan 
approvals as stated in this chapter, but would not require PDD rezoning action from the commission, 
unless the proposed PDD project includes different land uses other than previously approved (i.e. 
commercial verses residential).  

1.1407. Public nuisance, per se. 

Any building or structure which is erected, altered, or converted, or any use of premises or land which is 
begun or changed subsequent to the time of passage of this section and in violation of any of the provisions 
thereof, is hereby declared to be a public nuisance per se, and may be abated by order of any court of competent 
jurisdiction.  

1.1408. Rights and remedies are cumulative. 

The rights and remedies provided herein are cumulative and in addition to any other remedies provided by 
law.  

1.1409. Penalty. 

Whoever violates any provision of this section shall, upon a finding of responsibility for a civil infraction, be 
fined the sum specified in any fine schedules compiled from time to time, by the city and filed with the court or a 
city agency of competent jurisdiction.  

 

538



Page 1 of 8 
 

ARTICLE XV. GROUNDWATER PROTECTION 

1.1501. Purpose. 

The City of Sturgis has determined that:  

1. Certain groundwater underlying areas, including the City of Sturgis, currently is, or may be in the 
future, the sole source of the city's drinking water supply.  

2. Groundwater aquifers are integrally connected with the surface water, lakes, and streams that 
constitute significant public health, recreational and economic resources of the city and surrounding 
area.  

3. Spills and discharges of hazardous substances threaten the quality of the groundwater supplies and 
other water related resources, posing potential public health and safety hazards and threatening 
economic losses.  

Therefore, the City of Sturgis has enacted a groundwater protection ordinance to:  

1. Protect existing and potential groundwater supplies, aquifers, and groundwater recharge areas of the 
city.  

2. Preserve the natural resources of the city and the surrounding area.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

1.1502. Definitions. 

Aquifer: A geological formation, group of formations, or part of a formation capable of storing and yielding a 
significant amount of groundwater to wells and springs.  

Chemical abstract service (CAS) number: This is a unique number for every chemical established by a 
Columbus Ohio organization which indexes information published in "Chemical Abstracts" by the American 
Chemical Society.  

Hazardous substance: A chemical or other material that is or may become injurious to the public health, safety, or 
welfare, or to the environment. The term "hazardous substance" includes, but is not limited to, any of the 
following which are stored or generated in quantities greater than 100 kilograms (approximately 220 pounds or 25 
gallons) per month, and which require site plan review under provisions of this article.  

a. Hazardous Substances as defined in the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and 
Liability Act (CERCLA) of 1980, Public Law 96.510, 94 State. 2767;  

b. Hazardous Waste as defined in Part 111 of the State of Michigan Natural Resources and Environmental 
Protection Act, 1994 Public Act 451, as amended;  

c. Regulated Substance as defined in Part 213 of the State of Michigan Natural Resources and 
Environmental Protection Act, 1994 Public Act 451, as amended;  

d. Hazardous Substance as defined in Part 201 of the State of Michigan Natural Resources and 
Environmental Protection Act, 1994 Public Act 451, as amended;  

e. Used oil;  

f. Radiological materials.  

Properly plugged abandoned well: A well that has been closed in accordance with regulations and 
procedures of the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality and the local health department. A properly 
plugged abandoned well requires a permit to be brought back into service.  

539



 

Page 2 of 8 

 

Secondary containment: A second tank, catchment pit, pipe, or vessel that limits and contains liquid or 
chemical leaking or leaching from a primary containment area; monitoring and recovery are required.  

Underground storage tank: A tank or combination of tanks, including underground pipes connected to the 
tank or tanks, which is, was, or may have been used to contain an accumulation of hazardous substances, as 
defined in Part 211 of the State of Michigan Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, 1994 Public Act 
451, as amended.  

Unplugged abandoned well: A well which has not been used for one year or more.  

Waste oil: Any oil that has been refined from crude oil, or used, or as a result of such use contaminated by 
physical or chemical impurities.  

Well: As defined in the Michigan Water Well Construction and Pump Installation Code, Part 127, Act 368 of 
the Public Acts of 1978, as amended, and rules; or a permanent or temporary opening in the surface of the earth 
for the purpose of removing water, or testing water quality, or measuring water characteristics, or measuring 
liquid recharge, or measuring liquid levels, or oil and gas exploration or production, or waste disposal, or 
dewatering purposes, or geothermal heat exchange purposes, or a cistern of a depth of four feet or more and with 
a top width of 12 inches or more.  

Wellhead protection area: The area which has been approved by the MDEQ in accordance with the State of 
Michigan Wellhead Protection Program, which represents the surface and subsurface area surrounding a water 
well or well field, which supplies a public water system, and through which contaminants are reasonably likely to 
move toward and reach the water well or well field within a ten-year time of travel.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

1.1503. Applicability. 

Uses subject to site plan review: Except as provided in Section 1.1507, "exemptions and waivers", this 
groundwater protection ordinance applies to all building permit requests made under Article XII, Site Plan Review.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

1.1504. Prohibitions within ten-year time-of-travel (TOT) wellhead protection area. 

1. For any parcel of land that has a portion within a ten-year wellhead protection area, the following are 
prohibited at any location on the parcel:  

a. Operations of a scrap and recycling yard.  

b. Operations of a State of Michigan Type II or Type III solid waste landfill.  

c. Use of oil, waste oil, or similar liquid petroleum-type products for dust suppression.  

d. Installation of a private water well for the purpose of drinking water or irrigation if, in the 
determination of the City of Sturgis City Manager, or a person or body designated by the city manager, 
public water service is reasonably available.  

e. Use of a non-municipal well that meets the State of Michigan's definition of a High Capacity Well as 
defined in Part 327 The Great Lakes Preservation Act unless it can be shown that the proposed well will 
not have an adverse impact on current municipal wells.  

f. Excavation, extraction, or mining of sand, gravel, bedrock, or any other type of earth if a permit or site 
plan review is required.  

g. Unplugged abandoned wells.  

h. Drilling for natural gas or petroleum, whether for exploration or production.  

540



 

Page 3 of 8 

 

i. Drilling, direct-push and other earth penetration beyond 20 feet depth shall be sealed to within two 
feet of surface grade with grout, or with soil material exhibiting lower hydraulic permeability than the 
native soil.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

1.1505. Site plan review. 

1. Site plan review procedures: Applicable projects under this article that also require site plan review under 
Article XII shall include:  

a. Existing and proposed land use deed restrictions, if any.  

b. Location and outline of all existing septic tanks and drain fields.  

c. The location of any floor drains in proposed structures on the site. The point of discharge for all drains 
and pipes shall be specified on the site plan.  

d. Location of existing and proposed public and private drinking water wells, monitoring wells, irrigation 
wells, test wells, wells used for industrial processes or wells that have no identified use.  

e. Inventory of hazardous substances to be stored, used or generated on-site, presented in a format 
acceptable to the code official and Fire Department (include CAS numbers).  

f. Description and drawings showing size and location for any existing or proposed aboveground and 
underground storage tanks, piping lines and dispensers.  

g. Descriptions of type of operations proposed for the project and drawings showing size, location, and 
description of any proposed interior or exterior areas of structures for storing, using, loading or 
unloading of hazardous substances.  

h. Reported delineation of areas on the site which are known or suspected to be contaminated, together 
with a report on the status of cleanup or closure.  

i. Completion of the City of Sturgis Environmental Permits Checklist.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

1.1506. Criteria for review. 

1. Article XII Criteria for Review will include:  

a. The project and related improvements shall be designed to protect land and water resources from 
pollution, including pollution of soils, groundwater, rivers, streams, lakes, ponds, and wetlands.  

b. Sites that at any time use, store or generate hazardous substances shall be designed to prevent spills 
and unpermitted discharges to air, surface of the ground, groundwater, lakes, streams, rivers or 
wetlands.  

c. Hazardous substances stored on the site before, during or after site construction, shall be stored in a 
location and manner designed to prevent spills and unpermitted discharges to air, surface of the 
ground, groundwater, lakes, streams, rivers, or wetlands. Secondary containment facilities shall be 
provided for aboveground storage of hazardous substances in accordance with state and federal 
requirements. Aboveground secondary containment facilities shall be designed and constructed so that 
the potentially polluting material cannot escape from the unit by gravity through sewers, drains, or 
other means, directly or indirectly into a sewer system, or to the waters of the state (including 
groundwater).  

541



 

Page 4 of 8 

 

d. Unplugged abandoned wells and cisterns shall be plugged in accordance with regulations and 
procedures of the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality and the county health department.  

e. Completion of the City of Sturgis Environmental Permits Checklist.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

1.1507. Exemptions and waivers. 

1. A limited exclusion from this ordinance is hereby authorized as follows:  

a. The site plan review criteria of Section 1.1506 do not apply to hazardous substances packaged for 
personal or household use or present in the same form and concentration as a product packaged for 
use by the general public. The total excluded substances containing hazardous substances may not 
exceed the lesser of 200 gallons or 1,000 pounds at any time.  

b. The site plan review requirements of Section 1.1506 do not apply to products held in containers with a 
volume of less than 40 gallons and packaged for retail use.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

1.1508. Inactive operations. 

1. This section applies to any inactive business or other operation ("operation") at which there are hazardous 
substances. For purposes of this section, "inactive" is defined to include those business/operations that are 
unoccupied and have no activity for at least 30 days. Those who own or control such an inactive operation 
shall do the following:  

a. Within seven days of becoming inactive, take such steps as necessary to secure the site such that 
natural elements such as water, wind and ice or vandals and all other persons cannot gain access to the 
hazardous substances.  

b. Within 30 days of becoming inactive, provide to the code official and the Fire Department a document 
that identifies the site, the date of inactivity, the hazardous substances that exist on site, and the 
name, address, and telephone number of both the owner and the person in control of the site.  

c. Within 60 days of becoming inactive, remove all hazardous substances from the site. This does not 
include those substances used for heating, cooling, and/or electrical lighting.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

1.1509. Enforcement. 

1. Whenever the city determines that a person has violated a provision of this article, the city may order 
compliance by issuing a written Notice of Violation to the responsible person/facility/property owner.  

2. If abatement of a violation and/or restoration of affected property are required, the notice shall set forth a 
deadline by which such remediation or restoration must be completed. Said notice shall further advise that, 
should the responsible party fail to remediate or restore within the established deadline, the work may be 
done by the city, with the expense thereof charged to the property owner and possibly assessed as a lien 
against the property.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

542



 

Page 5 of 8 

 

1.1510. Abatement/remedial activities by the city. 

1. The city is authorized to take or contract with others to take reasonable and necessary abatement or 
remedial activities whenever the city determines a violation of this ordinance has occurred and that the 
responsible party cannot or will not correct the violation in a timely manner, or when no known responsible 
party exists. The responsible party shall reimburse the city for all reasonable expenses thus incurred by the 
city. A lien may be placed on the property for the reimbursement of all reasonable expenses.  

2. If the city desires the responsible party to reimburse it for reasonable abatement activity expenses, the city 
shall, within 90 days of the completion of said activities, mail to that person a Notice of claim outlining the 
expenses incurred, including reasonable administrative costs, and the amounts thereof. The person billed 
shall pay said sum in full within 30 days of receipt of the claim. If the person billed desires to object to all or 
some of the amount sought by the city, said person may file, within the same 30-day period, a written 
objection so stating. The city shall, within 30 days of its receipt of the objection, provide an opportunity for 
the objecting party to present facts or arguments supporting said objection. If the city determines that some 
or the entire amount originally billed is appropriate, the person shall pay said sum within 30 days of receipt 
of that determination. If the amount due is not paid, the city may cause the charges to become a special 
assessment against the property and shall constitute a lien on the property.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

1.1511. Injunctive relief. 

If a person has violated or continues to violate the provisions of this ordinance, the city may petition the 
appropriate court for injunctive relief restraining the person from activities that would create further violations, or 
compelling the person to perform necessary abatement or remediation.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

1.1512. Violations deemed a public nuisance. 

In addition to the enforcement processes and penalties provided, any condition caused or permitted to exist 
in violation of any of the provisions of this ordinance is a threat to public health, safety, and welfare, and is 
declared and deemed a nuisance, and may be summarily abated or restored at the responsible party's expense, 
and/or a civil action to abate, enjoin, or otherwise compel the cessation of such nuisance may be taken by the city.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

1.1513. Penalties and costs. 

Any violation of this ordinance shall be considered a misdemeanor, punishable by a fine of not more than 
$500.00 or imprisonment of not more than 90 days. Each day a violation exists shall be deemed a separate 
violation. A citation charging such a misdemeanor may be issued by the code official, or his or her designee.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

1.1514. Groundwater protection board of appeals. 

1. In order that the provisions of this article may be reasonably applied and substantial justice done in instances 
where unnecessary hardship would result from carrying out the strict letter of these sections, the city 
commission shall appoint a groundwater protection board of appeals. The duty of the groundwater 
protection board of appeals shall be to consider appeals from the decision of the city manager and to 

543



 

Page 6 of 8 

 

determine, in particular cases, whether any deviation from strict enforcement will violate the intent of this 
article or jeopardize the public health or safety or environment.  

2. The groundwater protection board of appeals shall meet at times as the board may determine. There shall 
be a fixed place of meeting and all meetings shall be open to the public in accordance with applicable laws. 
The groundwater protection board of appeals shall adopt its own rules of procedure and keep a record of its 
proceedings, showing findings of fact, the action of the board, and the vote of each member upon each 
question considered. The presence of five members of the groundwater protection board of appeals shall be 
necessary to constitute a quorum.  

3. The groundwater protection board of appeals may prescribe the sending of notice to persons as it deems to 
be interested in any hearing by the board.  

4. The groundwater protection board of appeals will be appointed by city commission, may be revised from 
time to time, and shall include:  

a. Mayor.  

b. Chair of the planning commission.  

c. At large planning commission member.  

d. City engineer.  

e. Director of public services.  

f. At large Citizen of the City of Sturgis.  

g. At large representative of industry in the City of Sturgis.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

1.1515. Appeals. 

1. Right of appeal. Any person has the right to appeal the basis for any charges, permits, orders, or other action 
developed in accordance with this article. Appeals shall be directed to the city manager along with any 
supporting documentation for amendment of the charges in question. Any additional information that may 
be required to resolve the appeal, as directed by the city manager, shall be obtained by the user at his 
expense. Resolution of appeals shall be made within 30 days in accordance with the best available data and 
the formulations presented in this article. In no event shall appeals be accepted which would require a 
variance in the methods of charge calculations established and in force by this article.  

2. Informal hearing. 

a. An informal hearing before the city manager may be requested in writing by any person deeming itself 
aggrieved by any citation, order, charge, fee, surcharge, penalty, or action within ten days after the 
date thereof, stating the reasons therefor with supporting documents and data.  

b. The informal hearing shall be scheduled at the earliest practicable date, but not later than five days 
after receipt of the request, unless extended by mutual written agreement.  

c. The hearing shall be conducted on an informal basis at the city hall or such place as designated by the 
city manager.  

3. Formal hearing. 

a. Appeals from orders of the city manager may be made at the groundwater protection board of 
appeals, within 30 days from the date of any citation, order, charge, fee, surcharge, from the date of 
any citation, order, charge, fee, surcharge, penalty or other action. The appeal may be taken by any 
person aggrieved. The appellant shall file a notice of appeal with the city manager and with the 
groundwater protection board of appeals, specifying the grounds therefor. Prior to a hearing, the City 

544



 

Page 7 of 8 

 

Manager shall transmit to the groundwater protection board of appeals a summary report of all 
previous action taken. The board of appeals may, at its discretion, call upon the city manager to explain 
the action. The final disposition of the appeal shall be in the form of a resolution, either reversing, 
modifying, or affirming, in whole or in part, the appealed decision or determination. In order to find for 
the appellant, a majority of the groundwater protection board of appeals must concur.  

b. The groundwater protection board of appeals shall fix a reasonable time for the hearing of the appeal, 
give due notice thereof the interested parties, and decide the appeal within a reasonable time. Within 
the limits of its jurisdiction, the groundwater protection board of appeals may reverse or affirm, in 
whole or in part, or may make such order, requirements, decisions, or determination as, in its opinion, 
ought to be made in the case under consideration, and to that end shall have all the powers of the 
official from whom the appeal is taken.  

c. The decision of the groundwater protection board of appeals shall be final, except that the board or 
the members thereof may be required, under proper mandamus proceedings, to show cause why 
certain actions were taken or decisions rendered.  

4. Charges outstanding during appeal process. All charges for service, penalties, fees, or surcharges outstanding 
during any appeal process shall be due and payable to the city. Upon resolution of any appeal, the city shall 
adjust such amounts accordingly.  

5. Administrative action. If an informal or formal hearing is not demanded within the periods specified in this 
section, the administrative action shall be deemed final. In the event either or both hearings are demanded, 
the action shall be suspended until a final determination has been made, except for immediate cease and 
desist orders or any emergency or judicial action.  

6. Appeals from determinations of groundwater protection board of appeals. Appeals from the determinations 
of the groundwater protection board of appeals may be made to the circuit court for the county as provided 
by law. The appeals shall be governed procedurally by the Administrative Procedures Act of 1969 (MCL 
24.201 et seq.). All findings of fact, if supported by the evidence, made by the board shall be conclusive upon 
the court.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013)

1.1516. Remedies not exclusive. 

The remedies listed in this ordinance are not exclusive of any other remedies available under any applicable 
federal, state, or local law, and it is within the discretion of the city to seek cumulative remedies.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

1.1517. Conflicting regulations. 

Whenever any provision of this article imposes more stringent requirements, regulations, restrictions or 
limitations than are imposed or required by the provisions of any other law or ordinance, then the provisions of 
this article shall govern. Whenever the provisions of any other law or ordinance impose more stringent 
requirements than are imposed or required by this title, then the provision of such ordinance shall govern.  

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

1.1518. Severability. 

If any provision, paragraph, work, section or article of this article is invalidated by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remaining provisions, paragraphs, words, sections, and chapters shall not be affected and shall 
continue in full force and effect.  

545



 

Page 8 of 8 

(Ord. of 11-25-2013) 

 

546



City of Sturgis 
City Commission 
Regular Meeting 

 
Agenda Item 10B 

547



 

548



Disclaimer: This map is a representation to be used exclusively for
reference purposes. This map is not to be used as a survey product.
The City of Sturgis makes no warranty as to the accuracy of this map,
either expressed or implied. Users of this map do so at their own risk
and acknowledge and accept the limitations of this map.

549



City of Sturgis
130 N. Nottawa Street

Sturgis, MI 49091
Tel (269) 651-2321

909 & 911 E Chicago Road

ArcGIS Web Map
.

0 0.03 0.060.015

mi mi

12/6/2024

Legend
Lines

Override 1

Future Land Use
Business Highway

Business Highway TWP

Business Office Space

Mixed Use

Mixed Use TWP

Single and Two-Family Residential

Single and Two-Family Residential TWP

Roads

City Centerlines

Parcels

Disclaimer: This map is a representation to be used exclusively for
reference purposes. This map is not to be used as a survey product.
The City of Sturgis makes no warranty as to the accuracy of this map,
either expressed or implied. Users of this map do so at their own risk
and acknowledge and accept the limitations of this map.

550


	Agenda
	Manager's Report
	WS - Public Safety Strategic Planning Presentation
	SDPS Strategic Plan

	5A. Christmas Cash Raffle Drawing
	5B. Robert Hile Proclamation
	BobHileProclamation

	8. Consent Agenda
	8A. Minutes
	8B. Bills
	8C. Accounts Payable Authorization
	8D. Board Resignation

	10A. Zoning Ordinance Amendments First Reading
	Memorandum
	Redlined Ordinance
	1-ARTICLE_I.___SHORT_TITLE_AND_PURPOSE_Redline CC 12 6 2024
	2-ARTICLE II_Definitions_Proposed REDLINED CC 12 6 2024
	3-ARTICLE III_Designation and Purpose_REDLINED CC 12 6 2024
	4-ARTICLE IV_Desc of Districts_Proposed REDLINED CC 12 6 2024
	5-ARTICLE V_Schedule of Regs_Proposed REDLINED CC 12 6 2024
	ARTICLE V. SCHEDULE OF REGULATIONS

	6-ARTICLE VI_SLU_Proposed REDLINED CC 12 6 2024
	ARTICLE VI. SPECIAL LAND USES AND STRUCTURES

	7-ARTICLE VII_Genereal Exceptions Proposed REDLINED CC 12 6 2024
	ARTICLE VII. GENERAL EXCEPTIONS

	8-ARTICLE VIII_Nonconforming_Proposed REDLINED CC 12 6 2024
	ARTICLE VIII. NONCONFORMING USES AND STRUCTURES

	9-ARTICLE IX_Parking_Proposed_REDLINED CC 12 6 2024
	ARTICLE IX. OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING REQUIREMENTS

	10-ARTICLE X_SIGNS_Redline Proposed CC 12 6 2024
	11-ARTICLE XI_General Provision_proposed_REDLINED CC 12 6 2024
	ARTICLE XI. GENERAL PROVISIONS

	12-ARTICLE XII_Site Plan_Proposed_REDLINED CC 12 6 2024
	SITE PLAN REVIEW
	1.1201. - Purpose.

	13-ARTICLE XIII_Design Review_Proposed_Redlined CC 12 6 2024
	ARTICLE XIII DESIGN REVIEW - CENTRAL BUSINESS AREA
	1.1301. Design review.

	14-ARTICLE XIV_Administration_REDLINE CC 12 6 2024
	ARTICLE XIV. ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT
	1.1401. Building permits.

	15-ARTICLE_XV.___GROUNDWATER_PROTECTION_original_NO CHANGES

	Clean Copy of Ordinance
	1-ARTICLE_I.___SHORT_TITLE_AND_PURPOSE_Clean CC 12 6 2024
	2-ARTICLE II_Definitions_CLEAN CC 12 6 2024
	3-ARTICLE III_Designation and Purpose_CLEAN CC 12 6 2024
	4-ARTICLE IV_Desc of Districts_CLEAN CC 12 6 2024
	5-ARTICLE V_Schedule of Regs_CLEAN CC 12 6 2024
	6-ARTICLE VI_SLU_CLEAN CC 12 6 2024
	7-ARTICLE VII_Genereal Exceptions_CLEAN CC 12 6 2024
	8-ARTICLE VIII_Nonconforming_CLEAN CC 12 6 2024
	9-ARTICLE IX_Parking_CLEAN CC 12 6 2024
	10-ARTICLE X_SIGNS_CLEAN CC 12 6 2024
	11-ARTICLE XI_General Provision_CLEAN CC 12 6 2024
	12-ARTICLE XII_Site Plan_CLEAN CC 12 6 2024
	13-ARTICLE XIII_Design Review_CLEAN CC 12 6 2024
	14-ARTICLE XIV_Administration_CLEAN CC 12 6 2024
	15-ARTICLE_XV.___GROUNDWATER_PROTECTION_original_NO CHANGES


	10B. Zoning District Amendment - 909 E. Chicago Rd. First Reading
	Existing Zoning Map
	Future Land Use Map

	Noteworthy Meetings and Upcoming Events

	Button1: 


